Cervical screening awareness week integrating cervical cancer screening and precancer treatments 2023

Edited by Leeya Pinder, Manoj Menon and Noleb Mugisha

Published in Frontiers in Oncology





FRONTIERS EBOOK COPYRIGHT STATEMENT

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this ebook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this ebook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this ebook, and the ebook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this ebook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or ebook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source

acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-8325-6425-7 DOI 10.3389/978-2-8325-6425-7

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers journal series

The Frontiers journal series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of openaccess, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the *Frontiers journal series* operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews. Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the *Frontiers journals series*: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area.

Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers editorial office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

Cervical screening awareness week 2023: integrating cervical cancer screening and precancer treatments

Topic editors

Leeya Pinder — University of Cincinnati, United States Manoj Menon — Fred Hutchinson Cancer Center, United States Noleb Mugisha — Uganda Cancer Institute (UCI), Uganda

Citation

Pinder, L., Menon, M., Mugisha, N., eds. (2025). *Cervical screening awareness week 2023: integrating cervical cancer screening and precancer treatments.* Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-8325-6425-7

🐉 frontiers | Research Topics

Table of contents

05 Editorial: Cervical screening awareness week 2023: integrating cervical cancer screening and precancer treatments Noleb M. Mugisha, Leeya F. Pinder and Manoj P. Menon

08 Predicting cervical intraepithelial neoplasia and determining the follow-up period in high-risk human papillomavirus patients

Ling Gong, Yingxuan Tang, Hua Xie, Lu Zhang and Yali Sun

18 Experiences of women participating in a human papillomavirus-based screen-triage-and treat strategy for cervical cancer prevention in Malawi

Fan Lee, Shannon McGue, John Chapola, Wezzie Dunda, Jennifer H. Tang, Margret Ndovie, Lizzie Msowoya, Victor Mwapasa, Jennifer S. Smith and Lameck Chinula

31 "There is nothing that can prevent me from supporting her:" men's perspectives on their involvement and support of women's use of topical therapy for cervical precancer treatment in Kenya

> Chemtai Mungo, Konyin Adewumi, Everlyn Adoyo, Graham Zulu, Supreet Kaur Goraya, Cirillus Ogollah, Jackton Omoto, Renée M. Ferrari and Lisa Rahangdale

43 The efficacy and safety of local 5-aminolevulinic acid-based photodynamic therapy in the treatment of cervical high-grade squamous intraepithelial lesion: a single center retrospective observational study

Jing Qian, Yahui Wang, Guihong Wu, Junlei Lu, Liping Sun and Song Xu

54 Cost-effectiveness of single-visit cervical cancer screening in KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa: a model-based analysis accounting for the HIV epidemic

Jacinda Tran, Christine Lee Hathaway, Cara Jill Broshkevitch, Thesla Palanee-Phillips, Ruanne Vanessa Barnabas, Darcy White Rao and Monisha Sharma

- 66 Cervical cancer prevention in Burkina Faso: a stakeholder's collaboration for the development of awareness messaging Samiratou Ouedraogo, Assanatou Bamogo, Georges Tiendrebeogo, Simon Kaboré, Anne-Marie Turcotte-Tremblay, Mamoudou Maiga, Samdapawindé Thérèse Kagoné, Olga Mélanie Lompo and Nicolas Meda
- 75 Baseline assessment of cervical cancer screening and treatment capacity in 25 counties in Kenya, 2022 Valerian Mwenda, David Murage, Catherine Kilonzo, Joan-Paula Bor, Patricia Njiri, Lance Osiro, Mary Nyangasi, Marc Arbyn, Philippe Tummers and Marleen Temmerman

3

84 Comparative study of triage strategies for women with atypical squamous cells of undetermined significance in the post-vaccine era

Hongmei Yang, Yubing Hao, Meili Niu, Jie Zheng, Xinhua Jia, Shaokai Zhang, Libing Wang, Xun Zhang, Qinjing Pan, Xiangxian Feng, Youlin Qiao and Zhifang Li

- 94 Prevalence and distribution of human papillomavirus genotypes in women with abnormal cervical cytology in Ethiopia: a systematic review and meta-analysis Solomon Demis Kebede, Shegaw Zeleke, Amare Kassaw, Tigabu Munye Aytenew, Demewoz Kefale and Worku Necho Asferie
- 104 Determinants of cervical cancer screening uptake among reproductive-age women in southwest Ethiopia: a case-control study

Tewodros Yosef, Bitewlgn Birhanu, Nigusie Shifera, Bayu Begashaw Bekele and Adane Asefa

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED AND REVIEWED BY Robert Fruscio, University of Milano Bicocca, Italy

*CORRESPONDENCE Manoj P. Menon Mmenon@fredhutch.org

RECEIVED 19 April 2025 ACCEPTED 28 April 2025 PUBLISHED 21 May 2025

CITATION

Mugisha NM, Pinder LF and Menon MP (2025) Editorial: Cervical screening awareness week 2023: integrating cervical cancer screening and precancer treatments. *Front. Oncol.* 15:1614832. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2025.1614832

COPYRIGHT

© 2025 Mugisha, Pinder and Menon. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Editorial: Cervical screening awareness week 2023: integrating cervical cancer screening and precancer treatments

Noleb M. Mugisha¹, Leeya F. Pinder² and Manoj P. Menon^{3*}

¹Comprehensive Community Cancer Program, Uganda Cancer Institute (UCI), Kampala, Uganda, ²College of Medicine, University of Cincinnati, Cincinnati, OH, United States, ³Vaccine and Infectious Disease Division, Fred Hutchinson Cancer Center, Seattle, WA, United States

KEYWORDS

cervical cancer, screening, vaccine, cost effectiveness, barriers and facilitative factors

Editorial on the Research Topic

Cervical screening awareness week 2023: integrating cervical cancer screening and precancer treatments

Introduction

Despite effective methods to both prevent and screen for cervical cancer, invasive cervical cancer (ICC) remains a leading cause of morbidity and mortality globally. While the incidence of ICC and mortality secondary to ICC has declined dramatically in high-income countries (HICs) – these gains are not universal. Indeed, ICC is the most common cause of cancer-related death in many low-and-middle-income countries (LMICs). As such, there is an urgent need to develop and implement locally relevant interventions to achieve the World Health Organization (WHO) 90-70-90 cervical cancer elimination targets. The WHO aims to vaccinate 90% of girls, screen 70% of women, and treat 90% of women with cervical disease by 2030, however novel efforts are necessary to achieve these ambitious goals (1). Here, we highlight strategies which target cervical cancer awareness, screening, prevention, and treatment – in an economically sustainably fashion.

Awareness

Given the relatively low rates of cervical cancer screening in Ethiopia, Yosef et al. via a hospital-based case-control study demonstrated that knowledge of cervical cancer screening and proximity to the health facility were associated with cervical cancer screening. Recognizing the vital need of cancer awareness, Ouedraogo et al. organized a workshop, consisting of representatives from the relevant stakeholders-including government, non-governmental organizations, civil society organizations, and academic/research organizations, to craft and tailor effective health education and communication strategies.

Screening

To assess the availability and capacity of cervical cancer screening and treatment services in Kenya, Mwenda et al. conducted a sub-national survey of healthcare workers in over 3,000 hospitals. Only 5% of hospitals provided both cervical cancer screening and treatment services – a disparity which will need to be addressed in order to achieve the WHO targets.

Prevention

The prevention of cervical cancer incorporates both primary prevention strategies, via an effective vaccine, as well as secondary prevention, via treatment of pre-cancerous lesions. To inform the implementation of the most effective vaccine, Kebede et al. describe the prevalence and variation of HPV genotypes. Given that prevalence of genotypes which are not included in the commonly used bivalent or quadrivalent HPV vaccine, such information can help advocate for nonavalent vaccine.

Hypothesizing that with increased utilization of the HPV vaccines, the genotypes of HPV may vary among those vaccinated and those unvaccinated Yang et al. conducted a study among women with atypical squamous cells of undetermined significance (ASCUS). These researchers concluded that genotype identification may inform the choice of triage options for women identified to have ASCUS lessions on cervical cytology screening. Although the goal to increase HPV remains, cost-effective triage strategies are particularly necessary in resource-limited regions.

Lee et al. explored the feasibility and acceptability among women undergoing various HPV-based screen-triage-treatment options, including self-collected vaginal samples. These researchers offer specific strategies, including the need for health education to optimize perspectives and utilization of cervical cancer prevention services. To minimize the invasive procedures, Qian et al. investigated the safety and efficacy of the non-invasive 5aminolevulinic acid photodynamic therapy (ALA-PDT) in the treatment of high-grade squamous intraepithelial lesions. Although ALA-PDT has been used in low-grade squamous intraepithelial lesions, these researchers found that the treatment was safe – with no severe adverse effects, as well as effective – with a 12-month complete regression rate of over 80%.

Mungo et al. conducted focus group discussions to learn of men's perspectives on their female partner's use of topical therapies for pre-cancerous lesions. These colleagues also encourage health education strategies which reach the partners of patients undergoing cervical precancer treatment.

Given the need for cost-effective strategies for the diagnosis and treatment of cervical cancer and pre-cancerous lesions and recognizing the pathogenesis of cervical cancer, Gong et al. developed a Classification of Lesion Stages (CLS) algorithm to predict the risk of cervical cancer. The use of such technology may optimally triage patients with pre-cancer lesions, reduce the number of unnecessary procedures, and potentially alleviate the burden on health systems.

Although the screening modalities vary among resourceabundant and resource-limited regions, the benefits of resourcerelevant screening are clear. An obvious challenge of cervical cancer screening programs is the limited funds dedicated to cancer prevention. Tran et al. utilized a simulation model of the current standard of care (i.e. cytology and colposcopy triage) with various scenarios calculated the disability-adjusted life-years (DALYs) averted for each scenario. These researchers demonstrated that repeat HPV DNA testing was associated with the highest DALY averted.

Clinical services in LMICs are often funded and provided in a vertical fashion with the appropriate integration of relevant infrastructure (2, 3). Because many health systems do not have a primary care model of service delivery, there has been increased recognition of the need to leverage and incorporate non-communicable disease (NCDs) care, including cancer care, within the existing routine services. The benefit of such integration has been demonstrated for certain NCDs, including hypertension and diabetes (4, 5). However, despite the clinical burden, such an integrated approach has not been fully implemented for the early detection of cervical cancer and precancer care treatment.

The articles in this Research Topic highlight the burden of cervical cancer as well as necessary strategies to decrease the toll which disproportionately impacts LMICs. Although effective vaccines to prevent cervical cancer and screening techniques to identify pre-cancerous lesions exist, disparities persist with regard to clinical access. As such, the unnecessary burden cervical cancer remain. Further cost-effective efforts to incorporate the findings demonstrated in this Research Topic and specifically integrate cervical cancer screening and precancer treatment programs within existing health care programs are necessary to achieve the WHO cervical cancer elimination targets.

Author contributions

NM: Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. LP: Writing – review & editing. MM: Writing – review & editing, Writing – original draft.

Funding

The author(s) declare that no financial support was received for the research and/or publication of this article.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

References

1. Gultekin M, Ramierez PT, Broutet N, Hutubessy R. World Health Organization call for action to eliminate cervical cancer globally. *Int J Gynecol Cancer*. (2020) 30:426–7. doi: 10.1136/ijgc-2020-001285

2. Smithuis FM, White NJ. Spend wisely to eliminate malaria. Lancet Infect Dis. (2022) 22:e171-5. doi: 10.1016/S1473-3099(21)00256-5

3. Barr A, Garrett L, Marten R, Kadandale S. Health sector fragmentation: three examples from Sierra Leone. *Global Health*. (2019) 15:8. doi: 10.1186/s12992-018-0447-5

4. Yiu KC, Rohwer A, Young T. Integration of care for hypertension and diabetes: a scoping review assessing the evidence from systematic reviews and evaluating reporting. *BMC Health Serv Res.* (2018) 18:481. doi: 10.1186/s12913-018-3290-8

5. Kivuyo S, Birungi J, Okebe J, Wang D, Ramaiya K, Ainan, et al. Integrated management of HIV, diabetes, and hypertension in sub-Saharan Africa (INTE-AFRICA): a pragmatic cluster-randomised, controlled trial. *Lancet.* (2023) 402:1241–50. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(23)01573-8

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Manoj Menon, Fred Hutchinson Cancer Center, United States

REVIEWED BY Manuela Tamburro, University of Molise, Italy Matteo Pavone, Agostino Gemelli University Polyclinic (IRCCS), Italy

*CORRESPONDENCE Yali Sun Syl197210@beihua.edu.cn

RECEIVED 05 September 2023 ACCEPTED 18 December 2023 PUBLISHED 17 January 2024

CITATION

Gong L, Tang Y, Xie H, Zhang L and Sun Y (2024) Predicting cervical intraepithelial neoplasia and determining the follow-up period in high-risk human papillomavirus patients. *Front. Oncol.* 13:1289030. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2023.1289030

COPYRIGHT

© 2024 Gong, Tang, Xie, Zhang and Sun. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Predicting cervical intraepithelial neoplasia and determining the follow-up period in high-risk human papillomavirus patients

Ling Gong¹, Yingxuan Tang², Hua Xie³, Lu Zhang³ and Yali Sun^{1*}

¹Department of Nursing, School of Nursing, Beihua University, Jilin, China, ²Department of Computer Science and Technology, School of Computer Science, Northeast Electric Power University, Jilin, China, ³Department of Gynecology, Jilin Central General Hospital, Jilin, China

Purpose: Despite strong efforts to promote human papillomavirus (HPV) vaccine and cervical cancer screening, cervical cancer remains a threat to women's reproductive health. Some high-risk HPV types play a crucial role in the progression of cervical cancer and precancerous lesions. Therefore, HPV screening has become an important means to prevent, diagnose, and triage cervical cancer. This study aims to leverage artificial intelligence to predict individual risks of cervical intraepithelial neoplasia (CIN) in women with highrisk HPV infection and to recommend the appropriate triage strategy and followup period according to the risk level.

Materials and methods: A total of 475 cases were collected in this study. The sources were from the Department of Gynecology and Obstetrics in a tertiary hospital, a case report on HPV from the PubMed website, and clinical data of cervical cancer patients from The Cancer Genome Atlas (TCGA) database. Through in-depth study of the interaction between high-risk HPV and its risk factors, the risk factor relationship diagram structure was constructed. A Classification of Lesion Stages (CLS) algorithm was designed to predict cervical lesion stages. The risk levels of patients were analyzed based on all risk factors, and follow-up periods were formulated for each risk level.

Results: Our proposed CLS algorithm predicted the probability of occurrence of CIN3—the precancerous lesion stage of cervical cancer. This prediction was based on patients' HPV-16 and -18 infection status, age, presence of persistent infection, and HPV type. Follow-up periods of 3–6 months, 6–12 months, and 3-to 5-year intervals were suggested for high-risk, medium-risk, and low-risk patients, respectively.

Conclusion: A lesion prediction model was constructed to determine the probabilities of occurrence of CIN by analyzing individual data, such as patient lifestyle, physical assessments, and patient complaints, in order to identify high-risk patients. Furthermore, the potential implications of the calculated features were mined to devise prevention strategies.

KEYWORDS

follow-up period, human papillomavirus, cervical intraepithelial neoplasia, prediction, genotype, cervical cancer

1 Introduction

Global statistics on cancer in women indicate that cervical cancer ranked fourth in both incidence and mortality rate in 2012 (1). In 2020, there were over 604,000 cervical cancer cases and 341,000 deaths worldwide (2). The efficacy of vaccination and screening in preventing cervical cancer has been established, leading to increased awareness and participation in prevention programs among women. However, globally, the incidence and mortality rates of cervical cancer remain substantially higher in low-income and middle-income countries than in high-income countries; this is attributed to the lack of vaccination coverage, high-quality screening, timely treatment, and follow-up care services. A priority for public health managers worldwide is to take proactive measures to address the need for continuous and improved prevention and monitoring of cervical cancer. This aligns with the targets of the World Health Organization elimination initiative launched in 2020 to reduce cervical cancer incidence to below four cases per 100,000 women-years in every country (3). Furthermore, advancements in effective disease prediction and diagnosis are crucial for accurately identifying the target population.

Persistent high-risk HPV infection is recognized as the primary cause of CIN and cervical cancer. The pathogenesis of cervical cancer involves a prolonged period of development of precancerous lesions, such as the CIN1, CIN2, and CIN3 stages. The risk of developing invasive cervical cancer associated with CIN 1, CIN2, and CIN3 is 4 times, 14.5 times, and 46.5 times, respectively, higher than that of non-CIN. While most CIN 1 lesions resolve naturally, CIN2 and CIN3 incur the risk of malignant transformation (4-6). Studies, including randomized clinical trials, have indicated that HPV-based screeningcharacterized by high sensitivity and long-term negative predictive value-plays a significant role in primary screening methods, along with cervical cytology, in identifying potential cervical cancer cases and triage (7-9). Additionally, electronic colposcopy of the cervix and cervical biopsy are employed to determine the cervical lesion stage based on primary screening results. However, it is not advisable for all patients to directly undergo biopsy due to its associated low detection rate, wastage of medical resources, and invasive nature of biopsies. Therefore, accurate prediction of the risk of cervical lesions holds crucial clinical implications for early diagnosis and prevention of cervical cancer.

There are still some challenges in predicting cervical cancer, such as missing data in medical records and transient HPV infection. Poor data quality affects the accuracy of prediction. The uncertainty of the prediction model and the deficiencies in the data would lead to poor performance of the model during prediction and affect the reliability of the prediction results. In recent years, artificial intelligence (AI) has been gradually applied in the field of clinical medicine, especially in disease diagnosis and detection, for greater ability of learning and strong potentials in data processing (10–12). The application of AI is conducive to reducing the rate of missed diagnoses, saving more time, and improving accuracy for clinicians. AI technology has greatly improved the diagnostic accuracy of lung cancer and breast cancer through training CT and ultrasound images (13, 14). AI liquid-based cytology has resulted in efficient referrals to colposcopy, with higher specificity than manual screening methods (15). The Colposcopic Artificial Intelligence Auxiliary Diagnostic System has been explored to classify colposcopic impressions and suggest biopsies (16). AI technology can not only overcome the limitations of doctors' subjective judgment and personal biases in diagnosis but also improve the accuracy of diagnosis and help to locate the lesion site (17–20). In the context of driving continuous progress in medical technology, there is an urgent need for an efficient and accurate method to determine the probabilities of occurrence of CIN through analysis of individual data such as information on lifestyle, physical assessments, and complaints so that high-risk patients can be identified and the potential implications of calculated features can be mined for further prevention strategies.

2 Materials and methods

2.1 Study design

The pathogenesis of cervical cancer usually involves a long period during which precancerous lesions (such as CIN3) form, mainly caused by persistent infection with high-risk HPV. The aim of this research is to achieve early detection of the predisposing factors for precancerous lesions, based on high-risk HPV infection, and implementation of preventive patient interventions. Data preprocessing—including dataset construction and mapping and mining of impact factors, along with the CLS algorithm proposed in our research—enabled prediction of cervical lesions, exploration of predictive indicators, and risk classification of CIN. The findings yield valuable suggestions for the formulation of guidelines for patient follow-up periods at all levels and for advance implementation of preventive interventions, to effectively enable precise prevention strategies and reduce the probability of occurrence of cervical cancer (Figure 1).

2.2 Data preprocessing

2.2.1 Datasets

The experimental environment is as follows: Python 3.7, Neo4j, and NetworkX 2.1 are configured under a Windows 10 operating system. Three Hadoop-distributed clusters of the CentOS 7 operating system were built, namely, HDFS, YARN, and Spark on YARN. A dataset constructing structure of the diagram for risk factors was collected by using crawler tools from the PubMed website, searching high-risk HPV, cervical cancer, HPV risk factor, and other similar terms, as literature retrieval words. The search yielded 2,221 pieces of medical literature.

The case data were collected mainly on the basis of cases with high-risk HPV infection and lesions, cases with high-risk HPV infection but no lesions, cases without high-risk HPV infection but lesions (i.e., cases that tested HPV-negative, but with lesions), and cases without high-risk HPV infection and no lesions.

A total of 475 cases were collected in this study. The sources were as follows: the Department of Gynecology and Obstetrics at



Jilin Central General Hospital, case report articles about HPV on the PubMed website, and clinical data for cervical cancer in The Cancer Genome Atlas (TCGA) database.

2.2.2 Mapping of key risk factors

The electronic medical record text, which is different from ordinary text, usually has a relatively complete structure, including patients' personal information, main complaints, personal history, physical examination results, and auxiliary examination results, with little noise data. Examples of the style of entries include "the patient had vaginal bleeding one month ago," "denied history of drug allergy," and "denied familial inherited diseases". Therefore, the set of keywords for patient case data can be obtained by natural language processing methods. Key words representing textual information were directly extracted—e.g., "vaginal bleeding" for "the patient had vaginal bleeding one month ago"—and numerical information was extracted according to the rules shown in Table 1.

TABLE 1 Extraction Rules for	Abnormality of Risk Factors.
------------------------------	------------------------------

Risk Factors	Extraction Rules for Abnormality
Age	> 30 years
Age at Menarche	> 14 years or <12 years
Age at First Sexual Intercourse	< 18 years
Number of Sexual Partners	>2
Age at First Full- term Pregnancy	<18 years
Number of Vaginal Births	> 2
Number of Pregnancies	> 2

2.3 Method

2.3.1 Classification of the lesion stage algorithm

The challenges involved in predicting lesion stage by machine learning methods involve determining what kind of data and what kind of features to analyze and calculate. The corresponding test values for patients are commonly used for training and analysis in machine learning methods, which poses great obstacles due to insufficient amount of data. The larger the amount of data and the more values available in machine learning, the more accurate the training is. However, there are many missing values and few positive samples when collecting data, which causes failures of application of many disease prediction models. Therefore, the mechanism of the disease should be fully considered when selecting features to enable more accurate prediction. The Classification of Lesion Stages (CLS) algorithm proposed in this study gives full consideration to the pathogenic mechanism and selects appropriate features for analysis, which has practical significance for the prediction of cervical lesions.

2.3.2 Types of high-risk HPV and classification of lesion stages

There are more than 100 types of high-risk HPV; 16 common types, namely, HPV-16, -18, -58, -52, -31, -51, -33, -35, -56, -26, -39, -53, -66, -67, -70, and -45, were analyzed and used for the calculations in this study, as nodes in the structure of the risk factor graph and connected with many other factors.

Cervical lesions are divided into three grades: CIN1, CIN2, and CIN3. The CIN3 stage has a high probability of transformation into cervical cancer. In 2014, the World Health Organization reclassified it into low-grade squamous intraepithelial lesion (LSIL) and highgrade squamous intraepithelial lesion (HSIL), further simplifying the original classification. LSIL refers to the original CIN1 stage, and HSIL includes the original CIN2 and CIN3 stages. In this study, both classification methods were adopted in the analysis and calculation stage, which was conducive to more detailed analysis. We described the differences in neighbor risk factor nodes and neighbor HPV genotypes between CIN1, CIN2, and CIN3. The factors with node relation value greater than 3 were selected as close factors, among which differences were compared and the degree of difference was calculated.

2.3.3 Prediction of lesion stages

Based on the set of key risk factors, we extracted the risk factors that were abnormal in case history and the HPV types with which the patient was infected by natural language processing. According to the principle of abnormal extraction of risk factors, we identified key risk factors for patients with abnormal p collection $AF_p =$ $\{af_{1,}af_2,...,af_n\}$, including patients' HPV types and their risk factors that were abnormal. The predictive value of a patient's classification relative to CIN1 was calculated by the following Equation 1.

$$CIN1_p = \sum_{m=1}^{n} W_{(AF_m, cin1)} \tag{1}$$

When the abnormal factors for a patient included those in *cin2Element* or *cin3Element*, it indicated that the patient had factors unique to CIN2 or CIN3. To describe this difference, the degree of difference was introduced to calculate the extent of difference of CIN2 or CIN3 relative to CIN1 in the current situation for each patient, using Equation 2. Abnormal factors as unique ones that appeared in CIN2 or CIN3 were remembered as $CIN2ELE_p = \{cin2Ele_{(p,1)}, cin2Ele_{(p,2)},, cin2Ele_{(p,n)}, \}, CIN3ELE_p = \{cin3Ele_{(p,1)}, cin3Ele_{(p,2)},, cin3Ele_{(p,n)}, \}_{\circ}$

$$Diff_{(p, cin2)} = \frac{\sum_{m=1}^{n} W_{(cin2Ele_{(p,m)}, cin2)}}{n}$$
(2)

 $W_{(cin2Ele_{(p,m)},cin2)}$ —connected edge weights of factor of cin2El $e_{(p,m)}$ and CIN2 in risk factors—figure structure.

n— number of elements in $CIN2ELE_pDiff_{(p,cin2)}$ —degree of difference in patients' p between CIN2 and CIN1.

The degree of difference in patients with p between CIN3 and CIN1 $Diff_{(p,cin2)}$ was calculated in the same way.

The degree of difference calculation should be introduced into the classification predicted value of CIN2 or CIN3, which is calculated by Equations 3, 4.

$$CIN2_p = Diff_{(p, cin2)} * \sum_{m=1}^{n} W_{(AF_m, cin2)}$$
(3)

$$CIN3_p = Diff_{(p, cin3)} * \sum_{m=1}^{n} W_{(AF_m, cin3)}$$
(4)

From the above calculation, the three classification predictive values of patient "p" can be obtained. In order to more accurately determine which category the patient belongs to, the risk level of the patient is introduced into the analysis. Patients at a low-risk level— which means that their risk of infection with high-risk HPV is very low—have low possibility of cervical lesion. Therefore, we predict that patients at a low-risk level will be disease-free (CIN–). In high-risk patients, i.e., those with a high risk of infection with high-risk HPV, the likelihood of lesions is also high. The prediction result with the largest predictive value of the three-stage classification is

selected as the final prediction result. If the maximum value is the predicted value FOR CIN2 or CIN3, it is classified as HSIL; if the maximum value is the predicted value FOR CIN1, it is classified as LSIL. For intermediate-risk patients, this analysis is somewhat difficult, because for these patients, the risk level value is around 0.5, which represents an almost risk of occurrence of HSIL or LSIL. Patients in this category require more cautious management. In order to reduce the rate of missed diagnoses rate, degree of difference analysis is conducted in the present study. If the value of the degree of difference of patients with CIN2/CIN3 is greater than 2 at any stage, it is identified as a large difference and directly classified as HSIL because the possibility of CIN2/CIN3 stage is stronger. If the value of degree of difference is not greater than 2 at either stage of CIN2/CIN3, the patient does not have a high stage difference. In this scenario, identification as CIN1 and classification as LSIL is more likely.

3 Results

3.1 Follow-up period

After calculating risk levels for all patients, follow-up periods for patients at different risk levels were statistically analyzed (Figure 2). Each blue circle represents the suggested follow-up period for a patient at a high level of risk, green ones show follow-up periods for patients at medium risk, and beige ones represent suggested followup periods for patients at low risk. There was a clustering of data at different levels.

After summarizing the data for the above groups, the follow-up periods for patients at different risk levels were obtained. Respectively, for high-risk, medium-risk, and low-risk patients, follow-up at 3 to 6 months, 6 to 12 months, and 3 to 5 year intervals was suggested (Table 2).

3.2 Prediction of CIN

The 16 types of high-risk HPV, CIN1, CIN2, and CIN3 exist in the risk factor graph structure as nodes connected with many other factors, and the weight of the edge represents the closeness between them and the risk factors. The neighbor nodes in the graph structure were used to observe the relevant factors for different disease stages and the nodes' characteristics. The names and edge weights of key risk factors and high-risk HPV types that were directly related to CIN1, CIN2, and CIN3 were the output. CIN3 node's top-5 neighbor nodes and their relationship values are addressed as below (Table 3).

The risk classification of each patient warranted consideration. In addition, for lesions at different stages, their close risk factor neighbor nodes and the relationship value was different. Consideration of the difference of factors at different stages was conducive to better classification and prediction of patients' lesions.

The values of the relationship with the CIN3 weight of all the top-5 neighbor nodes were between 3 and 3.005, which means that



the factors were reliable predictive parameters for CIN3; in order, they were HPV-16, HPV-18, age, persistent HPV infection, and HPV type. HPV type and infection represent four of the five closest neighbor nodes of CIN3. Obviously, factors closely related to HPV made a large contribution to precancerous progression. The top two factors were the two high-risk genotypes 16 and 18, in line with current studies that consider them the predominant causes of precancer or cervical squamous cell carcinoma. In recent years, extant works have yielded similar results as our study: HPV subtypes in different age groups and different regions have different characteristics, according to epidemiological statistical data. Moreover, the differences also reflect the different levels of cervical lesions (21).

When analyzing the CLS and identifying related risk factors and high-risk HPV types, we found that different lesion stages had different correlations with high-risk HPV types. Three genotypes, mentioned in Table 4, describe CIN1-related high-risk HPV and relation value with CIN1. In descending order of risk, they are HPV-18, -16, and -45. The top two values are above 3.0, which is remarkably higher than the value for HPV 45. It is suggested that HPV 18 has the closest relationship with CIN1 and HPV 45 takes the third place with a relatively low value.

As shown in Table 5, CIN2-related high-risk HPV genotypes include those found in CIN1 as well as HPV 31. HPV 16 is the primary type. The relation values with CIN2 for HPV-16 and -18 are greater than 3.0, although the values for HPV-31 and -45 are just over 1.0. Evidently, HPV-16 and -18 are predominant factors

TABLE 2 Follow-up Periods for Patients of Different Risk Levels.

Risk Level	Follow-up Period
Low-Risk	3-5 years
Medium-Risk	6-12 months
High-Risk	3-6 months

leading to CIN2 among high-risk HPV genotypes. Despite the values for the other genotypes not being as high, HPV-31 and -45 emerge, among many other genotypes, as CIN2-relevant high-risk HPV genotypes.

Calculations implicate 14 genotypes as causes of CIN3 from the perspective of high-risk HPV (Table 6). They can be divided into three echelons according to relation value with CIN3 \geq 3.0, \geq 2.0 and<3.0, and \geq 1.0 and<2.0. In the first echelon, HPV-16 and -18 display the most intimate relationship with CIN3. HPV-58 and -31 appear in the second echelon and HPV-52, -56, -66, -51, -39, -35, -33, -45, and -26 emerge in the third echelon, in descending order.

CIN3 was correlated with multiple high-risk HPV types; in other words, when these high-risk HPV types occur, there is a greater probability of development of CIN3. At the same time, we found that HPV-16 and -18 have a strong impact on each of the three stages. A number of studies over the years have also shown that these two HPV genotypes are associated with the highest risk of occurrence of lesions and even cervical cancer, and the three common types of cervical cancer vaccines inevitably cover these two genotypes. Compared with the CIN1 stage, it was found that the HPV31 genotype was a unique high-risk type for the CIN2 stage, indicating that upon infection with HPV31, the likelihood of development into the CIN2 stage is higher. High-risk HPV

TABLE 3 CIN3 Node's Top 5 Neighbor Nodes.

Neighbor Nodes	Value of the Relationship with CIN3 Weight
HPV 16	3.004129552
HPV 18	3.00267266
Age	3.001884209
Persistent HPV Infection	3.001449165
НРУ Туре	3.000758473

TABLE 4 CIN1 Relevant High-risk HPV and Value.

Type of High-risk HPV	Relation Value with CIN1
HPV 18	3.001518086
HPV 16	3.000897878
HPV 45	1.000011528

infection warrants more attention. It also indicates that multiple genotypes of infection leads to greater likelihood of highgrade lesions.

3.3 Experimental analysis

We introduced an experimental evaluation index and conducted evidence-based analysis based on the diagram structure of risk factors. Finally, classification to predict the cervical lesion stage of patients and experimental verification through a total of 125 collected case data, excluding the data for cases that have developed into cervical cancer, was carried out. Comparative experimental analysis between the CLS algorithm proposed in this study and SMOTE-LSTM (22) was conducted.

At a statistical level, the results of disease diagnosis are described in terms of sensitivity and specificity. Sensitivity refers to the ability of diagnostic tests to detect disease when people are sick, as shown in the calculation Equation 5. Specificity refers to the ability of diagnostic tests to exclude disease when people are not sick, as shown in the calculation Equation 6.

TP (true positive): The prediction corresponds to the number of people diagnosed with a certain stage of the disease.

FP (false positive): The prediction does not correspond to the number of people diagnosed with a certain stage of the disease.

FN (false negative): The prediction does not correspond to the number of people free from disease.

TN (true negative): The prediction corresponds to the number of people free from disease.

$$sensitivity = \frac{TP}{TP + FN}$$
(5)

$$specificity = \frac{TN}{TN + FP}$$
(6)

TABLE 5 CIN2 Relevant High-risk HPV and Value.

Type of High-risk HPV	Relation Value with CIN2
HPV 16	3.003927177
HPV 18	3.003502006
HPV 31	1.00005263
HPV 45	1.000007755

Sensitivity and specificity are often used to evaluate the authenticity of outpatient results. In order to evaluate the classification results of disease prediction more accurately, the definition of true positive in this study has been modified. In general, true positive indicates the condition of finding disease and predicting disease; that is, patients with the disease are correctly predicted to be patients with the disease. However, in the study, true positive is to predict not disease but accurate disease stage. These changes were made to improve the accuracy of CLS.

The CLS algorithm put forward in this research and the SMOTE-LSTM algorithm were compared based on the two aspects of specificity and sensitivity. Sensitivity represents the ability to identify patients, and specificity represents the ability to identify non-patients, i.e., the ability to be assessed as disease-free.

The experimental results of lesion prediction are shown in Figure 3. It can be clearly seen that the sensitivity and specificity of the CLS algorithm proposed in this study are higher than those of the comparison algorithm. This is because we have fully considered the principle of disease application, that is, the relationship between high-risk HPV infection and cervical lesions. A comprehensive analysis of the infection risk level of the patients themselves was carried out, so as to avoid missed diagnoses of those patients who have not tested positive for high-risk HPV but do have lesions. Degree of difference analysis was introduced to analyze the differences between related risk factors at different disease stages, so as to classify and predict the disease stages of patients better. In addition, the specificity of the CLS algorithm proposed in this study reached 92.7%, which indicates that our algorithm shows good ability to distinguish non-patients from patients. The CLS algorithm is therefore a tool for medically assisted decision-making that can effectively reduce the occurrence of overexamination.

TABLE 6 CIN3 Relevant High-risk HPV and Value.

Type of High-risk HPV	Relation Value with CIN3
HPV16	3.004129552
HPV 18	3.00267266
HPV 58	2.000134558
HPV 52	1.000043481
HPV 31	2.000129077
HPV 51	1.000015006
HPV 33	1.000014283
HPV 35	1.000014325
HPV 56	1.000015488
HPV 26	1.000007551
HPV 39	1.000014413
HPV 66	1.00001536
HPV 45	1.000007829

13



4 Discussion

Accurate decision-making regarding the appropriate follow-up period for a target population with high-risk HPV infection can be time-consuming and challenging for clinicians, given the multitude of factors to consider. Prolonging the follow-up period increases the risk of missing the occurrence of cervical lesions, potentially leading to missed diagnostic opportunities before lesions develop. If the follow-up period is set too short, it may result in excessive examination, wasting medical resources and posing harm to patients' health. In 2020, the American Cancer Society updated its guidance to extend HPV screening intervals to 5 years based on accumulated evidence (23). However, disparities exist in recommendations from different academic organizations. According to the ATHENA trial, colposcopy is recommended if the patient tests positive for either HPV 16 or 18. Unfortunately, HPV testing can detect viral subtypes rather than persistent infection, which is an important factor in carcinogenesis. Girls and women tested positive for HPV subtypes -35, -39, -51, -56, -59, -66, or -68 are advised to undergo rescreening in 12 months (24). HPV infection genotype is important in detecting cancer and should be considered in triage management (25). To avoid excessive examinations and reduce the burden on patients, a more personalized diagnosis is recommended based on individual conditions. Physicians often manage patients according to their practical experience, acquired knowledge, guidance from predecessors, or research reports in journals, mainly relying on their subjective judgment. Evidence-based medicine not only focuses on doctors' clinical experience but also emphasizes the use of scientific evidence to guide clinical practice. Computers, as tools for data mining and knowledge discovery, can extract scientific evidence, providing an auxiliary support to doctors in clinical diagnosis. Therefore, evidence-based analysis of medical evidence can not only validate the accuracy of research but also play a relevant and conclusive role in clinical decision-making.

According to our study, patient risk was divided into three levels based on calculation of their total risk through the CLS algorithm. Then, every patient was assigned a serial number and a follow-up period. Follow-up periods were based on different risk levels. Individuals comprehensively understood to provide suggestions for the follow-up period compared with considering only single or several aspects. A reasonable and sufficient recommendation was expected.

Although studies published in 2006 and later show that fewer cases progressed to CIN3+, on average, in high-risk HPV-positive women compared with studies before 2006 (26), it remains critical to identify high-risk individuals to minimize the risk of their developing high-grade precancerous lesions. CIN3+ has been shown to be predominantly attributed to persistent HPV-16 and -18 infection, in line with the present study. However, it is difficult to identify the variations in the trends of the distribution of HPV genotypes in the target population due to the effects of vaccination and other factors such as patient age.

In extant studies of HPV, patient age has not received sufficient attention. Actually, age is non-negligible as one of other factors in present and potential CIN3 cases regardless of including or excluding HPV genotype. In our study, age was found to play a key role in CIN3 risk, ranking in significance only after HPV-16 and -18 infection status. Because of the limitations of the study, we did not analyze how or why age affects the infecting HPV genotypes and CIN risk. Extant studies show that the characteristics of distribution of high-risk HPV types differ with increasing age in patients with CIN2+. For instance, HPV-16 and -18 types cause CIN more often in younger women than in older women who are affected by genotypes other than those associated with non-high-risk HPV (27, 28). The reason for the atypical age-related distribution of HPV genotypes in older women is immunological status (29). Changes in the immunological status of older women weaken their immune systems, resulting in less effective immune clearance of uncommon HPV genotypes. Persistent infection may occur for the same reason and lead to high-grade cervical lesions. In the meanwhile, the incidence of CIN2 and CIN3 in the 20–29-year age group has doubled relative to the >60-year age group (30). Approximately 50% of cervical cancer cases in older women result in non-high-risk-HPV (31). Age and immunological status ought to be fully considered when investigating the distribution of HPV genotype.

The emergence and development of HPV vaccines, from bivalent to nonavalent, as the primary prevention method, has effectively protected more and more women of the appropriate age from HPV infection with certain genotypes, with well-established safety (32). The bivalent vaccine covers the HPV genotypes 16 and 18; the quadrivalent vaccine covers the low-risk genotypes 6 and 11 that contribute to most cases of genital warts (33, 34) and the two high-risk genotypes mentioned above. In addition to all these abovementioned genotypes, high-risk HPV genotypes 31, 33, 45, 52, and 58 are the other genotypes covered by the nonavalent vaccine (35).

Extant studies describe high efficacy (>90%) of the HPV vaccine against high-grade CIN-related genotypes and persistent high-risk HPV infection, and an efficacy of 64.6% against cross-protective types (HPV-31, -33, and -45). Additionally, the HPV vaccine shows robust and long-acting clinical efficacy in terms of protection and prevention (36, 37). Due to the effects of the uptake of the HPV vaccine, changes of prevalent HPV genotypes in women of different age groups have appeared globally. However, the unequal uptake of HPV vaccination program step by step in the world has led to variations in HPV genotype among countries and regions at a given time. Studies indicate the role of the HPV vaccine in preventing the occurrence of CIN2 and CIN3 in some countries (36, 37). Although the proportion of CIN3 due to genotypes covered by the nonavalent vaccine is high in the age group of 45 years and above, it seems that older women have significantly higher risk of high-grade CIN associated with the genotypes of HPV that are not covered by the nonavalent vaccine as well as non-high-risk HPV precancerous lesions.

In the present study, we find that HPV-16, -18, and -45 are the common types leading to all stages of CIN; this is consistent with a study that considers HPV-16 and -18 as the main types of cervical squamous carcinoma and HPV-18 and -45 as the primary types of cervical adenocarcinoma (38).The HPV types at the secondary level leading to CIN did not appear to be common features, likely because of the differences in race, region, and vaccination status.

In the future, the rates of HPV-16 and -18 infection are expected to gradually decrease, especially in young women, as a result of the effectiveness of bivalent and quadrivalent HPV vaccination programs. The influence of nonavalent vaccine on other prevalent high-risk genotypes is deemed to come out in a long term for relatively late implementation and stipulated younger age group between 9 and 26. Therefore, traditional high-risk HPV types may not be predictive of CIN or lesions. Conversely, the specific HPV genotypes excluded in the nonavalent vaccination, such as -56, -66, -51, -39, -35, and -26, are expected to be predictive of CIN3 and CIN3+.

Therefore, HPV genotyping test is a valuable screening method to predict risk value and guide individual management. Clinical decision-makers should regard age as a factor, together with HPV genotype, when managing CIN3 patients (39). Overall, these findings highlight the importance of regular cervical cancer screening throughout a woman's lifetime and tailoring management strategies based on individual risk profiles. This would allow unnecessary interventions to be minimized while ensuring early detection and treatment of precancerous lesions before they progress to invasive disease.

The HPV vaccine—an effective preventive strategy against HPV infection, related genital warts, and cervical cancer (40–42)—combined with HPV testing is expected to reduce cervical cancer rates. HPV testing has gradually become the main screening method due to its good sensitivity, and HPV self-sampling programs will be an available supplement to improve screening coverage. Although HPV self-sampling projects have been carried out only in a small number of countries, because of its advantages as a safe, simple, and private method, HPV self-sampling may have more widespread application in the future in additional countries (43). In addition, the vaccination status of girls and women should be taken into account during triage and to determine the frequency of HPV screening; these considerations should be explored in future studies (42).

5 Conclusion

Through in-depth study of the interactions between the risk factors for high-risk HPV, a risk factor relationship diagram structure was constructed. The risk level of patients was analyzed based on all risk factors, and a follow-up period for each risk level was formulated. According to the correlation between high-risk HPV genotypes and CIN, a lesion prediction model was constructed to predict the stage of cervical lesions within a reasonable follow-up period, provide a basis for pathological diagnosis, effectively reduce the risk of lesions, and even cancerization, and achieve primary prevention of cervical cancer.

In this study, we mined potential key risk factors, identified highrisk HPV patients, formulated follow-up periods for each risk level, and predicted cervical lesions, providing a new technological basis and ideas for related fields. Through evidence-based analysis, we demonstrated that the construction of a cervical cancer knowledge base and the structure of the risk factor relationship graph in this study play a key role in the evidence-based analysis of diseases and provide convenience and a scientific basis for evidence-based medicine. Furthermore, the findings offer time savings to doctors by enabling to assess and conduct decision making more efficiently. At the same time, the potential risk factors mined based on the structure of the risk factor map are also of significance for guiding clinical diagnosis and disease prevention. Altogether, the findings of this study can help the medical community to identify high-risk HPV patients more accurately, arrange follow-up more effectively, and improve the accuracy of cervical lesion prediction, thus providing more effective strategies for the prevention and treatment of cervical cancer.

Data availability statement

The datasets presented in this study can be found in online repositories. The names of the repository/repositories and accession number(s) can be found in the article/supplementary material.

Ethics statement

The studies involving humans were approved by Ethics Committee of Jilin Central General Hospital. The studies were conducted in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements. Written informed consent for participation was not required from the participants or the participants' legal guardians/next of kin because the local legislation and institutional requirements.

Author contributions

LG: Project administration, Writing – original draft, Conceptualization. YT: Data curation, Methodology, Writing – original draft. HX: Conceptualization, Investigation, Writing – original draft. LZ: Investigation, Resources, Writing – review & editing. YS: Formal analysis, Writing – review & editing, Supervision.

References

1. Torre LA, Islami F, Siegel RL, Ward EM, Jemal A. Global cancer in women: burden and trends. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* (2017) 26(4):444-57. doi: 10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-16-0858

2. Sung H, Ferlay J, Siegel RL, Laversanne M, Soerjomataram I, Jemal A, et al. Global cancer statistics 2020: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. *CA Cancer J Clin* (2021) 71:209–249. doi: 10.3322/caac.21660

3. Global strategy to accelerate the elimination of cervical cancer as a public health problem. Geneva: World Health Organization (2020).

4. Kremer WW, Steenbergen R, Heideman D, Kenter GG, Meijer C. The use of host cell DNA methylation analysis in the detection and management of women with advanced cervical intraepithelial neoplasia: a review. *BJOG* (2021) 128(3):504–14. doi: 10.1111/1471-0528.16395

5. Sammarco ML, Ucciferri C, Tamburro M, Falasca K, Ripabelli G, Vecchiet J. High prevalence of human papillomavirus type 58 in HIV infected men who have sex with men: A preliminary report in Central Italy. *J Med Virol* (2016) 88(5):911–4. doi: 10.1002/jmv.24406

6. Fonseca BO, Possati-Resende JC, Salcedo MP, Schmeler KM, Accorsi GS, Fregnani JHTG, et al. Topical imiquimod for the treatment of high-grade squamous intraepithelial lesions of the cervix: A randomized controlled trial. *Obstet Gynecol* (2021) 137(6):1043–53. doi: 10.1097/AOG.000000000004384

7. Ogilvie GS, van Niekerk D, Krajden M, Smith LW, Cook D, Gondara L, et al. Effect of Screening with Primary Cervical HPV Testing vs Cytology Testing on Highgrade Cervical Intraepithelial Neoplasia at 48 Months: The HPV FOCAL Randomized Clinical Trial. *JAMA* (2018) 320(1):43–52. doi: 10.1001/jama.2018.7464

 Castle PE, Kinney WK, Xue X, Cheung LC, Gage JC, Zhao FH, et al. Effect of several negative rounds of human papillomavirus and cytology co-testing on safety against cervical cancer: an observational cohort study. *Ann Intern Med* (2018) 168 (1):20–9. doi: 10.7326/M17-1609

9. Frega A, Pavone M, Sesti F, Leone C, Bianchi P, Cozza G, et al. Sensitivity and specificity values of high-risk HPV DNA, p16/ki-67 and HPV mRNA in young women with atypical squamous cells of undetermined significance (ASCUS) or low-grade squamous intraepithelial lesion (LSIL). *Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci* (2019) 23 (24):10672–7. doi: 10.26355/eurrev_201912_19765

10. Kann BH, Hosny A, Aerts HJWL. Artificial intelligence for clinical oncology. Cancer Cell (2021) 39(7):916–27. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2021.04.002

11. Ting DSW, Pasquale LR, Peng L, Campbell JP, Lee AY, Raman R, et al. Artificial intelligence and deep learning in ophthalmology. *Br J Ophthalmol* (2019) 103(2):167–75. doi: 10.1136/bjophthalmol-2018-313173

Funding

The author(s) declare financial support was received for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article. This work was supported by the Education Department Foundation of Jilin Province (Grant No. JJKH20210066KJ, Grant No. 2018ZCY129).

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

12. Lipkova J, Chen RJ, Chen B, Lu MY, Barbieri M, Shao D, et al. Artificial intelligence for multimodal data integration in oncology. *Cancer Cell* (2022) 40 (10):1095–110. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2022.09.012

13. Yanagawa M, Niioka H, Kusumoto M, Awai K, Tsubamoto M, Satoh Y, et al. Diagnostic performance for pulmonary adenocarcinoma on CT: comparison of radiologists with and without three-dimensional convolutional neural network. *Eur Radiol* (2021) 31(4):1978-86. doi: 10.1007/s00330-020-07339-x

14. Jiang M, Zhang D, Tang SC, Luo XM, Chuan ZR, Lv WZ, et al. Deep learning with convolutional neural network in the assessment of breast cancer molecular subtypes based on US images: a multicenter retrospective study. *Eur Radiol* (2021) 31(6):3673–82. doi: 10.1007/s00330-020-07544-8

15. Xue P, Xu H-M, Tang H-P, Wu W-Q, Seery S, Han X, et al. Assessing artificial intelligence enabled liquid-based cytology for triaging HPV-positive women: a population-based cross-sectional study. *Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand* (2023) 102:1026–33. doi: 10.1111/aogs.14611

16. Xue P, Tang C, Li Q, Li Y, Shen Y, Zhao Y, et al. Development and validation of an artificial intelligence system for grading colposcopic impressions and guiding biopsies. *BMC Med* (2020) 18(1):406. doi: 10.1186/s12916-020-01860-y

17. Sato M, Horie K, Hara A, Miyamoto Y, Kurihara K, Tomio K, et al. Application of deep learning to the classification of images from colposcopy. *Oncol Lett* (2018) 15 (3):3518–23. doi: 10.3892/ol.2018.7762

18. Dhombres F, Bonnard J, Bailly K, Maurice P, Papageorghiou AT, Jouannic JM. Contributions of artificial intelligence reported in obstetrics and gynecology journals: systematic review. *J Med Internet Res* (2022) 24(4):e35465. doi: 10.2196/35465

19. Peng G, Dong H, Liang T, Li L, Liu J. Diagnosis of cervical precancerous lesions based on multimodal feature changes. *Comput Biol Med* (2021) 130:104209. doi: 10.1016/j.compbiomed.2021.104209

20. Crowell EF, Bazin C, Saunier F, Brixtel R, Caillot Y, Lesner B, et al. CytoProcessorTM: A new cervical cancer screening system for remote diagnosis. *Acta Cytol* (2019) 63(3):215–23. doi: 10.1159/000497111

21. Li K, Li Q, Song L, Wang D, Yin R. The distribution and prevalence of human papillomavirus in women in mainland China. *Cancer* (2019) 125(7):1030–7. doi: 10.1002/cncr.32003

22. Alex SA, Jhanjhi N, Humayun M, Ibrahim AO, Abulfaraj AW. Deep LSTM model for diabetes prediction with class balancing by SMOTE. *Electronics* (2022) 11 (17):2737. doi: 10.3390/electronics11172737

23. Fontham ETH, Wolf AMD, Church TR, Etzioni R, Flowers CR, Herzig A, et al. Cervical cancer screening for individuals at average risk: 2020 guideline update from the American Cancer Society. *CA Cancer J Clin* (2020) 70:321–46. doi: 10.3322/ caac.21628

24. Athanasiou A, Bowden S, Paraskevaidi M, Fotopoulou C, Martin-Hirsch P, Paraskevaidis E, et al. HPV vaccination and cancer prevention. *Best Pract Res Clin Obstet Gynaecol* (2020) 65:109–24. doi: 10.1016/j.bpobgyn.2020.02.009

25. Tota JE, Bentley J, Blake J, Coutlée F, Duggan MA, Ferenczy A, et al. Approaches for triaging women who test positive for human papillomavirus in cervical cancer screening. *Prev Med* (2017) 98:15–20. doi: 10.1016/j.ypmed.2016.11.030

26. Malagón T, Volesky KD, Bouten S, Laprise C, El-Zein M, Franco EL. Cumulative risk of cervical intraepithelial neoplasia for women with normal cytology but positive for human papillomavirus: Systematic review and meta-analysis. *Int J Canc* (2020) 147 (10):2695–707. doi: 10.1002/ijc.33035

27. Sakai M, Ohara T, Suzuki H, Kadomoto T, Inayama Y, Shitanaka S, et al. Clinical impact of age-specific distribution of combination patterns of cytology and high-risk HPV status on cervical intraepithelial neoplasia grade 2 or more. *Oncol Lett* (2023) 26 (3):384. doi: 10.3892/ol.2023.13970

28. Giannella L, Delli Carpini G, Di Giuseppe J, Prandi S, Tsiroglou D, Ciavattini A. Age-related changes in the fraction of cervical intraepithelial neoplasia grade 3 related to HPV genotypes included in the nonavalent vaccine. *J Oncol* (2019) 11(6):7137891. doi: 10.1155/2019/7137891

29. González P, Hildesheim A, Rodríguez AC, Schiffman M, Porras C, Wacholder S, et al. Behavioral/lifestyle and immunologic factors associated with HPV infection among women older than 45 years. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* (2010) 19 (12):3044–54. doi: 10.1158/1055-9965

30. Onuki M, Matsumoto K, Satoh T, Oki A, Okada S, Minaguchi T, et al. Human papillomavirus infections among Japanese women: age-related prevalence and type-specific risk for cervical cancer. *Cancer Sci* (2009) 100(7):1312–6. doi: 10.1111/j.1349-7006.2009.01161.x

31. Guardado-Estrada M, Juárez-Torres E, Román-Bassaure E, Medina-Martinez I, Alfaro A, Benuto RE, et al. The distribution of high-risk human papillomaviruses is different in young and old patients with cervical cancer. *PloS One* (2014) 9(10):e109406. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0109406

32. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. *HPV vaccine information for clinicians-fact sheet.* Available at: https://www.cdc.gov/std/HPV.

33. Paz-Zulueta M, Álvarez-Paredes L, Rodríguez Díaz JC, Parás-Bravo P, Andrada Becerra ME, Rodríguez Ingelmo JM, et al. Prevalence of high-risk HPV genotypes, categorised by their quadrivalent and nine-valent HPV vaccination coverage, and the genotype association with high-grade lesions. *BMC Canc* (2018) 18(1):112. doi: 10.1186/s12885-018-4033-2

34. Food and Drug Administration. *FDA approves gardasil 9 for prevention of certain cancers caused by five additional types of HPV*. Available at: https://www.fda.gov/BiologicsBloodVaccines/Vaccines/ApprovedProducts/ucm426445.htm.

35. Arbyn M, Xu L. Efficacy and safety of prophylactic HPV vaccines. A Cochrane review of randomized trials. *Expert Rev Vaccines* (2018) 17(12):1085–91. doi: 10.1080/14760584.2018.1548282

36. Harper DM, DeMars LR. HPV vaccines - A review of the first decade. *Gynecol Oncol* (2017) 146(1):196–204. doi: 10.1016/j.ygyno.2017.04.004

37. Hoes J, King AJ, Berkhof J, de Melker HE. High vaccine effectiveness persists for ten years after HPV16/18 vaccination among young Dutch women. *Vaccine*. (2023) 41 (2):285–9. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2022.11.057

38. Bhatla N, Singhal S. Primary HPV screening for cervical cancer. Best Pract Res Clin Obstet Gynaecol (2020) 65:98–108. doi: 10.1016/j.bpobgyn.2020.02.008

39. Giannella L, Giorgi Rossi P, Delli Carpini G, Di Giuseppe J, Bogani G, Gardella B, et al. Age-related distribution of uncommon HPV genotypes in cervical intraepithelial neoplasia grade 3. *Gynecol Oncol* (2021) 161(3):741–7. doi: 10.1016/j.ygyno.2021.03.025

40. Drolet M, Bénard É, Pérez N. Brisson M.HPV Vaccination Impact Study Group. Population-level impact and herd effects following the introduction of human papillomavirus vaccination programmes: updated systematic review and metaanalysis. *Lancet* (2019) 394(10197):497–509. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(19)30298-3

41. Palmer T, Wallace L, Pollock KG, Cuschieri K, Robertson C, Kavanagh K, et al. Prevalence of cervical disease at age 20 after immunisation with bivalent HPV vaccine at age 12-13 in Scotland: retrospective population study. *BMJ* (2019) 365:11161. doi: 10.1136/bmj.11161

42. Hall MT, Simms KT, Lew JB, Smith MA, Brotherton JM, Saville M, et al. The projected timeframe until cervical cancer elimination in Australia: a modelling study. *Lancet Public Health* (2019) 4(1):e19–27. doi: 10.1016/S2468-2667(18)30183-X

43. Serrano B, Ibáñez R, Robles C, Peremiquel-Trillas P, de Sanjosé S, Bruni L. Worldwide use of HPV self-sampling for cervical cancer screening. *Prev Med* (2022) 154:106900. doi: 10.1016/j.ypmed.2021.106900

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Manoj Menon, Fred Hutchinson Cancer Center, United States

REVIEWED BY Olugbenga Akindele Silas, University of Jos, Nigeria Boya Guo, Fred Hutchinson Cancer Center, United States

*CORRESPONDENCE Fan Lee Fan.lee@jefferson.edu

RECEIVED 15 December 2023 ACCEPTED 26 January 2024 PUBLISHED 27 February 2024

CITATION

Lee F, McGue S, Chapola J, Dunda W, Tang JH, Ndovie M, Msowoya L, Mwapasa V, Smith JS and Chinula L (2024) Experiences of women participating in a human papillomavirus-based screen-triage-and treat strategy for cervical cancer prevention in Malawi. *Front. Oncol.* 14:1356654. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2024.1356654

COPYRIGHT

© 2024 Lee, McGue, Chapola, Dunda, Tang, Ndovie, Msowoya, Mwapasa, Smith and Chinula. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Experiences of women participating in a human papillomavirus-based screen-triage-and treat strategy for cervical cancer prevention in Malawi

Fan Lee^{1*}, Shannon McGue², John Chapola³, Wezzie Dunda⁴, Jennifer H. Tang^{1,4,5}, Margret Ndovie⁴, Lizzie Msowoya⁴, Victor Mwapasa⁶, Jennifer S. Smith^{5,7} and Lameck Chinula^{1,4,5,6}

¹Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, University of North Carolina, Chapel Hill, NC, United States, ²Department of Medicine, Duke University, Durham, NC, United States, ³Department of Health Policy and Management, Gillings School of Global Public Health, University of North Carolina, Chapel Hill, NC, United States, ⁴University of North Carolina Project-Malawi, Lilongwe, Malawi, ⁵Lineberger Comprehensive Cancer Center, University of North Carolina, Chapel Hill, NC, United States, ⁶Department of Epidemiology and Biostatistics, Kamuzu University of Health Sciences, Blantyre, Malawi, ⁷Department of Epidemiology, University of North Carolina School of Global Public Health, Chapel Hill, NC, United States

Objective: To explore the experiences of Malawian women who underwent a human papillomavirus (HPV)-based screen-triage-treat algorithm for cervical cancer (CxCa) prevention. This algorithm included GeneXpert® HPV testing of self-collected vaginal samples, visual inspection with acetic acid (VIA) and colposcopy for HPV-positive women, and thermal ablation of ablation-eligible women.

Method: In-depth interviews were conducted with participants of a trial that evaluated the feasibility of a HPV-based screen-triage-treat algorithm among women living with HIV and HIV negative women in Lilongwe, Malawi. Participants were recruited from 3 groups: 1) HPV-negative; 2) HPV-positive/VIA-negative; 3) HPV-positive/VIA-positive and received thermal ablation. Interviews explored baseline knowledge of CxCa and screening, attitudes towards self-collection, and understanding of test results. Content analysis was conducted using NVIVO v12.

Results: Thematic saturation was reached at 25 interviews. Advantages of HPV self-collection to participants were convenience of sampling, same-day HPV results and availability of same-day treatment. There was confusion surrounding HPV-positive/VIA-negative results, as some participants still felt treatment was needed. Counseling, and in particular anticipatory guidance, was key in helping participants understand complex screening procedures and results. Overall, participants expressed confidence in the HPV screen-triage-treat strategy.

Discussion: HPV testing through self-collected samples is a promising tool to increase CxCa screening coverage. A multi-step screening algorithm utilizing HPV self-testing, VIA triage and thermal ablation treatment requires proper

counseling and anticipatory guidance to improve patient understanding. Incorporating thorough counseling in CxCa screening programs can change women's perspectives about screening, build trust in healthcare systems, and influence healthcare seeking behavior towards routine screening and prevention.

KEYWORDS

HPV self-collection, VIA triage, thermal ablation, cervical cancer screening experience, Malawi (MeSH [Z01.058.290.175.500])

Introduction

Malawi has the highest cervical cancer (CxCa) mortality rate in the world (51.5 deaths/100,000 per year), seven times higher than the global rate (1). This disease burden is largely due to the high prevalence of HIV (>9% for women 15-50 years of age) (2) and low CxCa screening coverage (3). For the last two decades, the national CxCa screening program in Malawi has been using visual inspection with acetic acid (VIA) for screening and cryotherapy for treatment of VIA-positive lesions amenable for ablative therapy. However, a comprehensive evaluation of this program in 2015 showed that screening coverage has remained low (<27%) and less than half of those who required treatment received treatment (3).

Lack of trained staff was cited as the main challenge in offering CxCa screening by service providers in Malawi (4). Pelvic exambased screening for cervical cancer, such as VIA, requires trained providers, adequate facilities, and patient acceptability of exams, thus limiting screening efficiency, access, and uptake. Human papillomavirus (HPV) screening by self-collection can bypass some of these challenges. The detection of high-risk types of HPV associated with CxCa has improved the accuracy of detecting cervical precancer (5) and was recommended by the World Health Organization (WHO) in 2021 to be the primary screening method, when available (6). Recent advancements in technology, such as GeneXpert[®] HPV tests (Cepheid Inc, Sunnyvale, CA, USA), has made HPV testing available in low-resource settings and allow the possibility of same-day treatment because of the quick result turnaround (about 1-2 hours with GeneXpert[®]). Self-collection of vaginal sample for HPV testing has been validated as an effective and sensitive method for CxCa screening if highly sensitive assays are utilized, with notably lower provider burden compared to provider-collected tests (5). HPV self-collection has been shown to increase CxCa screening compared to VIA (7) and is acceptable to women all over the world (8), including in Sub-Saharan Africa (SSA) (9).

The biggest limitation to same-day treatment of cervical precancerous lesions in Malawi was maintaining functional cryotherapy machines and sustaining the supply of refrigerant gas (3). Thermal ablation, a battery-powered, portable, and less time-intensive treatment modality is replacing cryotherapy as the preferred treatment modality in low- and middle-income

countries (LMICs). With increasing evidence of safety, efficacy, and the ability to increase same-day screening and treatment (10, 11), the Malawi Ministry of Health (MoH) added thermal ablation as a treatment option in the national screening guidelines (12).

In line with WHO and Malawi MOH recommendations, we implemented a HPV-based screen-triage-treat algorithm that incorporates the strategies of HPV self-collection and same-day thermal ablation treatment. Our single-arm prospective trial evaluated the feasibility and performance of this algorithm in Lilongwe, Malawi among women living with HIV (WHIV) and HIV-negative women (13). This manuscript focuses on the study's secondary aim, which was to explore the experiences of the participants. Perceptions of HPV-based screening have primarily been evaluated in HPV/Pap smear algorithms among patients in high income countries (14, 15). This study uniquely evaluated the experience of women undergoing a HPV/VIA screen-triage-treat algorithm, including acceptance of HPV self-collection, understanding of results, and challenges posed by a multistep screening process.

Methods

Study setting and participants

Participants for this qualitative sub-study were recruited from a single-arm prospective study that investigated a novel HPV screentriage-treat strategy among 1,250 women (625 WHIV and 625 HIVuninfected) in Lilongwe, Malawi. The strategy consisted of 1) GeneXpert[®] HPV testing of self-collected cervicovaginal samples; 2) VIA and colposcopy for HPV-positive women; and 3) thermal ablation for HPV-positive/ablation-eligible women. Colposcopy was conducted following VIA to determine final eligibility for thermal ablation, and additional samples (endocervical curettage and cervical biopsy or pap smear) were collected based on colposcopy results for other study objectives (see protocol paper for details) (13). For this qualitative sub-study, we focused on the HPV self-collection screening, VIA triage, and thermal ablation treatment components of the algorithm.

The parent study and this qualitative sub-study were conducted at UNC Project-Malawi's Tidziwe Centre clinic in Lilongwe,

Malawi. UNC Project-Malawi is a collaboration between the University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill and the Malawi MoH. Recruitment of participants for the parent study are detailed in the protocol paper (13). Briefly, study staff provided educational talks about cervical cancer screening and the study in waiting areas of outpatient clinics that provided reproductive health and HIV care services. Women who were interested in the study were scheduled for screening at the UNC Project-Malawi research clinic. On arrival, informed consent began with a summary of study goals and introduction to the new approach to cervical cancer screening employed in the study. Specifically, counseling was focused on HPV, its relationship to cervical cancer and detailed descriptions of each screening step. For those who continued to be interested, the remainder of the informed consent was completed, which further included counseling on what to expect at each step of screening and after each result. During screening, participants' understanding of procedures and results was continually assessed and counseling was reiterated as needed. Study eligibility criteria included: femal1es between 25-50 years of age; non-pregnant; at least 12 weeks postpartum; and able and willing to provide written informed consent. Exclusion criteria included: current or prior history of cervical, vaginal, or vulvar cancer; current symptomatic sexually transmitted infection (STI) requiring treatment; prior HPV vaccination; allergy to acetic acid; or history of total hysterectomy.

At the enrollment visit of the parent study, participants were asked if they were interested in joining the qualitative sub-study. Convenience sampling was used among those who expressed interest and the sub-study participants were recruited via phone call by study staff. Those interested were asked to come back to Tidziwe Centre to consent and enroll in the sub-study. We planned to enroll up to thirty women for in-depth-interviews (IDIs) across 3 groups of screening outcomes: 1) those who screened negative on self-collection HPV test (HPV-negative); 2) those who screened positive on self-collection HPV test but had a negative VIA (HPVpositive/VIA-negative) and did not receive treatment; and 3) those who screened positive on HPV self-collection, had a positive VIA triage exam (HPV-positive/VIA-positive) and received same-day thermal ablation. All participants received transport reimbursement, as approved by the local ethics committee.

Data collection

Semi-structured IDIs were developed around four main domains of inquiry: 1) baseline knowledge and perception of CxCa and CxCa screening; 2) attitudes towards self-collection; 3) experience with the screen-triage-treat procedures; and 4) understanding of screening results. Domains were developed based on existing literature that assessed acceptability of and perspectives on HPV-based screening (9, 16, 17). Interviews were conducted in Chichewa, the local language, by study staff experienced in qualitative data collection methods (WD). Interviews were audiotaped and then translated and transcribed into English. Completed transcripts were reviewed immediately by study investigators and analyzed for emerging and/or new themes to inform the questions for subsequent interviews. This iterative process ensured saturation of themes and depth of content within the predetermined domains of inquiry.

Additionally, five survey questions specific to participants' HPV self-collection experience were administered after IDIs. The survey asked participants to rank whether they felt embarrassed, experienced discomfort, experienced pain, had privacy, and felt confident that they self-collected correctly on a three-point scale of 1) not at all; 2) somewhat; and 3) very much.

Data analysis

Three qualitative investigators (FL, SM, JC) independently reviewed and coded three transcripts at a time using thematic analysis, followed by a group discussion, to identify relationships between emerging themes and ensure relevance to research questions. This was repeated until the code book was finalized. The code book and IDIs were uploaded to NVIVO 12 software. To ensure validity of coding and robustness of analysis, nine interviews were coded by all three investigators and the remaining 16 were doubly coded. The code book was refined as analysis progressed. An Excel spreadsheet was used to structure and compile all extracted quotes for each code. The quotes were reviewed by all three coders and themes were revised until it was felt that they accurately reflected the data.

Survey data on HPV self-collection experience was entered into an Excel spreadsheet, and descriptive statistics were used for analysis.

Ethical considerations

This study was approved by Malawi National Health Sciences Research Committee and the University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill Institution Review Board. All participants underwent informed consent and provided written consent.

Results

Between July 2020 – March 2021, we interviewed 25 women across the three groups of screening outcomes. Thematic saturation was reached at seven for Group 1, twelve for Group 2, and six for Group 3 (Figure 1).

Baseline characteristics of participants

Participants were between 25-49 years old, with a median age of 34 (Table 1). Overall, ten (40%) of participants were WHIV (one in Group 1, five in Group 2, and four in Group 3). Most participants (84%) reported no prior CxCa screening; for those who did, the prior screening method reported was VIA. The majority of participants (72%) report a travel time between 30-60 minutes to reach the nearest clinic that offered CxCa screening. Of note, participants in Group 3 had a longer time between initial HPV



screening and their IDI (median of 7 weeks vs. 3-4 weeks for Groups 1 & 2). Baseline socioeconomic characteristics were similar across the three groups. Most (60%) had at most some secondary school education, most (68%) were married or living with their partner, and most (64%) worked outside the house. Half of the participants (48%) made less than the equivalent of about \$2 per day (<K49,999 per month), and the others (52%) made the equivalent of about \$2-6 per day (K50,000-K150,000 per month). The median age at first vaginal intercourse among participants was 17 years, with a range of 15-22 years. The median number of lifetime partners was two, with a range of 1-3. Most (76%) reported using condoms at least some of the time.

Knowledge and perception of CxCa

All participants had heard of CxCa, predominantly from CxCa screening messages on the radio, at clinics (antenatal, family planning and HIV), and/or from other women in the community (Table 2). Participants' reported that CxCa is associated with sexual transmission, early sexual debut, and having multiple sexual partners, specifically with uncircumcised men. Some participants described CxCa as asymptomatic in the early stage. Others described gynecological symptoms, such as vaginal discharge, abnormal vaginal bleeding, abdominal pains, and genital sores, as associated with CxCa. Several participants reported that CxCa can spread to the womb and treatment involves hysterectomy, which leads to the inability to give birth again. The general perception of CxCa was that it is dangerous and deadly when detected in advanced stages when it is too late for treatment (Table 2). All felt that CxCa can be prevented; some reported prevention through

lifestyle changes, such as limiting number of sexual partners, male circumcision, and vaginal hygiene. Several participants also specifically reported that CxCa can be prevented with screening.

Perceptions about CxCa screening

Participants reported that in their communities, screening is associated with the embarrassment and painful speculum exams (Table 2) and that these fears hinder screening attendance. Many had heard about screening through clinics (e.g., antenatal or family planning), and some were encouraged by clinicians or other women to attend screening. Some expressed initial hesitancy towards screening based on hearsay from the community, however, all participants had a positive perception of screening and believed that screening can prevent disease. The predominant reason participants decided to undergo screening was to know about their health and to catch abnormalities at an early stage when treatment was still available.

Experience of self-collection

All participants reported a positive overall experience with selfcollection of vaginal samples for HPV testing (Table 3). All expressed understanding of the self-collection process and many were able to describe the steps in detail even weeks after screening. They felt wellcounseled on the collection steps, described it as an easy procedure, and valued the quick turn-around of HPV results. When participants were asked to rate a series of experiences during self-collection, all 25 participants reported no embarrassment, only one reported TABLE 1 Baseline demographic of participants by self-collection HPV screening and VIA triage result.

Total N=25 n(%)	Group 1 HPV- n=7 n(%)	Group 2 HPV+ / VIA- n=12 n(%)	Group 3 HPV+ / VIA+ n=6 n(%)
34 (25-49)	36 (27-49)	31 (26-40)	28 (25-36)
10 (40%)	1 (14%)	5 (45%)	4 (57%)
21 (84%)	6 (86%)	9 (75%)	6 (100%)
8 (1.3-24)	3.6 (1.3-9.1)	4.7 (2.0-24.0)	7.1 (3.4-17.1)
		-	
15 (60%)	5 (71%)	4 (33%)	6 (100%)
8 (32%)	1 (14%)	7 (58%)	0
		1	
8 (32%)	1 (14%)	4 (33%)	3 (50%)
17 (68%)	6 (86%)	8 (67%)	3 (50%)
	1	1	
12 (48%)	3 (43%)	6 (50%)	3 (50%)
13 (52%)	4 (57%)	6 (50%)	3 (50%)
vices (CCS)	1		
14 (56%)	4 (57%)	6 (50%)	4 (67%)
11 (44%)	3 (43%)	6 (50%)	2 (33%)
3 (0-5)	3 (2-4)	2 (0-5)	3 (1-4)
17 (15-22)	19 (15-20)	17 (16-22)	15 (15-21)
2 (1-3)	2 (1-2)	1 (1-3)	2 (2-2)
19 (76%)	7 (100%)	9 (75%)	6 (100%)
	$N=25 \\ n(%)$ $34 (25-49)$ $10 (40%)$ $21 (84%)$ $8 (1.3-24)$ $15 (60%)$ $8 (32%)$ $I 5 (60%)$ $8 (32%)$ $I 15 (60%)$ $112 (48%)$ $13 (52%)$ $V = CCS$ $14 (56%)$ $11 (44%)$ $3 (0-5)$ $17 (15-22)$ $2 (1-3)$	lotal N=25 n(%) HPV- n=7 n(%) 34 (25-49) 36 (27-49) 10 (40%) 1 (14%) 21 (84%) 6 (86%) 8 (1.3-24) 3.6 (1.3-9.1) 15 (60%) 5 (71%) 8 (32%) 1 (14%) 8 (32%) 1 (14%) 17 (68%) 6 (86%) 13 (52%) 4 (57%) 14 (56%) 4 (57%) 11 (44%) 3 (43%) 3 (0-5) 3 (2-4) 17 (15-22) 19 (15-20) 2 (1-3) 2 (1-2)	lotal N=25 n(%) HPV- n=7 n(%) HPV+ n=12 n(%) 34 (25-49) 36 (27-49) 31 (26-40) 10 (40%) 1 (14%) 5 (45%) 21 (84%) 6 (86%) 9 (75%) 8 (1.3-24) 3.6 (1.3-9.1) 4.7 (2.0-24.0) 1 - - 15 (60%) 5 (71%) 4 (33%) 8 (32%) 1 (14%) 7 (58%) 8 (32%) 1 (14%) 4 (33%) 17 (68%) 6 (86%) 8 (67%) 12 (48%) 3 (43%) 6 (50%) 13 (52%) 4 (57%) 6 (50%) 11 (44%) 3 (43%) 6 (50%) 11 (44%) 3 (43%) 6 (50%) 3 (0-5) 3 (2-4) 2 (0-5) 17 (15-22) 19 (15-20) 17 (16-22) 17 (15-22) 19 (15-20) 17 (16-22)

* All WHIV are on ART and have been taking it for over 6 months.

[†] All 4 participants with prior screening had VIA screening.

[‡] No response = 2.

[§] Malawi Kwacha(K) to United States Dollar (\$) exchange at the time of study was 1K to \$0.0013; K49,999= ~\$65; K150,000 = ~\$195.

**Participants reported between 1-4 family planning methods used, most commonly used was Depo provera IM (n=16), followed by Jadelle (n=8), Depo provera SC (n=6), Levoplant (n=4), birth control pills (n=4), and Implanon (n=2).

discomfort (rated as mild), and only four reported pain (rated as mild by all four) (Figure 2). On further inquiry, mild pain was described as more of a "discomfort" or "sensation" or "pinch" by participants (Table 3). All participants reported they had very good privacy, and all but one reported being very confident in collecting the sample correctly (Figure 2). Many suggested that this method could be more acceptable to women who feel embarrassed to undress for speculumbased screening (Table 3).

Understanding HPV results

All participants, except one, reported that they had never heard of HPV prior to being involved in the research study. After undergoing screening and counseling, participants were able to describe HPV as a virus that can cause CxCa or lesions on the cervix (Table 4). Regardless of their own HPV result, participants reported that a HPV-positive test is associated with increased risk of CxCa, which requires further evaluation and/or treatment. Participants also recognized that while HPV-negative result was reassuring, regular screening is still necessary since the infection could occur later. The concept of routine screening was compared to HIV testing by both WHIV and HIV-negative women.

Experience of VIA triage and thermal ablation treatment

Several participants who underwent VIA triage (Groups 2 and 3) reported negative experiences during pelvic exams (Table 3). Some reported discomfort related to the insertion and removal of the speculum, and others reported feeling embarrassed, especially when male providers were present. One participant did not like having to go for another test after the initial HPV self-collection. The discomfort and embarrassment were ameliorated by ongoing counseling during the exam process (Table 5). When thermal

Area of inquiry	Themes	Quotes	
Participants' prior knowledge of	Heard about cervical cancer screening	I didn't know anything [about cervical cancer]. What cancer looks like, or what happens. I would just hear that people are getting screened for cancer. (P0003)	
	Cervical cancer is sexually transmitted, transmitted from uncircumcised men and the risk is increased with having multiple sexual partners	If you have unprotected sex whilst still young, you are bound to contract HPV. They [family planning clinic] also said that an uncircumcised man harbors HPV, because the virus thrives in warm places. They further went on to say all men have HPV, they have it from a young age, they are born with it. So if young men have sex with young women, they transmit the virus easily. (P0685)	
cervical cancer	Gynecologic symptoms are associated with cervical cancer	I heard that when you have cervical cancer, you experience abdominal pains, and you also develop sores. Likewise, your vaginal discharge has a foul smell, and is watery with a yellowish color. (P0007)	
	Treatment associated with hysterectomy and infertility	[At antenatal clinic] they would just say that there is cervical cancer, and if it spreads, a hysterectomy is performed, and a person will never be able to give birth again after that. (P0322)	
	Cervical cancer is perceived as dangerous and deadly	I knew that cervical cancer is very dangerousThey said if you have cervical cancer, it is only detected when it's too late. (P0131)	
Participants' perception of cervical cancer	Asymptomatic in early stages	With cancer, you do not feel any pain, as opposed to malaria where you feel body pains. That is why I made a decision to get screened for cancer so I know what my health is like. You can just wake up one day and you have cancer. (P0310)	
	Cervical cancer can be prevented	When you go to get screened and you hear your results, if the cancer is in its early stages, it is preventable (P0003)	
Participants' prior	Community stigma of screening: fear of speculum exams	I knew that cervical cancer is very dangerousThey said if you have cervical cancer, it is only detected when it's too late, due to the method that we have in Malawi, the one where a metal is placed on the opening of the vagina. A lot of women we are afraid of this. So we only know when we are sick, that it is cancer.(P0131)	
knowledge of cervical cancer	Many understood that screening was a key part of cervical cancer prevention	You can prevent it [cervical cancer] by getting screened at the hospital, hearing the results, and following what the doctors tell you. (P0684)	
screening	Heard about screening at health facilities, radio, community and friends	I just heard people talking about it, even in hospitals, in here about it. (P0687)	
Participants' perception of	Decision to get screening overall despite fear of screening	Made the decision to get screened so that I know about my health where cervical cancer is concerned. However, I was afraid to go and get screened because women would often talk about how painful it is, and would get me scared.(P0478)	
cervical cancer screening	Screening can help catch abnormalities early when treatment may still be available.	I know that if we get screened for cervical cancer then we know about our health. Whether we have cervical cancer or not. If we have it, then we have to follow procedures so that the disease can be cured. If we don't have, then we ought to go and take care of ourselves so that we don't get it. (P0112)	

TABLE 2 Participants' prior knowledge and perception of cervical cancer and cervical cancer screening before undergoing self-collection HPV-based screen-triage-and treat program.

ablation was recommended, some participants reported having anxiety about the treatment procedure and others reported mild discomfort during treatment. However, overall, most expressed that thermal ablation itself was quick, painless, and well tolerated. Many participants who underwent treatment expressed gratitude for the treatment.

Understanding VIA triage and thermal ablation treatment

Participants reported understanding that the purpose of VIA was to examine the cervix for "damage" caused by the virus or "lesions" that need treatment (Table 4). Even those who were HPV-negative and did not undergo VIA described VIA triage as a "confirmatory test," to see if one has the disease or not. However, there was confusion in Group 2 about the significance of a positive screening test (HPV) with VIA-negative result. One participant

expressed concern that the HPV will develop again if not treated, and others felt they still needed some kind of treatment for a positive HPV result, despite the VIA-negative result. One participant reported that the vinegar used in VIA was used to kill the HPV. The majority of Group 2 however viewed a negative VIA triage as an overall negative screening result and expressed relief.

All Group 3 participants understood that an HPV-positive/VIApositive result meant that treatment was indicated. Many reported initial concerns when lesions were seen on exam, however, they also reported being counseled to not worry, as treatment was available right away (Table 5). Participants in this group predominantly expressed acceptance of the results and gratitude that they could proceed with immediate treatment. Participants who underwent treatment with thermal ablation correctly explained that the purpose was to treat lesions and prevent worsening of disease. Of note, we found no differences in understanding between WHIV and HIV-negative participants (Table 4).

TABLE 3 Participants' experience with self-collection HPV-based screen-triage-and treat program.

Area of inquiry	Themes	Sub-themes	Quotes
	Participants reported being well counseled, which was reflected in their ability to remember steps of self- collection well, and felt that avoiding	Remembered the steps of self- collection well	When I went in a private room to self-collect I inserted the brush slowly, then I felt that I had reached the cervix, and I swirled the brush 4 times and pulled it out. I looked at the brush if the sample was visible, I saw it, I then put the brush in the tube (without touching it). After that, I handed it over. (P0478) [<i>Participant was interviewed 8.4 weeks after screening</i>]
		Valued counseling about screening process	What I liked most was they started by taking us through what happens. So we knew what happens, before it took place. This was so we should make a personal decision whether to go ahead or not (P0409)
	pelvic exams was a strength of self-collection.	Valued doing the collection herself and quick turn-around of HPV results after collection	I liked that I collected the brush, and I got my results after the brush had been tested. (P0467)
HPV self- collection		Avoiding pelvic exams decreases fear, is more private, and can reach more women	I was also one of the people who would be embarrassed with the other method, where there would be undressing, and male doctors would see that nakedness. A lot of people do not like that. (P0322)
		Worried about treatment after a positive result	I was worried because I thought I will be found with a problem, which will result in a hysterectomy on my part. I was very worried that if they remove my womb, I will never give birth again. (P0131)
	Most initial concerns about self- collection resolved after counseling and/ or performing the self-collection	Worried it might be painful or uncomfortable, relieved by seeing/touching the brush	Before I collected the swab, my worry was whether the brush would really be inserted and if I would feel pain, and also if the brush would wound me. But when I touched it, I concluded that it wasn't the case. When I inserted it into my vagina, I realized there was no pain and everything they told me to do was possible. (P0007)
		Worried about collecting sufficient sample.	Yes, I had worries. I was told that if the sample will be insufficient on the brush, then I would have to repeat the process. So I was worried about that. So I made sure I did it right the first time. (P0118)
Visual	Despite fear and discomfort of pelvic exam performed for VIA triage, most felt comfortable due to the counseling they received throughout the exam process	Discomfort during the pelvic exam was mostly due to speculum (insertion of the metal)	I was scared when I saw the speculumBut I was well assisted, and I was being told what was happening the whole time I felt a bit of pain, but I think that was caused by a mishapBut when the speculum was inside and they were doing the exam, I didn't feel anything, I was just conscious that there is a foreign body inside me. Only when they were taking out the speculum did I feel a bit of pain. (P0322)
Inspection with Acetic		Pelvic exam was embarrassing, especially with male provider	Embarrassment is very likely being a male [doctor] was present. (P0310)
Acid (VIA) triage		Did not like additional test following HPV positive self- test result	I didn't like when the doctors told me I needed to go for another test. (P0682)
		Active counseling during the exam was helpful	They were telling me everything that was happening. Some don't tell you what is happening, you just realize it has happened. That is very heartbreaking, but here, it was a delight to be told what was happening. And they addressed us with warmth.(P0322)
	Some women reported initial anxiety about the treatment, others had mild discomfort during the treatment. But overall, thermal ablation was painless and well tolerated. Many participants expressed gratitude for the treatment.	Some had anxiety about the treatment procedure	When they told me that they were going to perform thermal ablation, I was anxious. The hot air got me worried. (Chuckles), but I accepted the situation and went on ahead. (P0629)
Thermal ablation treatment		Some experienced mild pain but no severe discomfort	It was a bit painful When they finished, they gave me cotton wool to use. I got off the bed with no problems. I was able to walk, I got home just fine, I did not encounter any problems further than that. (P0118)
		Grateful for availability of quick treatment following initial screening	The treatment was instantaneous. From the pelvic exam to the thermal ablation. And then I went back home. There was no postponement of anything. I really liked that (P0629)
Post- screening and treatment experience	Post-treatment symptoms were minor and mostly consisted of vaginal discharge	Several described vaginal discharge after the procedure that stopped spontaneously, most were not alarmed as they were counseled that this may be a side effect of treatment.	The complication I experiences happened when I got home, but they had already warned me about it. They told me that I'd produce dark vaginal discharge. It seemed like a menstrual flow, but it was very dark. That went on for a week. But after it stopped, it never happened again until now. (P0467)

(Continued)

TABLE 3 Continued

Area of inquiry	Themes	Sub-themes	Quotes
	The post-treatment abstinence recommendation* was difficult for participants. *Post-procedural abstinence counseling changed from 6 to 4 weeks over the interview period.	The need to discuss abstinence with male partner caused anxiety	I kept thinking the whole way back home, about how I was going to explain this [abstinence] to my husband. Because as it was, I wasn't given any medication for me to show him that maybe he can believe me. It was only I who knew of how I had been assisted, and what to do afterwards. So for me to go and tell him about the 6 weeks. It was a problem." (P0131)
		Many were not able to abstain from sex due to lack of partner support	They just told me not to indulge in sexual intercourse in the time being. Should it happen that I really want, I should use protection. But because my husband was away, I managed to stay without sexual intercourse for 3 weeks. (P0310)
		Desired male partner or couples counseling	It was better that I be sent back home and come back together on a day that he [my husband] can manage to comeTo screen and treat me, then explain to both of us of what is to happen. Then after, to stay away from each other sexually for such and such a long time. Explain everything, just as they did to me. (P0131)
*	Participants were excited to their experiences with friends and family	Sharing experiences address misconceptions and encourages screening uptake by friends	I told my friends, almost 10 of them if I'm not mistaken. I told them to go and get screened for cervical cancer They asked if it was scary. I explained to them the process I went through, and the method. I explained to them that I was given a brush, you self-collect, and it is not painful when it is inserted to collect the sample. (P0578)

Experiences post-thermal ablation and post screen-and-treat

Those who experienced symptoms after ablation viewed these as minor side effects (Table 3). The major post-treatment challenge participants reported was having to explain the need for several weeks of abstinence to their male partners. One participant reported that she did not know how to explain the treatment to her husband, as there was no medication that she could show him and felt the conversation would not go well. Other participants reported they were not able to abstain from sex due to the lack of male partner support. Some participants desired male partner counseling to be incorporated in the screen-andtreat program so that their husbands could understand and be supportive of abstinence recommendations. Some felt that same-day screen-and-treat did not allow them the opportunity to discuss treatment with their husbands before receiving it.

Many participants reported that after screening, they shared their experiences with others in their communities, including family, friends, and male partners (Table 3). Several participants reported answering questions from other women about screening and addressing misconceptions that kept women from presenting for CxCa screening. Almost all participants felt it was important to share their own experiences with the community and encourage screening uptake (Table 5).

Discussion

The 25 participants of this study, including both WHIV and HIV-uninfected women, exhibited a higher baseline knowledge of CxCa and CxCa screening than reported in prior studies (18). Despite the introduction of several new factors and concept in our study's screening algorithm – including HPV test, self-collection, a

triage step and same-day treatment – participants reported accurate understanding of each step and an overall positive experience. The process of self-collection was highly acceptable, and participants demonstrated understanding and trust towards the HPV test result. Confusion did occur when the VIA result was discordant with the HPV result, indicating the need for additional targeted counseling in this group. Participants demonstrated confidence in their knowledge and expressed desire to share these experiences with their community so that other women are encouraged to attend screening. Counseling, and in particular anticipatory guidance, was key in helping participants understand complex screening procedures and results (Table 5).

Understanding of CxCa and CxCa prevention

Participants demonstrated a higher baseline knowledge of CxCa (e.g. association with sexual transmission, gynecological symptoms, infertility after treatment) and screening awareness (i.e. majority have heard of screening) than previously seen in Lilongwe district (19). This likely was due to recruitment of participants from clinics where women are already engaged in health care, compared to rural populations reached by mobile campaigns (20).

Notably, study participants displayed an understanding of the importance of screening for prevention. While fatalistic views of CxCa still existed (19, 21, 22), they were associated more with late diagnosis. In this study, screening was generally viewed positively and recognized as the way to find disease at a treatable stage and prevent fatal disease progression. Recent studies among women in southern Malawi also captured similar sentiment around the importance of early detection in CxCa screening (23). However, despite adequate knowledge of the disease and understanding of prevention, fears

Theme	Sub-theme	Quotes
	Thorough counseling minimizes negative emotions, built trust with the providers and leads to satisfaction with the screening and treatment services	I understood what they were trying to say. I was not afraid when they explained to me. Everything that I felt, fear and doubt, it all went away. I was relieved. I went back home happy. I realized that if I had just stayed at home and not gotten screened, it could have been disastrous. But this time around, everything was fine. (P0478)
Thorough counseling contributed to their positive overall experience	Anticipatory guidance helps participants know what to expect to limit the confusion of a multi-step or multi-result screening method	What I liked most was they started by taking us through what happens. So we knew what happens, before it took place. This was so we should make a personal decision whether to go ahead or not. The second thing was when we heard that, it was good because we were told everything beforehand. Yes, that's what we encountered on that day. (P0409)
overall experience	Ongoing active counseling throughout exams and treatment procedures is reassuring for participants	They were telling me everything that was happening. Some don't tell you what is happening, you just realize it has happened. That is very heartbreaking, but here, it was a delight to be told what was happening. And they addressed us with warmth. (P0322)
	Counseling extended to health maintenance and routine screening for prevention	I was treated well; I was told what I needed to hear. They told me there is no problem at the moment, but it could develop in the future. So we needed to do such and such. (P0068
Participants felt it was important to share their screening experiences, addresses misconceptions and encourages screening	Many participants already shared their experience with others (family and friends) in the community, addressed misconceptions and encouraged other women to go for screening	First, [I told] my husband. Second, my friends. I was encouraging them to go and get screened for cervical cancerI was the one encouraging them due to the questions they were asking meI was explaining to them that you self-collect the sampleDon't be afraid of a pelvic exam. It is better here because of the self-sample collection. I was encouraging them in that manner. (P0112)
	Sharing their screening and treatment experiences was important	Also that a lot of us women are usually hesitant to come to the hospital, but that is not good. If you're summoned to come to the hospital, you should do just that. You only have one life. If you lose it, there's no getting it back. So personally, I just want to encourage women to take part in this, because it is a good thing. And it is simple. (P0004)
	Many participants themselves came for screening due to hearing about it from other women in the community	I'd just hear about how some women had gone for cervical cancer screening. These women testifying about their experiences is what prompted me to come as well (P0467)

TABLE 4 Participants' overall impression and major take away messages from the self-collection HPV-based screen-triage-and treat strategy.

around pelvic exams (e.g. pain and embarrassment) hindered women from previously seeking out screening services; similar acceptabilityrelated barriers have been identified in other studies from low- and middle-income countries (18).

Self-collection was well accepted

Self-collection of vaginal samples for HPV testing was wellreceived and valued among our participants for ease of collection, avoidance of embarrassment or discomfort from speculum exams, and quick turnaround time of results. Many felt that self-collection could mitigate the fear and stigma surrounding speculum exams. These findings are consistent with existing literature over the last couple of decades that has shown self-collection to be acceptable across a variety of geographic locations, cultures and age groups (8, 9). Studies specific to African populations showed that women are willing to collect their own samples and that it is a more socially acceptable and feasible method than pelvic exam-based screening methods, such as Pap smear or VIA (24, 25).

Major concerns surrounding self-collection were worry about not collecting it correctly, fear of receiving a positive result, and fear



Area of Inquiry	Themes	HPV- participants Quotes	HPV+ participants Quotes
Understanding HPV in the context of cervical cancer	HPV is a virus; HPV causes cervical cancer; HPV causes lesions* on the cervix. No major differences in understanding between HIV- positive or HIV- negative participants	It [HPV positive test] means she has a virus that causes cervical cancer. So that means she has to receive treatment at the hospital in order to kill the viruses so that they don't cause cervical cancer. (P0003) <i>HPV negative</i> , <i>HIV negative</i>	They told me that testing HPV positive does not directly mean that you have cervical cancer. It is merely the virus that causes cervical cancer, but if the virus has caused lesions on the cervix, then you likely have cervical cancer. (P0685) <i>HPV positive, VIA negative,</i> <i>HIV positive</i>
Understanding HPV results in the context of cervical cancer	HPV negative result does not need treatment, but still needs routine screening because there is still risk in the future HPV positive result is associated with risk and needs follow-up and/or treatment	Not that I am above others, but at this particular time, it meant that I am okay. However, this does not mean it is forever, maybe at some point I may be diagnosed with it. But I am okay for now. (P0490) <i>HPV</i> <i>negative</i> , <i>HIV negative</i> In my understanding, when that [HPV positive result] happens, then she is supposed to be screened again, this time around, a pelvic examAnd then she undergoes thermal coagulation. (P0007) <i>HPV negative</i> ,	That [HPV negative] means that woman does not have cervical cancerYes, she needs further testing after some time No. She does not need any treatment. Only if she was later on tested and the test results, positive. Only then. (P0409) <i>HPV positive, VIA negative,</i> <i>HIV positive</i> It [HPV positive result] meant that chances of me getting cancer in the future were high. (P0068) <i>HPV</i> <i>positive, VIA negative, HIV negative</i>
Understanding implication of HPV result in the context of cervical cancer prevention	Continued routine periodic screening is necessary for prevention, even if HPV screening is negative	HIV negative Maybe the virus may come back, but I should not stop getting screened, so that I know the status of my health. (P0628) HPV negative. HIV negative	Yes [she needs further testing if she is HPV negative] Because even though at that particular time she tested negative, she can test positive at a later date. (P0467) HPV positive, VIA positive, HIV positive)
	Some compared routine cervical cancer screening to HIV screening. No major differences between HIV positive versus negative participants	You are supposed to get tested for HIV every 3 months. At this moment I am fine, but how about 3 or 4 months down the lineI find it to be a good thing to get screened (for cervical cancer) again. (P0490) <i>HPV negative</i> , <i>HIV negative</i>	It is like HIV, you cannot get tested once and think you are in the clear. (P0684) <i>HPV positive</i> , <i>VIA negative</i> , <i>HIV negative</i>
Understanding the role of VIA in this screening algorithm	VIA is to examine the cervix , to see if there is damage caused by the virus. VIA detects lesions that would require treatment. VIA is a confirmatory test.	So that they confirm if I have the disease or not. (P0682) <i>HPV negative</i> . <i>HIV negative</i>	They told me I had tested HPV positive and needed a pelvic exam so that they check my cervix, to see if there it had lesions. (P0409) <i>HPV positive, VIA positive, HIV positive</i>
Area of inquiry	Themes	Quotes: HPV+ participants	
Understanding HPV +/VIA- (positive HPV- screen, negative VIA triage) result	A positive screening (HPV) followed by negative triage (VIA) and therefore no treatment was confusing for some	I am worried that one day if I don't get screened again, maybe the HPV will develop again. (P0478) <i>HPV positive, VIA negative, HIV positive</i> I was a bit worried, because I was HPV positive, and then I was told I am VIA negative. I was a bit confused, but I accepted it. After they said that in the future, a problem can develop and we ought to fix now what we can, I agreed to that, before anything gets bad. I accepted that. (P0068) <i>HPV positive, VIA negative, HIV negative</i>	
	Some participants felt they still needed some kind of treatment, another thought they were treated	This participant expressed need for treatment despite VIA negative exam: The treatment in the sense that I am worried that HPV may reoccur on the cervix. And if so, how can it be managed? (P0684) <i>HPV positive</i> , <i>VIA negative</i> . <i>HIV negative</i> . They told me I do not have any lesions, so they are going to smear vinegar so as to kill the HPV. (P0685) <i>HPV positive</i> , <i>VIA negative</i> . <i>HIV negative</i> .	
Understanding of HPV +/VIA+ result (positive HPV-screen, positive VIA triage) and need for thermal ablation treatment	Understood that a positive VIA meant treatment was indicated	I was told that I have lesions that could lead to cervical cancer. I was also told not to worry and that I would be treated the same day, and I was. (P0131) <i>HPV positive, VIA positive, HIV negative</i> I accepted it, because I got treatment for it, as opposed if I had just neglected the situation, it could have been disastrous. But it was a good thing that I came to the hospital and I was assisted. (P0467) <i>HPV positive, VIA positive, VIA positive, HIV positive</i> .	
Understanding the purpose of thermocoagulation	Thermal ablation was understood to treat lesions and prevent worsening of disease *No major differences in answers between HIV pos and HIV neg participants	To treat the lesions so that the situation doesn't get worse. (P0467) <i>HPV positive, VIA positive, HIV positive</i> They said they wanted to treat the HPV that was on the cervixTo fight the disease The lesions come about because of HPV, so the thermal ablation treats the lesions. (P0629) <i>HPV positive, VIA positive,</i> <i>HIV positive</i>	

TABLE 5 Participants' understanding of results and purpose of screening, triage and treatment steps stratified by HPV result.

that screening would reveal cancer. These are also well-documented concerns in studies on self-collection HPV testing (26, 27) and have been identified as barriers to screening (28). Factors mitigating these concerns, reported by our participants, were anticipatory guidance of what came next after each step of the screening process, quick results, and availability of same-day treatment. Knowing what to expect with a positive result, and knowing there is treatment right away if the result was positive, were identified as two reassuring factors by participants.

Understanding of HPV-based multi-step CxCa screening

VIA has been the primary screening method, followed by cryotherapy in Malawi's screen-and-treat national strategy for CxCa prevention (12). In our study screening algorithm, several concepts including HPV screening, self-collection of vaginal samples, and thermal ablation treatment were new. Additionally, none of the participants (except one) had heard of HPV or its association with CxCa. A large part of the initial recruitment and consent process for the parent study was spent on explaining the relationship between HPV, cervical dysplasia, and CxCa. When this understanding was assessed though IDIs weeks or even months after screening, most participants accurately described that HPV is a virus that causes cervical lesions, and if untreated, can lead to CxCa. This likely is evidence of successful preenrollment education, but also suggests that perhaps participants were already familiar with the concept of a virus causing significant illness (e.g., HIV). Exposure to HIV knowledge could have helped make new disease concepts more understandable. Participants engaged in HIV care may have greater knowledge in this area, but in our study, both WHIV and HIV-negative participants displayed good understanding of HPV (Table 4).

HPV testing has been shown to be difficult to comprehend for women more accustomed to pelvic exams for screening, with the main challenge being failure to understand why a positive HPV test may not lead to immediate treatment (14, 15). We found similar sentiments among three (of twelve) HPV-positive/VIA-negative participants (Table 4). Thematic saturation was reached later with this group due to the variability in understanding. A major hinderance in understanding HPV screening results identified in literature is that patients do not feel that healthcare professionals provide sufficient or understandable information during results delivery (14). When confusion was identified through IDIs, the clinic study staff increased anticipatory guidance of what to except with the VIA triage step and emphasized counseling for those with discordant results so that patients understood why they did not need treatment. The IDIs that occurred after increased counseling efforts revealed less confusion among participants (data not shown).

Counseling was key to an overall positive screening experience

Ongoing counseling throughout the screening process and anticipatory guidance on what to expect with varying outcomes were key in creating a positive screening experience. Proper counseling leads to understanding, which can increase acceptability, uptake and adherence to routine screening. Counseling can also lead to trust with the healthcare team and mitigates negative psychological effects such as worry and fear, which are well identified barriers to accessing preventative care (29).

Anticipatory guidance was especially helpful in this multi-step screening process. Participants specifically described how knowing what to expect at each step of screening and anticipating what came next after each outcome was helpful in minimizing confusion and reducing negative emotions (Table 5). Anticipatory guidance is most practiced in pediatrics to prepare parents on the expected growth and development of their children (30), but not readily employed in cancer screening. Anticipatory guidance is also naturally present through the informed consent process of research, where each step of the study after each potential outcome is clearly reviewed, and the understanding of participants is assessed. While time can be a limitation in realworld cancer screening programs, our study suggests that the time spent on anticipatory guidance, especially if it involves a multi-step screening process, is invaluable for women to prepare for the emotional challenges of CxCa screening.

Thermal ablation experience

Thermal ablation was well tolerated by the six participants who underwent treatment. Consistent with prior studies, post-treatment side-effects were minimal and most expressed gratitude for being able to receive treatment right away (13, 31). The major challenge reported was difficulty communicating with their male partners at home. Participants felt that because a period of sexual abstinence was recommended posttreatment, they had to inform their male partners of the procedure, which could lead to misunderstandings, conflicts, and for many, inability to comply with post-treatment abstinence. We saw similar challenges in our prior VIA and thermal ablation study (32) that identified male partners as a barrier to returning for follow-up. However, the prior study also identified male partners as a potential source of support in CxCa screening. Including male partners counseling in screen-and-treat services may be vital for women's safety and acceptance, especially when treatment is indicated.

Strengths and limitations

This study was successful in reaching and unscreened women. However, being facility-based resulted in a selection of women with access to care. Familiarity with the health system and exposure to health concepts can favorably skew acceptability of the screening procedures. Perspectives from women in rural, hard-to-reach areas need to be considered for successful expansion of this strategy. Notably, a recent study in Malawi that implemented communitybased self-collection for HPV screening found that it increased screening uptake (compared to facility-based screening alone) and was acceptable to both clients and health workers (33–35). A strength of this study is that we included both WHIV and HIV-uninfected women and found no differences in their ability to understand results or perspectives on screening steps. Timing of our IDIs weeks to months after screening allowed us to cover topics such as how women had shared their experiences with their community and barriers faced in remaining abstinent for the recommended period following thermal ablation. On the other hand, the delay between the experience and the IDI could have resulted in some recall bias.

HPV-based screen-and-treat experiences through a research study may differ from real-world clinical settings where providers have higher volumes of patients with more limited staffing and resources. For example, good counseling was overwhelmingly identified as being valued by participants in our study, but time may be more constrained in actual clinical practice, limiting provider time to thoroughly counsel patients about potentially confusing results. In addition, our study utilized additional procedures that would not be routinely implemented in nonstudy settings, such as colposcopy, Pap smear, and/or biopsy, which could have confounded participant's experiences. However, most patients did not mention the additional procedures, and it did not seem to negatively affect their experiences.

Conclusion

Self-collection HPV primary screening is a promising method to expand CxCa screening access and increase cervical precancer detection (5, 6). However, the lower specificity of the HPV assay requires a triage test for HPV-positive results to prevent overtreatment (36). As HPVbased multi-step screening is being implemented, our findings provide rich insight for healthcare providers and policymakers surrounding women's experiences undergoing a same-day HPV-based screentriage-treat algorithm. We captured what was important to women: convenience of self-collection, quick result turnaround, availability of same-day treatment, and thorough counseling. HPV self-collection can overcome barriers to pelvic exams including discomfort, embarrassment and need for trained providers. While a multi-step screening process with VIA triage can lead to confusion about required follow-up procedures, proper counseling and anticipatory guidance can improve understanding. Incorporating thorough counseling in CxCa screening programs can change women's perspective of screening, build trust with healthcare systems, and influence healthcare seeking behavior towards routine screening and prevention.

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Ethics statement

The studies involving humans were approved by Malawi National Health Sciences Research Committee, University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill Institution Review Board. The studies were conducted in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements. The participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

Author contributions

FL: Data curation, Formal analysis, Investigation, Methodology, Project administration, Validation, Writing - original draft, Writing - review & editing. SM: Conceptualization, Data curation, Formal analysis, Investigation, Methodology, Project administration, Writing - original draft, Writing - review & editing. IC: Data curation, Formal analysis, Investigation, Writing - original draft, Writing - review & editing. WD: Data curation, Investigation, Writing - review & editing. JT: Conceptualization, Data curation, Formal analysis, Funding acquisition, Investigation, Methodology, Project administration, Supervision, Writing - original draft, Writing - review & editing. MN: Project administration, Writing review & editing. LM: Project administration, Writing - review & editing. VM: Supervision, Writing - review & editing. JS: Conceptualization, Data curation, Formal analysis, Funding acquisition, Investigation, Methodology, Supervision, Validation, Writing - original draft, Writing - review & editing. LC: Conceptualization, Data curation, Formal analysis, Funding acquisition, Investigation, Methodology, Project administration, Supervision, Writing - original draft, Writing - review & editing.

Funding

The author(s) declare financial support was received for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article. This study was supported by the U.S. National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, MD, USA [grant number: NIH R21CA236770], UNC Lineberger Comprehensive Cancer Center Tier 2 Stimulus Award, Chapel Hill, NC, USA, Tier 2 Stimulus Award, and U.S. Agency for International Development, Washington, DC, USA [grant number: AID-OAA-A-11-00012]. The study funders were not involved in the collection, analysis, and interpretation of data; in the writing of the report; and in the decision to submit the article for publication. U.S. National Cancer Institute, National Institute of Health, Bethesda, MD, USA [grant number: UM1CA121947].

Acknowledgments

We would like to thank study participants, study staff, UNC Project-Malawi Community Advisory Board, the Lilongwe District Health Management Team, and the Malawi Ministry of Health Reproductive Health Directorate for their support.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated

References

1. Ferlay J, Ervik M, Lam F, Colombet M, Mery L, Piñeros M, et al. No Title Global Cancer Observatory: Cancer Today 2020. Available at: https://gco.iarc.fr/today.

2. UNAIDS. Country factsheets Malawi 2022 HIV and AIDS estimates . Available at: https://www.unaids.org/en/regionscountries/countries/malawi.

3. Msyamboza KP, Phiri T, Sichali W, Kwenda W, Kachale F. Cervical cancer screening uptake and challenges in Malawi from 2011 to 2015: retrospective cohort study. *BMC Public Health* (2016) 16(1):1–6. doi: 10.1186/s12889-016-3530-y

4. Maseko FC, Chirwa ML, Muula AS. Health systems challenges in cervical cancer prevention program in Malawi. *Global Health action* (2015) 8(1):26282. doi: 10.3402/gha.v8.26282

5. Magdi R, Elshafeey F, Elshebiny M, Kamel M, Abuelnaga Y, Ghonim M, et al. A systematic review and meta-analysis of diagnostic accuracy of HPV tests for the screening of cervical cancer in low-resource settings. *Int J gynaecol obstet* (2021) 152 (1):12–8. doi: 10.1002/ijgo.13455

6. Web Annex A. WHO guideline for screening and treatment of cervical pre-cancer lesions for cervical cancer prevention. Geneva: World Health Organization (2021).

 Arrossi S, Thouyaret L, Herrero R, Campanera A, Magdaleno A, Cuberli M, et al. Effect of self-collection of HPV DNA offered by community health workers at home visits on uptake of screening for cervical cancer (the EMA study): a population-based cluster-randomised trial. *Lancet Global Health* (2015) 3(2):e85–94. doi: 10.1016/S2214-109X(14)70354-7

8. Serrano B, Ibáñez R, Robles C, Peremiquel-Trillas P, de Sanjosé S, Bruni L. Worldwide use of HPV self-sampling for cervical cancer screening. *Prev Med* (2022) 154:106900. doi: 10.1016/j.ypmed.2021.106900

9. Dzobo M, Dzinamarira T, Maluleke K, Jaya ZN, Kgarosi K, Mashamba-Thompson TP. Mapping evidence on the acceptability of human papillomavirus selfsampling for cervical cancer screening among women in sub-Saharan Africa: a scoping review. *BMJ Open* (2023) 13(4):e062090. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2022-062090

10. Randall TC, Sauvaget C, Muwonge R, Trimble EL, Jeronimo J. Worthy of further consideration: an updated meta-analysis to address the feasibility, acceptability, safety and efficacy of thermal ablation in the treatment of cervical cancer precursor lesions. *Prev Med* (2019) 118:81–91. doi: 10.1016/j.ypmed.2018.10.006

11. Kunckler M, Schumacher F, Kenfack B, Catarino R, Viviano M, Tincho E, et al. Cervical cancer screening in a low-resource setting: a pilot study on an HPV-based screen-and-treat approach. *Cancer Med* (2017) 6(7):1752–61. doi: 10.1002/cam4.1089

12. Malawi Ministry of Health. National CxCa prevention program strategy. Lilongwe, Malawi (2016). Available at: https://malawi.unfpa.org/sites/default/files/resource-pdf/National_Cervical_Cancer_Strategy_A5_30Oct17_WEB.pdf.

13. Chinula L, McGue S, Smith JS, Saidi F, Mkochi T, Msowoya L, et al. A novel cervical cancer screen-triage-treat demonstration project with HPV self-testing and thermal ablation for women in Malawi: protocol for a single-arm prospective trial. *Contemp Clin Trials Commun* (2022) 26:100903. doi: 10.1016/j.conctc.2022.100903

14. McBride E, Tatar O, Rosberger Z, Rockliffe L, Marlow LA, Moss-Morris R, et al. Emotional response to testing positive for human papillomavirus at cervical cancer screening: a mixed method systematic review with meta-analysis. *Health Psychol review* (2021) 15(3):395–429. doi: 10.1080/17437199.2020.1762106

15. O'Connor M, Costello L, Murphy J, Prendiville W, Martin CM, O'Leary JJ, et al. Influences on human papillomavirus (HPV)-related information needs among women having HPV tests for follow-up of abnormal cervical cytology. *J Family Plann Reprod Health Care* (2015) 41(2):134–41. doi: 10.1136/jfprhc-2013-100750

16. Bansil P, Wittet S, Lim JL, Winkler JL, Paul P, Jeronimo J. Acceptability of selfcollection sampling for HPV-DNA testing in low-resource settings: a mixed methods approach. *BMC Public Health* (2014) 14(1):1–9. doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-14-596

17. Mao C, Kulasingam SL, Whitham HK, Hawes SE, Lin J, Kiviat NB. Clinician and patient acceptability of self-collected human papillomavirus testing for cervical cancer screening. *J Women's Health* (2017) 26(6):609–15. doi: 10.1089/jwh.2016.5965

18. Islam RM, Billah B, Hossain MN, Oldroyd J. Barriers to cervical cancer and breast cancer screening uptake in low-income and middle-income countries: a systematic review. *Asian Pacific J Cancer prevent: APJCP.* (2017) 18(7):1751. doi: 10.22034/APJCP.2017.18.7.1751

19. Bula AK, Lee F, Chapola J, Mapanje C, Tsidya M, Thom A, et al. Perceptions of cervical cancer and motivation for screening among women in Rural Lilongwe,

organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Malawi: A qualitative study. *PloS One* (2022) 17(2):e0262590. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0262590

20. Chinula L, Topazian HM, Mapanje C, Varela A, Chapola J, Limarzi L, et al. Uptake and safety of community-based "screen-and-treat" with thermal ablation preventive therapy for cervical cancer prevention in rural Lilongwe, Malawi. *Int J cancer* (2021) 149(2):371–7. doi: 10.1002/ijc.33549

21. McFarland DM, Gueldner SM, Mogobe KD. Integrated review of barriers to cervical cancer screening in sub-Saharan Africa. *J Nurs Scholarship* (2016) 48(5):490–8. doi: 10.1111/jnu.12232

22. Ginjupalli R, Mundaden R, Choi Y, Herfel E, Oketch SY, Watt MH, et al. Developing a framework to describe stigma related to cervical cancer and HPV in western Kenya. *BMC Women's Health* (2022) 22(1):39. doi: 10.1186/s12905-022-01619-y

23. Carvalho MME. Shaping service delivery for cervical cancer screening: Understanding knowledge, acceptability and preferences among women in the Neno district of Malawi. *Public Health Theses* (2016), 1036. Available at: https://elischolar. library.yale.edu/ysphtdl/1036.

24. Podolak I, Kisia C, Omosa-Manyonyi G, Cosby J. Using a multimethod approach to develop implementation strategies for a cervical self-sampling program in Kenya. *BMC Health Serv Res* (2017) 17(1):1–5. doi: 10.1186/s12913-017-2160-0

 Rositch AF, Gatuguta A, Choi RY, Guthrie BL, Mackelprang RD, Bosire R, et al. Knowledge and acceptability of pap smears, self-sampling and HPV vaccination among adult women in Kenya. *PloS One* (2012) 7(7):e40766. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0040766

26. Racey CS, Withrow DR, Gesink D. Self-collected HPV testing improves participation in cervical cancer screening: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Can J Public Health* (2013) 104:e159-66. doi: 10.1007/BF03405681

27. Camara H, Zhang Y, Lafferty L, Vallely AJ, Guy R, Kelly-Hanku A. Self-collection for HPV-based cervical screening: a qualitative evidence meta-synthesis. *BMC Public Health* (2021) 21(1):1–4. doi: 10.1186/s12889-021-11554-6

28. Ackerson K, Preston SD. A decision theory perspective on why women do or do not decide to have cancer screening: systematic review. *J adv nursing* (2009) 65 (6):1130–40. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2648.2009.04981.x

29. Vasudevan I, Stinnett S, Mizelle C, Melgar K, Makarushka C, Pieters M, et al. Barriers to the uptake of cervical cancer services and attitudes towards adopting new interventions in Peru. *Prev Med Rep* (2020) 20:101212. doi: 10.1016/j.pmedr.2020.101212

30. Reisinger KS, Bires JA. Anticipatory guidance in pediatric practice. *Pediatrics* (1980) 66(6):889–92. doi: 10.1542/peds.66.6.889

31. Lee F, Bula A, Chapola J, Mapanje C, Phiri B, Kamtuwange N, et al. Women's experiences in a community-based screen-and-treat cervical cancer prevention program in rural Malawi: a qualitative study. *BMC cancer* (2021) 21(1):428. doi: 10.1186/s12885-021-08109-8

32. Chapola J, Lee F, Bula A, Mapanje C, Phiri BR, Kamtuwange N. Barriers to follow-up after an abnormal cervical cancer screening result and the role of male partners: a qualitative study. *BMJ Open* (2021) 11(9):e049901. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2021-049901

33. Tang JH, Lee F, Chagomerana MB, Ghambi K, Mhango P, Msowoya L, et al. Results from two HPV-based cervical cancer screening-family planning integration models in Malawi: A cluster randomized trial. *Cancers* (2023) 15(10):2797. doi: 10.3390/cancers15102797

34. Bula AK, Mhango P, Tsidya M, Chimwaza W, Kayira P, Chinula L, et al. Client perspectives on integrating facility and community-based HPV self-sampling for cervical cancer screening with family planning in Malawi, 2020-2021: a qualitative study, in: *Presented at the International Papillomavirus Conference in Washington, DC*, April 17-21, 2023.

35. Mhango P, Kandeya B, Chinula L, Tang JH, Kumitawa A, Chimwaza W, et al. Acceptability, feasibility, and appropriateness of integrating HPV self-sampling for cervical cancer screening into voluntary family planning services in Malawi, in: *Presented at the International Papillomavirus Conference in Washington, DC*, , April 17-21, 2023.

36. Zhao F-H, Lin MJ, Chen F, Hu SY, Zhang R, Belinson JL, et al. Performance of high-risk human papillomavirus DNA testing as a primary screen for cervical cancer: a pooled analysis of individual patient data from 17population-based studies from China. *Lancet Oncol* (2010) 11:1160–71. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(10)70256-4

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Manoj Menon, Fred Hutchinson Cancer Center, United States

REVIEWED BY Ehsan Abdalla, Tuskegee University, United States Gaetano Riemma, University of Campania Luigi Vanvitelli, Italy

*CORRESPONDENCE Chemtai Mungo Chemtai_mungo@med.unc.edu

RECEIVED 22 December 2023 ACCEPTED 16 February 2024 PUBLISHED 12 March 2024

CITATION

Mungo C, Adewumi K, Adoyo E, Zulu G, Goraya SK, Ogollah C, Omoto J, Ferrari RM and Rahangdale L (2024) "There is nothing that can prevent me from supporting her:" men's perspectives on their involvement and support of women's use of topical therapy for cervical precancer treatment in Kenya. *Front. Oncol.* 14:1360337. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2024.1360337

COPYRIGHT

© 2024 Mungo, Adewumi, Adoyo, Zulu, Goraya, Ogollah, Omoto, Ferrari and Rahangdale. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms. "There is nothing that can prevent me from supporting her:" men's perspectives on their involvement and support of women's use of topical therapy for cervical precancer treatment in Kenya

Chemtai Mungo^{1,2,3}*, Konyin Adewumi¹, Everlyn Adoyo⁴, Graham Zulu⁵, Supreet Kaur Goraya⁶, Cirillus Ogollah⁴, Jackton Omoto⁷, Renée M. Ferrari^{2,6} and Lisa Rahangdale^{1,2,3}

¹Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, School of Medicine, University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, Chapel Hill, NC, United States, ²Lineberger Comprehensive Cancer Center, University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, Chapel Hill, NC, United States, ³Center for AIDS Research, University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, Chapel Hill, NC, United States, ⁴Kenya Medical Research Institute, Kisumu, Kenya, ⁵University of Denver, Denver, CO, United States, ⁶Department of Maternal and Child Health, Gillings School of Global Public Health, University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, Chapel Hill, NC, United States, ⁷Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Maseno University School of Medicine, Kisumu, Kenya

Purpose: Cervical cancer disproportionately impacts women in low- and middle-income countries (LMICs). The World Health Organization's (WHO) 90/70/90 strategy aims to eliminate cervical cancer by 2030 by increasing HPV vaccination coverage to 90%, screening 70% of eligible women, and effectively treating 90% of those with abnormal results by 2030, potentially preventing 62 million deaths in LMICs. LMICs, however, struggle with limited access to cervical precancer treatment, in part due to a lack of trained professionals and weak health systems. Effective non-surgical, self-administered, which have demonstrated efficacy in high-income countries, could bridge the treatment gap in LMICs and may be more scalable and cost-effective than provider-administered therapies. To inform feasibility studies in LMICs, data are needed on the role of male partners in influencing the acceptability and uptake of self-administered topical therapies, including their support of recommended abstinence and contraception guidelines associated with these therapies.

Methods: Between November 2022 and April 2023, we conducted five focus group discussions (FGDs) with men aged 25 to 65 years in Kenya to explore their perspective and perceived support regarding their female partners using topical self-administered therapies for cervical precancer treatment. The FGDs were moderated by local qualitative research assistants and conducted in local languages, transcribed, coded, and analyzed using qualitative description.

Results: Thirty-nine male participants meeting the eligibility criteria participated in five FGDs. The mean age of participants was 42.5 years. Most participants,

79.5%, had a female partner with a history of cervical precancer treatment, 5.1% did not, and 15.4% were unsure of their female partner's prior precancer treatment history. The study aimed to assess men's support of their female partners' use of topical therapies for treating cervical precancer. We find that male participants strongly express acceptance and willingness to support their wives or partners in using such therapies, if available. Reported supportive behavior included permitting the use of the therapies and support of maintaining abstinence during the recommended times. Additionally, participants desired male involvement in clinic and community-based education about topical therapies to facilitate widespread support.

Conclusion: The use of self-administered topical therapies for cervical precancer treatment, if supported by efficacy studies in LMICs, may support achieving the WHO's 2030 goal of 90% treatment access. We find that with adequate education, men express overwhelming support of their female partner's use of topical therapies, including adherence to abstinence and contraception guidelines.

KEYWORDS

cervical cancer prevention, cervical cancer screening, low-and middle-income countries, topical therapy, precancer treatment, male involvement, self-administered therapies, human papillomavirus

1 Introduction

In 2018, the World Health Organization (WHO) launched the 90/70/90 global strategy to eliminate cervical cancer, the first-ever global commitment to eliminate a cancer (1). This strategy recognizes that cervical cancer can be prevented through a combination of primary and secondary prevention and calls for 90% human papillomavirus (HPV) vaccination of all girls by age 15 years, 70% of all women receiving cervical cancer screening with a high-performance test at least twice in their lifetime, and 90% of those with an abnormal screening result adequately treated by 2030 (1). Reaching these targets would achieve an elimination threshold of 4 or fewer cases of cervical cancer per 100,000 women globally. Nowhere will these targets make a difference, as in low-and middle-income countries (LMICs), where women bear a dire and unequal burden of cervical cancer. In 2020, it is estimated that of the approximately 600,000 new cervical cancer cases and 342,000 deaths, 85% of the cases and 90% of the deaths occurred in LMICs (2). The burden of cervical cancer is particularly pronounced in sub-Saharan Africa, a reflection in part lack of established health systems (3) and the dual epidemics of human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) and HPV (4) Malawi, in Eastern Africa, has the world's highest mortality from cervical cancer, with 51.5 deaths per 100,000 per year, twice the rate in Eastern Africa (28.6/ 100,000/year), and seven times the global rate (7.3/100,000/year) (5). As a result, cervical cancer is the leading cause of preventable premature cancer deaths in LMICs, accounting for 26.3% (1.83

million/6.93 million) of the total preventable premature years of life lost from cancer in 2020 (6).

While increasingly more LMICs have established HPV vaccination programs (7) and progress is being made in launching population-based screening programs (8), access to cervical precancer treatment remains significantly limited (9-13). Cervical precancer, also known as cervical intraepithelial neoplasia (CIN), the premalignant lesion caused by persistent infection with HPV, is treatable if identified through screening, preventing progression to cervical cancer (14). Cervical precancer can be diagnosed through various methods, such as visual inspection with acetic acid, colposcopy and biopsy (15), or with the aid of molecular markers (16). However, following screening and identification of precancerous lesions, most women in LMICs lack access to treatment. In a study from Kenya, following communitybased HPV screening, only 52% of those who tested HPV-positive and were referred to a health facility for treatment ultimately received treatment within six months (17). Similarly, in a retrospective study on the treatment completion following cervical cancer screening among women living with HIV in South Africa, among 2072 women with abnormal pap smears between 2013 and 2018, only 174 (25.6%) underwent guideline-indicated management within 18 months (11). Between 2011 and 2015 in Malawi, only 43.3% and 31.8% of women with precancer who required cryotherapy or excision, respectively, received treatment (18). Challenges associated with precancer treatment in LMICs include a significant loss-to-follow-up rate, as high as 40-50%, when women screened in rural facilities are required to visit central

referral facilities to access treatment (13), lack of or non-functional treatment devices at referral facilities (18), and fragile health systems with high patient to provider ratio, resulting in significant delays in treatment access due to few or lack of trained personnel (12). In a study from the national referral hospital in Kenya, the median time to excisional treatment among those who successfully made it to the referral facility was 167 days (interquartile range 101-276 days) (19), further increasing the risk of loss-to-follow-up. To achieve the WHO target of 90% of women with cervical precancer receiving treatment globally by 2030, there is an urgent need for scalable, innovative, yet resource-appropriate strategies to close the precancer treatment gap in LMICs, including the use of patient-administered topical therapies.

While no non-surgical therapies are currently approved for the treatment of cervical precancer, the use of topical, non-excisional therapies for cervical precancer is an area of active investigation (20-26). The feasibility (22, 23, 27), acceptability (21, 28), and efficacy of several topical self- or provider-administered therapies for cervical precancer treatment have been demonstrated in several studies in high-income countries (23, 28-30), including randomized trials (20, 21, 24, 31, 32). In a randomized U.S. trial of women with cervical intraepithelial neoplasia grade 2 (CIN2), participants were randomized to 6-month observation or selfadministered intravaginal 5-Fluorouracil (5FU) for primary treatment (21). Under intention-to-treat analysis, participants in the 5FU arm had a 1.62 relative risk of CIN2 disease regression (95% CI 1.10-2.56) compared to the observation arm (p=0.01), demonstrating the efficacy of self-administered 5FU cream for treating CIN2 disease. In this study, intravaginal 5FU, used once every other week for eight applications, was safe and highly acceptable, with no moderate or severe adverse events observed. In a 2020 U.S.-based single-arm Phase I study on the use of selfadministered intravaginal Artesunate suppositories for primary treatment of cervical intraepithelial neoplasia grade 2 or 3 (CIN2/ 3), 67.9% of participants had disease regression within 15 weeks of Artesunate self-treatment (23) compared to an observed spontaneous regression rate of 28% over a similar period (33). Similarly, in this study, self-administered intravaginal Artesunate was safe and well-tolerated, with mild and self-limited adverse events. Both topical 5FU and Artesunate are on the WHO Model List of Essential Medications (34) and could feasibly be repurposed as self-administered cervical precancer treatment (21) if backed by feasibility, acceptability, and efficacy studies from LMICs. Compared to the standard-of-care provider-administered cervical precancer treatment methods, which are often inaccessible in LMICs, patient-administered topical therapies with cytotoxic or antiviral properties may be a highly scalable and cost-effective method to bridge the current precancer treatment gap in LMICs. Additionally, excisional precancer treatment methods are associated with obstetric complications, including preterm birth (35), which are particularly consequential in LMICs where access to neonatal care is limited (36).

To inform feasibility and efficacy studies on the use of topical therapies for cervical precancer treatment among women in LMICs, data are needed on the role of male partners in influencing their acceptability and uptake of such an intervention. Sexual and reproductive health (SRH) experts have long speculated about the importance of involving male partners in the SRH of women around the world (37-40). To increase women's participation in cervical cancer screening, the WHO recommends engagement of male partners through targeted health education about cervical cancer, underscoring the crucial role of men in prevention efforts (41). Similarly, to understand the potential impact of selfadministered topical therapies for cervical precancer treatment in LMICs, the role of men as decision-makers in this context should be considered (42). Recent research in Uganda and Ghana shows that, contrary to some studies that view male partners as obstacles, male partners actually support cervical cancer prevention for their wives and daughters (43-45). Such discrepancies indicate that more research is needed to understand the beliefs underlying male support of cervical cancer prevention, especially as novel treatments such as self-administered topical precancer treatments may have requirements such as contraception use or abstinence for short time frames. For many women, negotiating SRH interventions requires permission and cooperation from their male partner.

To fill this gap in the literature, the objective of this study is to examine men's perspectives on their female partners' use of topical, self-administered therapies for cervical precancer treatment, including their intentions to support their female partner's use of such therapies and the roles of male partners as facilitators to treatment uptake and adherence were they to become available for public use.

2 Methods

2.1 Study design and recruitment

This cross-sectional study sequentially recruited men ages 25 to 65 years attending outpatient clinics in Kisumu County, Kenya, between November 2022 and April 2023 to participate in focus group discussions (FGDs). Inclusion criteria required that all participants have a current female partner. We used a stepped recruitment approach for the FGDs. Participants in the focus group were a subset of men who had previously participated in a survey. This survey assessed men's views on the use of self-administered therapies for the treatment of cervical precancer in their female partners, should such treatments be recommended. All men participating in the survey were invited to participate in FGDs, but a focus was placed on recruiting men whose female partners had a history of cervical precancer treatment. A total of 39 men participated in five FGDs. A sample size of five focus groups was determined a priori based on evidence suggesting most themes are captured in three to six focus groups (46).

We adopted a constructivist paradigm to understand men's views regarding cervical cancer screening and prevention, including the treatment of HPV and cervical precancer. We also explored their opinions, perceived acceptability, and support of their female partners' use of self-administered topical therapies for cervical precancer treatment were it to be recommended by a health provider. Constructivism posits that understanding is derived (i.e., constructed) based on one's perceptions, experiences, and social

contexts (47). Therefore, we hypothesized that men's acceptability of topical, self-administered therapies is based, in part, on their experiences (such as having a female partner who had ever been diagnosed with HPV or cervical precancer or cancer and prior experiences with the health system) and their social contexts (such as relationships with sexual partners).

2.2 Research team

The research team included the principal investigator (CM), a Kenyan-born practicing obstetrician/gynecologist with seven years of experience, graduate students in medicine, social work, and public health (KA, SKG, GZ), a senior qualitative investigator with nearly 20 years of experience in qualitative methods and health services research (RMF), and a senior gynecologist with over 15 years experience studying topical therapies in the U.S context (LR). The focus groups were moderated and transcribed by two qualitative research assistants from the local community who spoke local languages and were conversant with the local culture (EA, JO). The moderators had training in qualitative research, prior experience conducting FDGs, familiarity with the local context, and fluency in the local languages. The moderators also received additional training from the principal investigator on the study topic, protocol, and informed consent.

2.3 Data collection, transcription, and translation

FGDs included five to eight participants each and were held in facilities that were geographically convenient to the recruiting clinics. The FGDs were conducted in the two most spoken local languages (Swahili and Dholuo) and were guided by several domains of inquiry: 1) baseline knowledge of HPV and cervical cancer screening and prevention, 2) perception of the female partner's risk of HPV or cervical cancer, 3) prior experience of a female partner undergoing cervical precancer treatment, 4) perceived support of and acceptability of female partners using self-administered topical therapies for HPV or cervical precancer treatment, 5) perceived barriers and facilitators of the use of topical therapies among female partners. During the FGDs, participants were introduced to two potential self-administered, intravaginal topical therapies for precancer treatment for which data are available: 5FU and Artesunate. Details provided included potential usage frequency (5FU once every other week for eight applications, Artesunate daily for five days for three cycles), abstinence requirements (two to three days of abstinence after each 5FU application and none for Artesunate), and the recommendation of consistent contraception use while using both therapies. The FGD participants' perceptions and perceived support of their female partner's use of topical therapies were explored in a hypothetical scenario in which the participants' female partners needed precancer treatment and a topical therapy was recommended, with discussions about male partner support of the various requirements including abstinence or contraception requirements. Each FGD lasted approximately 90 minutes. To promote a certain degree of anonymity, participants identified themselves by respondent number (e.g., R1, R2...R8). All FGDs were audio recorded and transcribed verbatim and translated from *Swahili* and *Dholuo* to *English* by the FGD moderators. The two moderators crosschecked the translations to confirm that the translations captured all discussions that were recorded (48).

2.4 Data analysis

A codebook was created during the coding process through agreement among two coders (GZ, SKG) who read and coded two of the five FGD transcripts to gain a sense of topics covered and group discussions. All FGD transcripts were coded using the developed codebook. To ensure inter-coder agreement, a subset of transcripts was randomly selected, and codes were compared for agreement; discrepancies were resolved through discussion and consensus, with revisions documented in the codebook. Content analysis was performed using NVivo V1.71.

Because the proposed topical treatment is novel in this context, our analysis involved using qualitative description, which is wellsuited for increasing understanding in an area with limited knowledge (49). As this approach stays 'close' to the data with minimal interpretation, qualitative description supported our intent of straightforward description of participant experiences that included describing and relaying perspectives using participants' own experiences and language. Coding reports were generated from NVivo and carefully reviewed to identify themes relating to male involvement and support of cervical precancer treatment. Themes included: 1) participants' knowledge and awareness of cervical cancer, 2) reasons behind their intention to support their partners in the uptake of self-administered topical treatment were it to become available, 3) their perceptions of themselves as facilitators to care, and 4) education as a facilitator to male partner support.

2.5 Ethical considerations

The study was approved by the ethics review boards at Maseno University School of Medicine in Kenya (MUSERC/01136/22) and the University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill in the U.S (22-1978). All participants provided consent prior to participation in the study.

3 Results

Thirty-nine male participants meeting the eligibility criteria participated in five FGDs. The mean age of participants was 42.5 years (standard deviation 6.3). Most participants, 31 (79.5%), had a female partner with a history of cervical precancer treatment, 2 (5.1%) did not, and 6 (15.4%) were unsure of their female partner's prior precancer treatment history.

3.1 Knowledge of cervical cancer

Most of the participants had some previous knowledge of or exposure to cervical cancer. Sources of knowledge included family or community members who had had cervical precancer or cancer, as well as television, radio, and community education sessions.

There was a time when we were called for a brief meeting, and we were told to encourage our wives and partners to be going for cervical cancer screening and treatment. - (R4, FGD1)

Some participants mentioned having known someone who "*suffered*" from cervical cancer. One participant cited his previous exposure to cervical cancer as the driver for permitting his wife to get screening, while another cited it as motivation to learn more about the disease.

What I have heard is that one of my relatives had her womb removed, that is hysterectomy for her to survive. She is still alive but cannot bear children, and so, whenever I hear anything to do with cancer, that memory comes to my mind and I imagine how serious the disease is. I am usually interested in knowing what type of cancer it is, and thus my curiosity to join this group and even allowed my wife to come for screening for cervical cancer. I saw my relative suffer from it and I know it is a serious thing. - (R2, FGD1)

Cervical cancer is such a great problem, my sister-in-law succumbed to it ... So, whenever I hear about cancer having seen my in-law suffer, I am usually keen on [learning] anything about cancer, regardless of the type. - (R3, FGD1)

Though participants had several questions about cervical cancer, and cancer in general, including questions about its acquisition, most believed that cancer was deadly, screen-able, and preventable.

I have heard that cervical cancer, when screened or tested early, it is easy to manage, but when it has advanced, it becomes very difficult to treat. It will worsen and may not be cured. So, I usually hear that people should know their status as far as cancer is concerned early enough, so that you be put on treatment or you be sure that you do not have it. - (R8, FGD5)

3.2 Male partner involvement

3.2.1 Intention to support female partner's use of self-administered precancer therapy

The focus group discussions involved brief education sessions on the relationship between HPV and cervical cancer, the efficaciousness of two topical treatments currently being studied (5FU and Artesunate) as self-administered cervical precancer treatments, the treatment protocol of both drugs (including condom use and abstinence requirements for each), and the recommendation for women to use a tampon during treatment and why. When asked, all the FGD participants reported a willingness and intention to support their wife's or female partner's uptake of and adherence to topical, self-administered therapies for cervical precancer treatment, were it to be recommended by a healthcare provider. The beliefs underlying their intention to support were related to 1) their beliefs about cancer, 2) their understanding of the effectiveness of topical therapies presented (after it was explained to them by the FGD moderator), and 3) their perception of partner and family dynamics.

As previously mentioned, most men in the study had some baseline understanding of, or prior exposure to, cervical cancer or cancer in general. When asked if they would support their wives through cervical precancer treatment, including the use of topical, self-administered therapies, some participants stated that they would support her because they believed that cancer was deadly. However, they also believed that a cancer diagnosis was preventable if discovered and treated early. This belief was a driving factor for support.

I can support her [to use topical self-administered therapies for precancer treatment] because cancer is a killer disease, and if it is discovered early, it can be prevented, so, I can support my wife to use the cream. - (R3, FGD3)

Men also cited believing in the effectiveness of the drugs to prevent cervical cancer as a primary reason for their acceptance and support of their use.

I will definitely agree [to support her to use the topical therapies discussed] and she will take it too because once a disease sets in, treatment is the only remedy and cream will do it very well. - (R2, FGD5)

Men also cited their interpersonal family dynamics as reasons to support their female partner or wife's screening and precancer treatment uptake. Some men mentioned believing that a cancer diagnosis impacted all the members of the family, including the male partner himself, while others believed that mutual support and knowing about each other's health was an integral part of the partnership.

There is nothing that can prevent me from supporting her, if the two of you [male and female partner] sit and talk things [through] together. - (R1, FGD4)

Our wives or partners should be screened for cervical cancer so that they get treatment early enough. You see, in case our wives have cervical cancer, we as their husbands are also affected. - (R1, FGD1)
Yes, I want to say that when couples live together, they live as a unit and so, they know each other's issues and details. Even today as I came for my ARV (antiretroviral therapy) refill, she knows that I came for my drugs and so, why should she keep anything off from me, or why should I refuse that she doesn't use the cream, yet I know it is for her own good? - (R5, FGD5)

3.2.2 Male partner's perception of themselves as facilitators to uptake and adherence

Beyond an intention to support their partner, participants believed that if they supported their partner, she would be more likely to take up and adhere to cervical precancer treatment, including the use of self-administered topical therapy. Participants emphasized that if male partners were educated about cervical cancer prevention, they would be able to present the information to their wives, positively influencing their decision to use recommended cervical precancer treatment.

Participants also emphasized the importance of their partner's agency, stating that they would not or could not force her to use treatment, choosing to focus on support through encouragement and education.

She will agree, after full and thorough explanation [from the male partner]. It will not be me forcing her to use the cream, but she will voluntarily accept because it is [a] source of healing. I will also take my time and explain to her the importance of this cream now that I have also understood it. I know that she will definitely agree to use it. - (R1, FGD5)

Nevertheless, most participants believed that their own (male partner) involvement would influence their female partner's decisions to use a self-administered topical therapy, like a cream, for cervical precancer treatment.

I would say that women usually are hesitant to use certain things because they are not sure of their husband's reaction to whatever it is that they want to use. And so, they keep asking themselves whether the husband would be in agreement with new ideas she has learnt from elsewhere. But if there is openness in the family more so between husband and wife, then there will be free communication and the wife will use the cream fully without any fear. If the wife see[s] that you [male partner] are understanding what is going on and understanding her position, definitely she cannot refuse to use the cream. I know that men's fear of new ideas or their failure to accept new methods would push the women into refusing to use cream. - (R8, FGD5)

Once the woman is taught the importance of this cream, she will definitely use it, because as her husband, if I have come for the teaching and I now understand what it takes to use the cream and I give her my full support, she will agree to use the cream for treatment of HPV or precancer of the cervix. - (R6, FGD1)

3.2.3 Ways that male partners perceive themselves to be facilitators to uptake and adherence

Participants stated ways that they intended to support their partner who may need to use self-administered therapies. Intended support highlighted ways in which men perceived themselves as facilitators of treatment uptake and adherence. This included: 1) maintaining abstinence as part of adhering to treatment protocol, 2) providing emotional support such as permission or encouragement to uptake treatment, 3) and providing financial support. Though maintaining sexual abstinence during periods of use of topical therapies has been considered a potential barrier to male partner support of topical therapies, the FGD participants unanimously asserted that they themselves were willing and able to maintain abstinence or condom use as needed if their partner were using a topical therapy, citing their understanding of the reason for the topical treatments as a key motivator of support.

For those who have been taught like ourselves, [maintaining] abstinence is not a challenge, because we know what should be done. It will be a great challenge to those who have not been taught about cervical cancer. - (R5, FGD1)

I don't think there is any challenge in that [maintaining abstinence or using condoms]. You know the reason why you should use condoms. Also, you that there are specific times you should not have sex with your wife. If you don't then its fine. When you see your wife applying that cream, you know why. If you know, I don't think if there can be any problem. - (R3, FGD4)

Second to maintaining abstinence, emotional support emerged as the greatest male support-related theme throughout the FGDs. Emotional support practices cited by participants included providing their female partners permission to receive cervical cancer screening and treatment, encouraging their partner to take up treatment if they needed it, reminders to adhere to treatment timing in case of self-administered treatment used at home, maintaining open communication, and general encouragement including maintaining hope during the treatment course.

I would allow her [to use topical therapies], and I know that she will definitely go for it [if] she was found to be positive with HPV or precancer. The use of cream is good since it will help clear the precancer and so, she will not have cancer of the cervix - (R5, FGD5)

I heard it in [the] Radio station when they were announcing it. I used to hear it keenly and know what the disease is. It attacks

10.3389/fonc.2024.1360337

any part of the body whether throat or private parts, so when I heard that. I did not take it seriously, it just something that is there. So later, when my wife went for screening, she [came] back and told me. They told me I had precancer, and I told her that precancer is treatable and she should [not] have stress. She became emotional and I told her that is part of life, so just be calm. You have been told you just have precancer but there are some people who have cancer. Just be calm and follow the direction that you will be given by the doctor. Later she was calm and even asked for a reassurance to know if she will be fine. She has been coming for some health talk in the hospital and she is fine now. - (R6, FGD2)

One participant noted the ways in which open communication dynamics between male and female partners could support adherence to use of self-administered topical therapies, in which case the male partner can remind his female partner to use the cream if she has forgotten.

Just like R7 has mentioned it needs being open. Even if she forgets to apply it then you can remind her to use the cream. I don't see any challenge in supporting them. Because if we have been supporting each other, I can't fail to support her in that. - (R3, FGD2)

Most participants expressed a willingness to pay for the treatment, while some mentioned a willingness to pay for transportation to health facilities to receive treatment.

I would facilitate her going to hospital like giving her fare for boda boda [bicycle] or bus fare. You also look into and arrange how the household chores that she could have executed will be performed. - (R2, FGD5)

3.3 Facilitators to male partner support

Male partner education emerged as the greatest facilitator of male partner support of women's topical therapy use. Men emphasized the need for education in helping other men understand the importance of maintaining abstinence as needed when their female partner was using topical therapies.

My wife told me about the cream but I want to learn more about it so that we, as men also get enlightened and thereby eliminating disagreement between couples. Through that [male partner education], gender-related violence will be eliminated, otherwise this thing is likely to cause chaos within marriages because the woman will want her partner or her husband to abstain because she is on medication and yet, the man doesn't understand why he must abstain from sex for a certain period. - (R2, FGD1)

The partner may resist the idea of abstinence from sex because he has not been inducted [educated] fully. The wife will tell him that they cannot have sex because she is on medication, but the husband will not understand. Therefore, it is better for men to be taught about all the information concerning cervical cancer. -(R6, FGD1)

Suggestions for male partner education included: 1) male involvement within a clinical context and 2) male partner targeted community-based education. Some participants suggested that men attend clinic visits with their partner to receive information about topical treatment from a health care provider, citing that this would make maintaining abstinence "*easier*".

If possible, the health care provider should tell her to come with the husband and explain things to him. So, we come together and I also listen as she is being explained to. So that is if she is given the cream then it is easier. - (R6, FGD4)

Other suggestions included providing women with educational material or "*newsletters*" from the clinic or calling male partners on the phone.

Women go with their husbands when going to the clinic or they be given newsletters to take home for the husbands to read. - (R6, FGD3)

In my view we [male partners] should just be given these forms to read. After here I will also sit down with my wife and talk about it. The best thing is to first give the women that form to take home. - (R5, FDG4)

Community-targeted education suggestions included "group counseling" such as having education meetings at chief barazas (meetings), providing information on the radio, providing cervical cancer treatment education in people's homes, and male peer education.

I would say that proper and wide information reach should be enhanced in order to include every [person] in the community. - (R3, FGD1)

Participants suggested that community-targeted education about new self-administered cervical precancer treatment could mitigate potential interpersonal conflicts or *"violence"* that may

arise from the need to maintain abstinence or general ignorance about topical therapies were they to be prescribed to women.

It can bring violence in the house, what I would request that before the use of this cream, there should be advertisements through chief barazas[meetings] or radios for us to have prior knowledge that even one day if your wife decides to do [use a self-administered treatment] it then we have a knowledge about it. - (R2, FGD3)

Another participant referenced how previous HIV/AIDs "*awareness*" campaigns that helped reduce stigma around HIV/ AIDs to highlight the importance of community-targeted education methods in normalizing cervical pre-cancer treatment and increasing awareness of self-administered treatments.

[I] am very thankful for this because it something that saves life. What we should know is how to it should be accessible to everybody. My plea is that you involve also village elders, also door to door. Distributing the health care providers as they teach people around. It [door to door teaching] can [be] easier because gathering people is also not easy. Also, there are people who are shy because they are afraid of questions that might pop in. like HIV/AIDs, when it started there were some who would not even sit here that they are hiding from people they know. For us to overcome the fear just like when HIV was here. They [healthcare workers] would come even at the house to do awareness so that people are comfortable. So, like this if it [education] can be done also in the house, where both partners are sitting together. - (R8, FGD4)

Another participant highlighted the ways in which male partners themselves could be facilitators to male partner education.

To use [male partners] who have learnt this [cervical precancer treatment] and have been taught on this it is not hard. But for those who have [not] received the information [maintaining abstinence and using condoms] will be hard for them ... We will also go outside and teach others.... There are men who will not use condoms [with] their wives. There are men who when they will see that their wife is applying that cream, it will be like there is something that woman is not telling him. We should fight this and even tell our neighbors, friends what this [topical treatment] is. Even if he [finds] - his wife using, he will say that is true. His neighbor told him. - (R7, FGD4)

4 Discussion

In this study evaluating men's perspectives of their female partners' use of topical, self-administered therapies for cervical precancer treatment in Kenya, we found that men were highly supportive of topical treatments after the treatment's importance, efficacy, and use were explained to them. We also found that many participants perceived themselves to be key facilitators of their female partner's ability and willingness to use topical selfadministered therapies. All the participants reported an intention to support their partner were she to be prescribed a topical therapy. Proposed supportive behaviors included giving their partner permission to use topical therapy and adherence to abstinence and condom use requirements associated with topical therapies. Participants also highlighted the importance of male partner education, both in the clinic and in the community, to facilitate male support of topical therapies and to mitigate any potential violence resulting from not understanding the need for abstinence during treatment. Proposed education strategies included explanations about treatment from a health professional when men accompany women to the clinic, distributing educational materials to women during clinic visits to take home, and initiating community-targeted awareness campaigns to raise public awareness about topical treatments.

To our knowledge, this is the first qualitative study to explore men's perspectives on self-administered therapies for cervical precancer treatment in an LMIC setting and their perceived support of their female partner's use of them, should they become available. We found that men believed that male partners understanding, acceptance, and support of novel treatment methods, including self-administered therapies, would increase the likelihood of their female partner adopting and adhering to the proposed treatment. They believed that this was due, in part, to a woman's ability to use the treatment without fear of male partner disapproval. Though they emphasized that they would not force their partners to use such a treatment, the ways in which men defined their intention to support their partners highlighted the ways that male partners may be gatekeepers to a woman's ability to use topical, self-administered therapies (42). For instance, we found that participants viewed giving their partner permission to seek treatment as a form of support. Therefore, in settings where men are viewed as primary decision-makers of the family, a woman's ability to use self-administered therapies for cervical precancer treatment may depend on the involvement of her male partner if she has one (42).

These findings are consistent with studies examining women's perspectives on how male partner involvement influences their ability and likelihood of utilizing sexual and reproductive health services in LMICs (42, 50-53). For example, one study found that women who attended their post-treatment follow-up visit as part of an HPV-based cervical cancer screening program in Western Kenya more often identified their male partners as supportive, compared to women who did not return and were considered "lost to followup" (43). This suggests that the lack of male partner support contributes to women's inability to adhere to follow-up recommendations in this setting. In the context of selfadministered therapies, a Zimbabwean study evaluating the effect of male involvement on women's adherence to female-initiated HIV prevention methods, such as microbicide gels, found that women were more likely to use the study products if they believed their male partner supported their use (54).

Because of the pro-inflammatory nature of potential intravaginal therapies for cervical precancer, including 5FU, abstinence for specific periods around their use is recommended (20-22, 24, 55). Use of these therapies is associated with acute inflammatory changes, including transient erythema and edema of the vaginal mucosa, and mild side effects, including increased discharge, spotting, or irritation, are common (20, 21, 24, 28). In a few cases, superficial, self-limited erosions of the vaginal or epithelial mucosa have been observed (22). Inability to adhere to abstinence recommendations while using these therapies may be associated with worse side effects, potentially increasing a woman's risk of contracting sexually transmitted infections, including HIV (21) and may expose the partner to the agent in case of barrierless intercourse. Similarly, as some topical agents are teratogenic when used systemically, women must use contraception during their use to avoid pregnancy. Therefore, women's ability to negotiate abstinence and contraception use with their male partners is a critical aspect of the safety and feasibility of widespread use of these therapies in contexts where women may have less agency (56). Studies generally advise two to three days of sexual abstinence following each application of 5FU and contraception throughout the treatment to prevent pregnancy.

In exploring men's willingness to maintain abstinence for recommended periods of time when their female partners use these therapies, we found that an overwhelming majority of the FGD participants reported a willingness to maintain abstinence in support of their partner's treatment. Participants said that following appropriate teaching or education "abstinence or condom use is not a challenge because we know [why] it should be done." Participants added that maintaining abstinence may be a "great challenge among those who have not been taught," emphasizing that "as men get enlightened," it would help "[eliminate] disagreement between couples." One participant highlighted that through male partner education around abstinence and condom use requirements, "gender-based violence" can be prevented; "otherwise, this is likely to cause chaos within marriages." This is particularly important when condom use is recommended among married couples, as "there are men who will not use condoms with their wives," and without adequate education, seeing a female partner using a topical therapy, some may feel like "there is something [she] is not telling him." Though all participants claimed that they themselves could maintain abstinence, their strong emphasis on male partner "education" to promote treatment acceptance, especially as it pertained to abstinence and condom use, sheds light on the importance of male partner involvement in facilitating male support of topical therapies like 5FU. Despite using "education" as an all-encompassing term, participants' suggestions were indicative of a desire for (1) male involvement in the treatmentseeking behaviors of their female partner and (2) awareness-raising campaigns that normalize the existence and use of topical precancer treatments. Further, participants' emphasis on the inability of "other men" to maintain abstinence and the need to educate "other men" on abstinence requirements may be indicative of an unwillingness to acknowledge abstinence as a personal barrier to female partner support within an FGD setting.

The ability of women receiving cervical precancer treatment in LMICs to adhere to post-treatment abstinence recommendations

remains a question in the literature (57). Following conventional cervical precancer treatment, guidelines recommend avoiding sexual intercourse for four to six weeks to allow healing of the cervix or using condoms for those who cannot abstain (58). Research in LMICs has found male partners to be both a perceived and experienced barrier to adherence to post-treatment abstinence recommendations (43, 51). A study in Malawi assessing barriers to follow-up after an abnormal cervical cancer screening result found that although some women cited their partners as supportive of treatment, they were still unable to maintain abstinence for the recommended period (51). Another study found that women who underwent cryotherapy in Peru felt pressure from their male partners to engage in sex sooner than recommended, though this was a small minority (59). A Kenyan study found that 16% of women reported not adhering to abstinence recommendations after undergoing an excisional procedure for cervical precancer treatment (60). This discrepancy between our FGD participants' expressed willingness to maintain abstinence was their partner to use a topical therapy requiring intermittent abstinence and women's concerns or experiences to the contrary in the literature needs further study. It may highlight men's preference for therapies that have shorter abstinence requirements (e.g., 2-3 days after each use of a topical therapy, compared to 4-6 weeks after an ablative or excisional procedure), providing an additional advantage of topical therapies in this context. Alternatively, the FGD participant's responses may be affected by social desirability bias. To inform this, data are needed from LMIC-based studies on adherence to abstinence requirements among couples when a female partner is using topical therapies for cervical precancer treatment.

Suggestions for male involvement in the supporting use of topical therapies among their female partners included having male partners accompany their wives or female partners to clinic visits to seek information from healthcare professionals or sending women home with written educational materials directed towards their male partner, explaining the diagnosis and treatment requirements. This is consistent with a study in Kenya that found that male partners were willing and interested in accompanying their partner to maternal and child health to help facilitate uptake (50). Although women highly value and perceive the presence of male partners at clinical services as supportive, several SRH studies have identified obstacles to such accompaniment, including transportation costs, a need to work during clinic hours, and a lack of interest from male partners (42, 53, 54, 61, 62). Research on methods to encourage male partner participation in counseling sessions for topical precancer treatment, along with the use of education messages customized to local contexts, can shed light on how these strategies can impact the uptake of topical therapies in LMICs. Additionally, the impact of community-focused campaigns to raise awareness about possible new precancer treatments, like the topical therapies, as recommended in the FGDs, can be investigated to help normalize these treatments should they become available.

Supported by the expressed desire for male partner education, we believe that the unanimous intention to support and the general acceptance of the topical therapies reported in the FGDs was due, in part, to the information about topical therapies, including their potential use and efficacy that participants received in the focus groups. This provides further indication that medical information about topical therapies for precancer treatment, provided by a trusted "*health professional*," is an important facilitator towards male partner involvement in the uptake and adherence to topical precancer treatment among women in LMICs.

This study has several strengths. To our knowledge, it is the first study to qualitatively evaluate the perception of African men on their female partner's use of self-administered topical therapies for cervical precancer treatment. As such, the study addresses a potential key barrier to the use of such therapies in low-resource settings, demonstrating significant support of this novel intervention among an important group. Our findings highlight important issues that can be addressed in future studies to support successful implementation of the use of topical therapies. There are several limitations to this study. Since participants were explicitly asked if they were willing to support their partner through treatment, it is possible that the responses were influenced by perceived pressure to provide a socially desirable response within a group setting. Further studies in non-group settings, including individual interviews or anonymous surveys, may further inform whether responses may differ outside a group setting. Another potential limitation is that participants in this study may not be representative of the general population due to the intentional recruitment of men whose partners had disclosed their cervical precancer treatment history, accounting for 80% of participants. Prior research suggests that an inability to seek treatment or fears about male partners as barriers to treatment often involve an inability to disclose their screening results to male partners for fears of repercussions such as accusations of promiscuity (63). Therefore, our study participants may be more likely to support topical therapies than men in the general population or those whose partners did not disclose their precancer treatment. While future studies can include a more representative sample of men, we believe that our sampling strategy is suitable for an initial study on men's perceptions of topical therapies in this context.

In summary, in this study evaluating men's perceptions of their female partner's use of self-administered topical therapies for cervical precancer treatment in an LMIC, we find that, after a brief explanation of topical therapies and their potential role in precancer treatment, male study partners, all of whom had a current female partner, and a majority of whom had a partner with a history of cervical precancer treatment, were overwhelmingly accepting of their female partner's use of self-administered topical therapies for the treatment of cervical precancer. Additionally, after receiving the said explanation, participants stated that they were willing to maintain abstinence and use condoms as necessary for treatment, though their emphasis was that "other men" (who may not be educated about topical therapies) may not be as willing to maintain abstinence without adequate education. Men's perception of their influence over their partner's ability and willingness to use such therapies highlights the ways in which male partners may be the gatekeepers of their female partner's reproductive health in this context. These findings highlight an opportunity for studies to engage male partners in ongoing and future studies investigating the use of topical therapies to help close the cervical precancer treatment gap in LMICs.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material. Further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Ethics statement

The studies involving humans were approved by Maseno University School of Medicine in Kenya and the University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill in the United States. The studies were conducted in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements. The participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

Author contributions

CM: Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing, Conceptualization, Funding acquisition, Investigation, Methodology, Project administration, Resources, Supervision. KA: Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing, Validation. EA: Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing, Formal analysis, Methodology. GZ: Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing, Formal analysis, Validation. SG: Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing, Formal analysis, Validation. CO: Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing, Project administration, Supervision. JO: Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing, Project administration, Supervision. RF: Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing, Formal analysis, Methodology. LR: Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing, Conceptualization.

Funding

The author(s) declare that financial support was received for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article. This research was supported by the Eunice Kennedy Shriver National Institute of Child Health and Human Development of the National Institutes of Health under Award Number K12HD103085 and the Victoria's Secret Global Fund for Women's Cancers Career Development Award, in Partnership with Pelotonia Foundation and the American Association of Cancer Research (AACR). The content is solely the responsibility of the authors and does not necessarily represent the official views of the National Institutes of Health. The study funders have no role in the research.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated

References

1. Cervical Cancer Elimination Initiative (2023). Available online at: https://www. who.int/initiatives/cervical-cancer-elimination-initiative.

2. Sung H, Ferlay J, Siegel RL, Laversanne M, Soerjomataram I, Jemal A, et al. Global cancer statistics 2020: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. *CA Cancer J Clin.* (2021) 71:209–49. doi: 10.3322/ caac.21660

3. Knaul FM, Rodriguez NM, Arreola-Ornelas H, Olson JR. Cervical cancer: lessons learned from neglected tropical diseases. *Lancet Glob Health*. (2019) 7:e299–300. doi: 10.1016/S2214-109X(18)30533-3

4. Chibwesha CJ, Stringer JSA. Cervical cancer as a global concern: contributions of the dual epidemics of HPV and HIV. *JAMA United States*;. (2019) 322:1558–60. doi: 10.1001/jama.2019.16176

5. Gerstl S, Lee L, Nesbitt RC, Mambula C, Sugianto H, Phiri T, et al. Cervical cancer screening coverage and its related knowledge in southern Malawi. *BMC Public Health.* (2022) 22:1–14. doi: 10.1186/s12889-022-12547-9

6. Frick C, Rumgay H, Vignat J, Ginsburg O, Nolte E, Bray F, et al. Quantitative estimates of preventable and treatable deaths from 36 cancers worldwide: a population-based study. *Lancet Glob Health.* (2023) 11:e1700–12. doi: 10.1016/S2214-109X(23) 00406-0

7. Simms KT, Steinberg J, Caruana M, Smith MA, Lew JB, Soerjomataram I, et al. Impact of scaled up human papillomavirus vaccination and cervical screening and the potential for global elimination of cervical cancer in 181 countries, 2020-99: a modelling study. *Lancet Oncol.* (2019) 20:394–407. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(18) 30836-2

 Bruni L, Serrano B, Roura E, Alemany L, Cowan M, Herrero R, et al. Cervical cancer screening programmes and age-specific coverage estimates for 202 countries and territories worldwide: a review and synthetic analysis. *Lancet Glob Health*. (2022) 10:e1115–27. doi: 10.1016/S2214-109X(22)00241-8

9. Mungo C, Cohen C, Bukusi E, Huchko M. (2020). Scaling up cervical cancer prevention in Western Kenya: Treatment access following a community-based HPV-testing approach, in: 33rd International Papillomavirus Conference (IPVC), Barcelona.

10. Castle PE, Murokora D, Perez C, Alvarez M, Quek SC, Campbell C. Treatment of cervical intraepithelial lesions. *Int J Gynaecol Obstet*. (2017) 138 Suppl 1:20–5. doi: 10.1002/ijgo.12191

11. Rohner E, Mulongo M, Pasipamire T, Oberlin AM, Goeieman B, Williams S, et al. Mapping the cervical cancer screening cascade among women living with HIV in Johannesburg, South Africaa. *Int J Gynaecol Obstet*. (2021) 152:53–9. doi: 10.1002/ ijgo.13485

12. Cubie HA, Campbell C. Cervical cancer screening - The challenges of complete pathways of care in low-income countries: Focus on Malawi. *Womens Health (Lond)*. (2020) 16:1745506520914804. doi: 10.1177/1745506520914804

13. Khozaim K, Orang'O E, Christoffersen-Deb A, Itsura P, Oguda J, Muliro H, et al. Successes and challenges of establishing a cervical cancer screening and treatment program in western Kenya. *Int J Gynaecol Obstet.* (2014) 124:12–8. doi: 10.1016/j.ijgo.2013.06.035

14. Burd EM. Human papillomavirus and cervical cancer. *Clin Microbiol Rev.* (2003) 16:1–17. doi: 10.1128/CMR.16.1.1-17.2003

15. World Health Organization (WHO). WHO guideline for screening and treatment of cervical pre-cancer lesions for cervical cancer prevention. Geneva: World Health Organization (2021).

16. P16INK4a as a progression/regression tumour marker in LSIL cervix lesions: our clinical experience(2024).

17. Mungo C, Ibrahim S, Bukusi EA, Truong HHM, Cohen CR, Huchko M. Scaling up cervical cancer prevention in Western Kenya: Treatment access following a community-based HPV testing approach. *Int J Gynecol Obstet.* (2021) 152:60–7. doi: 10.1002/ijgo.13171

18. Msyamboza KP, Phiri T, Sichali W, Kwenda W, Kachale F. Cervical cancer screening uptake and challenges in Malawi from 2011 to 2015: Retrospective cohort study. *BMC Public Health.* (2016) 16:1–6. doi: 10.1186/s12889-016-3530-y

 Muruka K, Nelly MR, Gichuhi W, Anne-Beatrice K, Eunice CJ, Rose KJ, et al. Same day colposcopic examination and loop electrosurgical excision procedure (LEEP) presents minimal overtreatment and averts delay in treatment of cervical intraepithelial neoplasia in Kenyatta National Hospital, Kenya. Open J Obstet Gynecol. (2013) 3:313–8. doi: 10.4236/ojog.2013.33058 organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

20. Maiman M, Watts DH, Andersen J, Clax P, Merino M, Kendall MA. Vaginal 5fluorouracil for high-grade cervical dysplasia in human immunodeficiency virus infection: A randomized trial. *Obstet Gynecol.* (1999) 94:954–61. doi: 10.1097/ 00006250-199912000-00010

21. Rahangdale L, Lippmann QK, Garcia K, Budwit D, Smith JS, Van Le L. Topical 5-flourourcil for treamtent of cervical intraepithelial Neoplasia 2 : a Randomized Controlled Trial. The American. J Obstet Gynecol. (2014) 210:314.e1–8. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2013.12.042

22. Desravines N, Hsu CH, Mohnot S, Sahasrabuddhe V, House M, Sauter E, et al. Feasibility of 5-fluorouracil and imiquimod for the topical treatment of cervical intraepithelial neoplasias (CIN) 2/3. *Int J Gynaecol Obstet*. (2023) 163. doi: 10.1002/ijgo.14983

23. Trimble CL, Levinson K, Maldonado L, Donovan MJ, Clark KT, Fu J, et al. A first-in-human proof-of-concept trial of intravaginal artesunate to treat cervical intraepithelial neoplasia 2/3 (CIN2/3). *Gynecol Oncol.* (2020) 157:188–94. doi: 10.1016/j.ygyno.2019.12.035

24. Fonseca BO, Possati-Resende JC, Salcedo MP, Schmeler KM, Accorsi GS, Fregnani JHTG, et al. Topical imiquimod for the treatment of high-grade squamous intraepithelial lesions of the cervix: A randomized controlled trial. *Obstet gynecol.* (2021) 137:1043–53. doi: 10.1097/AOG.00000000004384

25. Lin CT, Qiu JT, Wang CJ, Chang SD, Tang YH, Wu PJ, et al. Topical imiquimod treatment for human papillomavirus infection in patients with and without cervical/vaginal intraepithelial neoplasia. *Taiwan J Obstet Gynecol.* (2012) 51:533–8. doi: 10.1016/j.tjog.2012.09.006

26. De Witte CJ, Van De Sande AJM, Van Beekhuizen HJ, Koeneman MM, Kruse AJ, Gerestein CG. Imiquimod in cervical, vaginal and vulvar intraepithelial neoplasia: a review. *Gynecol Oncol.* (2015) 139:377–84. doi: 10.1016/j.ygyno.2015.08.018

27. Hampson L, Maranga IO, Masinde MS, Oliver AW, Batman G, He X, et al. A single-arm, proof-of-concept trial of lopimune (Lopinavir/ritonavir) as a treatment for HPV-related pre-invasive cervical disease. *PloS One.* (2016) 11. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0147917

28. Desravines N, Miele K, Carlson R, Chibwesha C, Rahangdale L. Topical therapies for the treatment of cervical intraepithelial neoplasia (CIN) 2-3: A narrative review. *Gynecol Oncol Rep.* (2020) 33:100608. doi: 10.1016/j.gore.2020.100608

29. Hendriks N, Koeneman MM, van de Sande AJM, Penders CGJ, Piek JMJ, Kooreman LFS, et al. Topical imiquimod treatment of high-grade cervical intraepithelial neoplasia (TOPIC-3): A nonrandomized multicenter study. *J Immunother.* (2022) 45:180–6. doi: 10.1097/CJI.000000000000414

30. Desravines N, Chibwesha CJ, Rahangdale L. Low dose 5-fluorouracil intravaginal therapy for the treatment of cervical intraepithelial neoplasia 2/3: A case series. J Gynecol Surg. (2020) 36:5–7. doi: 10.1089/gyn.2019.0076

31. Grimm C, Polterauer S, Natter C, Rahhal J, Hefler L, Tempfer CB, et al. Treatment of cervical intraepithelial neoplasia with topical imiquimod: A randomized controlled trial. *Obstet Gynecol.* (2012) 120:152–9. doi: 10.1097/AOG.0b013e31825bc6e8

32. Polterauer S, Reich O, Widschwendter A, Hadjari L, Bogner G, Reinthaller A, et al. Topical imiquimod compared with conization to treat cervical high-grade squamous intraepithelial lesions: Multicenter, randomized controlled trial. *Gynecol Oncol.* (2022) 165:23–9. doi: 10.1016/j.ygyno.2022.01.033

 Trimble CL, Piantadosi S, Gravitt P, Ronnett B, Pizer E, Elko A, et al. Spontaneous regression of high-grade cervical dysplasia: effects of human papillomavirus type and HLA phenotype. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2005) 11:4717–23. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-04-2599

34. World Health Organization (WHO). WHO Model List of Essential Medicines - 23rd List. Geneva: World Health Organization (2023). Available at: https://www.who. int/publications/i/item/WHO-MHP-HPS-EML-2023.02.

35. Liu R, Liu C, Ding X. Association between loop electrosurgical excision procedure and adverse pregnancy outcomes: a meta-analysis. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med. (2023) 36(1):2183769. doi: 10.1080/14767058.2023.2183769

36. Narayanan I, Nsungwa-Sabiti J, Lusyati S, Rohsiswatmo R, Thomas N, Kamalarathnam CN, et al. Facility readiness in low and middle-income countries to address care of high risk/ small and sick newborns. *Matern Health Neonatol Perinatol.* (2019) 5:10. doi: 10.1186/s40748-019-0105-9

37. Beyond II. High-level global commitments implementing the population and development agenda. *ICPD Beyond*. (2014).

38. Wegner MN, Landry E, Wilkinson D, Tzanis J. Men as partners in reproductive health: from issues to action. *Int Perspect Sex Reprod Health*. (1998) 24. doi: 10.2307/2991918

39. Organization WH. Policy approaches to engaging men and boys in achieving gender equality and health equity. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization (2010).

40. Sternberg P, Hubley J. Evaluating men's involvement as a strategy in sexual and reproductive health promotion. *Health Promot Int.* (2004) 19:389–96. doi: 10.1093/ heapro/dah312

41. Organization WH. WHO guidance note: comprehensive cervical cancer prevention and control: a healthier future for girls and women. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization (2013).

42. Triulzi I, Somerville C, Sangwani S, Palla I, Orlando S, Mamary HS, et al. Understanding the meanings of male partner support in the adherence to therapy among HIV-positive women: a gender analysis. *Glob Health Action.* (2022) 15 (1):2051223. doi: 10.1080/16549716.2022.2051223

43. Adewumi K, Oketch SY, Choi Y, Huchko MJ. Female perspectives on male involvement in a human-papillomavirus-based cervical cancer-screening program in western Kenya. *BMC Womens Health*. (2019) 19:1–9. doi: 10.1186/s12905-019-0804-4

44. Binka C, Doku DT, Nyarko SH, Awusabo-Asare K. Male support for cervical cancer screening and treatment in rural Ghana. *PloS One.* (2019) 14. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0224692

45. de Fouw M, Stroeken Y, Niwagaba B, Musheshe M, Tusiime J, Sadayo I, et al. Involving men in cervical cancer prevention; a qualitative enquiry into male perspectives on screening and HPV vaccination in Mid-Western Uganda. *PloS One.* (2023) 18:e0280052. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0280052

46. Faulkner SL, Trotter SP. Data Saturation. The International Encyclopedia of Communication Research Methods. (2017). (Hoboken, New Jersey USA: John and Wiley Sons, Inc.), pp. 1–2. doi: 10.1002/9781118901731.iecrm0060.

47. Appleton JV, King L. Journeying from the philosophical contemplation of constructivism to the methodological pragmatics of health services research. J Adv Nurs. (2002) 40:641–8. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2648.2002.02424.x

48. Van Nes F, Abma T, Jonsson H, Deeg D. Language differences in qualitative research: is meaning lost in translation? *Eur J Ageing*. (2010) 7:313–6. doi: 10.1007/s10433-010-0168-y

49. Sandelowski M. Whatever happened to qualitative description? *Res Nurs Health.* (2000) 23:334–40. doi: 10.1002/(ISSN)1098-240X

50. Adegboyega A, Mollie A, Mark D, Jennifer H. Spousal support and knowledge related to cervical cancer screening: are Sub-Saharan African immigrant (SSAI) men interested? *Health Care Women Int.* (2019) 30:665–81. doi: 10.1080/07399332.2019. 1615914

51. Chapola J, Lee F, Bula A, Mapanje C, Phiri BR, Kamtuwange N, et al. Barriers to follow-up after an abnormal cervical cancer screening result and the role of male

partners: a qualitative study. *BMJ Open.* (2021) 11:49901. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2021-049901

52. Montgomery ET, van der Straten A, Stadler J, Hartmann M, Magazi B, Mathebula F, et al. Male partner influence on women's HIV prevention trial participation and use of pre-exposure prophylaxis: the importance of "understanding". *AIDS Behav J* (2015) 19:784–93. doi: 10.1007/s10461-014-0950-5

53. Nkonde H, Mukanga B, Daka V. Male partner influence on Women's choices and utilisation of family planning services in Mufulira district, Zambia. *Heliyon.* (2023) 9:e14405. doi: 10.1016/j.heliyon.2023.e14405

54. Montgomery ET, van der Straten A, Chidanyika A, Chipato T, Jaffar S, Padian N. The importance of male partner involvement for women's acceptability and adherence to female-initiated HIV prevention methods in Zimbabwe. *AIDS Behav J* (2010) 15:959–69. doi: 10.1007/s10461-010-9806-9

55. Fiascone S, Vitonis AF, Feldman S. Topical 5-fluorouracil for women with highgrade vaginal intraepithelial neoplasia. *Obstet gynecol.* (2017) 130:1237-43. doi: 10.1097/AOG.00000000002311

56. Seidu AA, Gyan Aboagye R, Okyere J, Agbemavi W, Akpeke M, Budu E, et al. Women's autonomy in household decision-making and safer sex negotiation in sub-Saharan Africa: An analysis of data from 27 Demographic and Health Surveys. *SSM-Population Health.* (2021) 14:100773. doi: 10.1016/j.ssmph.2021.100773

57. Denny L, Kuhn L, De Souza M, Pollack AE, Dupree W, Wright TC. Screen-andtreat approaches for cervical cancer prevention in low-resource settings: A randomized controlled trial. *JAMA*. (2005) 294:2173–81. doi: 10.1001/jama.294.17.2173

58. World Health Organization. Comprehensive Cervical Cancer Control: A Guide to Essential Practice (2014). Available online at: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/ NBK269619/.

59. Coffey PS, Bingham A, Winkler JL, Bishop A, Sellors JW, Lagos G, et al. Cryotherapy treatment for cervical intraepithelial neoplasia: women's experiences in Peru. J Midwife Womens Health. (2005) 50:335–40. doi: 10.1016/j.jmwh.2005.04.004

60. Woo VG, Cohen CR, Bukusi EA, Huchko M. Loop electrosurgical excision procedure: safety and tolerability among human immunodeficiency virus-positive Kenyan women. *Obstet Gynecol.* (2011) 118:554-9. doi: 10.1097/AOG. 0b013e31822b0991

61. Paul PL, Pandey S. An examination of the factors associated with male partner attendance in antenatal care in India. *BMC Pregnancy Childbirth.* (2023) 23:1–10. doi: 10.1186/s12884-023-05851-8

62. Okwako JM, Mbuthia GW, Magutah K. Barriers to male partner accompaniment and participation in maternal and child health care in Thika and Kiambu Level Five Hospital, Kenya. *Pan Afr Med J.* (2023) 44:189. doi: 10.11604/pamj.2023.44.189.38293

63. Bennett KF, Waller J, Ryan M, Bailey JV, Marlow LAV. Concerns about disclosing a high-risk cervical human papillomavirus (HPV) infection to a sexual partner: a systematic review and thematic synthesis. *BMJ Sex Reprod Health.* (2021) 47:17–26. doi: 10.1136/bmjsrh-2019-200503

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Noleb Mugisha, Uganda Cancer Institute (UCI), Uganda

REVIEWED BY Martin Weiss, University Hospital Tübingen, Germany Yu Ligh Liou, The First Affiliated Hospital of Guangdong Pharmaceutical University, China

*CORRESPONDENCE Song Xu Whxusong@163.com Liping Sun 13615717674@163.com

RECEIVED 24 February 2024 ACCEPTED 03 April 2024 PUBLISHED 16 April 2024

CITATION

Qian J, Wang Y, Wu G, Lu J, Sun L and Xu S (2024) The efficacy and safety of local 5aminolevulinic acid-based photodynamic therapy in the treatment of cervical highgrade squamous intraepithelial lesion: a single center retrospective observational study. *Front. Oncol.* 14:1390982. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2024.1390982

COPYRIGHT

© 2024 Qian, Wang, Wu, Lu, Sun and Xu. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

The efficacy and safety of local 5-aminolevulinic acid-based photodynamic therapy in the treatment of cervical high-grade squamous intraepithelial lesion: a single center retrospective observational study

Jing Qian¹, Yahui Wang¹, Guihong Wu², Junlei Lu³, Liping Sun^{1*} and Song Xu^{1*}

¹Department of Gynecology, Affiliated Hangzhou First People's Hospital, Westlake University School of Medicine, Hangzhou, Zhejiang, China, ²Department of Gynecology, TongLu County Maternal and Child Health Hospital, Hangzhou, Zhejiang, China, ³Fourth Clinical School of Medicine, Zhejiang University of Chinese Medicine, Zhejiang, Hangzhou, China

Background: Typical treatments for cervical high-grade squamous intraepithelial lesion (HSIL) are invasive procedures. However, these procedures often come with several severe side effects, despite their positive effects on cervical HSIL. 5-aminolevulinic acid photodynamic therapy (ALA-PDT) is a non-invasive treatment that has been successfully used to treat cervical low-grade squamous intraepithelial lesion (LSIL). In this study, we aimed to further investigate the clinical efficacy and safety of ALA-PDT in the treatment of patients with cervical HSIL.

Methods: A total of 40 patients aged 20 - 41 years with cervical HSIL and highrisk Human Papilloma Virus (HR-HPV) infections were enrolled in this retrospective study from January 2019 to December 2022. Patients were treated with six times of ALA-PDT at intervals of 7–14 days. Three months after the treatment, the efficacy was evaluated through HPV genotyping and cervical cytology examination. If the cytological result was worse than ASC -US, the patient underwent colposcopy-directed biopsy immediately. Otherwise, patients would receive rigorous follow-up observation.

Results: Three months after receiving ALA-PDT treatment, 65% (26/40) of cervical HSIL patients at our center showed complete regression (cytological result: normal; HR-HPV: negative). This rate increased to 82.5% (33/40) at the 12-month follow-up. None of the patients experienced disease progression after ALA-PDT therapy. The risk of persistent HR-HPV infection was 32.5% (13/40) at the 3-month follow-up after ALA-PDT. Multivariate analyses identified cervical canal involvement as an independent risk factor for persistent HR-HPV infection at the 3-month follow-up after ALA-PDT treatment. During the treatment of the 40 patients with ALA-PDT, there were no reports of severe adverse reactions. Only a limited number of patients experienced slight discomfort symptoms.

Conclusion: ALA-PDT is safe and effective noninvasive therapy for patients with cervical HSIL and HR-HPV infections. It is particularly suitable for young women, who have been confirmed with cervical HSIL and have demand for fertility protection. Three months after ALA-PDT treatment, if a patient still has either ASC-US cervical cytological result and/or HR-HPV infection, rigorous observation is considered safe for her. Cervical canal involvement is an independent risk factor for persistent HR-HPV infection at the 3-month follow-up after ALA-PDT treatment.

KEYWORDS

photodynamic therapy, 5-aminolevulinic acid, cervical high-grade squamous intraepithelial lesion, high-risk HPV, cervical cancer

1 Introduction

Cervical cancer is a highly prevalent and severe life-threatening malignancy among women worldwide. More than 85% of cervical cancer cases take place in developing countries (1). Notably, in China alone, there were approximately 150,700 new cases and 55,700 deaths in 2022 (2). Hence, cervical cancer is a major public health problem affecting women in China. Histologically confirmed cervical HSIL, a precursor to cervical cancer, occurs as a result of persistent HR-HPV infection, has a risk of 20-30% to progress into invasive carcinoma within 10 years (3). Conventionally, managements for cervical HSIL including cold knife conization, laser conization, laser ablation and loop electrosurgical excision procedure (LEEP) (4), which can lead to cervical distortion, excessive destruction of tissue, and subsequent obstetric complications such as preterm labor, premature rupture of amniotic membranes, chorioamnionitis, low birth weight, and increased morbidity in the newborns (5-7). In China, with the gradual liberalization of fertility policies and the younger onset age of the female lower genital tract diseases, there is an increasing demand to protect normal cervical structure and preserve fertility. Therefore, there is a desirable need to explore effective conservative treatments with minimal damage and fewer adverse reactions for managing cervical HSIL.

Photodynamic therapy (PDT) is an emerging alternative technique for the treatment of squamous intraepithelial lesions. It works through the interaction of photosensitizing agents, light and oxygen, providing a non-invasive, effective and targeted treatment (8). 5-aminolevulinic acid (5-ALA), as a second-generation photosensitizer, can accumulate in higher concentrations in pathological cells and absorb light of the appropriate wavelength. This initiates the photodynamic reactions and selective destruction of inappropriate tissues (8, 9). In recent years, several studies have reported the satisfactory efficacy and safety of PDT in treating cervical LSIL (10–13). Chinese experts in gynecology and obstetrics unanimously recognized the importance of 5-aminolevulinic acid-based photodynamic therapy and reached a consensus on its clinical

application in female lower genital tract diseases in 2022 (14). However, there are insufficient studies evaluating the efficacy of ALA-PDT for patients with cervical HSIL.

Our center, being one of the early adopters of ALA-PDT for treating female lower genital tract disorders, implemented this program in 2019. In this retrospective observational survey, we aimed to investigate the effectiveness and safety of ALA-PDT as a potential option for patients with cervical HSIL, as well as identify factors that impact its efficacy.

2 Materials and methods

2.1 Patients

The ALA-PDT treatment for female lower genital tract diseases was approved by the Ethics Committee at Hangzhou First people's Hospital (Reference Number: 2021-010-01). A total of 40 patients with pathologically confirmed cervical HSIL who had undergone ALA-PDT at Hangzhou First people's Hospital from Jan 2019 to Dec 2022 were enrolled in this study. Biopsies were taken under colposcopy guidance from the acetowhite and iodine unstained areas to obtain pathological tissues. All participants should have a strong desire to preserve the integrity and function of the cervix and voluntarily agreed to undergo ALA-PDT treatment with good compliance. Most of the patients selected had a pathologic diagnosis of CIN II. In our institution, we generally recommended surgical treatment for CIN III, unless the patient was fully informed and insisted on PDT. Histological results were assessed according to the 2014 World Health Organization Classification of female genital tumors (15): (1) normal, (2) lowgrade squamous intraepithelial lesion, (3) high-grade squamous intraepithelial lesion (CIN II or CIN III), and (4) squamous cell carcinoma. All the enrolled patients had satisfactory colposcopy examination and their cervical transformation zones were required of entire visibility. Patients with type 3 transformation zones were

not recommended for inclusion in the study. During the treatment and 3-month follow-up period, patients were required to abstain from intercourse. Informed consents were obtained from all participants before treatment. Patients with suspected invasive cancers or other kinds of lower tract disorders were excluded. Women in pregnancy and lactation should not be included in this study.

2.2 Cytological tests

Cytology tests were performed using a fully automated liquidbased cytology assay technology method (BD SurePathTM) to evaluate abnormal cells. The cervical cytology results were then reported according to the Bethesda System 2014 (16).

2.3 HPV genotyping

HPV genotyping was performed using the PCR reverse dot hybridization method kit (Yaneng BIO science Co., Ltd., Shenzhen, China. REG. NO: CFDA 20233400811), to identify HPV infection with 17 high-risk types (HPV 16, 18, 31, 33, 35, 39, 45, 51, 52, 53, 56, 58, 59, 66, 68, 73, 82) and 6 low-risk types (HPV 6, 11, 42, 43, 81, 83) (17).

2.4 5-ALA PDT procedure

All patients were placed in the lithotomy position, and then their vagina and cervix were cleaned by sterile 0.9% sodium chloride before treatment. Lesions of the cervix and cervical canal were completely covered with a sterile and thin cotton soaked in freshly prepared 20% 5-ALA solution (Fudan-Zhang Jiang Bio-Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., Shanghai, China) for 3 hours. After cervical topical application of 5-ALA, a condom filled with medical gauze was inserted into the vagina to fix the cotton. Patients were then free to move during the waiting time.

Subsequently, a red light with an energy density of 80 mw/cm² at a wavelength of 635 nm was applied to the cervical surface using an intravaginal light scattering cylindrical head (LED- IBS; Wuhan Yage Photo-Electronic Co., Ltd., Wuhan, China) (Figure 1A). Simultaneously, another red light was applied to the cervical canal using an optical fiber (LD600-C; Wuhan Yage Photo-Electronic Co., Ltd., Wuhan, China) (Figure 1B) for a duration of 30 minutes. The ALA-PDT procedure was scheduled 6 times for cervical HSIL patients. Interval between each time was one week, but postponed for one week during menstruation.

2.5 Follow up and clinical assessment

The treatment efficacy was evaluated by HPV genotyping and cervical cytology test at the 3-month follow-up post-treatment. If the HR-HPV turned negative and cytological result was normal, the treatment efficacy can be defined as complete remission (CR). If the cervical cytological result was worse than ASC -US, the patient should undergo colposcopy-directed biopsy immediately to evaluate the degree of cervical lesions, regardless of HR-HPV status. For other abnormalities, patients were advised to repeat HPV and cytology tests after 3 months, and if the abnormal results persisted or even progressed, timely colposcopy-guided biopsy is necessary to assess cervical lesions. ALA-PDT related symptoms and adverse events were also recorded.



FIGURE 1

(A) An intravaginal light scattering cylindrical head applies to the cervical surface. (B) An optical fiber applies to the cervical canal

2.6 Statistical analysis

The R software (Version 4.1.3) was used for data analysis. Chisquare and Fisher's exact tests were performed to compare HPV clearance rates at 3-month follow-up after ALA-PDT for cervical HSIL among different groups based on various factors. Multiple Linear Regression was used to mitigate the impact of different variables. P value less than 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

3 Results

3.1 Clinical characteristics of the patients before treatment

A total of 40 patients with a pathological biopsy result of cervical HSIL were treated with ALA-PDT. Among them, 38 (38/ 40, 95%) had CIN II, and 2 (2/40, 5%) had CIN III. The average age of the patients was 28.25 years old (20 - 41 years old), and all of them wanted to preserve their cervical structure. Notably, among these patients, 26 were \leq 30 years old, while 14 were older than 30 years. All patients were infected with HR-HPV before treatment. Among them, 23 patients were infected with subtype HR-HPV 16/ 18 and 17 patients were infected with other types. 27 patients had only one type of HR- HPV infection, while 13 patients had more than 2 types of HR-HPV infections. Before ALA-PDT, 19 patients had cytology evaluation ≥ LSIL, whereas 21 patients exhibited cytology evaluation < LSIL. 11 patients exhibited cervical canal lesions, while the remaining 29 patients had no cervical canal lesions. 24 patients had multiple sites lesions and the other 16 patients had only a single site lesion. The lesion involved the cervical glands in 10 patients. The detailed clinical characteristics of these patients are presented in Table 1.

3.2 The effect of photodynamic therapy in HSIL at follow-up

The follow-up flowchart of the studied population is illustrated in Figure 2. All of the patients were evaluated for cervical cytological result and HR-HPV at the 3-month follow-up. Both cervical cytology and HR-HPV returned to normal in 26 out of the 40 cases. Therefore, the CR rate of ALA-PDT in cervical HSIL patients at our center was 65% (26/40) assessed at the 3-month follow-up. Six patients with cervical cytologic findings greater than ASC-US at the 3-month follow-up were directly referred for colposcopy-guided biopsy. The biopsy results indicated two cases of CIN II, which underwent LEEP; three cases of CIN I, of which two were treated with laser ablation and one received an additional course of PDT; and one case was confirmed to have chronic inflammation of the cervical mucosa. Additional details about these six patients were provided in Table 2. The remaining 8 patients had cervical cytology result of ASC-US and/or positive HR-HPV at the 3-month followup. In this group of patients, further evaluation was performed at 6 months after ALA-PDT to determine whether they should be

TABLE 1	Baseline	characteristics	of the	study	population.
---------	----------	-----------------	--------	-------	-------------

	Characteristics	Cases (n=40) %
Age	≤ 30 >30	26(65) 14(35)
Lesion grade	CIN II CIN III	38(95) 2(5)
HR-HPV subtype	HPV16/18 related Other types of HR-HPV	23(57.5) 17(42.5)
Number of HR-HPV	Only one More than two	27(67.5) 13(32.5)
Cytology	≥ LSIL < LSIL	19(47.5) 21(52.5)
Cervical canal lesions	Yes No	11(27.5) 29(72.5)
Multiple lesions		
	Yes	24(60)
	No	16(40)
Gland involvement		
	Yes	10(25)
	No	30(75)

referred for colposcopy-guided biopsy or kept under observation. Out of the eight patients, four had normal cervical cytology as well as negative HR-HPV at the 6-month assessment. Two patients had their cervical cytological and HR-HPV results normalized at the 12month evaluation after ALA-PDT. Two patients underwent biopsy according to the 6-month evaluation, 1 was diagnosed with CIN II and underwent LEEP, while the other was diagnosed with CIN I and underwent laser ablation. The details on these 8 patients were provided in Table 3. Among the 38 patients with CIN II, 25 achieved CR after 3 months of treatment, with cervical cytology and HR-HPV completely turning negative. In addition, there were 6 CIN II patients who although did not achieve CR after 3 months of treatment, but 4 of them, and 2 of them, respectively, achieved CR at 6-month and 12-month follow-up. 81.6% (31/38) of CIN II patients achieved CR within one year of ALA-PDT in our study. Our study included two CIN III patients who strongly insisted ALA-PDT treatment. Their clinical and prognostic data are detailed in Table 4. One of the patients showed negative results in cervical cytology and HR-HPV infection after 3 months of treatment, achieving CR. Another patient was with cervical cytology indicating HSIL and HR-HPV persistent infection at the 3-month follow up. Further colposcopy biopsy revealed CIN II. The patient undergone LEEP surgery ultimately.

In summary, none of the patients showed disease progression during the observation period after ALA-PDT. At the 3-month follow-up, 4 patients received other surgical methods because of incomplete remission of the disease on biopsy, and another 2 patients underwent surgical treatments at the 6-month follow-up for the same reason. Actually, among these six patients who underwent surgical treatment, four experienced partial lesion



regression after ALA-PDT, while only two remained lesions that were consistent with pre-treatment. None of them experienced disease progression. The CR rate of ALA-PDT in cervical HSIL patients at our center was 65% (26/40) at the 3-month follow-up and reached 82.5% (33/40) at the 12-month follow-up.

3.3 Representative cases

Case A was a 20-year-old lady, G0P0, who had a history of abnormal vaginal bleeding after intercourse for 2 years. Her cervical cancer screening showed HPV 16,51 infection and normal cervical

TABLE 2 Characteristics of the 6 patients with cytological result worse than ASC -US at 3-month follow up.

No	Age	Lesion Grade	Before PD	Г	GI	СІ	Single lesion/ multicentric lesions	3-month follow up		Biopsy results	Further managements
			Cytology	HR- HPV				Cytology	HR- HPV		
1	20	CIN II	NILM	16+ other	No	No	multicentric lesions	LSIL	Other type	Chronic mucosal inflammation	Cytology and HR-HPV turned to be normal at 1-year follow-up
2	21	CIN II	ASC-US	16+ other	Yes	Yes	multicentric lesions	HSIL	16+ other	CIN II	LEEP
3	22	CIN II	LSIL	Other type	No	No	multicentric lesions	LSIL	Other type	CIN I	Laser ablation
4	24	CIN II	NILM	16	No	No	multicentric lesions	LSIL	Other type	CIN I	Laser ablation
5	27	CIN III	LSIL	Other type	Yes	Yes	Single lesion	HSIL	Other type	CIN II	LEEP
6	30	CIN II	NILM	16+ other	Yes	No	multicentric lesions	LSIL	16+ other	CIN I	Additional one course of PDT, Cytology and HR-HPV turned to be normal at 1-year follow-up

GI, gland involvement; CI, cervical involvement.

No	Age	Lesion Grade	Before PD	Г	GI	CI	Single lesion/ multicentric lesions	3-month f	ollow up	6-month f	ollow up	Additional information
			Cytology	HR- HPV				Cytology	HR- HPV	Cytology	HR- HPV	
1	22	CIN II	LSIL	16	No	No	multicentric lesions	NILM	Other type	NILM	negative	
2	23	CIN II	LSIL	16	No	No	multicentric lesions	ASC-US	Other type	NILM	negative	_
3	28	CIN II	NILM	16	Yes	Yes	Single lesion	NILM	16	NILM	negative	_
4	30	CIN II	LSIL	Other type	No	No	multicentric lesions	NILM	Other type	NILM	Other type	Cytology and HR-HPV turned to be normal at 1- year follow-up
5	31	CIN II	ASC-H	16	No	Yes	multicentric lesions	NILM	16	NILM	16	Cytology and HR-HPV turned to be normal at 1- year follow-up
6	31	CIN II	ASC-H	Other type	No	No	multicentric lesions	ASC-US	negative	NILM	negative	
7	32	CIN II	ASC-US	Other type	Yes	Yes	multicentric lesions	ASC-US	Other type	LSIL	Other type	Further biopsy showed CIN II, LEEP was conducted
8	32	CIN II	LSIL	16+ other	No	Yes	multicentric lesions	NILM	16 +other	NILM	16	Further biopsy showed CINI, laser ablation was conducted

TABLE 3 Characteristics of the 8 patients with either cytological result ASC -US and/or HR-HPV positive at 3-month follow up.

GI, gland involvement; CI, cervical involvement.

cytology result. The biopsy results of colposcopy indicated CIN II. Cervical cancer screening was repeated 3 months after the completion of 6 times of ALA-PDT, and the cervical cytological result showed LSIL and HPV 16 infection. The patient then received a repeated colposcopy-guided biopsy, which revealed chronic mucosal inflammation. Further observation found that her cytology and HR-HPV returned to normal at the 1-year followup. The colposcopy images before ALA-PDT and 3 months after ALA-PDT of this case are provided in Figure 3.

Case B was a 24-year-old woman, G0P0, who was asymptomatic but tested positive for HPV 16,18,59,68 infection during a cervical screening. Her cervical cytological result was normal. The colposcopy biopsy results suggested CIN II with glandular involvement. The patient underwent six times of ALA- PDT treatment, and a repeated cervical screening 3 months later showed the disappearance of HR-HPV and normal cervical cytology. Meanwhile, colposcopy images before and 3 months after ALA-PDT of this case were provided in Figure 4.

3.4 Factors affecting the rate of HPV clearance 3 months after PDT

We found that the persistent HR-HPV infection risk was 32.5% (13/40) in the 3-month follow-up. To evaluate the factors influencing the rate of HPV clearance 3 months after ALA-PDT, we conduct both univariate and multivariate analyses on age, lesion grade, HPV subtypes, number of HPV types, cervical cytological

TABLE 4 Characteristics and outcomes of the 2 patients diagnosed with CIN III.

No	Age	Lesion Grade	Before PD	Т	GI	CI	Single lesion/ multicentric lesions	3-month follow up		Biopsy results	Further managements
			Cytology	HR- HPV				Cytology	HR- HPV		
1	26	CIN II-III	NILM	16+	Yes	No	multicentric lesions	NILM	negative	/	Routine follow-up
2	27	CIN III	LSIL	Other type	Yes	Yes	Single lesion	HSIL	Other type	CIN II	LEEP

GI, gland involvement; CI, cervical involvement; NILM, No Intraepithelial Lesion or Malignancy; HSIL, high-grade squamous intraepithelial lesion; LSIL, low-grade squamous intraepithelial lesion; LEEP, Loop Electro surgical Excision Procedure.



(A–C) Colposcopy images from case A who was diagnosed with CIN II before ALA-PDT. (D–F) Colposcopy images from case A who was diagnosed with cervical chronic mucosal inflammation 3 months after ALA-PDT treatment. The left column shows the initial performance of the cervical surface. The middle column depicts the aceto-white dysplastic lesion areas after the application of 3% acetic acid. The right column shows atypical epithelium after the use of iodine solution in the same patient. Arrows point to the appearances of the cervical high-grade squamous intraepithelial lesion before and after ALA-PDT.

results before treatment, cervical involvement, glandular involvement, as well as the number of lesions. Univariate analyses results showed that the HPV clearance rate was significantly lower in patients with cervical canal involvement (36.36% vs 79.31%, p<0.05), multiple lesions (54.17% vs 87.5%, p<0.05) and infection with more than one species of HPV (46.15% vs 77.78%, p<0.05) when compared to those without cervical canal or glandular

involvement. The analysis revealed that factors such as age, lesion grade, HPV subtype, cytology results before treatment, and number of lesions before ALA-PDT have no impact on the HPV clearance rate (Figure 5). However, after multivariate regression analyses, we found that cervical canal involvement was the only independent risk factors affecting the clearance rate of HPV 3 months after completion of PDT (Table 5).



FIGURE 4

(A–C). Colposcopy images from case B who was diagnosed with CIN II before ALA-PDT. (D–F) Colposcopy images from case B whose cervical cytology and HR-HPV turned to be normal 3 months after ALA-PDT treatment. The left column shows the initial performance of the cervical surface. The middle column depicts the aceto-white dysplastic lesion areas after the application of 3% acetic acid. The right column shows atypical epithelium after the use of iodine solution in the same patient. Arrows point to the appearances of the cervical high-grade squamous intraepithelial lesion before and after ALA-PDT.



3.5 Incidence of side effects

No patients experienced severe side effects on vital signs such as blood pressure, heart rate and breath. Most patients were observed mild local adverse effects during of a few days after ALA-PDT. These effects included increased vaginal discharge, slight abnormal pain, slight vaginal bleeding and burning sensations. Fortunately, these side effects were bearable and relieved within one-week posttreatment. Notably, some patients were observed to have mental disorders such as anxiety or insomnia during the follow-up period. This may be attributed to the fear of the disease and concerns about the efficacy of the treatment.

4 Discussion

Currently, cervical cancer is the fourth most common malignancy in women worldwide, and it is still a major cause of cancer-related death in some of the world's poorest countries (18). In 2018, the World Health Organization issued a global call for the elimination of cervical cancer as a public health problem (19). The strategies for eliminating cervical cancer included primary prevention via HPV vaccination, secondary prevention via cervical screening, and the third prevention of timely management of precancerous lesions. HSIL of the cervix, which is induced by HR-HPV, is a premalignant disease. In the past, surgical excision using methods like cold knife conization, laser conization/ ablation, or LEEP was the gold standard treatment for cervical HSIL (4). Because of young women's low-acceptance of surgical procedures and the associated complications, as well as their strong desire for complete preservation of cervical tissues, it is imperative to explore a non-invasive and effective method for the management of cervical HSIL. ALA-PDT seems to be a good choice for this specific group of patients.

ALA-PDT involves the selective accumulation of 5aminolevulinic acid in the CIN tissues (20), which are then illuminated to generate ROS that destroy tumor cells by inducing apoptosis and necrosis. The success of the process relies on three key points: oxygen-induced activation of photosensitizer, appropriate utilization of visible light, and proper selection of the photosensitizer (21). This process is highly tissue selective, non -invasive, and carries a low risk of severe complications, making it an ideal method for treating cervical HSIL, especially for young women. Compared to traditional surgical excisions, ALA-PDT is characterized by elimination of precancerous lesions and potential HPV infection (22) without causing damage to the normal anatomy.

Our study showed that ALA-PDT was highly effective in treating a cervical HSIL, leading to a complete remission rate of 65% at 3 months after completion of ALA-PDT. Furthermore, with an extended observation period, the complete remission rate could reach as high as 82.5% at 12 months after the completion of ALA-PDT. These findings are consistent with previous studies. Wu et al. reported a histological complete remission rate of 77.78% for CIN II after PDT at 12-month follow-up (23). Tang et al. revealed that the cervical HSIL complete remission rate after PDT was 88.9%, 92.5% at 6-months,12-months follow-up respectively (24). Qu et al. found that the total lesion regression rate of cervical HSIL after PDT was

	Ratio of H tive pa	Effect on HPV Clearance (P Value)	
A	<=30	10/26	0 1022
Age	>30	3/14	0.1823
T · 1	CIN II	12/38	0.0040
Lesion grade	CIN III	1/2	0.9848
HR-	HPV16/ 18 related	9/24	0.0220
HPV subtype	Other types of HR-HPV	4/16	0.6338
Number of	Only one	6/27	
HR-HPV	More than two	7/13	0.1525
0.1	≥ LSIL	6/19	0.0050
Cytology	< LSIL	7/21	0.2858
Cervical	Yes	7/11	0.0055
canal lesions	No	6/29	0.0066*
Multiple	Yes	11/24	0.0525
lesions	No	2/16	0.0537
Gland	Yes	4/10	
involvement	No	9/30	0.4994
Total	13/	0.0248*	

TABLE 5 Multiple linear regression analysis of HPV clearance rate after ALA-PDT.

Values with P<0.05 are marked in bold, which mean significant difference between groups.

89.58% at 3-months follow-up (25). Hu et al. reported that the disappearance rate of cervical HSIL after PDT was 81.82%, 90.91% at 3-month,6-month follow-up respectively (26). Although the above studies reported a satisfactory efficacy of PDT for HSIL treatment, there are still some limitations. The application of ALA-PDT in cervical HSIL is still in the initial exploration stage, and the included cases in the above studies were limited, which might limit the generalizability and robustness of the conclusions. Further studies with high-level of evidence, such as multicenter, largesample, randomized controlled clinical trials, are necessary to be conducted to validate our findings. Additionally, it should be noted that our study primarily focused on patients with CIN II, only 2 patients with CIN III were included. One patient was diagnosed with CIN II-III and responded positively to ALA-PDT treatment, showing normal cervical cytological and HPV test results after three months. Conversely, the second patient, diagnosed with CIN III, did not benefit from this therapy and instead achieved recovery through LEEP. This discrepancy in treatment efficacy may be attributed to the greater lesion depth associated with CIN III, which renders noninvasive treatments such as ALA-PDT less effective than they are for CIN I and CIN II cases. Due to the lack of sufficient data, we cannot make some rigorous suggestions for CIN III patients. Further research including larger subjects is needed to demonstrate the effectiveness of PDT for patients with CIN III.

There is no consensus on the follow-up strategy after PDT. In our study, we evaluate the combination of HPV genotyping and cervical cytological results as an initial evaluation at the 3-month follow-up. Cases were then triaged according to the results. The stratification protocol in our study was to immediately refer to colposcopy-guided biopsy if the cytologic result was worse than ASC-US at the 3-month follow-up. If the cervical cytological result was ASC-US and/or there was HR-HPV infection, observation could continue with repeated cervical screening at 6-months follow-up. We designed this stratification protocol based on previous studies reporting that PDT could enhance local and systemic immunity, which plays a crucial role in clearing lesions (27-29). Therefore, we have implemented a relatively conservative observation protocol for patients with either cytology result ASC-US or HR -HPV infection 3 months after PDT treatment. We hypothesized that the activated immune response by PDT would have a long-term effect on the clearance of lesions or HR-HPV, thus ensuring the safety of this group of patients. In our study, 8 cases that met this criterion(either cytologic result ASC-US and/or HR-HPV infection). Among them, 6 patients returned to normal cytology and negative HPV within 1 year by observation, one patient regressed from CIN II to CINI, and one patient persisted in CIN II. None of the patients had a history of disease progression during the course of observation. Therefore, we consider our triage program to be reasonable.

In our study of single factor analysis, we found that cervical canal involvement, multiple lesions and infection with more than one species of HR-HPV can cause persistent viral infection at the 3month follow-up after ALA-PDT treatment. However, multiple linear regression analysis revealed that only cervical canal involvement was an independent risk factor. These findings suggest that the effects of multiple lesions and HR-HPV species are secondary to the difference in cervical canal involvement. Consequently, even if a patient has numerous lesions and HR-HPV infection, if there is no disease in the cervical canal, ALA-PDT can effectively eliminate her HR-HPV infection. We infer that the reason maybe the optical fiber is not as efficient as the intravaginal light scattering cylindrical head. Thus, we recommend to prolong the time of irradiation by the optical fiber for patients with cervical canal lesions. The underlying association between cervical involvement and persistent HR-HPV infection requires further research. It is important to monitor women with persistence of HR-HPV infection who have underwent PDT therapy as it greatly impacts the prognosis. Our findings emphasize the need to pay extra attention to the patients with cervical involvement.

During the treatment of the 40 patients with ALA-PDT, there were no severe adverse reactions. A few patients presented with discomfort symptoms, such as burning sensations, slight pain, slight discomforts in the lower abdomen and increased vaginal discharge. These adverse reactions were bearable and were relieved within a few days after treatment, indicating the safety of ALA-PDT.

During our research, patients underwent a treatment regimen of ALA- PDT with a frequency of once per week, typically completing six sessions. The entire course of treatment spanned approximately 7 weeks to 2 months, which is notably longer than the single-session requirement of other non-invasive therapies such as laser, cryotherapy, and thermal ablation. Despite the extended duration, ALA-PDT offers the advantage of being less painful in comparison to these alternatives. Moreover, the satisfactory outcomes observed in this study can be partly attributed to the regularity of the ALA-PDT treatment sessions.

Non-invasive physical plasma (NIPP), which inhibit pathological cell growth through rapid and transient DNA damage, is another emerging approach for cervical precancerous lesions. Like ALA-PDT, NIPP is a tissue-preserving and easy-to-apply method, which can be performed in outpatient settings without the need for local or general anesthesia and is more cost-effective than ALA-PDT. Previous studies have reported that the complete remission rate of NIPP to CINI/II reached 86.2% -95% at 3-6 months after treatment (30, 31). However, these studies were single arm prospective studies and included a small sample size. Further studies are expected to include larger population and reveal the efficacy of NIPP in CINII/III patients. NIPP may be an underlying alternative to ALA-PDT for the treatment of cervical HSIL.

5 Conclusion

1. ALA-PDT is a highly effective, non-invasive, and safe therapeutic intervention for cervical HSIL. Compare to surgical procedures, it has the advantage of preserving the structural and functional integrity of the cervix. Therefore, it is an optimal choice for young women with cervical HSIL who have fertility requirements. 2. We suggest continuous observation instead of performing a colposcopy-guided biopsy in patients who have either a cervical cytological result of ASU-US and/or a HR-HPV infection at 3-month follow-up after ALA-PDT therapy. 3. Cervical canal involvement is an independent risk factor for persistent HR-HPV infection at the 3-month follow-up after PDT treatment.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material. Further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding authors.

Ethics statement

The studies involving humans were approved by Ethics Committee of Hangzhou First people's Hospital. The studies were conducted in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements. The participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

Author contributions

JQ: Writing – review & editing, Writing – original draft, Formal analysis, Data curation, Conceptualization. YW: Writing – review & editing, Supervision, Investigation. GW: Writing – review & editing, Resources, Data curation. JL: Writing – review & editing, Resources. LS: Writing – review & editing, Supervision, Conceptualization. SX: Writing – review & editing, Software, Methodology, Formal analysis, Conceptualization.

Funding

The author(s) declare financial support was received for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article. This work was supported by the Construction Fund of Key Medical Disciplines of Hangzhou.

Acknowledgments

We thank the patients who participated in this study and their families.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

References

2. Bingfeng H, Rongshou Z, Hongmei Z, Shaoming W, Kexin S, Ru C, et al. Cancer incidence and mortality in China, 2022. J Natl Cancer Center. (2024), S2667005424000061. doi: 10.1016/j.jncc.2024.01.006

3. McCredie MR, Sharples KJ, Paul C, Baranyai J, Medley G, Jones RW, et al. Natural history of cervical neoplasia and risk of invasive cancer in women with cervical

intraepithelial neoplasia 3: a retrospective cohort study. Lancet Oncol. (2008) 9:425–34. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(08)70103-7

4. Martin-Hirsch PL, Paraskevaidis E, Kitchener H. Surgery for cervical intraepithelial neoplasia. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* (2000) CD001318. doi: 10.1002/14651858

5. Kyrgiou M, Athanasiou A, Paraskevaidi M, Mitra A, Kalliala I, Martin-Hirsch P, et al. "Adverse obstetric outcomes after local treatment for cervical preinvasive and

^{1.} Bray F, Ferlay J, Soerjomataram I, Siegel RL, Torre LA, Jemal A. Global cancer statistics 2018: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. *CA Cancer J Clin.* (2018) 68:394–424. doi: 10.3322/caac.21492

early invasive disease according to cone depth: systematic review and meta-analysis. BMJ. (2016) 354:i3633. doi: 10.1136/bmj.i3633

6. Jin G, LanLan Z, Li C, Dan Z. Pregnancy outcome following loop electrosurgical excision procedure (LEEP) a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Arch Gynecol Obstet.* (2014) 289:85–99. doi: 10.1007/s00404-013-2955-0

7. Crane JM. Pregnancy outcome after loop electrosurgical excision procedure: a systematic review. *Obstet Gynecol.* (2003) 102:1058–627. doi: 10.1016/s0029-7844(03) 00741-5

8. Kwiatkowski S, Knap B, Przystupski D, Saczko J, Kędzierska E, Knap-Czop K, et al. Photodynamic therapy - mechanisms, photosensitizers and combinations. *BioMed Pharmacother*. (2018) 106:1098–107. doi: 10.1016/j.biopha.2018.07.049

9. Luby BM, Walsh CD, Zheng G. Advanced photosensitizer activation strategies for smarter photodynamic therapy beacons. *Angew Chem Int Ed Engl.* (2019) 58:2558–69. doi: 10.1002/anie.201805246

10. Gu L, Cheng M, Hong Z, Di W, Qiu L. The effect of local photodynamic therapy with 5-aminolevulinic acid for the treatment of cervical low-grade squamous intraepithelial lesions with high-risk HPV infection: A retrospective study. *Photodiagnosis Photodyn Ther.* (2021) 33:102172. doi: 10.1016/j.pdpdt.2020.102172

11. Niu J, Cheng M, Hong Z, Ling J, Di W, Gu L, et al. The effect of 5-Aminolaevulinic Acid Photodynamic Therapy versus CO2 laser in the Treatment of Cervical Low-grade Squamous Intraepithelial Lesions with High-Risk HPV Infection: A non-randomized, controlled pilot study. *Photodiagnosis Photodyn Ther.* (2021) 36:102548. doi: 10.1016/j.pdpdt.2021.102548

12. Li D, Zhang F, Shi L, Lin L, Cai Q, Xu Y. Treatment of HPV infection-associated low grade cervical intraepithelial neoplasia with 5-aminolevulinic acid-mediated photodynamic therapy. *Photodiagnosis Photodyn Ther.* (2020) 32:101974. doi: 10.1016/j.pdpdt.2020.101974

13. Hillemanns P, Garcia F, Petry KU, Dvorak V, Sadovsky O, Iversen OE, et al. A randomized study of hexaminolevulinate photodynamic therapy in patients with cervical intraepithelial neoplasia 1/2. *Am J Obstet Gynecol.* (2015) 212:465.e1-7. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2014.10.1107

14. Qiu L, Li J, Chen F, Wang Y, Wang X, Lv Q, et al. Chinese expert consensus on the clinical applications of aminolevulinic acid-based in female lower genital tract diseases (2022). *Photodiagnosis Photodyn Ther*. (2022) 39:102993. doi: 10.1016/j.pdpdt.2022.102993

15. Kurman RJ, Carcangiu ML, Herrington CS. World health organisation classification of tumours of the female reproductive organs. 4th Revised ed. International Agency for Research on Cancer (2014).

16. Nayar R, Wilbur DC. The pap test and bethesda 2014. *Cancer Cytopathol.* (2015) 123:271–81. doi: 10.1002/cncy.21521

17. Muñoz N, Bosch FX, de Sanjosé S, Herrero R, Castellsagué X, Shah KV, et al. Epidemiologic classification of human papillomavirus types associated with cervical cancer. *N Engl J Med.* (2003) 348:518–27. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa021641

 Canfell K. Towards the global elimination of cervical cancer. *Papillomavirus Res.* (2019) 8:100170. doi: 10.1016/j.pvr.2019.100170

19. Brisson M, Drolet M. Global elimination of cervical cancer as a public health problem. *Lancet Oncol.* (2019) 20:319–21. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(19)30072-5

20. Keefe KA, Chahine EB, DiSaia PJ, Krasieva TB, Lin F, Berns MW, et al. Fluorescence detection of cervical intraepithelial neoplasia for photodynamic therapy with the topical agents 5-aminolevulinic acid and benzoporphyrin-derivative monoacid ring. *Am J Obstet Gynecol.* (2001) 184:1164–9. doi: 10.1067/mob.2001.113123

21. Zhang W, Zhang A, Sun W, Yue Y, Li H. Efficacy and safety of photodynamic therapy for cervical intraepithelial neoplasia and human papilloma virus infection: A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized clinical trials. *Med (Baltimore).* (2018) 97:e10864. doi: 10.1097/MD.000000000010864

22. Fu Y, Bao Y, Hui Y, Gao X, Yang M, Chang J. Topical photodynamic therapy with 5-aminolevulinic acid for cervical high-risk HPV infection. *Photodiagnosis Photodyn Ther.* (2016) 13:29–33. doi: 10.1016/j.pdpdt.2015.12.004

23. Wu A, Li Q, Ling J, Gu L, Hong Z, Di W, et al. Effectiveness of photodynamic therapy in women of reproductive age with cervical high-grade squamous intraepithelial lesions (HSIL/CIN2). *Photodiagnosis Photodyn Ther*. (2021) 36:102517. doi: 10.1016/j.pdpdt.2021.102517

24. Tang Y, Su Y, Xu Y, Zhang Y, Shen Y, Qin L, et al. Therapeutic effects of topical photodynamic therapy with 5-aminolevulinic acid on cervical high-grade squamous intraepithelial lesions. *Photodiagnosis Photodyn Ther.* (2022) 39:102884. doi: 10.1016/j.pdpdt.2022.102884

25. Qu Z, Wang Z, Qiu S, Cui G, Li C. Efficacy of photodynamic therapy with 5aminolevulinic acid for the treatment of cervical high-grade squamous intraepithelial lesions with high-risk HPV infection: A retrospective study. *Photodiagnosis Photodyn Ther.* (2022) 40:103068. doi: 10.1016/j.pdpdt.2022.103068

26. Hu Y, Li Y, Xu Y, Teng Y, Chen J, Ma L. Topical 5-aminolevulinic acid photodynamic therapy for cervical high-grade squamous intraepithelial lesions. *Photodiagnosis Photodyn Ther.* (2022) 39:103037. doi: 10.1016/j.pdpdt.2022.103037

27. Wu A, Niu J, Hong Z, Gu L, Huang Y, Qiu L. The effects of 5-aminolevulinic acid photodynamic therapy on the local immune response of women with cervical intraepithelial neoplasia grade 2. *Front Immunol.* (2023) 14:1211114. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2023.1211114

28. Li W, Yang J, Luo L, Jiang M, Qin B, Yin H, et al. Targeting photodynamic and photothermal therapy to the endoplasmic reticulum enhances immunogenic cancer cell death. *Nat Commun.* (2019) 10:3349. doi: 10.1038/s41467-019-11269-8

29. Zhang L, Pan K, Huang S, Zhang X, Zhu X, He Y, et al. Graphdiyne oxidemediated photodynamic therapy boosts enhancive T-cell immune responses by increasing cellular stiffness. *Int J Nanomed.* (2023) 18:797–812. doi: 10.2147/ IJN.S392998

30. Marzi J, Stope MB, Henes M, Koch A, Wenzel T, Holl M, et al. Noninvasive physical plasma as innovative and tissue-preserving therapy for women positive for cervical intraepithelial neoplasia. *Cancers (Basel)*. (2022) 14(8). doi: 10.3390/ cancers14081933

31. Weiss M, Arnholdt M, Hißnauer A, Fischer I, Schönfisch B, Andress J, et al. Tissue-preserving treatment with non-invasive physical plasma of cervical intraepithelial neoplasia—a prospective controlled clinical trial. *Front Med.* (2023) 10:1242732. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2023.1242732

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Manoj Menon, Fred Hutchinson Cancer Center, United States

REVIEWED BY Komsun Suwannarurk, Thammasat University, Thailand Ricardo Valentim, Federal University of Rio Grande do Norte, Brazil

*CORRESPONDENCE Jacinda Tran Mintran@uw.edu

[†]PRESENT ADDRESS Darcy White Rao, Gender Equality Division, Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation, Seattle, WA, United States

[‡]These authors share senior authorship

RECEIVED 05 February 2024 ACCEPTED 27 March 2024 PUBLISHED 24 April 2024

CITATION

Tran J, Hathaway CL, Broshkevitch CJ, Palanee-Phillips T, Barnabas RV, Rao DW and Sharma M (2024) Cost-effectiveness of single-visit cervical cancer screening in KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa: a model-based analysis accounting for the HIV epidemic. *Front. Oncol.* 14:1382599. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2024.1382599

COPYRIGHT

© 2024 Tran, Hathaway, Broshkevitch, Palanee-Phillips, Barnabas, Rao and Sharma. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Cost-effectiveness of single-visit cervical cancer screening in KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa: a model-based analysis accounting for the HIV epidemic

Jacinda Tran^{1*}, Christine Lee Hathaway², Cara Jill Broshkevitch³, Thesla Palanee-Phillips^{4,5}, Ruanne Vanessa Barnabas^{2,6}, Darcy White Rao^{5†‡} and Monisha Sharma^{7‡}

¹The Comparative Health Outcomes, Policy, and Economics (CHOICE) Institute, Department of Pharmacy, University of Washington, Seattle, WA, United States, ²Division of Infectious Diseases, Massachusetts General Hospital, Boston, MA, United States, ³Department of Epidemiology, University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, Chapel Hill, NC, United States, ⁴Faculty of Health Sciences, Wits RHI, University of the Witwatersrand, Johannesburg, South Africa, ⁵Department of Epidemiology, University of Washington, Seattle, WA, United States, ⁶Division of Infectious Diseases, Department of Medicine, Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, United States, ⁷Department of Global Health, University of Washington, Seattle, WA, United States

Introduction: Women living with human immunodeficiency virus (WLHIV) face elevated risks of human papillomavirus (HPV) acquisition and cervical cancer (CC). Coverage of CC screening and treatment remains low in low-and-middle-income settings, reflecting resource challenges and loss to follow-up with current strategies. We estimated the health and economic impact of alternative scalable CC screening strategies in KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa, a region with high burden of CC and HIV.

Methods: We parameterized a dynamic compartmental model of HPV and HIV transmission and CC natural history to KwaZulu-Natal. Over 100 years, we simulated the status quo of a multi-visit screening and treatment strategy with cytology and colposcopy triage (South African standard of care) and six single-visit comparator scenarios with varying: 1) screening strategy (HPV DNA testing alone, with genotyping, or with automated visual evaluation triage, a new high-performance technology), 2) screening frequency (once-per-lifetime for all women, or repeated every 5 years for WLHIV and twice for women without HIV), and 3) loss to follow-up for treatment. Using the Ministry of Health perspective, we estimated costs associated with HPV vaccination, screening, and pre-cancer, CC, and HIV treatment. We quantified CC cases, deaths, and disability-adjusted life-years (DALYs) averted for each scenario. We discounted costs (2022 US dollars) and outcomes at 3% annually and calculated incremental cost-effectiveness ratios (ICERs).

Results: We projected 69,294 new CC cases and 43,950 CC-related deaths in the status quo scenario. HPV DNA testing achieved the greatest improvement in health outcomes, averting 9.4% of cases and 9.0% of deaths with one-time screening and 37.1% and 35.1%, respectively, with repeat screening. Compared to

the cost of the status quo (\$12.79 billion), repeat screening using HPV DNA genotyping had the greatest increase in costs. Repeat screening with HPV DNA testing was the most effective strategy below the willingness to pay threshold (ICER: \$3,194/DALY averted). One-time screening with HPV DNA testing was also an efficient strategy (ICER: \$1,398/DALY averted).

Conclusions: Repeat single-visit screening with HPV DNA testing was the optimal strategy simulated. Single-visit strategies with increased frequency for WLHIV may be cost-effective in KwaZulu-Natal and similar settings with high HIV and HPV prevalence.

KEYWORDS

cervical cancer screening, cervical cancer prevention, economic evaluation, human papillomavirus, human immunodeficiency virus

1 Introduction

Cervical cancer is the fourth most commonly diagnosed cancer globally, and it disproportionately impacts women in low- and middle-income countries (LMIC) where screening coverage is low. While effective screening strategies are available and have been successfully implemented in high income countries, lack of infrastructure, specialized equipment, and trained health and laboratory personnel remain structural barriers to scale-up in LMICs (1, 2). In 2020, the World Health Organization (WHO) unveiled a worldwide strategy aimed at eradicating cervical cancer and achieving the ambitious 90-70-90 targets by 2030 which encompass: fully vaccinating 90% of girls against HPV by 15 years old, screening 70% of women twice with high performance tests by age 35 and 45 years old, and treating 90% of women with pre-cancerous lesions or cervical cancer (3).

South Africa has one of the highest cervical cancer incidence and mortality rates globally, with over 10,000 new cervical cancer cases and nearly 6,000 cervical cancer-related deaths in 2020 (4). The South African province of KwaZulu-Natal stands as a microcosm of these broader global health challenges, with a disproportionate burden of cervical cancer and high prevalence rates of human immunodeficiency virus (HIV). These two public health issues converge in this region because women living with HIV (WLHIV) are at increased risk of acquiring human papillomavirus (HPV), the primary cause of cervical cancer, and their HPV infections are more likely to progress to cancer (5–8).

With approximately 4.8 million WLHIV in South Africa as of 2022, the burden of HPV and cervical cancer is high, despite high coverage of antiretroviral therapy (7, 9, 10). In 2017, HIV prevalence in KwaZulu Natal was estimated to be 37%, reaching a peak of 59% among women 30 to 49 years old (11–13). The region has historically high HPV prevalence, with estimates 2.5 times higher in WLHIV compared to women without HIV (14). Stelzle et al. estimated that 63.4% of new cervical cancer cases in South

Africa were WLHIV in 2018 (5), highlighting the impact of HIV on cervical cancer incidence. Although recent data suggest a decline in HIV incidence in KwaZulu-Natal (12, 13, 15), cervical cancer incidence continues to rise (16), emphasizing the need for greater cervical cancer prevention and screening, particularly among WLHIV.

Coverage of cervical cancer prevention programs in South Africa remains low, reflecting challenges with resource allocation for screening, diagnosis, and access to adequate care (17, 18), in addition to individual and societal barriers such as lack of awareness and misconceptions of cervical cancer (19-21). Barriers to effective scale-up persist at each step of the current South African multi-visit standard of care, in which women undergo cytology screening and are required to return to the clinic multiple times for results, triage, and pre-cancer treatment, if necessary. First, widespread implementation of cytology and triage demands critical infrastructure, equipment, and adequately trained personnel in clinics and laboratories, all of which are lean in-country in the public-sector healthcare network (1, 2, 21, 22). Meeting supply and cold chain requirements for cryotherapy treatment of cervical lesions proves challenging (23), and the need for multiple clinic visits results in notable loss to follow-up (23, 24). These barriers emphasize the imperative for more efficient and less resourceintensive screening strategies such as single-visit screening and treatment approaches that employ high performance technologies like HPV DNA testing and genotyping.

A multi-pronged approach and scale-up of appropriate interventions is needed to reach WHO 90-70-90 cervical cancer elimination goals. However, prevention and management of cervical cancer are associated with considerable clinical and economic costs with implications for accessing effective care in LMICs (25–28). The interaction between HIV and HPV compounds the health and economic burden and underscores the urgent need for prevention and early intervention strategies. We aimed to estimate the potential health outcomes, economic costs, and cost-effectiveness of single-visit cervical cancer screening strategies among women in KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa.

2 Materials and methods

2.1 Overview

To project future outcomes of multiple cervical cancer screening interventions, we utilized the Data-driven Recommendations for Interventions against Viral InfEction (DRIVE) model, which simulates HPV and HIV transmission, co-infection, and natural history. Output from the DRIVE model were used to estimate future costs associated with screening, testing, and treatment. Health and economic outcomes were jointly evaluated to assess cost-effectiveness.

2.2 Transmission model

The DRIVE model is a compartmental model that has been calibrated and described in previous publications (29, 30). The model simulates an open population of men and women aged 0-79 years, stratified by sex, 5-year age group, sexual risk group, and HIV- and HPV- associated health states. HIV health states are stratified by CD4 cell count and viral load (Supplementary Figure S3), while HPV health states are stratified by pre-cancerous lesions and stages of cervical cancer (Supplementary Figure S2). The model simulates demographic dynamics; heterosexual transmission of oncogenic HPV and HIV infection; HIV-related interventions such as ART, voluntary male medical circumcision, and condoms; HPV vaccination; natural history of HPV infections; and cervical cancer screening, diagnosis, treatment, and mortality. The model represents interactions between HIV and HPV, in that HPV acquisition and progression risks increase with declining CD4 count among individuals with untreated HIV, and screening and treatment performance vary by HIV status.

Model dynamics are governed by a system of ordinary differential equations solved in MATLAB (version R2022a) using a 4th order Runge-Kutta numerical method. HPV is introduced in 1925 to allow HPV transmission dynamics and cervical cancer incidence to equilibrate prior to the introduction of HIV infection in 1980. At each 2-month time step, differential equations were evaluated to estimate population demographics and the number of persons in each infection, disease, or treatment state for the following time step. The dynamic nature of the model captured population-level effects such as herd immunity. Description of model processes, calibration, parameters, and data sources are in the Supplementary Material and previous publications (29, 30).

2.3 Strategies and scenarios

We used the 25 best-fitting parameter sets from model calibration to simulate seven primary scenarios (Table 1). We evaluated the status quo and six comparator strategies with nonavalent HPV (9vHPV) vaccine coverage and varying screening modalities, frequencies, and loss to follow-up between screening and treatments. In the status quo scenario, we simulated one-time screening between the ages of 35 and 39 with a multi-visit screening and treatment strategy and 57% 9vHPV vaccine coverage, based on a 2020 observation (31). The multi-visit strategy reflects the current South African standard of care of cytology screening, triage with colposcopy, and treatment with cryotherapy or large loop excision of the transformation zone (LLETZ). The need for multiple visits results in an estimated 64% of screen-positive women who are lost to follow-up for treatment (23, 24, 32).

Our comparator scenarios assumed sustained 57% coverage of 9vHPV and a switch to single-visit strategies, where both screening and pre-cancer treatment occur during the same visit. In these single-visit scenarios, we assumed lower loss to follow-up compared to the status quo, with rates reduced to 5% for thermal ablation and 20% for LLETZ. We evaluated three screening strategies: 1) HPV DNA testing, 2) HPV DNA testing with genotyping, and 3) HPV

Sc	enario	Number of visits for screening and treatment	Loss to follow-up between screening to treatment	Screening strategy	Screening frequency
1	Status quo	Multi-visit	28% for colposcopy; 50% for cryotherapy or LLETZ	Cytology + colposcopy triage	One-time ¹
2				HPV DNA testing	One-time ¹
3	-			HPV DIVA testing	Repeat ²
4	Comportoro	Single-visit	5% for thermal ablation;	HPV	One-time ¹
5	Comparators	Single-visit	20% for LLETZ	DNA genotyping	Repeat ²
6	-			HPV DNA testing	One-time ¹
7				+ AVE triage	Repeat ²

TABLE 1 Primary screening strategies and scenarios.

AVE, automated visual evaluation; HIV, human immunodeficiency virus; HPV, human papillomavirus; LLETZ, large loop excision of the transformation zone.

¹Once-per-lifetime screening between ages 35 to 39.

²Repeated screening every 5 years for women living with HIV and twice-per-lifetime for women without HIV.

DNA testing and triage with automated visual evaluation (AVE), a new machine learning-based technology with demonstrated high performance (33–36). Each strategy was implemented either: 1) once-per-lifetime between ages 35 to 39 years for all women ("one-time" screening) or 2) twice-per-lifetime between ages 35 to 39 and 45 to 49 for women without HIV and every 5 years for WLHIV, starting from age 25 ("repeat" screening).

2.4 Outcomes

Model outcomes included cervical cancer cases and deaths averted, life-years saved, and disability-adjusted life-years (DALYs) averted. Disability weights for cervical cancer health states were derived from Global Burden of Disease (Table 2) (48). We adopted the South African Ministry of Health perspective for costs, encompassing direct medical expenses. Aggregated costs of cervical cancer screening, triage, and the treatment and care of precancer, cervical cancer, and HIV were derived from published studies (37-39, 41, 43-47, 49-51). HPV vaccination costs accounted for the 9vHPV vaccine product, with an additional 5% for wastage, 4.5% for transportation and handling, and 15% for distribution and delivery, based on prior studies (43, 44, 50, 51). Costs were converted and inflated to 2022 US dollars. Costs and outcomes were projected over lifetime time horizon of 100 years from 2023 to 2122 to capture the full impacts of the interventions and were discounted at a rate of 3% per year (52, 53). We reported our results according to HPV-FRAME, a consensus statement and quality framework for modelled evaluations of HPV prevention, and Consolidated Health Economic Evaluation Reporting Standards (CHEERS) 2022, the guidance for reporting health economic evaluations (54, 55) (Supplementary Sections VII.a and VII.b, respectively).

2.5 Statistical analysis

The comparative performance of each scenario was evaluated using the incremental cost effectiveness ratio (ICER), computed as the additional cost divided by the additional health benefit (in DALYs) of one strategy compared with the next less costly strategy. Strategies that were more costly and less effective than an alternative (strongly dominated) or had higher ICERs compared to a more effective alternative (weakly or extended dominated) were considered inefficient and removed from the calculations in that analysis following standard practice. For all non-dominated scenarios, we report the median ICER from simulations using the 25 best-fitting parameter sets, along with the minimum and maximum values. We adopted a commonly utilized willingness to pay threshold (or cost-effectiveness threshold) of South Africa's gross domestic product (GDP; \$6,776 per capita in 2022) to determine the most optimal strategy (56). However, given the lack of consensus on which thresholds are most appropriate in LMICs, we applied several additional thresholds ranging from TABLE 2 Key cost-effectiveness analysis inputs.

Deveneeter	Fatimata (Danaa)	C	
Parameter	Estimate (Range)	Source	
Costs (2022 USD)			
Screening & Triage			
Cytology	\$12.78 (\$10.22 - \$17.85)	(37, 38)	
Colposcopy	\$105.91 (\$84.73 - \$127.09)	(37)	
HPV DNA testing	\$47.17 (\$37.74 - \$56.60)	(37, 39)	
HPV DNA genotyping	\$93.96 (\$75.17 - \$112.75)	(37, 39)	
AVE	\$5.74 (\$4.59 - \$6.89)	Assumption based on (37)	
Pre-cancer Treatment	t		
Cryotherapy	\$5.95 (\$4.76 - \$7.14)	(40)	
LLETZ	\$76.28 (\$52.15 - \$206.25)	(38, 40, 41)	
Thermal ablation	\$10.02 (\$8.02 - \$12.02)	(41, 42)	
HPV Vaccination			
Nonavalent vaccine cost (per dose)	\$106.98 (\$85.58 - \$128.38)	In-country source (43, 44)	
Cervical Cancer			
Staging	\$293.91 (\$235.13 - \$352.69)	(45)	
Hysterectomy - radical	\$1,829.23 (\$1,463.38 - \$2,195.08)	(45)	
Local cervical cancer	\$10,795.77 (\$8,636.62 - \$12,954.92)	(45)	
Regional cervical cancer	\$10,795.77 (\$8,636.62 - \$12,954.92)	(45)	
Distant cervical cancer	\$10,763.99 (\$8,611.19 - \$12,916.79)	(45)	
HIV			
On ART, virally suppressed	\$52.23 (\$41.78 - \$62.68)	(46)	
CD4 > 500	\$37.32 (\$26.13 - \$44.78)	(46, 47)	
CD4 350 - 500	\$39.57 (\$31.66 - \$47.48)	(47)	
CD4 200 - 350	\$39.98 (\$31.98 - \$47.98)	(47)	
CD4 <=200	\$98.89 (\$79.11 - \$118.67)	(47)	
Additional Inputs			
Disability weights			
Local cervical cancer	0.288 (0.193-0.399)	(48) (proxy: diagnosed cancer and primary therapy)	
Regional cervical cancer	0.451 (0.307-0.6) (48) (proxy: metastatic cancer)		
Distant cervical cancer	0.54 (0.377-0.687)	(48) (proxy: terminal phase) (Continued)	

(Continued)

TABLE 2 Continued

Parameter	Estimate (Range)	Source
Disability weights		
Hysterectomy	0.049 (0.031-0.072)	(48) (proxy: controlled phase)
HPV vaccination		
Number of doses	2 (1 - 3)	Assumed
Additional cost for waste (% of vaccine product cost)	5% (4% - 6%)	(49)
Additional cost for transportation and handling (% of vaccine product cost)	4.5% (2% - 7%)	(50)
Additional cost for delivery/distribution (% of vaccine product cost)	15% (10% - 20%)	(44, 51)

AVE, automated visual evaluation; HIV, human immunodeficiency virus; HPV, human papillomavirus; LLETZ, large loop excision of the transformation zone; USD, US dollars.

\$2,221 to \$8,909 based on health opportunity costs (\$2,221 and \$8,909) and 50% of the GDP per capita (\$3,388) (57, 58). The costeffectiveness analyses were conducted using R (version 4.2.1).

2.6 Sensitivity analysis

We conducted one-way sensitivity analyses of costs and disability weights, informed by published literature or by adjusting by 20% when no data were available. Additional scenario analyses were conducted in which we introduced: a more optimistic estimate of 90% 9vHPV vaccine coverage, increased loss to follow-up in single-visit strategies (30% for thermal ablation and 50% for LLETZ), and a shortened time horizon of 50 years. We also explored the impact of AVE as a primary screening strategy 1) at optimal test performance and 2) with 20% reduction in test sensitivity and specificity.

3 Results

Clinical and economic outcomes for our primary scenarios are summarized in Table 3 and Supplementary Table S34. Over the 100-year time horizon, the status quo scenario was estimated to result in 69,294 cervical cancer cases, 43,950 cervical cancer-related deaths, and 188.13 million life-years. All comparator scenarios in the base and sensitivity analyses demonstrated improved health outcomes and were therefore more effective than the status quo. Relative to the status quo, repeat screening achieved lower cervical cancer incidence (29.5% to 37.1% reduction) and mortality (25.8% to 35.1% reduction) compared to one-time screening (7.1% to 9.4% and 6.0% to 9.0%, respectively). Further, repeat screening with HPV DNA testing was associated greater reduction in cervical cancer cases (37.1%) and mortality (35.1%) compared to HPV DNA genotyping (29.5% and 25.8%, respectively) and HPV DNA testing with AVE triage (32.6% and 31.2%, respectively).

The status quo screening scenario was associated with \$12.79 billion in direct medical costs over the next 100 years (Table 3). Among the single-visit strategies, we found greater increases in costs of repeat screening (1.8% to 3.3%) compared to one-time screening (0.4% to 0.9%) across all technologies. HPV DNA testing

TABLE 3 Health and cost impact of cervical cancer screening strategies in South Africa¹.

Description	CC Cases Averted, % Change ²	CC Deaths Averted, % Change ²	Total Costs, 2022 USD	DALY Averted, Count	ICER ³ , \$ per DALY averted
Status quo ⁴	-	_	12.786 B (11.25 B- 13.78 B)	-	-
One-time HPV DNA testing ⁵	9.4 (7.9-11.1)	9.0 (7.5-10.5)	12.83 B (11.30 B- 13.82 B)	34,080 (14,221-112,877)	Dominated
One-time HPV DNA genotyping ⁵	7.1 (5.5-8.4)	6.0 (4.5-7.5)	12.89 B (11.37 B- 13.88 B)	25,657 (10,044-85,820)	1,398 (442-3,478)
One-time HPV DNA testing with AVE triage ⁵	7.9 (6.3-9.6)	7.4 (6.2-9.1)	12.83 B (11.30 B- 13.82 B)	26,387 (11,717-95,033)	Dominated
Repeat HPV DNA testing ⁶	37.1 (30.7-41.7)	35.1 (29.2-39.5)	13.00 B (11.47 B- 13.99 B)	91,590 (37,522-254,599)	3,194 (1,488-7,599)
Repeat HPV DNA genotyping ⁶	29.5 (25.6-36.7)	25.8 (22.8-33.1)	13.19 B (11.67 B- 14.19 B)	68,623 (29,258-203,559)	Dominated
Repeat HPV DNA testing with AVE triage ⁶	32.6 (27.1-38.1)	31.2 (25.9-35.6)	13.00 B (11.47 B- 13.99 B)	75,615 (32,214-226,500)	Dominated

%, Percent; AVE, automated visual evaluation; B, billion; CC, cervical cancer; DALY, disability-adjusted life-year; HIV, human immunodeficiency virus; HPV, human papillomavirus; ICER, incremental cost-effectiveness ratio; USD, US dollar.

¹We report the median estimates across the 25 best fitting parameter sets, along with the minimum and maximum in parentheses. All costs and outcomes were discounted at 3% annually. ²Reflects the percent reduction in CC cases and CC-related deaths compared to the status quo. ³ICER is reported for nondominated strategies. Dominated strategies, which exhibited higher costs and lower effectiveness than an alternative or higher ICERs compared to a more effective alternative, were deemed inefficient. ⁴Multi-visit screening and treatment strategy between ages 35 to 39. ⁵Single-visit screening and treatment strategy once per lifetime between ages 35 to 39. ⁶Single-visit screening and treatment strategy every 5 years for women living with HIV and twice at ages 35-39 and 45-49 for women without HIV. with genotyping was more costly than HPV DNA testing alone and with AVE triage. Figure 1 shows the efficiency frontier with the incremental costs and DALYs for each scenario compared to the status quo. Repeat screening with HPV DNA testing was the most effective strategy below the willingness to pay threshold of South Africa's GDP per capita (ICER: \$3,194 per DALY averted). However, when we assumed the lowest bound threshold of \$2,221, one-time screening with HPV DNA testing became the optimal strategy (ICER: \$1,398 per DALY averted).

In the one-way sensitivity analyses (Figures 2, 3), the parameters with the greatest impact on both ICERs were the discount rate and cost of HPV DNA testing. In the scenario analyses (Table 4, Supplementary Table S35), increasing 9vHPV vaccine coverage to 90% with single-visit screening and treatment strategies had notable impact on cervical cancer outcomes, averting up to 44.3% of cervical cancer cases and 41.2% of deaths, and increasing costs up to 6.3%. At our base willingness to pay threshold, the optimal strategy remained repeat screening with HPV DNA testing when assumptions of vaccine coverage and loss to follow-up were increased and when the time horizon was shortened to 50 years, but AVE became optimal when we assumed its use as a primary screening strategy.

4 Discussion

Our paper contributes to the limited literature evaluating the economic and clinical benefits of cervical cancer screening interventions, while accounting for the impact of HIV (59). To our knowledge, this is the first cost-effectiveness analysis in the South African context to incorporate DALYs averted as part of the cost-effectiveness measure evaluating cervical cancer screening and interventions. The use of a standardized outcome such as DALYs allows policy and decision makers to weigh costs and outcomes across disease states and interventions. Given funding and resource constraints in LMICs, implementing cost-effective cervical cancer prevention strategies is imperative to achieving WHO 90-70-90 cervical cancer elimination goals.

We found that repeat single-visit screening with HPV DNA testing was the most effective strategy under our willingness to pay threshold; one-time single-visit screening with HPV DNA testing also had an ICER under our threshold but was less effective than repeat screening. Although more frequent screening was associated with increased costs, our model substantiates its added clinical benefits of reduced cervical cancer incidence, mortality, and DALYs, and its cost-effectiveness, particularly among WLHIV, as



AVE, automated visual evaluation; CC, cervical cancer; DALY, disability-adjusted life year; DNA, deoxyribonucieic acid; HIV, human immunodeficiency virus; HPV, human papillomavirus; *One-time screening between ages 35-39; **Every 5 years for women living with HIV and twice for women without HIV between ages 35-39 and 45-49

FIGURE 1

Cost-effectiveness of primary cervical cancer screening strategies.



recommended by WHO (60). Previous studies found that same-day screening and treatment could improve cervical cancer screening uptake and reduce the burden in South Africa (29, 61), and our findings suggest that implementing single-visit strategies could yield greatly improved health outcomes at comparatively modest increases in costs.

We demonstrate both the effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of screening with HPV DNA testing, further supporting WHO

cervical cancer screening recommendations (60). However, as evident by prior studies and our analysis, HPV DNA testing is associated with higher costs (0.4% and 1.8% increase with one-time and repeat screening, respectively) (37, 38, 45, 62), and real-world implementation and public sector scale-up of HPV DNA testing in KwaZulu-Natal will require substantial financial investment, resources, and time. Drivers of these additional costs may be attributed to more women receiving pre-cancer treatment because



immunodeficiency virus; HPV, human papillomavirus; ICER, incremental cost-effectiveness ratio; LLETZ, large loop excision of the transformation zone; See Table 2 for parameter ranges

FIGURE 3

One-way sensitivity analysis - One-time single-visit screening with HPV DNA testing.

TABLE 4 Optimal screening strategy under different assumptions across varying willingness to pay thresholds.

	Deres		Willingness to Pa	y Threshold	
	Base value	\$2,221	\$3,388 (50% of GDP)	\$6,776 (GDP)	\$8,909
Primary scenarios		One-time HPV DNA testing: \$1,398/ DALY averted	Repeat DNA testing: \$3,194/DALY averted	Repeat DNA testing: \$3,194/ DALY averted	Repeat DNA testing: \$3,194/ DALY averted
LTFU increased to 30% for TA/50% for LLETZ	5%/20%	Dominated	One-time HPV DNA testing: \$2,193/ DALY averted	Repeat DNA testing: \$4,134/ DALY averted	Repeat DNA testing: \$4,134/ DALY averted
Time horizon of 50 years	100	One-time HPV DNA testing: \$1,615/ DALY averted	Repeat DNA testing: \$3,326/DALY averted	Repeat DNA testing: \$3,326/ DALY averted	Repeat DNA testing: \$3,326/ DALY averted
AVE for primary screening	Not included	Repeat AVE: \$915/DALY averted	Repeat AVE: \$915/DALY averted	Repeat AVE: \$915/DALY averted	Repeat AVE: \$915/DALY averted
AVE for primary screening with 20% lower sensitivity and specificity	Not included	Repeat AVE: \$984/DALY averted	Repeat AVE: \$984/DALY averted	Repeat AVE: \$984/DALY averted	Repeat AVE: \$984/DALY averted
90% HPV vaccine coverage	57%	Dominated	Dominated	Repeat DNA testing: \$4,605/ DALY averted	Repeat DNA testing: \$4,605/ DALY averted
90% HPV vaccine coverage with increased LTFU: 30% for TA/50% for LLETZ	57%/ 5%/20%	Dominated	Dominated	Repeat DNA testing: \$5,740/ DALY averted	Repeat DNA testing: \$5,740/ DALY averted
90% HPV vaccine coverage with AVE for primary screening	57%/ Not included	Dominated	Repeat AVE: \$3,222/DALY averted	Repeat AVE: \$3,222/ DALY averted	Repeat AVE: \$3,222/ DALY averted
90% HPV vaccine coverage with AVE for primary screening with 20% lower sensitivity and specificity	57%/ Not included	Dominated	Dominated	Repeat AVE: \$3,554/ DALY averted	Repeat AVE: \$3,554/ DALY averted

AVE, automated visual evaluation; DALY, disability-adjusted life-year; GDP, gross domestic product; HIV, human immunodeficiency virus; HPV, human papillomavirus; LLETZ, large loop excision of the transformation zone; USD, US dollar.

The strategies listed were the most effective under the specified willingness to pay threshold among non-dominated strategies. These strategies were not dominated in 100% of our 25 best-fitting parameter sets, and the ICERs listed are the median values.

of HPV DNA's higher test sensitivity and lower loss to follow-up from the single-visit strategies, but it is also noted that costs may be offset by averting cervical cancer cases and the need for cervical cancer treatment.

Our findings are consistent with several economic evaluations that have demonstrated the cost-effectiveness of single-visit screening and treatment, HPV DNA testing, and HPV vaccination in Sub-Saharan Africa (44, 45, 62-65). For example, a prior study by Zimmermann et al. found that the cost of single-visit screening strategies at an HIV clinic in Kenya was lower than twovisit strategies, and HPV DNA testing was the most effective strategy when screening and treatment were provided in a single visit (66). Conversely, alternative strategies such as HPV genotyping and visual inspection with acetic acid may be optimal in other contexts (37, 67-70). Lew et al. identified repeat HPV screening with partial genotyping to be the optimal and cost-saving strategy in New Zealand (67), highlighting the potential benefits of newer technologies while emphasizing the importance of repeat screening. However, when comparing strategies and economic evaluations across resource settings, it is important to consider differences in the burdens of cervical cancer and HIV as well as barriers such as limited infrastructure, resources, and trained personnel (19, 71)

Given the interaction of HPV and HIV, mathematical models have also been used in numerous studies to evaluate cervical cancer interventions among WLHIV (59), and our results align with previous cost-effectiveness studies that modeled coinfection in South Africa (37, 45, 72-75). Similar to our findings, Campos et al. and Goldie et al. concluded that HPV DNA test and treat was the most cost-effective strategy (45, 76). In contrast, Lince-Deroche et al. found visual inspection with acetic acid to be most cost-effective, attributing the increased colposcopy triage costs to HPV DNA testing's higher sensitivity and lower specificity (37); however, their analysis focused on programmatic screening and triage costs and did not account for costs of pre-cancer treatment, cervical cancer, and cervical cancer treatment. While visual inspection with acetic acid may demonstrate short-term costeffectiveness, our study highlights the importance of incorporating downstream costs and benefits and suggests that HPV DNA testing would be cost-effective long-term. Our findings build upon these prior economic analyses by

emphasizing the cost-effectiveness of single-visit screening with HPV DNA testing in South Africa and highlighting the benefits of more frequent screening, particularly among WLHIV.

Our results were sensitive to assumptions about loss to followup. In our primary scenarios (base case), we assumed a loss to follow-up rate of 5% for thermal ablation treatment and 20% for LLETZ. In sensitivity analyses, we applied more conservative estimates, increasing loss to follow-up to 30% and 50%, respectively. Despite the higher ICERs with increased loss to follow-up, repeat screening with HPV DNA testing persisted as the most effective strategy under the base willingness to pay threshold.

To assess the potential impact of scaling 9vHPV vaccination, we considered a more optimistic vaccine coverage of 90%. Our findings suggest that vaccine scale-up would prevent substantially more cervical cancer cases and cervical cancer-related deaths, and repeat HPV DNA testing remained the optimal screening strategy. It is important to note that the 9vHPV vaccine in our model covers nine HPV types compared to two and four types in the bivalent and quadrivalent HPV vaccine, respectively, but the 9vHPV vaccine has not been widely rolled out in South Africa. The cost of the 9vHPV vaccine can be up to 20 times more expensive than the bi- and quadrivalent alternatives and the costs of vaccine delivery may be lower than estimated in our model (44, 77, 78). Our assumption of switching to 9vHPV vaccine coverage may overestimate the effectiveness and cost of HPV vaccination and, consequently, diminish the estimated health impact and costeffectiveness of cervical cancer screening and treatment strategies, which address the residual burden of cases not prevented by vaccination. Therefore, our ICERs are conservative.

Our choice of willingness to pay thresholds and discount rate had notable impact on our conclusions of cost-effectiveness. We find repeat single-visit screening with HPV DNA testing is the most optimal strategy at all study thresholds equal to or higher than 50% of GDP per capita (\$3,388). However, one-time HPV DNA testing was the most effective strategy at our lowest threshold of \$2,221, emphasizing how recommendations and decisions may differ depending on the willingness to pay threshold employed by policy makers. Further, applying a higher discount rate of 6% yield an ICER exceeding \$3,388 for repeat HPV DNA testing, and the strategy would no longer be deemed cost-effective.

We employed a 100-year lifetime time horizon to capture the full health and economic impact of the interventions simulated. However, because longer time horizons inherently introduce greater uncertainty, the projected long-term health and economic outcomes may be less reliable. We conducted a sensitivity analysis using a 50-year time horizon, and our conclusions remained consistent, with repeat screening with HPV DNA testing emerging as the most effective strategy under the costeffectiveness threshold.

Our analysis highlights potential cost-effective opportunities for recent innovations with high sensitivity and specificity such as HPV genotyping and AVE. Although our findings demonstrate the clinical benefits of HPV DNA genotyping, the ICER exceeded our threshold, likely due to the increased costs from testing and treatment, but newer technologies for genotyping have the potential to lower testing prices. Moreover, while AVE was not cost-effective for triage in our two primary scenarios, it became the optimal strategy when we assumed its use as a primary screening strategy, highlighting its potential future role in cervical cancer screening. However, it should be noted that the costs and performance of AVE are currently highly uncertain, and additional data will be needed to generate more reliable cost-effectiveness estimates.

A key strength of this analysis is the use of a dynamic HIV-HPV transmission model, allowing us to simulate the natural history of HIV, HPV, and cervical cancer, along with their interaction and transmission. We also assessed numerous strategies ranging from current South African standards (cytology with colposcopy), single-visit screening and treatment approaches, WHO's current recommendations (HPV DNA testing with and without genotyping), scaled 9vHPV vaccine coverage, and a promising novel technology leveraging machine learning (AVE).

Our study is subject to several limitations. First, we use the Ministry of Health perspective and do not include societal costs such as productivity and travel time costs, which would likely increase our ICERs if the societal costs associated with the screening and treatment strategies are substantial. However, this approach may also have the potential to decrease ICERs if averting cervical cancer and death would have profound improvement on productivity costs. Further, we did not collect primary cost data but rather derived our cost-estimates from published costing studies and input from in-country experts in South Africa. Lastly, when calculating DALYs averted, we included only disability from cervical cancer because disability weights for coinfection of HIV and HPV/cervical cancer have not yet been estimated. We considered the quality-of-life impacts for cervical cancer to be of greater interest since our interventions focused on cervical cancer prevention.

In conclusion, we find that adopting single-visit strategies with high performance HPV DNA testing will improve the impact of cervical cancer prevention resources. In KwaZulu-Natal and similar LMIC settings with high HIV prevalence, repeat screening every five years for WLHIV and twice between ages 35 to 39 and 45 to 49 for women without HIV would be the optimal cervical cancer screening and treatment approach. Our findings can inform resource allocation and policy deliberations regarding optimal strategies to reach the WHO 90-70-90 cervical cancer elimination goals by 2030.

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Author contributions

JT: Conceptualization, Formal analysis, Methodology, Software, Visualization, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. CH: Data curation, Formal analysis, Methodology, Software, Writing – review & editing. CB: Data curation, Formal analysis, Methodology, Software, Writing – review & editing. TP-P: Resources, Writing – review & editing. RB: Conceptualization, Methodology, Supervision, Writing – review & editing, Funding acquisition. DR: Conceptualization, Methodology, Supervision, Writing – review & editing, Funding acquisition. MS: Methodology, Supervision, Writing – review & editing, Funding acquisition.

Funding

The author(s) declare financial support was received for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article. This study was funded by the U.S. National Institutes of Health's National Cancer Institute (U01 CA253912), National Institute of Mental Health (K01 MH115789), and National Center for Advancing Translational Sciences (KL2 TR002317).

Acknowledgments

The Authors thank Enterprise Research Infrastructure & Services at Mass General Brigham for their in-depth support and for the provision of the ERISTwo Cluster in running the model and generating the data for this study.

Conflict of interest

Outside of the submitted work, CB acknowledges past part-time employment by Merck & Co., Inc for a summer graduate research assistantship.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fonc.2024.1382599/ full#supplementary-material

References

1. Adedimeji A, Ajeh R, Pierz A, Nkeng R, Ndenkeh J, Fuhngwa N, et al. Challenges and opportunities associated with cervical cancer screening programs in a low income, high HIV prevalence context. *BMC Womens Health*. (2021) 21:74. doi: 10.1186/s12905-021-01211-w

2. Holme F, Kapambwe S, Nessa A, Basu P, Murillo R, Jeronimo J. Scaling up proven innovative cervical cancer screening strategies: Challenges and opportunities in implementation at the population level in low- and lower-middle-income countries. *Int J Gynecology Obstetrics*. (2017) 138:63–8. doi: 10.1002/ijgo.12185

3. Global strategy to accelerate the elimination of cervical cancer as a public health problem. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization (2020). Available at: https://www.who.int/publications-detail-redirect/9789240014107.

4. Bruni L, Albero G, Serrano B, Mena M, Collado J, Gomez D, et al. *Human Papillomavirus and Related Diseases in South Africa: Summary report.* Barcelona, Spain: Catalan Institute of Oncology (ICO)/International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC) Information Centre on HPV and Cancer (HPV Information Centre (2023).

5. Stelzle D, Tanaka LF, Lee KK, Ibrahim Khalil A, Baussano I, Shah ASV, et al. Estimates of the global burden of cervical cancer associated with HIV. *Lancet Glob Health*. (2020) 9:e161–9. doi: 10.1016/S2214-109X(20)30459-9

6. Abraham AG, D'Souza G, Jing Y, Gange SJ, Sterling TR, Silverberg MJ, et al. Invasive cervical cancer risk among HIV-infected women: A north american multicohort collaboration prospective study. *JAIDS J Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndromes*. (2013) 62:405. doi: 10.1097/QAI.0b013e31828177d7

7. Rohner E, Bütikofer L, Schmidlin K, Sengayi M, Maskew M, Giddy J, et al. Cervical cancer risk in women living with HIV across four continents: a multicohort study. *Int J cancer*. (2020) 146:601. doi: 10.1002/ijc.32260

 Liu G, Sharma M, Tan N, Barnabas RV. HIV-positive women have higher risk of human papilloma virus infection, precancerous lesions, and cervical cancer. *AIDS*. (2018) 32:795–808. doi: 10.1097/QAD.00000000001765

9. Kelly H, Weiss HA, Benavente Y, de Sanjose S, Mayaud P. Association of antiretroviral therapy with high-risk human papillomavirus, cervical intraepithelial neoplasia, and invasive cervical cancer in women living with HIV: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Lancet HIV*. (2017) 5:e45–58. doi: 10.1016/S2352-3018(17)30149-2

10. UNAIDS Country Factsheet. Available at: https://www.unaids.org/en/regionscountries/countries/southafrica.

11. Kharsany AB, Cawood C, Khanyile D, Lewis L, Grobler A, Puren A, et al. Community-based HIV prevalence in KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa: results of a cross

sectional household survey. Lancet HIV. (2018) 5:e427-37. doi: 10.1016/S2352-3018 (18)30104-8

12. Vandormael A, de Oliveira T, Tanser F, Bärnighausen T, Herbeck JT. High percentage of undiagnosed HIV cases within a hyperendemic South African community: a population-based study. *J Epidemiol Community Health.* (2018) 72:168. doi: 10.1136/jech-2017-209713

13. Vandormael A, Akullian A, Siedner M, de Oliveira T, Bärnighausen T, Tanser F. Declines in HIV incidence among men and women in a South African populationbased cohort. *Nat Commun.* (2019) 10:5482. doi: 10.1038/s41467-019-13473-y

14. McDonald AC, Tergas AI, Kuhn L, Denny L, Wright TC. Distribution of human papillomavirus genotypes among HIV-positive and HIV-negative women in Cape Town, South Africa. *Front Oncol.* (2014) 4:48. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2014.00048

15. Akullian A, Vandormael A, Miller JC, Bershteyn A, Wenger E, Cuadros D, et al. Large age shifts in HIV-1 incidence patterns in KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.* (2021) 118:e2013164118. doi: 10.1073/pnas.2013164118

16. Motlana MK, Ginindza TG, Mitku AA, Jafta N. Spatial distribution of cancer cases seen in three major public hospitals in KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa. *Cancer Inform.* (2021) 20:11769351211028194. doi: 10.1177/11769351211028194

17. Bruni L, Serrano B, Roura E, Alemany L, Cowan M, Herrero R, et al. Cervical cancer screening programmes and age-specific coverage estimates for 202 countries and territories worldwide: a review and synthetic analysis. *Lancet Glob Health.* (2022) 10:e1115–27. doi: 10.1016/S2214-109X(22)00241-8

18. Amponsah-Dacosta E, Blose N, Nkwinika VV, Chepkurui V. Human papillomavirus vaccination in South Africa: Programmatic challenges and opportunities for integration with other adolescent health services? *Front Public Health*. (2022) 10:799984. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2022.799984

19. Petersen Z, Jaca A, Ginindza TG, Maseko G, Takatshana S, Ndlovu P, et al. Barriers to uptake of cervical cancer screening services in low-and-middle-income countries: a systematic review. *BMC Womens Health*. (2022) 22:486. doi: 10.1186/ s12905-022-02043-y

20. Mengesha MB, Chekole TT, Hidru HD. Uptake and barriers to cervical cancer screening among human immunodeficiency virus-positive women in Sub Saharan Africa: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMC Womens Health.* (2023) 23:338. doi: 10.1186/s12905-023-02479-w

21. Chitha W, Sibulawa S, Funani I, Swartbooi B, Maake K, Hellebo A, et al. A crosssectional study of knowledge, attitudes, barriers and practices of cervical cancer screening among nurses in selected hospitals in the Eastern Cape Province, South Africa. *BMC Womens Health.* (2023) 23:94. doi: 10.1186/s12905-023-02251-0

22. Tshabalala G, Blanchard C, Mmoledi K, Malope D, O'Neil DS, Norris SA, et al. A qualitative study to explore healthcare providers' perspectives on barriers and enablers to early detection of breast and cervical cancers among women attending primary healthcare clinics in Johannesburg, South Africa. *PLoS Glob Public Health.* (2023) 3: e0001826. doi: 10.1371/journal.pgph.0001826

23. Msyamboza KP, Phiri T, Sichali W, Kwenda W, Kachale F. Cervical cancer screening uptake and challenges in Malawi from 2011 to 2015: retrospective cohort study. *BMC Public Health.* (2016) 16:806. doi: 10.1186/s12889-016-3530-y

24. Khozaim K, Orang'o E, Christoffersen-Deb A, Itsura P, Oguda J, Muliro H, et al. Successes and challenges of establishing a cervical cancer screening and treatment program in western Kenya. *Int J Gynecology Obstetrics*. (2014) 124:12–8. doi: 10.1016/ j.ijgo.2013.06.035

25. Ding W, Ma Y, Ma C, Malone DC, Ma A, Tang W, et al. The lifetime cost estimation of human papillomavirus-related diseases in China: A modeling study. *J Transl Int Med.* (2021) 9:200–11. doi: 10.2478/jtim-2021-0039

26. Ngcamphalala C, Östensson E, Ginindza TG. The economic burden of cervical cancer in Eswatini: Societal perspective. *PLoS One*. (2021) 16:e0250113. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0250113

27. Berraho M, Najdi A, Mathoulin-Pelissier S, Salamon R, Nejjari C. Direct costs of cervical cancer management in Morocco. *Asian Pacific J Cancer Prev.* (2012) 13:3159–63. doi: 10.7314/APJCP.2012.13.7.3159

28. Campos NG, Sharma M, Clark A, Kim JJ, Resch SC. Resources required for cervical cancer prevention in low- and middle-income countries. *Consolaro MEL editor. PLoS One.* (2016) 11:e0164000. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0164000

29. Rao DW, Bayer CJ, Liu G, Chikandiwa A, Sharma M, Hathaway CL, et al. Modelling cervical cancer elimination using single-visit screening and treatment strategies in the context of high HIV prevalence: estimates for KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa. J Int AIDS Soc. (2022) 25:e26021. doi: 10.1002/jia2.26021

30. Tan N, Sharma M, Winer R, Galloway D, Rees H, Barnabas RV. Modelestimated effectiveness of single dose 9-valent HPV vaccination for HIV-positive and HIV-negative females in South Africa. *Vaccine*. (2018) 36:4830–6. doi: 10.1016/ j.vaccine.2018.02.023

31. WHO/UNICEF. Human Papillomavirus (HPV) vaccination coverage (2020). Available at: https://immunizationdata.who.int/pages/coverage/hpv.html?CODE= ZAF&ANTIGEN=&YEAR=.

32. Cervical Cancer Prevention and Control Policy. South Africa: National Department of Health of South Africa. (2017). Available at: https://www.health.gov. za/wp-content/uploads/2021/07/cervical-cancer-policy.pdf

33. Hu L, Bell D, Antani S, Xue Z, Yu K, Horning MP, et al. An observational study of deep learning and automated evaluation of cervical images for cancer screening. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* (2019) 111:923–32. doi: 10.1093/jnci/djy225

 Parham GP, Egemen D, Befano B, Mwanahamuntu MH, Rodriguez AC, Antani S, et al. Validation in Zambia of a cervical screening strategy including HPV genotyping and artificial intelligence (AI)-based automated visual evaluation. *Infect Agent Cancer*. (2023) 18:61. doi: 10.1186/s13027-023-00536-5

35. Desai AN, Conyngham SC, Mashas A, Smith CR, Casademont IZ, Brown BA, et al. Interdisciplinary HIV sentinel case review: identifying practices to prevent outbreaks in Philadelphia. *Am J Prev Med.* (2021) 61:S151–9. doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2021.05.031

36. Hu L, Mwanahamuntu MH, Sahasrabuddhe VV, Barrett C, Horning MP, Shah I, et al. Validation of automated visual evaluation (AVE) on smartphone images for cervical cancer screening in a prospective study in Zambia. *medRxiv*. (2023). doi: 10.1101/2023.07.19.23292888

37. Lince-Deroche N, Phiri J, Michelow P, Smith JS, Firnhaber C. Costs and cost effectiveness of three approaches for cervical cancer screening among HIV-positive women in Johannesburg, South Africa. *PLoS One.* (2015) 10:e0141969. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0141969

38. Dreyer G, Maske C, Stander M. Clinical evaluation and budget impact analysis of cervical cancer screening using cobas 4800 HPV screening technology in the public sector of South Africa. *PLoS One.* (2019) 14:e0221495. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0221495

39. National Health Laboratory Price List 2018. South Africa National Health Laboratory Service (2018). Available at: https://www.nhls.ac.za/.

40. Lince-Deroche N, van Rensburg C, Roseleur J, Sanusi B, Phiri J, Michelow P, et al. Costs and cost-effectiveness of LEEP versus cryotherapy for treating cervical dysplasia among HIV-positive women in Johannesburg, South Africa. *PLoS One.* (2018) 13:e0203921. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0203921

41. Costing the National Strategic Plan on Prevention and Control of Cervical Cancer: Zambia, 2019-2023. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization (WHO (2020). Available at: https://cdn.who.int/media/docs/default-source/cervical-cancer/zambia-ccasc costing-report-20201112.pdf?sfvrsn=a433474c_4&download=true#:~:text=We% 20estimate%20the%20National%20Strategic,cost%20of%20US%24%2042.9%20million.

42. World Health Organization. WHO guidelines for the use of thermal ablation for cervical pre-cancer lesions. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization (2019). Available at: https://iris.who.int/handle/10665/329299. 108 p.

43. Market Information for Access to Vaccines (M14A) Vaccine Purchase Data. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization (2023). Available at: https://www.

who.int/teams/immunization-vaccines-and-biologicals/vaccine-access/mi4a/mi4a-vaccine-purchase-data.

44. Michaeli DT, Stoycheva S, Marcus SM, Zhang W, Michaeli JC, Michaeli T. Cost-Effectiveness of bivalent, quadrivalent, and nonavalent HPV vaccination in South Africa. *Clin Drug Investig.* (2022) 42:333–43. doi: 10.1007/s40261-022-01138-6

45. Campos NG, Lince-Deroche N, Chibwesha CJ, Firnhaber C, Smith JS, Michelow P, et al. Cost-effectiveness of cervical cancer screening in women living with HIV in South Africa: A mathematical modeling study. *JAIDS J Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndromes.* (2018) 79:195–205. doi: 10.1097/QAI.000000000001778

46. Meyer-Rath G, van Rensburg C, Chiu C, Leuner R, Jamieson L, Cohen S. The per-patient costs of HIV services in South Africa: Systematic review and application in the South African HIV Investment Case. *PLoS One.* (2019) 14:e0210497. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0210497

47. Pillai N, Foster N, Hanifa Y, Ndlovu N, Fielding K, Churchyard G, et al. Patient costs incurred by people living with HIV/AIDS prior to ART initiation in primary healthcare facilities in Gauteng, South Africa. *PLoS One.* (2019) 14:e0210622. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0210622

48. Global Burden of Disease Collaborative Network. Global Burden of Disease Study 2019 (GBD 2019) Disability Weights. Seattle, WA, USA: Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation (IHME (2020). Available at: http://ghdx.healthdata.org/record/ ihme-data/gbd-2019-disability-weights.

49. Gavi: The Vaccine Alliance. Human papillomavirus vaccine support (2017). Available at: https://www.gavi.org/types-support/vaccine-support/human-papillomavirus.

50. Handling fees | UNICEF Supply Division. Available at: https://www.unicef.org/ supply/handling-fees.

51. Mwenda V, Jalang'o R, Miano C, Bor JP, Nyangasi M, Mecca L, et al. Impact, cost-effectiveness, and budget implications of HPV vaccination in Kenya: A modelling study. *Vaccine*. (2023) 41:4228–38. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2023.05.019

52. Neumann PJ, Ganiats TG, Russell LB, Sanders GD, Siegel JE. Cost-Effectiveness in Health and Medicine. 2nd ed. New York: Oxford University Press (2016). 536 p. doi: 10.1093/acprof:0s0/9780190492939.001.0001/acprof-9780190492939

53. Bertram MY, Lauer JA, Stenberg K, Edejer TTT. Methods for the economic evaluation of health care interventions for priority setting in the health system: An update from WHO CHOICE. *Int J Health Policy Manage*. (2021) 10(11):673–7. doi: 10.34172/ijhpm.2020.244

54. Canfell K, Kim JJ, Kulasingam S, Berkhof J, Barnabas R, Bogaards JA, et al. HPV-FRAME: A consensus statement and quality framework for modelled evaluations of HPV-related cancer control. *Papillomavirus Res.* (2019) 8:100184. doi: 10.1016/ j.pvr.2019.100184

55. Husereau D, Drummond M, Augustovski F, de Bekker-Grob E, Briggs AH, Carswell C, et al. Consolidated health economic evaluation reporting standards 2022 (CHEERS 2022) statement: Updated reporting guidance for health economic evaluations. *Value Health.* (2022) 25:3–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jval.2021.11.1351

56. World Bank Open Data. World Bank Open Data: GDP per capita 2022 (2023). Available at: https://data.worldbank.org.

57. Woods B, Revill P, Sculpher M, Claxton K. Country-level cost-effectiveness thresholds: Initial estimates and the need for further research. *Value Health*. (2016) 19:929–35. doi: 10.1016/j.jval.2016.02.017

58. Ochalek J, Lomas J, Claxton K. Cost per DALY averted thresholds for low- and middle-income countries: Evidence from cross country data. *F1000Research.* (2017) 6:488. Available at: https://doi.org/10.7490/f1000research.1113912.1

59. Iskandar R, Taghavi K, Low N, Bramer WM, Egger M, Rohner E. Mathematical models for evaluating effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of cervical cancer control policies in populations including women living with human immunodeficiency virus: A scoping review. *Value Health Regional Issues.* (2022) 32:39–46. doi: 10.1016/j.vhri.2022.07.001

60. World Health Organization. WHO guideline for screening and treatment of cervical pre-cancer lesions for cervical cancer prevention: web annex A: syntheses of evidence. *2nd ed.* Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization (2021). Available at: https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/342366.

61. Oberlin AM, Pasipamire T, Chibwesha CJ. Exploring women's preferences for HPV-based cervical cancer screening in South Africa. *Int J Gynaecol Obstet.* (2019) 146:192–9. doi: 10.1002/ijgo.12869

62. Vijayaraghavan A, Efrusy M, Lindeque G, Dreyer G, Santas C. Cost effectiveness of high-risk HPV DNA testing for cervical cancer screening in South Africa. *Gynecologic Oncol.* (2009) 112:377–83. doi: 10.1016/j.ygyno.2008.08.030

63. Li X, Stander MP, Van Kriekinge G, Demarteau N. Cost-effectiveness analysis of human papillomavirus vaccination in South Africa accounting for human immunodeficiency virus prevalence. *BMC Infect Dis.* (2015) 15:566. doi: 10.1186/ s12879-015-1295-z

64. Sefuthi T, Nkonki L. A systematic review of economic evaluations of cervical cancer screening methods. *Syst Rev.* (2022) 11:162. doi: 10.1186/s13643-022-02017-z

65. Kim JJ, Campos NG, O'Shea M, Diaz M, Mutyaba I. Model-based impact and cost-effectiveness of cervical cancer prevention in Sub-Saharan Africa. *Vaccine*. (2013) 31:F60–72. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2012.07.093

66. Zimmermann MR, Vodicka E, Babigumira JB, Okech T, Mugo N, Sakr S, et al. Cost-effectiveness of cervical cancer screening and preventative cryotherapy at an HIV

treatment clinic in Kenya. Cost Effectiveness Resource Allocation. (2017) 15:13. doi: 10.1186/s12962-017-0075-6

67. Lew JB, Simms K, Smith M, Lewis H, Neal H, Canfell K. Effectiveness modelling and economic evaluation of primary HPV screening for cervical cancer prevention in New Zealand. *PLoS One.* (2016) 11:e0151619. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0151619

68. Xie Y, Tan X, Shao H, Liu Q, Tou J, Zhang Y, et al. VIA/VILI is more suitable for cervical cancer prevention in Chinese poverty-stricken region: a health economic evaluation. *BMC Public Health.* (2017) 17:118. doi: 10.1186/s12889-017-4054-9

69. Chauhan AS, Prinja S, Srinivasan R, Rai B, Malliga JS, Jyani G, et al. Cost effectiveness of strategies for cervical cancer prevention in India. *PLoS One.* (2020) 15: e0238291. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0238291

70. Chua B, Lim LM, Ng JSY, Ma Y, Wee HL, Caro JJ. Cost-effectiveness analysis of HPV extended versus partial genotyping for cervical cancer screening in Singapore. *Cancers (Basel).* (2023) 15:1812. doi: 10.3390/cancers15061812

71. Mezei AK, Armstrong HL, Pedersen HN, Campos NG, Mitchell SM, Sekikubo M, et al. Cost-effectiveness of cervical cancer screening methods in low- and middle-income countries: A systematic review. *Int J Cancer.* (2017) 141:437–46. doi: 10.1002/ijc.30695

72. Chambuso RS, Shadrack S, Lidenge SJ, Mwakibete N, Medeiros RM. Influence of HIV/AIDS on cervical cancer: A retrospective study from Tanzania. *J Global Oncol.* (2016) 3(1):72–8. doi: 10.1200/JGO.2015.002964?role=tab

73. Asangbeh-Kerman SL, Davidović M, Taghavi K, Kachingwe J, Rammipi KM, Muzingwani L, et al. Cervical cancer prevention in countries with the highest HIV prevalence: a review of policies. *BMC Public Health*. (2022) 22:1530. doi: 10.1186/s12889-022-13827-0

74. Denny L, Prendiville W. Cancer of the cervix: Early detection and cost-effective solutions. *Int J Gynecology Obstetrics*. (2015) 131:S28-32. doi: 10.1016/j.ijgo.2015.02.009

75. Johnson LG, Armstrong A, Joyce CM, Teitelman AM, Buttenheim AM. Implementation strategies to improve cervical cancer prevention in sub-Saharan Africa: a systematic review. *Implement Sci.* (2018) 13:28. doi: 10.1186/s13012-018-0718-9

76. Goldie SJ, Gaffikin L, Goldhaber-Fiebert JD, Gordillo-Tobar A, Levin C, Mahé C, et al. Cost-effectiveness of cervical-cancer screening in five developing countries. *New Engl J Med.* (2005) 353:2158–68. doi: 10.1056/NEJMsa044278

77. Slavkovsky R, Callen E, Pecenka C, Mvundura M. Costs of human papillomavirus vaccine delivery in low- and middle-income countries: A systematic review. *Vaccine*. (2024) 42:1200–10. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2024.01.094

78. Moodley I, Tathiah N, Sartorius B. The costs of delivering human papillomavirus vaccination to Grade 4 learners in KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa. SAMJ: South Afr Med J. (2016) 106:497–501. doi: 10.7196/SAMJ.2016.v106i5.9988

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Noleb Mugisha, Uganda Cancer Institute (UCI), Uganda

REVIEWED BY Deborah Vollmer Dahlke, Texas A&M School of Public Health, United States Matthew Schlumbrecht, University of Miami Health System, United States

*CORRESPONDENCE Samiratou Ouedraogo Samioued@yahoo.fr

RECEIVED 06 February 2024 ACCEPTED 23 April 2024 PUBLISHED 10 May 2024

CITATION

Ouedraogo S, Bamogo A, Tiendrebeogo G, Kaboré S, Turcotte-Tremblay A-M, Maiga M, Kagoné ST, Lompo OM and Meda N (2024) Cervical cancer prevention in Burkina Faso: a stakeholder's collaboration for the development of awareness messaging. *Front. Oncol.* 14:1383133. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2024.1383133

COPYRIGHT

© 2024 Ouedraogo, Bamogo, Tiendrebeogo, Kaboré, Turcotte-Tremblay, Maiga, Kagoné, Lompo and Meda. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Cervical cancer prevention in Burkina Faso: a stakeholder's collaboration for the development of awareness messaging

Samiratou Ouedraogo^{1,2,3,4*}, Assanatou Bamogo^{5,6}, Georges Tiendrebeogo⁷, Simon Kaboré⁸, Anne-Marie Turcotte-Tremblay⁹, Mamoudou Maiga¹⁰, Samdapawindé Thérèse Kagoné¹¹, Olga Mélanie Lompo^{1,12} and Nicolas Meda³

¹Oliver Reginald (OR) Tambo Africa Research Chair "Research and Action Against Cancer", Faculty of Health Sciences, University Joseph KI-ZERBO, Ouagadougou, Burkina Faso, ²Observatoire National de la Santé de la Population (ONSP), Institut National de Santé Publique (INSP), Ouagadougou, Burkina Faso, ³Department of Public Health, Faculty of Health Sciences, University Joseph KI-ZERBO, Ouagadougou, Burkina Faso, ⁴Department of Global and Public Health, McGill School of Population and Global Health, McGill University, Montreal, QC, Canada, ⁵Department of Maternal and Child Health, University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, Chapel Hill, NC, United States, ⁶Johns Hopkins University, Bloomberg School of Public Health, Baltimore, MD, United States, ⁷Association d'Anthropologie Médicale et de la Santé (AMADES), Ouagadougou, Burkina Faso, ⁸Réseaux Accès aux Médicaments Essentiels, Ouagadougou, Burkina Faso, ⁹Vitam - Centre de Recherche en Santé Durable, Université Laval, Québec, QC, Canada, ¹⁰Center for Global Oncology, Northwestern University, Chicago, IL, United States, ¹¹Centre MURAZ, Institut National de Santé Publique, Bobo-Dioulasso, Burkina Faso, ¹²Laboratory of Pathological Anatomy and Cytology, Yalgado Ouedraogo University Hospital, Ouagadougou, Burkina Faso

Background: Cervical Cancer stands as the second leading cause of both incident female cancers and deaths in Burkina Faso. Unfortunately, the prevention, early detection, and care of cervical cancers are suboptimal at individual, institutional, and national levels. In October 2023, we organized a stakeholder's workshop to develop cervical cancer awareness messaging for disease control in the country.

Methods: A one-text workshop was organized with stakeholders working toward improving health in general or women's health and well-being. A participatory, learning, and adaptive approach was used to facilitate discussions and activities, ensuring the contribution of all participants. Contextual evidence-based and empirical elements about cervical cancer burden and preventive strategies were presented to the participants by key informants. These served as the foundation for a collaborative formulation of messaging content that aimed at raising awareness about cervical cancer.

Results: Sixty-two participants from 28 organizations attended the workshop. They work mainly at local and international non-governmental organizations, civil society organizations, universities, university hospitals, research centers, and the Ministry of Health. During the first and second days of the workshop, the participants explored cervical cancer data, its preventive and treatment options available in Burkina Faso, communication strategies for behavioral change, and determinants of the use of prevention and health promotion services. During the

following three days, 3 working groups were formed to define strategies, and key messages adapted to diverse tools and targeted audiences. All information was validated during plenary sessions before the end of the workshop and available to all participants and their organizations for cancer awareness activities.

Conclusion: Upon conclusion of the workshop, the participants provided insightful information for the development of cervical awareness messaging in Burkina Faso. They formed the first community of practice to serve as a dynamic platform for implementation, monitoring, evaluation, and continued learning activities.

KEYWORDS

cancer prevention, cervical cancer, cancer awareness, stakeholder engagement, Burkina Faso

1 Introduction

In 2022, it is estimated that 1,308 cases and 1,018 deaths due to CC occurred in Burkina Faso, positioning this disease as the second most prevalent cancer and an important public health challenge (1). The burden of CC in Burkina mirrors the broader context of Sub-Saharan Africa (SSA) and is influenced by many factors such as i) a higher risk of Human Papilloma Virus (HPV) infection due to poverty, risky sexual behavior, and low socioeconomic status, coupled with inadequate HPV vaccination coverage ii) an absence of effective screening programs; iii) a lack of awareness about CC prevention and early detection benefits, iv) an inequitable access to healthcare services (2-8). Yet, as part of a national policy of free healthcare for children under five and women launched in March 2016, cervical cancer screening and treatment have been decreed free for all women in Burkina Faso (9). Moreover, on April 26, 2022, the Ministry of Health and Public Hygiene introduced the HPV vaccine in the country's Expanded Program on Immunization (EPI) targeting nine-year-old girls (10, 11). These strategies align with the World Health Organization's (WHO) global strategy aimed at eliminating cervical cancer within generations. Indeed, the WHO strategy delineates specific objectives, including achieving a 90% HPV vaccination rate among girls by age 15, a 70% screening rate among women at key ages, and a 90% treatment rate for those identified with cervical disease, all by 2030 (12). Many research has already shown the importance of the WHO strategy in contributing to CC elimination (7, 13-16). But to meet these WHO targets, effective dissemination of information and promotion of preventive measures are vital. An impactful communication strategy development for consistent messaging should include collaboration among all stakeholders interested in CC elimination such as researchers, health professionals, advocacy groups, journalists, etc (9, 17-23). It encompasses: i) accessible HPV vaccination and cervical screening information for all population segments; ii) comprehensive and tailored information matching the literacy levels of the target audience; iii) client-centered communication addressing the needs of diverse sub-groups; iv) health professionals' proficiency in screening and communication.

This paper outlines the planning process and key findings of a stakeholder workshop in Burkina Faso, designed to foster effective awareness messaging for cervical cancer control. The workshop brought together healthcare professionals, government officials, community leaders, patient advocates, non-governmental and civil society organizations, cancer survivors, caregivers, and advocates. It represents a concerted effort to address the unique challenges of CC elimination in Burkina Faso and highlights collaborative approaches that could serve as a model for similar initiatives in other SSA countries.

2 Materials and methods

2.1 Study type

The work consisted of a participatory approach involving a diverse group of stakeholders who are directly or indirectly interested in/(affected by) cervical cancer. The data collected were qualitative information generated during active engagement and dialogue between participants who attended a five-day workshop.

2.2 Workshop participants

From October 2 to 6, 2023, we convened a diverse group of key stakeholders in Burkina Faso to discuss communication strategies for cervical cancer awareness. This group included healthcare professionals, government health officials, community leaders, patient advocates, representatives from non-governmental and civil society organizations specializing in women's health, as well as cancer survivors, caregivers, and advocates. Stakeholders were encouraged to extend invitations to other interested parties, broadening the workshop's reach and diversity of perspectives. The list of stakeholders invited to this workshop was prepared with the support of the Non-Governmental Organization Permanent Secretary in Burkina Faso. It included non-governmental organizations (NGOs) and civil society organizations (CSOs) that were active in communication and sensitization at the community level during the Corona Virus-19 (COVID-19) pandemic as well as those with known interest in cancer, women's health and well-being, and mental health. Governmental organization representatives were represented mainly by healthcare workers from the main university hospitals of the country (one gynecological medical doctor and two nurses, two oncologists, a pediatrician, two anatomopathologists, and three general practitioners).

We sent special invitations to researchers and clinicians with renowned work experience on cancer in Burkina Faso to present the theoretical concepts of cancer, and the focus of their work and contribute to the workshop discussions. We also invited a cervical cancer survivor identified among our close relatives to bring her experience and voice to the discussion. A detailed list of the organizations invited is presented in Table 1.

2.3 Organization and process

Invitations for the workshop were issued on August 12, 2023, to the official email address or contact person of all identified stakeholders. The email included a request to confirm the organization's interest in attending the workshop through the completion of an online registration form which included the names, roles in the organization, and contact details of their representatives. To maintain engagement and ensure a high turnout, we sent weekly reminder emails leading up to the event. The last reminder included a formal invitation letter, the reference terms of the workshop, and a tentative agenda for the meeting (Figure 1).

2.4 Workshop setting and logistics

The workshop took place physically at Joseph KI-ZERBO University's main location in Ouagadougou. We used an online platform on the afternoon of the first day to allow a representative of the International Union for Cancer Control (IUCC) to present their work.

During small group working sessions, we provided a handout (Table 2 template) to guide the discussion and collect the outputs.

2.5 Workshop moderators and main speakers

The workshop moderators were four resource persons - two females and two males - identified for their expertise in health and their work with multiple stakeholders:

- The first moderator was a senior public health consultant, trained as a medical doctor with experience in

TABLE 1 List of stakeholders invited to a workshop for the development of awareness messaging for cervical cancer prevention in Burkina Faso.

Category	Organization
	Ministry of health and Public Hygiene
	National Public health Institute
	Yalgado Ouedraogo University Hospital in Ouagadougou
Governmental organizations	Charles De-Gaulle Pediatric University Hospital in Ouagadougou
	Sourô Sanou University Hospital in Bobo
	Bogodogo University Hospital in Ouagadougou
	Joseph KI-ZERBO University in Ouagadougou
Academic	Saint Thomas d'Aquin University in Ouagadougou
	Language and design Communication Agency
Private sectors	Mousso News
	Webactubf.info
	KIMI Foundation
Local non- governmental organizations	Pananetugri Initiative for the Well-being of Women
0	Organization for New Initiatives in Development and Health
	Access to Essential Medicines Network
	Association Noug Yen Ka Woukd Zoom
	African Youth Health and Development Network in Burkina Faso
	Action group against cancer
Civil society organizations	Women in Global Health Francophone West Africa
	Brigade rose
	The Support Network for Health Mutuals in Burkina Faso
	Union of Religious and Traditional Leaders of Burkina for Health and Development
	U.S. Agency for International Development
	Union for International Cancer Control
International non- governmental organizations	Médecins du Monde
	Jhpiego
	Marie Stopes International
Cancer patients	Two cancer patients, two survivors
Experts (Moderators)	4 experts in public health and social behavior change

communication for behavior change. He has worked for diverse national and international institutions and organizations in many countries for decades;



- The second moderator was a researcher and lecturer with a master's and Ph.D. in public health focus on cancer issues and almost 15 years of work experience;
- The third moderator was a researcher and lecturer in sociology and anthropology, with expertise in research ethics and stakeholder collaborations;
- The fourth moderator was a senior consultant with extensive experience in communication for behavior change who provides facilitation services to local and international organizations.

We also invited guest speakers to present general cancer information and discuss their work related to the disease:

- An epidemiologist who presented CC statistics (in the world, in Africa, and Burkina Faso), risk factors, and the strategy for its elimination;
- A gynecologist and specialist in female cancer who provided information on the most frequent female cancers and available treatment options in Burkina Faso;
- A representative of the Ministry of Health and Public Hygiene from Burkina Faso presented the national HPV immunization strategy;

- Representatives from, the Coalition Against Cancer in Burkina Faso, the KIMI Foundation, Médecins du Monde France, and the IUCC presented their organization's cancer control strategies;
- A researcher who presented the preliminary result of a research on the general population and health professional Knowledge, attitude, and practice about cervical cancer prevention;
- A communication expert who presented on communication strategies for behavioral change;
- A public health expert who presented on the determinants of the use of prevention and health promotion services.

2.6 Workshop structuration

The workshop was structured into three main sessions. The initial session provided an overview of the epidemiology of cervical cancer in Burkina Faso, including current control strategies.

- The subsequent session was multi-faceted, encompassing:
- Presentations on the barriers and facilitators influencing the adoption of best practices for cervical cancer prevention;

- Discussions on the contextual evidence underlying the development of intervention strategies, content, communication messages, and educational materials;
- A storytelling session where breast, cervical, and ovarian cancer patients and survivors along with their relatives, shared personal experiences related to their journey and battles with the disease.

The latter part of the workshop consisted of four alternating working group sessions, each culminating in a plenary session. The working group sessions focused on the multifaced steps that should be considered for raising awareness for cervical cancer prevention in Burkina Faso and include:

- Common behaviors and practices that increase cervical cancer risk among the general population in Burkina Faso;
- Ideal practices for cervical cancer prevention in Burkina Faso, tailored to the local context;
- Known barriers and motivators affecting the adoption of desired practices;
- Influential groups for primary and secondary audiences for awareness campaigns;
- Strategies, approaches, and methodologies for awareness and behavior change;
- Effective communication channels, materials, and tools;
- Key messaging content to raise awareness and promote cervical cancer prevention.

2.7 Data collection and validation

Each working group was led by a moderator and a note-taker. Each group session lasted a minimum of 3 hours and was followed by a plenary session the same or the following day.

The plenary sessions aimed at sharing, discussing, synthesizing, and validating the information presented by the working groups. This strategy aimed at fostering a cohesive and comprehensive understanding among participants and the validation of the content by all.

2.8 Ethical considerations

The cancer survivors and their relatives provided their verbal consent to share their stories and experiences and to be audiorecorded for a faithful transcription of the storytelling session. To ensure their confidentiality, no picture was captured.

2.9 Feedback mechanisms

At the end of the workshop, all participants were asked to provide verbal and open written feedback regarding the workshop.

2.10 Follow-up actions

The workshop ended with all participants agreeing to be part of a virtual Community of Practice for Cancer Control in Burkina Faso.

3 Results

3.1 Participation in the workshop

Sixty-two participants from 28 organizations (Table 1) working toward improving health in general or women's health and wellbeing attended the workshop. They were from diverse backgrounds and levels of implication in cancer control and health improvement at local, national, and international levels.

3.2 Summary of the discussions of a stakeholder's workshop for the development of awareness messaging for cervical cancer prevention in Burkina Faso

The five-day discussion resulted in a consensus strategy in line with multifaced steps that should be considered for raising awareness for cervical cancer elimination in Burkina Faso and reflects the global strategy. A summary of the discussion is presented in Figure 2.

4 Discussion

Unlike resource-rich settings where CC elimination strategies are well-established with access to vaccines, regular screening, and treatment for patients, the nascent CC elimination program in Burkina Faso is defined with limited infrastructure and resources, necessitating innovative, context-specific approaches. This workshop aimed to develop a consensus strategy to enhance public awareness of CC, leveraging a participatory approach. By gathering a diverse group of stakeholders, the event fostered a collaborative environment conducive to generating innovative, context-specific solutions for CC awareness and prevention (24).

Through the five-day discussions, we gained comprehensive insights and developed practical, stakeholder-driven solutions for cervical cancer awareness. These solutions are innovative and creative, adapted to the local context, and represent a significant step in advancing communication for cervical cancer elimination in Burkina Faso.

4.1 Addressing communication challenges with innovative solutions

The workshop highlighted several communication issues: 1) the lack of continuous mass media communication about cervical cancer prevention options available in Burkina Faso and their

	HPV Vaccination	E Cervical cancer Screening	Cervical cancer treatment
Common behaviors and practices that increase cervical cancer risk in Burkina Faso	 Vaccine hesitancy and acceptability Low health literacy Misinformation 	 Lack of sexual health education Early engagement with sexual activity increase the risk Limited access to cancer screening services, Cultural practices and beliefs that contribute to reluctance to participate in screening programs 	 Low health literacy Cultural practices and beliefs that contribute to delays in seeking medical care Fatalistic attitude towards illness Fear, stigma, or lack of awareness,
Ideal practices for cervical cancer prevention in Burkina Faso, tailored to the local context	95 % vaccine coverage in girls aged 9 years old	70% screening rate among women at key ages	90% treatment rate for women identified with cervical disease
Known barriers aaffecting the adoption of desired practices	 Limited accessibility (financial and physical) in informal settlements, remote areas and those with security issues, 	 Limited availability and accessessibilty (financial and physical) in rural areas and those with security issues, informal settlements, 	 Limited availability and accessessibility (financial and physical) in rural areas and those with security issues, informal settlements,
Influential groups, Primary and secondary audiences for awareness campaigns	 Parents, caregivers, family in law Community leaders Religious leaders Healthcare professionals Teachers and school administrators Women's groups and youth leaders Local media and influencers 		 Policy makers and government Officials and technicians Healthcare workers, Traditional healers National and local health autoritie Health advocacy groups Local media and influencers NGOs, CSOs
Strategies, approaches, and methodologies for awareness and behavior change	 Community-basad education and engagement School-based programs HPV vaccination campaigns Social marketing 	 Community-based education and engagement Integrating cervical cancer information in reproductive and sexual health clinics Targeted messaging Social marketing Training healthcare providers, CSOs 	 Policy advocacy Training healthcare providers Community health programs Support groups Integrative strategy with other disease elimination programs (HIN malaria, Tuberculosis)
Effective communication channels, materials, and tools	 Radio and television broadcasts Websites, social media, and online forums Infographics, flip charts, flyers Posters in public transports and street city's advertising billboards Forum theater Educational booklets Training programs 	 Radio and television broadcasts Websites, social media, and online forums Infographics, flip charts, flyers Posters in public transports and street city's advertising billboards Forum theater Educational booklets Training programs 	 Patient information leaflets Websites, social media, and onlir forums Community health talks Interactive workshops with caregivers and patients Healthcare provider training Deliberative workshop with polic makers
Key messaging contents to raise awareness and promote cervical cancer prevention	 HPV and its link to cancer HPV vaccine effectiveness HPV safety profile Target age group HPV vaccine accessibility Addressing and correcting common misconceptions healthcare professionals and trusted community leaders to endorse the vaccine 	 Importance of early detection Screening process description Eligibility and frequency Accessibility of screening services Recognizing and addressing common barriers to screening (fear, stigma, or lack of awareness, etc.) Offering information on support services for women undergoing screening 	 Cervical cancer burden Treatment options and effectiveness Availability, affordability Treatment benefits, survivor stories, addressing myths and fears Navigating the healthcare syster Encouraging community support and the role of family in the treatment journey

accessibility; 2) the lack of communication between caregivers (clinicians, oncologists, radiologists, nurses, psychologists, etc.) for optimal patient care; 3) the fact that communication with patients is not adapted to their needs and cultural habits and 4) the challenges related to communication on social networks, particularly in terms of authenticity and fact-checking. To address these challenges, an effective and low-cost strategy discussed during the workshop consists of inclusive and integrative communication and healthcare programs for cancer prevention. These programs

should be designed to be innovative and practical, ensuring they can be easily integrated into everyday healthcare practices (25). Lessons learned from other disease areas, such as HIV/AIDS, can provide effective inspiration, working models to build capacity, and communication strategy to improve access, increase efficiency, and ultimately contribute to better health outcomes in vulnerable populations. The following practical approaches that can be easily integrated into everyday healthcare practices, drawing inspiration from successful HIV/AIDS strategies, were recommended:
- Comprehensive education campaigns that address both men and women across different life stages. It should leverage lessons from HIV/AIDS education by emphasizing the importance of regular screenings, and HPV vaccination and use testimonials from survivors and patients to personalize the message and increase its impact. These communications should emphasize the importance of CC early detection which improves cancer outcomes by enabling care at the earliest possible stage and potentially better outcomes for patients (26, 27).
- Active engagement of male partners in CC prevention programs similar to HIV/AIDS strategies, educating them on the importance of supporting their partners in getting screened and vaccinated, and on their role in preventing HPV transmission. Encourage men to get their daughters vaccinated against HPV and like strategies used in HIV prevention, encouraging them in condom use and regular testing.
- Integration of CC screening and HPV vaccinations into routine health services, such as family planning, prenatal visits, and HIV testing and counseling sessions to mirror the HIV model where testing is often integrated into other health services to reduce stigma and increase accessibility. Use mobile clinics and outreach to offer CC screening and HPV vaccinations in remote or underserved areas, drawing from the HIV/AIDS strategy of reaching out to populations with limited access to healthcare facilities.

A systematic review has shown that integration of cervical cancer screening and treatment with HIV services using different models of service delivery is feasible as well as acceptable to women living with HIV (28). An innovative project for health promotion by primary healthcare professionals was tested in primary healthcare centers of the Basque Healthcare Service. It focuses on promoting multiple healthy habits and demonstrates the feasibility of implementing health promotion programs in routine primary health care (29). In a scarce resource setting like Burkina Faso, inclusive and integrative healthcare programs may not generate extra costs for the health sector (30). However, it requires investment in nationally led and evidence-based capacity-building activities in participatory approaches to cancer policies for civil society organizations like cancer patients' organizations (31, 32).

During the workshop, the participants agreed on community awareness strategies tailored to the country's socio-cultural context using relevant and accessible content, age-appropriate language, and mediums such as:

- Mass communication primarily aims to reach a broad audience: social networks, billboards, theaters, fairs, flyers, posters, informational booklets, advice cards, models, pamphlets, interactive radio talks, television series, and films.
- Interpersonal communication that involves establishing a direct relationship between a health professional and a patient, or between two patients. This allows for providing emotional support, giving advice, explaining different treatments, and answering patient questions. The

communication tools also include brochures, fact sheets, documents, flipcharts, roll-up banners, etc.

- Digital communication is very widespread and can reach a wide audience but it can also be personalized to meet individual needs. The communication tools for this strategy include social networks, websites, mobile apps, chatbots, etc.
- A community-based approach that requires community involvement in CC elimination activities. This can involve raising awareness, disseminating information among community members, recommending health centers or specialists, etc. The communication tools for this strategy include theater and sketches, community radio talks, brochures, and posters.

4.2 Meaningful engagement with patients

Meaningful engagement with cancer patients and their relatives was highlighted during the workshop to help them understand their disease, and treatment options through the different phases of their treatment for improved quality of life. This was reported to be important for the patients' medical outcomes and also the overall well-being of their support systems (32). Indeed, the meaningful engagement of patients, survivors, caregivers, or families forms a vital part of the lived experience of those affected by cancer. It is essential to meet the information needs of cancer patients and their caregivers. It can reduce caregiver burden, improve physical and mental health, and promote intimacy. According to Samson et al. (2022) (30), cancer patients' organizations should be recognized and considered as a critical voice in national cancer policies in LMICs as part of the right to health but also as a prerequisite to quality cancer policies.

4.3 Next steps

Follow-up meetings are planned to validate and monitor the dissemination of developed messages. The workshop aligns with WHO's strategy for CC elimination and emphasizes the critical role of localized health initiatives.

It was also suggested to create a network of health professionals to facilitate communication among them, with the community and the patients. This can be facilitated with the following approaches:

- Digital tools that could be developed to allow more efficient collaboration: data-sharing platforms, and online discussion spaces, among others, would be of great benefit.
- Continuous public awareness campaigns on local radio, television, and social networks around the HPV vaccine, CC screening, and the importance of fact-checking could be carried out to combat the spread of fake news.
- Development and implementation of training programs for health professionals, teaching them to tailor their communication to the needs and cultural sensibility of their patients.

5 Conclusion

This stakeholder's workshop aligns with WHO's strategy for CC elimination (12) and emphasis on community-level interventions. It contributes to the global efforts in combating cervical cancer, emphasizing the critical role of localized health initiatives. Participants in the workshop came from various backgrounds and had varying levels of understanding about cervical cancer elimination strategy and different perspectives and opinions. This led to multiple challenges during the discussions. However, the group sessions provided each participant with an equal opportunity to voice their opinions. The four skilled moderators also played an important role in guiding the group discussions and finding common ground among differing viewpoints. Despite potential participant selection biases, the collaborative approach provided comprehensive insights for CC awareness strategies in Burkina Faso, offering valuable guidance for national health authorities. It represents a significant step towards CC elimination in Burkina Faso. The next steps should be the development and dissemination of the messages initiated during the workshop involving all stakeholders, an assessment of their impact over time, and an evaluation of their effectiveness for CC control. The collaborative efforts initiated during the workshop must be sustained and expanded upon to make significant strides in the strategy for CC elimination in the region.

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Author contributions

SO: Writing - review & editing, Writing - original draft, Visualization, Validation, Supervision, Resources, Project administration, Methodology, Investigation, Funding acquisition, Formal Analysis, Data curation, Conceptualization. AB: Writing review & editing, Writing - original draft, Visualization, Validation, Investigation. GT: Writing - review & editing, Writing - original draft, Visualization, Validation, Resources, Methodology, Investigation, Data curation, Conceptualization. SK: Writing review & editing, Writing - original draft, Visualization, Validation, Supervision, Project administration, Methodology, Formal Analysis, Conceptualization. AT-T: Writing - review & editing, Visualization, Validation, Methodology, Investigation. MM: Writing - review & editing, Visualization, Validation, Methodology, Investigation. SK: Writing - review & editing, Visualization, Supervision, Project administration, Investigation. BS: Writing - review & editing, Visualization, Validation, Supervision, Resources, Project administration, Methodology, Investigation, Funding acquisition, Conceptualization. MD: Writing - review & editing, Validation, Resources, Project administration, Methodology, Investigation, Funding acquisition, Data curation. OL: Writing - review & editing, Visualization, Validation, Supervision, Resources, Project administration, Methodology, Investigation, Funding acquisition, Conceptualization. NM: Writing – original draft, Visualization, Validation, Supervision, Resources, Project administration, Methodology, Investigation, Funding acquisition, Formal Analysis, Data curation, Conceptualization. JS: Writing – review & editing, Writing – original draft, Visualization, Validation, Supervision, Software, Resources, Project administration, Methodology, Formal Analysis, Data curation, Conceptualization.

Funding

The author(s) declare financial support was received for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article. The research was conducted by the Oliver Reginald (OR) Tambo research Chair named ReAAC (Research and Action Against Cancer. ReAAC is one of the ten research chair funded as part of the O.R. Tambo Africa Research Chairs Initiative (ORTARChI). This initiative is supported by the National research Fondation (NRF) and South Africa's Department of Science and Innovation (DSI) with core partners, the Oliver and Adelaide Tambo Foundation, Canada's International Development Research Centre (IDRC) and each country Science Granting Council (The Fonds National de la Recherche et de l'Innovation pour le Développement (FONRID) in Burkina Faso). AMTT is supported by the Fonds de recherche du Québec - Santé (Research scholars program).

Acknowledgments

We thank all participants for their contribution to the workshop discussions.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fonc.2024.1383133/ full#supplementary-material 1. The Catalan Institute of Oncology / International Agency for Research on Cancer Information Centre on Human Papilloma Virus and Cancer. Burkina faso: human papillomavirus and related cancers, fact sheet 2023. Burkina Faso: The Catalan Institute of Oncology / International Agency for Research on Cancer Information Centre on Human Papilloma Virus and Cancer (2023).

2. Yimer NB, Mohammed MA, Solomon K, Tadese M, Grutzmacher S, Meikena HK, et al. Cervical cancer screening uptake in Sub-Saharan Africa: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Public Health*. (2021) 195:105–11. doi: 10.1016/j.puhe.2021.04.014

3. Diendéré J, Kiemtoré S, Coulibaly A, Tougri G, Ily NI, Kouanda S. Low attendance in cervical cancer screening, geographical disparities and sociodemographic determinants of screening uptake among adult women in Burkina Faso: results from the first nationwide population-based survey. *Rev d'Épidémiologie Santé Publique*. (2023) 71:101845. doi: 10.1016/j.respe.2023.101845

4. Sawadogo B, Gitta SN, Rutebemberwa E, Sawadogo M, Meda N. Knowledge and beliefs on cervical cancer and practices on cervical cancer screening among women aged 20 to 50 years in Ouagadougou, Burkina Faso, 2012: a cross-sectional study. *Pan Afr Med J.* (2014) 18:175. doi: 10.11604/pamj.2014.18.175.3866

5. United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS. HPV, HIV and cervical cancer: leveraging synergies to save women's lives (2016). Available online at: https://www.unaids.org/sites/default/files/media_asset/JC2851_HPV-HIV-cervicalcancer_en.pdf (Accessed December 6, 2023).

6. Sommer I, Griebler U, Mahlknecht P, Thaler K, Bouskill K, Gartlehner G, et al. Socioeconomic inequalities in non-communicable diseases and their risk factors: an overview of systematic reviews. *BMC Public Health*. (2015) 15:914. doi: 10.1186/ s12889-015-2227-y

7. Simms KT, Steinberg J, Caruana M, Smith MA, Lew JB, Soerjomataram I, et al. Impact of scaled up human papillomavirus vaccination and cervical screening and the potential for global elimination of cervical cancer in 181 countries, 2020-99: a modelling study. *Lancet Oncol.* (2019) 20:394–407. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(18)30836-2

8. Aninye IO, Berry-Lawhorn JM, Blumenthal P, Felder T, Jay N, Merrill J, et al. Gaps and opportunities to improve prevention of human papillomavirus-related cancers. J Womens Health (Larchmt). (2021) 30:1667–72. doi: 10.1089/jwh.2021.0507

 Ridde V, Yaméogo P. How Burkina Faso used evidence in deciding to launch its policy of free healthcare for children under five and women in 2016. *Palgrave Commun.* (2018) 4:1–9. doi: 10.1057/s41599-018-0173-x

10. Gavi, the Vaccine Alliance. Le Burkina Faso engagé pour vaincre le cancer du col de l'utérus (2022). Available online at: https://www.gavi.org/fr/vaccineswork/burkina-faso-engage-vaincre-cancer-col-uterus (Accessed December 6, 2023).

11. OMS | Bureau régional pour l'Afrique. Le Burkina Faso introduit le vaccin contre le HPV (papillomavirus Humain) responsable du cancer du col de l'utérus (2022). Available online at: https://www.afro.who.int/fr/countries/burkina-faso/news/le-burkina-faso-introduit-le-vaccin-contre-le-hpv-papillomavirus-humain-responsable-du-cancer-du-col (Accessed December 6, 2023).

12. World Health Organization. Global strategy to accelerate the elimination of cervical cancer as a public health problem (2020). Available online at: https://www.who. int/publications-detail-redirect/9789240014107 (Accessed November 8, 2023).

13. Zhang J, Zhao Y, Dai Y, Dang L, Ma L, Yang C, et al. Effectiveness of high-risk human papillomavirus testing for cervical cancer screening in China: A multicenter, open-label, randomized clinical trial. *JAMA Oncol.* (2021) 7:263–70. doi: 10.1001/jamaoncol.2020.6575

14. Shin MB, Liu G, Mugo N, Garcia PJ, Rao DW, Bayer CJ, et al. A framework for cervical cancer elimination in low-and-middle-income countries: A scoping review and roadmap for interventions and research priorities. *Front Public Health.* (2021) 9:670032. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2021.670032

15. CA: A Cancer Journal for Clinicians - Wiley Online Library. Screening for cervical cancer (2020). Available online at: https://acsjournals.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.3322/caac.21629 (Accessed December 6, 2023).

16. Elwy AR, Maguire EM, Kim B, West GS. Involving stakeholders as communication partners in research dissemination efforts. *J Gen Intern Med.* (2022) 37:123–7. doi: 10.1007/s11606-021-07127-3

17. WHO | Regional Office for Africa. Stakeholders prioritize cancer awareness and sensitization in Borno state (2022). Available online at: https://www.afro.who.int/countries/nigeria/news/stakeholders-prioritize-cancer-awareness-and-sensitization-borno-state (Accessed November 7, 2023).

18. Mwenda V, Bor JP, Nyangasi M, Temmerman M. Mobilizing stakeholders to drive the cervical cancer elimination agenda in Kenya: The national cervical cancer stakeholders' forum 2022. *Dialogues Health*. (2022) 1:100066. doi: 10.1016/j.dialog.2022.100066

19. Perkins RB, Fuzzell LN, Lake P, McIntyre M, Nayar R, Saraiya M, et al. Incorporating stakeholder feedback in guidelines development for the management of abnormal cervical cancer screening tests. *J Lower Genital Tract Disease*. (2020) 24:167. doi: 10.1097/LGT.00000000000524

20. Stakeholders Meeting on Palliative Care and Treatment of Cervical Cancer – Global Reproductive Health at Duke (2019). Available online at: https://dukecenterforglobalreproductivehealth.org/2019/06/23/stakeholders-meeting-on-palliative-care-and-treatment-of-cervical-cancer/#:~:text=The%20next%20meeting% 20will%20aim,Blog1community%20health%2C%20empowerment%2C% 20Reproductive%20Health (Accessed November 30, 2023).

21. Giordano L, Webster P, Anthony C, Szarewski A, Davies P, Arbyn M, et al. Improving the quality of communication in organised cervical cancer screening programmes. *Patient Educ Couns.* (2008) 72:130–6. doi: 10.1016/j.pec.2008.02.010

22. Schiavo R. What is true community engagement and why it matters (now more than ever). J Communication Healthcare. (2021) 14:91-2. doi: 10.1080/17538068.2021.1935569

23. White HL, Meglioli A, Chowdhury R, Nuccio O. Integrating cervical cancer screening and preventive treatment with family planning and HIV-related services. *Int J Gynecology Obstetrics*. (2017) 138:41–6. doi: 10.1002/ijgo.12194

24. Boaz A, Hanney S, Robert Borst R, Alison O'Shea A, Kok M. How to engage stakeholders in research: design principles to support improvement. *Health Res Policy Sys.* (2018) 16:60. doi: 10.1186/s12961-018-0337-6

25. Sigfrid L, Murphy G, Haldane V, Chuah FLH, Ong SE, Cervero-Liceras F, et al. Integrating cervical cancer with HIV healthcare services: A systematic review. *PloS One.* (2017) 12:e0181156. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0181156

26. Martinez C, Bacigalupe G, Cortada JM, Grandes G, Sanchez A, Pombo H, et al. The implementation of health promotion in primary and community care: a qualitative analysis of the 'Prescribe Vida Saludable' strategy. *BMC Family Practice*. (2017) 18:23. doi: 10.1186/s12875-017-0584-6

27. del Carmen OJM, Emilia GRD, Mares BH, Marcela OJ. Educational interventions on breast cancer in men and women: a necessity in primary healthcare. *Ecancermedicalscience*. (2021) 15:1255. doi: 10.3332/ecancer.2021.1255

28. Samson M, Garcia-Lorenzo MF, El Jabari C. Driving equitable access to cancer services through the engagement of people living with cancer: regional perspectives. *JCO Global Oncol.* (2022) 8):e2200200. doi: 10.1200/GO.22.00200

29. Souliotis K, Peppou LE, Agapidaki E, Tzavara C. Health democracy index: development and validation of a self-reported instrument for measuring patient participation in health policy. *Front Public Health.* (2018) 6:194. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2018.00194

30. Croager EJ, Gray V, Pratt IS, Slevin T, Pettigrew S, Holman CD, et al. Find cancer early: evaluation of a community education campaign to increase awareness of cancer signs and symptoms in people in regional western Australians. *Front Public Health.* (2018) 6:22. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2018.00022

31. Plackett R, Kaushal A, Kassianos AP, Cross A, Lewins D, Sheringham J, et al. Use of social media to promote cancer screening and early diagnosis: scoping review. *J Med Internet Res.* (2020) 22:e21582. doi: 10.2196/21582

32. Pozzar RA, Xiong N, Hong F, Wright AA, Goff BA, Underhill-Blazey ML, et al. Perceived patient-centered communication, quality of life, and symptom burden in individuals with ovarian cancer. *Gynecologic Oncol.* (2021) 163:408–18. doi: 10.1016/j.ygyno.2021.08.007

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Manoj Menon, Fred Hutchinson Cancer Center, United States

REVIEWED BY Hiren Koshiya, Desert Valley Hospital, United States Edwin K. Wiredu, University of Ghana, Ghana

*CORRESPONDENCE Valerian Mwenda Valmwenda@gmail.com

RECEIVED 24 January 2024 ACCEPTED 18 June 2024 PUBLISHED 02 July 2024

CITATION

Mwenda V, Murage D, Kilonzo C, Bor J-P, Njiri P, Osiro L, Nyangasi M, Arbyn M, Tummers P and Temmerman M (2024) Baseline assessment of cervical cancer screening and treatment capacity in 25 counties in Kenya, 2022. *Front. Oncol.* 14:1371529. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2024.1371529

COPYRIGHT

© 2024 Mwenda, Murage, Kilonzo, Bor, Njiri, Osiro, Nyangasi, Arbyn, Tummers and Temmerman. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Baseline assessment of cervical cancer screening and treatment capacity in 25 counties in Kenya, 2022

Valerian Mwenda^{1*}, David Murage^{1,2}, Catherine Kilonzo², Joan-Paula Bor¹, Patricia Njiri³, Lance Osiro³, Mary Nyangasi¹, Marc Arbyn^{4,5}, Philippe Tummers^{5,6,7} and Marleen Temmerman^{7,8}

¹National Cancer Control Program, Ministry of Health, Nairobi, Kenya, ²Field Epidemiology and Laboratory Program, Ministry of Health, Nairobi, Kenya, ³Noncommunicable Disease Program, Clinton Health Access Initiative, Nairobi, Kenya, ⁴Unit of Cancer Epidemiology, Belgian Cancer Centre, Sciensano, Brussels, Belgium, ⁵Department of Human Structure and Repair, Ghent University Hospital, Ghent, Belgium, ⁶Cancer Research Institute Ghent (CRIG), Ghent, Belgium, ⁷Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, Ghent University Hospital, Ghent, Belgium, ⁸Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, Aga Khan University, Nairobi, Kenya

Background: Cervical cancer is the leading cause of cancer deaths among women in Kenya. In the context of the Global strategy to accelerate the elimination of cervical cancer as a public health problem, Kenya is currently implementing screening and treatment scale-up. For effectively tracking the scale-up, a baseline assessment of cervical cancer screening and treatment service availability and readiness was conducted in 25 priority counties. We describe the findings of this assessment in the context of elimination efforts in Kenya.

Methods: The survey was conducted from February 2021 to January 2022. All public hospitals in the target counties were included. We utilized healthcare workers trained in preparation for the scale-up as data collectors in each subcounty. Two electronic survey questionnaires (screening and treatment; and laboratory components) were used for data collection. All the health system building blocks were assessed. We used descriptive statistics to summarize the main service readiness indicators.

Results: Of 3,150 hospitals surveyed, 47.6% (1,499) offered cervical cancer screening only, while 5.3% (166) offered both screening and treatment for precancer lesions. Visual inspection with acetic acid (VIA) was used in 96.0% (1,599/1,665) of the hospitals as primary screening modality and HPV testing was available in 31 (1.0%) hospitals. Among the 166 hospitals offering treatment for precancerous lesions, 79.5% (132/166) used cryotherapy, 18.7% (31/166) performed thermal ablation and 25.3% (42/166) performed large loop excision of the transformation zone (LLETZ). Pathology services were offered in only 7.1% (17/238) of the hospitals expected to have the service (level 4 and above). Only 10.8% (2,955/27,363) of healthcare workers were trained in cervical cancer screening and treatment; of these, 71.0% (2,097/2,955) were offering the services. Less than half of the hospitals had cervical cancer screening and treatment commodities at time of survey. The main health system strength

was presence of multiple screening points at hospitals, but frequent commodity stock-outs was a key weakness.

Conclusion: Training, commodities, and diagnostic services are major gaps in the cervical cancer program in Kenya. To meet the 2030 elimination targets, the national and county governments should ensure adequate financing, training, and service integration, especially at primary care level.

KEYWORDS

cervical cancer, screening, Kenya, baseline assessment, service readiness

Introduction

Cervical cancer is the second leading cause of cancer incidence and the leading cause of cancer deaths among women in Sub-Saharan Africa (SSA). In 2020, an estimated 117,316 cases of cervical cancer were diagnosed in Africa, and more than 76,000 women died from the disease in the continent, representing 22% of global deaths from cervical cancer (1). Majority of cervical cancer deaths occur among socio-economically disadvantaged women, especially those with poor access to quality health services (2, 3). While cervical cancer deaths continue falling in countries with organized screening programs and high human papillomavirus (HPV) vaccination coverage, the burden in SSA is increasing (4). In Kenya, cervical cancer is the leading cause of cancer deaths, with approximately 3,200 deaths reported in 2020 (1).

Cervical cancer has very effective modalities for screening, early diagnosis and treatment (5). To reduce the global burden of disease from cervical cancer, the World Health Organization (WHO) launched the Global strategy to accelerate the elimination of cervical cancer as a public health problem in 2020 (6). This strategy identifies key interventions and targets for countries globally by 2030: vaccination against HPV, screening with a high precision test and linkage to treatment. However, innovative strategies and collaborations are necessary to address low HPV vaccination coverage, low screening uptake and high loss to followup from screening programs, if low and middle-income countries are to move towards cervical cancer elimination (7). Health system strengthening and effective organization of cervical cancer screening programs have been identified as critical ingredients for success (8). Unfortunately, majority of SSA countries have not implemented and/or sustained high quality cervical cancer screening programs, due to health system deficiencies as well as socio-cultural influences (3, 9-11).

Cervical cancer screening coverage in Kenya was estimated at 16% in 2015 (12). One possible explanation for this low coverage is service availability; only a quarter of hospitals were offering cervical cancer screening services in 2018 (13). In order to move towards cervical cancer elimination, Kenya is implementing a national

cervical cancer screening and treatment scale-up, targeting 25 priority counties since 2021. The scale-up involves healthcare workers training, supply of screening and treatment commodities and equipment as well as setting-up governance and coordination structures for the national cervical cancer program. Before the scale-up was launched, a baseline assessment of the cervical cancer screening and treatment service readiness was conducted in the 25 focus counties. The main objective of the baseline assessment was to provide an objective situational analysis of the national cervical cancer program, inform the planning of the scale-up and provide a basis for evaluating future successes of the targeted health system interventions. We present the findings from this assessment and its implications for cervical cancer elimination efforts in Kenya.

Methods

Study design and population

This was a cross-sectional survey, conducted in 25 of the 47 counties in Kenya, which were earmarked for the first phase of the national scale-up of cervical cancer screening and treatment. The counties were selected on the basis of HIV burden, regional representation, and sites where a previous pilot on cervical cancer screening scale-up had been carried out. The assessment was carried out over 12 months, from February 2021 to January 2022. The study population was hospitals, from level two (dispensaries) to level six (national referral hospitals) in the target counties. Screening using visual inspection with acetic acid (VIA), HPV sample collection, cryotherapy and thermal ablation are the modalities expected at level two and three hospitals; additional services like large loop excision of the transformation zone (LLETZ), HPV and cytology sample processing, biopsy and histology are expected from level four and above. All eligible hospitals in the selected counties were assessed. Two critical areas for cervical cancer screening programs were assessed in the hospitals: the screening service points and the laboratory. The specific areas assessed are shown in Table 1.

TABLE 1 Domains assessed at the hospitals during the study.

Domain	Items assessed
Hospital demographics	Name
	Sub-county
	County
	Level as per the Kenya Essential Package for Health (KEPH): level two (dispensary), three (health centre), four (sub-county hospital), five (county referral hospital) and six (national referral hospitals)
	Ownership: public, private, faith-based
	Catchment population
Service availability	Screening using visual inspection with acetic acid (VIA)
	Screening using human papillomavirus (HPV): sample collection
	Screening using HPV testing: sample processing
	Screening using cytology: sample collection
	Screening using cytology: sample processing
	Treatment: cryotherapy, thermal ablation, large loop excision of the transformation zone (LLETZ)
	Biopsy, endocervical curettage, colposcopy, histopathology Health products and supplies: acetic acid, cryotherapy gas, HPV, and pap smear kits
Service provision sites	Maternal and child health clinic
	Comprehensive care centres for HIV
	Outpatient department
	Gynaecologic clinic
	Theatre clinic
	Laboratory
Human resources for health	Number of healthcare workers per cadre, trained and/or deployed at cervical cancer screening and treatment service points
Minimum equipment for cervical	White light source
cancer screening and treatment and commodities	Examination room
	Examination couch
	HPV, cytology kits
	Acetic acid
	Applicator sticks
Infection prevention	Waste disposal bins
Awareness and advocacy	Methods used and frequency

TABLE 1 Continued

Domain	Items assessed		
Health information system	Electronic medical records systems (EMR), screening registers		
Laboratory	Availability of a GeneXpert machine		
	Sample referral mechanisms		
	Backlogs		
	Commodity stock outs		

Survey procedures

Two healthcare workers from each sub-county, who had already been identified and trained as peer trainers for cervical cancer screening and treatment, were utilized as data collectors for the survey. The trainers/data collectors had been selected from a pool of nurses/clinical officers/medical officers stationed at cervical cancer screening service provision points in their respective hospitals. A module on the survey tools and procedures was part of their training of trainers (TOT); it included administration of the questions, maneuvering through the electronic tools and data transmission procedures. This approach was deemed to be both efficient and provided an opportunity for the trainers to undertake hospitals mapping before they commenced their cascaded trainings. Each pair was then required to visit and administer the survey tools to hospitals managers, screening, and laboratory staff in all hospitals in their sub-county.

Data collection and analysis

Data collection approaches included both interviewing key informants in various departments at the hospitals, as well as direct observation of hospitals/processes of interest. Data collection was conducted using two questionnaires: one for cervical cancer screening and treatment services and one for laboratory services. The questionnaires were created electronically using the SurveyCTO[®] application and loaded into android tablets. Data was transmitted instantaneously to a central database, domiciled at the National Cancer Control Program (NCCP), for processing. Data cleaning and analysis were conducted using Epi-Info software (US CDC, Atlanta, GA). Descriptive statistics were calculated, in terms of the availability and readiness of various components of the cervical cancer screening and treatment program, across various strata including hospitals type and KEPH level.

Findings

A total of 3,150 hospitals in 25 counties were assessed; majority 3,021 (95.9%) were public hospitals. Majority of the hospitals (3,122 [99.1%]) were primary health care hospitals (level 2-4). Cervical cancer screening was available in 1,665 hospitals (52.6%); however, only 166 (5.3%) were offering both screening and treatment for cervical cancer. The bulk of the health workforce available in the surveyed hospitals was made up of nurses (63.6% [18,639/29,326]). Awareness creation on cervical cancer screening services available was reported by 67.6% of the hospitals; (2,128/3,150); use of community health workers (86.2% [1,835/2,128]) and community outreaches (48.6% [1,035/2,128]) were the most popular methods for awareness creation (some facilities were using multiple approaches). Mass media was the least used approach (3.8%) even though it has the greatest capacity to reach many people. Clinical breast examination (CBE) was available at 78.3% (2,467/3,150) of the hospitals. Only 19.2% (606/ 3,150) had cervical cancer screening data capture and reporting tools at the time of the survey. Approximately 60% (1,905/3,150) of the hospitals had some form of EMR systems available at some service provision points; however, none had integrated cervical cancer screening data capture in the EMR. Other facility variables are shown in Table 2.

Service delivery per level of care

Cervical cancer screening service availability was highest at level 3 (70.5% [457/648]) and level 4 (67.1% [141/210]) (Table 3). However, availability of both screening and treatment was highest at level 5 hospitals (76% [19/25]). Majority of levels 2 and 3, which formed the bulk of the hospitals, did not have cervical pre-cancer treatment services.

The primary screening method used in most hospitals with screening services was VIA in 96.0% (1,599/1,665) of the hospitals. Among hospitals offering pre-cancer treatment, the modality commonly used was cryotherapy, available in 79.5% (132/166) of these hospitals; 63.9% (106/166) offered single visit approach. In diagnostics, cervical biopsy was available in 21.8% (52/238) of level four and above hospitals and histology in 7.1% (17/238). Among hospitals offering the service, the median cost of histopathology was \$ 12.46 [IQR; 5.81–20.76]; the cost was borne by the patients in all the hospitals. Availability of other services across hospitals as per level of where the service is expected, is shown in Figure 1.

Most of the screening, diagnostic and treatment services were offered in the maternal and child health (MCH) clinic and comprehensive clinics (CCC) for people living with HIV; for instance, 66.5% (1,108/1,665) of the hospitals offering VIA were providing it at MCH only, 1.9% (32/1,665) at CCC alone and 24.7% (412/1,665) at both MCH and CCC.

Screening and treatment health workforce

Only 10.8% (2,955/27,363) of all the HCWs were trained in cervical cancer screening and treatment, with nurses contributing 74.9% (2,212/2,955) of the trained workforce. Among those who are trained, 72.2% of nurses, 66.4% of clinical officers, 41.0% of medical officers, and 65.7% of gynecologists were deployed at cervical cancer screening and treatment service provision points at their hospitals (Table 4).

TABLE 2 Summary statistics of the hospitals surveyed.

Variable	Frequency	Proportion	
Hospital tier (n=3,150)			
Level 2	2,264	71.9	
Level 3	648	20.6	
Level 4	210	6.7	
Level 5	25	0.8	
Level 6	3	0.1	
Facility ownership (n=3,150)			
Public	3,021	95.9	
Faith-based	69	2.2	
Private/NGO	60	1.9	
Cervical and breast cancer service	s offered (n=3,:	150)	
Awareness creation	2,128	67.6	
Breast cancer screening	2,467	78.3	
Cervical cancer screening only	1,499	47.6%	
Cervical cancer screening and treatment	166	5.3%	
Pathology (biopsy and histology)	17	0.5	
Cadres of HCWs available (n=29,32	26)		
Nurses	18,639	63.6	
Clinical officers	4,286	14.6	
Laboratory technologists	3,050	10.4	
Public Health Officers	1,935	6.6	
Medical officers	1,215	4.1	
Gynaecologists	134	0.5	
Histo-technicians	28	0.1	
Pathologists	20	0.1	
Cytologists	19	0.1	
Health information system (n=3,15	0)		
Data tools available	606	19.2	
IEC materials available	774	24.6	
Electronic health systems (n=1,905	5)		
EMR	240	12.6%	
Internet	289	15.2%	
Demand generation approaches (n	1=2,128)		
Cancer awareness months	540	25.4	
Places of worship	432	20.3	
Community Health Workers	1,835	86.2	
Community Leaders	559	26.3	
Mass media	80	3.8	
Community Outreaches	1,035	48.6	
Others	419	19.7	
Some percentages may not be exactly 100% due to	rounding-up to one	decimal place	

Some percentages may not be exactly 100% due to rounding-up to one decimal place.

TABLE 3 Screening and treatment service availability per facility level.

Facility Level	Number of hospi- tals (N)	Screening alone available n (%)	Both screening and pre-cancer treat- ment available n (%)
2	2,264	896 (39.6)	12 (0.5)
3	648	457 (70.5)	51 (7.8)
4	210	141 (67.1)	83 (39.5)
5	25	4 (16.0)	19 (76.0)
6	3	1 (33.3)	1 (33.3)
Total	3,150	1,499 (47.6)	166 (5.3)

Screening commodities availability

Among hospitals that had included cervical cancer screening in their service charter, half (830/1,665) had acetic acid available while 48.9% (815/1,665) had the recommended light source for pelvic examination at the time of the assessment. Other critical commodities like HPV tests and pap smear kits were available in less than five percent of the hospitals offering screening (Figure 2).

Health system readiness

We noted some key strengths and weaknesses in the health system readiness in moving towards cervical cancer elimination (Table 5). Multiple service delivery points offer opportunities for a better reach and exploitation of efficiencies of service integration. Having multiple cadres offering cervical cancer screening and treatment offers a larger pool for service provision and skill-set strengthening for an effective cervical program. Cervical precancer lesions treatment availability is limited in the hospitals surveyed, which may reduce successful care linkage for women with positive screening results. Another major weakness is the erratic and inefficient supply chain for the screening and treatment commodities, especially cryotherapy gas that limited the number of hospitals able to offer both screening and treatment. Primary care hospitals offer free services, but are limited in service readiness for both screening and treatment.

Discussion

Summary of findings

We found that primary health care (PHC) hospitals form the bedrock of cervical cancer service provision in the 25 Counties surveyed. While more than half of all the hospitals offer cervical cancer screening, only 5.0% offer both screening and treatment. Only one in 10 of HCWs in the surveyed hospitals were trained in cervical cancer screening and treatment. Less than half of the hospitals had available stock of cervical cancer screening and treatment commodities at the time of the survey. Presence of multiple screening points at the hospitals was the main health system strength, but commodity stockouts was identified as the main weakness.

Cervical cancer screening service readiness in Kenya

Majority of the surveyed hospitals were PHC level (2 and 3). This agrees with the structure of the overall health system in Kenya, where PHC hospitals form the bulk of the available public hospitals countrywide. Therefore, strengthening PHC system would be a major step in increasing access to cervical cancer screening and treatment, to make progress towards the 2030 elimination targets.



Proportion of assessed hospitals, offering various services along the cervical cancer screening and treatment continuum (level 2 and 3, n=2,912; level 4 and above, n=238). LLETZ: Large loop excision of the transformation zone; VIA: visual inspection with acetic acid. Single visit approach: both screening and treatment offered during the same visit.

TABLE 4 Cervical cancer screening and treatment health workforce.

Cadre	Total number in the hospitals	Number trained* on cervical cancer screening n1	Number offering cervi- cal cancer screening and
	(N)	(n1/N %)	treatment n2 (n2/n1%)
Nurses	18,639	2,212 (11.9)	1,598 (72.2)
Clinical officers	4,286	381 (8.9)	253 (66.4)
Medical officers	1,215	134 (11.0)	55 (41.0)
Gynecologists	134	108 (80.6)	71 (65.7)
Laboratory technologists	3,050	94 (3.1)	94 (100.0)
Pathologists	20	11 (55.0)	11 (100.0)
Cytologists	19	10 (52.6)	10 (100.0)
Histo- technologist	28	5 (17.9)	5 (100.0)

*Any form of focused training on cervical cancer screening and treatment, whether preservice, formal, or on-job training in the previous three years.

Levels 2 and 3 also have service provision at no cost to patients, implying that they can be avenues for removing financial barriers to cervical cancer screening uptake. PHC, especially within the context of Universal Health Coverage (UHC), is important for increasing access to cervical screening (14).

Unfortunately, more than half of the PHC hospitals do not offer cervical cancer screening, and even those that do, fail to provide treatment. One reason may be inadequate trained and competent personnel; while some HCWs reported that they had received training in the past, some did not feel competent enough to offer treatment. Another reason could be erratic provision of screening and treatment health commodities and unavailability of treatment equipment. For instance, despite a country-wide distribution of cryotherapy equipment over a decade ago, we found that many were either broken, or had run out of cryotherapy gas and never replenished. PHC hospitals, while offering free services, have no financial planning autonomy, and rely on secondary level hospitals for procurement of supplies; in such circumstances health promotion interventions like cancer screening may be deprioritized when financial resources are very limited. Even where trained personnel were available at some point, they are lost by either transfer to other hospitals/departments or retirement from service and no regular replacements done. These findings are similar to a recent national service readiness survey in Kenya, which showed higher readiness in referral hospitals compared with PHC hospitals (15).

MCH and CCC/HIV clinics are the main cervical cancer screening service points in the surveyed hospitals. Traditionally, cervical cancer screening in Kenya was domiciled under the reproductive health services, hence services were offered either at MCH or family planning clinics. Organized cervical cancer screening also served as an integral component of HIV care, due to the epidemiological and biological linkage between HIV and cervical cancer. Integration is an efficient policy direction for increasing cervical cancer screening uptake; lessons from integration at MCH and CCC can enable incorporation of more service provision points at hospitals, including outpatient departments (OPD) and gynecological clinics. More hospitals were offering CBE than cervical cancer screening, proving another opportunity for integration. Ample evidence exists on the efficacy of integrating cervical cancer screening in reproductive, HIV and vaccination programs in SSA (16-23).

We found frequent unavailability of critical supplies for cervical cancer screening and treatment, especially acetic acid, cryotherapy gas and HPV kits. Procurement of such commodities may not be prioritized at the county level, compared with diagnostic commodities and medicines. In addition, screening commodities are not available at the Kenya Medical Supplies Authority (KEMSA), the main medical supplier for the County Departments of Health in Kenya, possibly due to policy or resource constraints. NHIF does not cover preventive or promotive health services like cancer screening, which severely limits the financing component of the national cervical cancer control program. However, this may change with the ongoing UHC reforms in the health sector. Lack of screening commodities



Health system building block	Strength	weakness
Leadership and governance	Some form of governance structure exists, with either reproductive health or non-communicable disease coordinator taking charge of cervical cancer screening and treatment planning at county level and sitting in the County Health Management Team.	Data-driven decision making has not been adequately embraced at facility and county level.
Service delivery	Services, where available, are spread out in multiple delivery points.	Treatment of cervical pre-cancerous lesions is available in very few hospitals. Primary health care hospitals, which constitute the majority of hospitals, have in sufficient service availability and readiness.
Health system financing	At health centre and dispensary level (level 2 and 3), cervical cancer screening and treatment is offered free of charge.	Cervical cancer screening is not covered under the National health Insurance Fund (NHIF); funding for screening is relegated to the background and priority given to curative programs. While screening is free at primary care hospitals (dispensaries and health centres), service provision is limited by trained workforce and health products stock-outs in these hospitals since they lack planning and budgeting autonomy.
Health workforce	Screening and treatment services are provided by multiple cadres, including nurses, clinical officers, medical officers, and gynaecologists.	High attrition rate of HCWs trained on cervical cancer screening and treatment makes it impossible to sustain highly trained and motivated teams.
Medical products, vaccines, and technologies	Most hospitals had the bare minimum screening commodities; speculums, gloves, and acetic acid.	Screening commodities supply is not prioritized, making it erratic and prone to frequent stock-outs. For instance, cryotherapy gas is commonly unavailable even where the equipment is available, therefore making many screening hospitals unbale to offer treatment.
Health information systems	A comprehensive cancer screening register has been developed and disseminated. Aggregated cervical cancer screening and treatment data is collected using primary and summary registers at facility level and uploaded into the Kenya Health Information System (DHIS2).	The paper-based system is inefficient in ensuring proper follow- ups and linkage to further evaluation/treatment. This is especially critical when clients with positive tests are referred for treatment in a different hospital.

TABLE 5 Strengths and weaknesses of the healthcare system to support cervical cancer screening and treatment in Kenya.

was also identified as a key gap in an evaluation of the Zimbabwe cervical cancer program (24).

Multiple service provision points, by different cadres were identified as key strengths in the cervical cancer program in the surveyed hospitals; unavailability of treatment services, erratic commodity supply chain and few numbers of trained personnel were the major weaknesses. Availing multiple screening points at hospitals minimizes lost opportunities and increase screening uptake. Health service provision in Kenya is based on the Kenya Essential Package for Health (KEPH) levels; cervical cancer screening ideally is supposed to be offered across all the levels, but especially PHC hospitals (2-4). All the HCW cadres in these levels are eligible for training on cervical cancer screening and treatment, as guided by the respective schemes of service. Accessibility of screening and integrating with other services offered at the hospitals were noted as drivers of cervical cancer screening uptake in Malawi (25). In Uganda, building capacity among PHC health workers in cervical cancer screening and treatment has been adopted as a strategy to address unmet needs in the population (26). In addition to commodities supply chain, the Zimbabwean study also identified staffing challenges, lack of equipment, limited funding and ineffective leadership and governance structure (24). A similar approach, including training PHC personnel, adapting screening approaches to practical local contexts and enhancing local infrastructure to perform various screening tests, has been suggested for two West-African countries (27).

Strengths and limitations

A particular strength of this study was that we conducted a census of all the hospitals in the 25 Counties, spread out in the 10 regions of Kenya; therefore, the findings are likely representative of the true state of cervical cancer control service readiness. The assessment also comprehensively examined the main health system building blocks, therefore provides critical insights for areas in need of strengthening for Kenya to move towards elimination. A weakness of the study was that the survey did not undertake an exploratory angle, to find out the possible underlying reasons to some of the identified gaps. Such an undertaking would have provided more information for planning and focusing the interventions in a more effective and efficient manner and is planned for subsequent program evaluations.

Conclusion and recommendations

We identified major gaps in the service readiness for an effective cervical cancer program in the 25 Counties, but also some opportunities, which if explored can provide a path towards elimination. We recommend a more efficient supply for cervical cancer screening and treatment commodities at PHC, primarily through public financing. Since level 2 and 3 hospitals constitute the majority of the hospitals, they should be enabled to offer cervical cancer screening and treatment by ensuring adequately trained staff

10.3389/fonc.2024.1371529

and essential health commodities. Availability of screening services in nearby hospitals has been identified as one of the determinants of screening uptake (28). Additional service provision points at hospitals need to integrate cervical cancer screening to their routine service provision, to reduce missed opportunities for screening when women visit for other services. A study in Ethiopia identified restricting screening to a single service point as a barrier to screening uptake (29). A cervical cancer human resource development plan is necessary to guide recruitment, training, mentorship, retention, and replacement of personnel at the county level; sustained capacity-building of HCWs is necessary for success of programs (30). Cervical cancer screening and treatment should be included in the ongoing health financing reforms, especially at PHC; recent evidence shows adequate financing will be necessary for cervical cancer elimination (31). Regular similar assessments should be conducted to inform the efficacy of ongoing investments in the strengthening of the national cervical cancer control program.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary Material. Further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Ethics statement

Since the unit of assessment was the hospitals, we collected data on service availability and readiness; no personal information was obtained. The study was approved by the Ministry of Health (MoH) and the respective County Departments of Health. Specifically, the assessment was modelled on a broader health system service availability and readiness assessment, usually conducted for all health services in Kenya every five years. However, in this case, we focused on readiness for the country to implement selected interventions within the cervical cancer elimination strategy. Being a routine component of health system evaluation and strengthening, this assessment did not require an Institutional Review Board (IRB) clearance process as per relevant stipulations by the Ministry of Health. All methods were carried out in accordance with the Monitoring and Evaluation guidelines of MoH. Even though the data collected was not personal in nature, safety was ensured during transmission and archiving through password-protected files.

Author contributions

VM: Conceptualization, Data curation, Formal analysis, Investigation, Methodology, Project administration, Resources, Software, Supervision, Validation, Visualization, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. DM: Formal analysis, Methodology, Validation, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. CK: Formal analysis, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. J-PB: Conceptualization, Investigation, Validation, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. PN: Conceptualization, Funding acquisition, Project administration, Resources, Supervision, Validation, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. LO: Conceptualization, Investigation, Validation, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. MN: Conceptualization, Funding acquisition, Investigation, Project administration, Supervision, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. MA: Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. MA: Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. PT: Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. MT: Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing.

Funding

The author(s) declare financial support was received for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article. This work was supported by funding from Unitaid through Clinton Health Access Initiative (grant ID UNITCANCER1). In addition, MA was supported by the Horizon 2020 Framework Programme for Research and Innovation of the European Commission, through the RISCC Network (Grant No. 847845).

Acknowledgments

We acknowledge the respective county directors of health from the 25 counties, the cervical cancer program County focal persons, the TOTs who served as the data collectors and the facility managers and service point in-charges, who were the main respondents. We also acknowledge technical support provided by the Clinton Health Access Initiative, during the conduction of this assessment.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fonc.2024.1371529/ full#supplementary-material DATA SHEET 1

Screening and treatment services assessment dataset.

DATA SHEET 2 Laboratory services assessment dataset. Screening and treatment services assessment codebook

DATA SHEET 4 Laboratory services assessment dataset codebook

DATA SHEET 3

References

1. Sung H, Ferlay J, Siegel RL, Laversanne M, Soerjomataram I, Jemal A, et al. Global cancer statistics 2020: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. *CA Cancer J Clin.* (2021) 71:209–49. doi: 10.3322/ caac.21660

2. WHO. Address inequality: prevent cervical cancer. Available online at: https:// www.who.int/mediacentre/commentaries/cervical-cancer-prevention/en/.

3. Temmerman M, Bustreo F. Cervical cancer services are the next frontier for universal healthcare coverage in LMICs. BMJ opinion blogs. (2017). Available: https:// blogs.bmj.com/bmj/2017/09/20/cervical-cancer-services-are-the-next-frontier-foruniversal-healthcare-coverage-in-lmics/.

4. Jedy-Agba E, Joko WY, Liu B, Buziba NG, Borok M, Korir A, et al. Trends in cervical cancer incidence in sub-Saharan Africa. *Br J Cancer*. (2020) 123:148–54. doi: 10.1038/s41416-020-0831-9

5. Ngoma M, Autier P. Cancer prevention: cervical cancer. *Ecancermedicalscience*. (2019) 13:952. doi: 10.3332/ecancer.2019.952

6. WHO. A Global Strategy for elimination of cervical cancer. Available online at: https://www.who.int/activities/a-global-strategy-for-elimination-of-cervical-cancer.

7. Shin MB, Liu G, Mugo N, Garcia PJ, Rao DW, Bayer CJ, et al. A framework for cervical cancer elimination in low-and-middle-income countries: A scoping review and roadmap for interventions and research priorities. *Front Public Health.* (2021) 9:670032. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2021.670032

8. Bhatla N, Nessa A, Oswal K, Vashist S, Sebastian P, Basu P. Program organization rather than choice of test determines success of cervical cancer screening: Case studies from Bangladesh and India. *Int J Gynaecol Obstet.* (2021) 152:40–7. doi: 10.1002/ ijgo.13486

9. Pierz AJ, Randall TC, Castle PE, Adedimeji A, Ingabire C, Kubwimana G, et al. A scoping review: Facilitators and barriers of cervical cancer screening and early diagnosis of breast cancer in Sub-Saharan African health settings. *Gynecol Oncol Rep.* (2020) 33:100605. doi: 10.1016/j.gore.2020.100605

10. Yimer NB, Mohammed MA, Solomon K, Tadese M, Grutzmacher S, Meikena HK, et al. Cervical cancer screening uptake in Sub-Saharan Africa: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Public Health.* (2021) 195:105–11. doi: 10.1016/j.puhe.2021.04.014

11. Lim JN, Ojo AA. Barriers to utilisation of cervical cancer screening in Sub Sahara Africa: a systematic review. *Eur J Cancer Care*. (2017) 26:1–9. doi: 10.1111/ecc.2017.26.issue-1

12. Ng'ang'a A, Nyangasi M, Nkonge NG, Gathitu E, Kibachio J, Gichangi P, et al. Predictors of cervical cancer screening among Kenyan women: results of a nested casecontrol study in a nationally representative survey. *BMC Public Health*. (2018) 18:1221. doi: 10.1186/s12889-018-6054-9

13. Ministry of Health. Kenya hospitals assessment report, 2019. Available online at: http://www.health.go.ke/wp-content/uploads/2020/01/KHFA-2018-19-Popular-version-report-Final-.pdf.

14. Woo YL, Gravitt P, Khor SK, Ng CW, Saville M. Accelerating action on cervical screening in lower- and middle-income countries (LMICs) post COVID-19 era. *Prev Med.* (2021) 144:106294. doi: 10.1016/j.ypmed.2020.106294

15. Ammoun R, Wami WM, Otieno P, Schultsz C, Kyobutungi C, Asiki G. Readiness of hospitals to deliver non-communicable diseases services in Kenya: a national cross-sectional survey. *BMC Health Serv Res.* (2022) 22:985. doi: 10.1186/s12913-022-08364-w

16. Dreyer G, Botha MH, Snyman LC, Visser C, Burden R, Laubscher N, et al. Combining cervical cancer screening for mothers with schoolgirl vaccination during human papillomavirus (HPV) vaccine implementation in South Africa: results from the VACCS1 and VACCS2 trials. *Int J Gynecol Cancer*. (2022) 32:592–8. doi: 10.1136/ijgc-2021-003079

17. Pfaff C, Singano V, Akello H, Amberbir A, Berman J, Kwekwesa A, et al. Early experiences in integrating cervical cancer screening and treatment into HIV services in

Zomba Central Hospital, Malawi. Malawi Med J. (2018) 30:211-4. doi: 10.4314/mmj.v30i3.14

18. Davies NECG, Chersich M, Mullick S, Naidoo N, Makhoba N, Rees H, et al. Integrating Cervical Cancer Screening into Safer Conception Services to Improve Women's Health Outcomes: A Pilot Study at a Primary Care Clinic in South Africa. *Sex Transm Dis.* (2019) 46:91–7. doi: 10.1097/OLQ.000000000000914

19. Tchounga B, Boni SP, Koffi JJ, Horo AG, Tanon A, Messou E, et al. Cervical cancer screening uptake and correlates among HIV-infected women: a cross-sectional survey in Côte d'Ivoire, West Africa. *BMJ Open.* (2019) 9:e029882. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2019-029882

20. Diala PC, Randa M, Odhiambo J, Ganda G, Cohen CR, Mungo C. Barriers and facilitators to integrating clinical breast examinations with cervical cancer screening programs in outpatient clinics in Western Kenya. *JCO Glob Oncol.* (2021) 7:1722–9. doi: 10.1200/GO.21.00272

21. Wirtz C, Mohamed Y, Engel D, Sidibe A, Holloway M, Bloem P, et al. Integrating HPV vaccination programs with enhanced cervical cancer screening and treatment, a systematic review. *Vaccine*. (2022) 40 Suppl 1:A116-23. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2021.11.013

22. Castle PE, Einstein MH, Sahasrabuddhe VV. Cervical cancer prevention and control in women living with human immunodeficiency virus. *CA Cancer J Clin.* (2021) 71:505–26. doi: 10.3322/caac.21696

23. Leno DWA, Diallo FD, Delamou A, Komano FD, Magassouba M, Niamy D, et al. Integration of family planning counselling to mass screening campaign for cervical cancer: experience from Guinea. *Obstet Gynecol Int*. (2018) 2018:3712948. doi: 10.1155/2018/3712948

24. Tapera O, Nyakabau AM, Simango N, Guzha BT, Jombo-Nyakuwa S, Takawira E, et al. Gaps and opportunities for cervical cancer prevention, diagnosis, treatment and care: evidence from midterm review of the Zimbabwe cervical Cancer prevention and control strategy (2016-2020). *BMC Public Health*. (2021) 21:1478. doi: 10.1186/s12889-021-11532-y

25. Pittalis C, Panteli E, Schouten E, Magongwa I, Gajewski J. Breast and cervical cancer screening services in Malawi: a systematic review. *BMC Cancer*. (2020) 20:1101. doi: 10.1186/s12885-020-07610-w

26. Jatho A, Mugisha NM, Kafeero J, Holoya G, Okuku F, Niyonzima N, et al. Capacity building for cancer prevention and early detection in the Ugandan primary healthcare hospitals: Working toward reducing the unmet needs of cancer control services. *Cancer Med.* (2021) 10:745–56. doi: 10.1002/cam4.3659

27. Haque A, Kouriba B, Aïssatou N, Pant A. Eliminating cervical cancer in Mali and Senegal, two sub-Saharan countries: insights and optimizing solutions. *Vaccines (Basel)*. (2020) 8:181. doi: 10.3390/vaccines8020181

28. Atnafu DD, Khatri R, Assefa Y. Drivers of cervical cancer prevention and management in sub-Saharan Africa: a qualitative synthesis of mixed studies. *Health Res Policy Syst.* (2024) 22:21. doi: 10.1186/s12961-023-01094-3

29. Jemal Z, Chea N, Hasen H, Tesfaye T, Abera N. Cervical cancer screening utilization and associated factors among female health workers in public hospitals of Hossana town, southern Ethiopia: A mixed method approach. *PloS One.* (2023) 18: e0286262. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0286262

30. Moucheraud C, Kawale P, Kafwafwa S, Bastani R, Hoffman RM. Health care workers' experiences with implementation of "screen and treat" for cervical cancer prevention in Malawi: A qualitative study. *Implement Sci Commun.* (2020) 1:112. doi: 10.1186/s43058-020-00097-3

31. Financing for cervical cancer elimination. UICC. (2023) Available at: https:// www.uicc.org/what-we-do/thematic-areas-work/cervical-cancer-elimination/ financing-cervical-cancer-elimination.

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Manoj Menon, Fred Hutchinson Cancer Center, United States

REVIEWED BY Ana Afonso, NOVA University of Lisbon, Portugal Yu Ligh Liou, The First Affiliated Hospital of Guangdong Pharmaceutical University, China

*CORRESPONDENCE Zhifang Li 🛛 lzfmuzi@163.com

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

RECEIVED 11 April 2024 ACCEPTED 16 September 2024 PUBLISHED 08 October 2024

CITATION

Yang H, Hao Y, Niu M, Zheng J, Jia X, Zhang S, Wang L, Zhang X, Pan Q, Feng X, Qiao Y and Li Z (2024) Comparative study of triage strategies for women with atypical squamous cells of undetermined significance in the post-vaccine era. *Front. Oncol.* 14:1416116. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2024.1416116

COPYRIGHT

© 2024 Yang, Hao, Niu, Zheng, Jia, Zhang, Wang, Zhang, Pan, Feng, Qiao and Li. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Comparative study of triage strategies for women with atypical squamous cells of undetermined significance in the post-vaccine era

Hongmei Yang^{1†}, Yubing Hao^{2†}, Meili Niu², Jie Zheng¹, Xinhua Jia³, Shaokai Zhang⁴, Libing Wang⁵, Xun Zhang⁶, Qinjing Pan⁷, Xiangxian Feng¹, Youlin Qiao⁸ and Zhifang Li^{1,2*}

¹Department of Public Health and Prevention, Changzhi Medical College, Changzhi, China, ²School of Public Health, Shanxi Medical University, Taiyuan, China, ³Department of Epidemiology, National Cancer Center/National Clinical Research Center for Cancer/Cancer Hospital, Chinese Academy of Medical Sciences and Peking Union Medical College, Beijing, China, ⁴Department of Cancer Epidemiology, Affiliated Cancer Hospital of Zhengzhou University, Zhengzhou, China, ⁵Department of Pathology, Affiliated Heping Hospital of Changzhi Medical College, Changzhi, China, ⁶Department of Pathology, National Cancer Center/National Clinical Research Center for Cancer/Cancer Hospital, Chinese Academy of Medical Sciences and Peking Union Medical College, Beijing, China, ⁷Department of Cytology, National Cancer Center/National Clinical Research Center for Cancer/ Cancer Hospital, Chinese Academy of Medical Sciences and Peking Union Medical College, Beijing, China, ⁶Center for Global Health, School of Population Medicine and Public Health, Chinese Academy of Medical Sciences and Peking Union Medical College, Beijing, China

Objective: The research focused on a comparative analysis of triage strategies for women with Atypical Squamous Cells of Undetermined Significance (ASC-US) before and after receiving the HPV vaccine, aiming to optimize cervical cancer prevention strategies, especially in resource-limited healthcare settings.

Materials and methods: Between September 2018 and December 2023, 7,511 women aged 21 years or older who underwent liquid-based cytology for cervical cancer screening were recruited. Women diagnosed with ASC-US were included in the study. All participants underwent HPV testing and liquid-based cytology examination, and those with abnormal results were referred for colposcopy. Women with abnormal colposcopy findings underwent further histopathological examination. The gold standard for diagnosis was pathological, with cervical intraepithelial neoplasia grade 2 or higher (CIN2+) on histology as the endpoints. In the final analysis, 933 women with ASC-US were enrolled as the unvaccinated group, with 179 of them testing positive for HPV 16/18. Assuming that all women would receive the bivalent vaccine targeting HPV 16/18 in the post-vaccine era, and given that the vaccine protection rate is 100% against HPV 16/18, then 754 women excluding those of HPV 16/18 positive would comprise the vaccinated group.

Results: In the unvaccinated group, the overall HPV positivity rate was 59.27% among ASC-US women, with a 100% HPV prevalence rate among those with CIN2+ lesions. The combination genotyping model of HPV16/18 showed the highest specificity (81.77%) and the lowest referral rate (32.37%). In the vaccinated group, the HPV positivity rate was 49.61% among ASC-US women, with a 100% HPV prevalence rate among those with CIN2+ lesions. The specificity of HPV33/

58 was the highest (86.99%), and the colposcopy referral rate was lowest (27.54%), with statistical significance. Sensitivity, positive predictive value, and negative predictive value were not statistically significant.

Conclusion: HPV16/18 demonstrated a more efficacious triaging effect in the unvaccinated group. HPV33/58 will potentially replace HPV16/18 as the priority screening genotyping among vaccinated populations.

KEYWORDS

human papillomaviruses, atypical squamous cells of undetermined significance, cervical cancer, resource-limited areas, the post-vaccine era

1 Introduction

Cervical cancer is the most common malignancy among female reproductive tract tumors, posing a significant disease burden, particularly in areas with limited health resources (1, 2). Screening for cervical cancer primarily relies on cytology tests and HPV testing. ASC-US, an important cytological diagnosis in cervical cancer screening, is not definitive, and its histopathology results can range from inflammation and cervical intraepithelial neoplasia (CIN) to cervical cancer. Approximately, 3%-10% of women are diagnosed with atypical squamous cells of undetermined significance (ASC-US) (3). The interpretation of cytological results can be influenced by the skill level of the physician, leading to a degree of bias. Over the past period, the integration of HPV testing into clinical practice, including HPV mRNA and HPV DNA testing, has significantly improved the management of ASC-US cases, with HPV testing (4-6). More precise triaging of ASC-US women is crucial for cervical cancer prevention, especially when implementing a stratified management approach tailored to different high-risk human papillomaviruses (HR-HPV) types.

HPV vaccines are the most effective primary prevention measure against cervical cancer (7). The bivalent vaccine offers a protection rate exceeding 95% (8–11), while it is significantly less expensive than the quadrivalent and nine-valent HPV vaccines. Despite this, vaccination coverage remains relatively low in many developing countries (12, 13). Considering the balance between cost and preventive effectiveness, the bivalent HPV vaccines is recommended for the general population in limited health resources settings. In China, National People's Congress deputies and health experts have called for inclusion of domestically produced bivalent HPV vaccines in the national immunization program to enhance accessibility and affordability for the eligible population.

With the gradual popularization of the HPV vaccine, we will eventually enter the post-vaccine era, where vaccinated and unvaccinated women will coexist for an extended period, and the types of HPV infections will also change. Currently, follow-up data from real-world studies on the HPV-vaccinated population are not readily available or lacking in resource-limited settings, particularly for those with ASC-US. As a result, the specific gene combination that best triages the ASC-US population in the post-vaccine era is rarely reported, the differential triage strategies for ASC-US women who are vaccinated and unvaccinated are worth exploring. In this study, based on an earlier large real-world population undergoing cervical cancer screening, we make the hypothetical assumption that in the future, all women who were initially unvaccinated against HPV have subsequently received the HPV bivalent vaccine. Under this assumption, the subgroup of these women who are not HPV 16/18 positive were considered as the 'vaccinated group' for the purpose of our analysis. By comparing the triage efficacy of the vaccinated and unvaccinated groups, we identified different management approaches for ASC-US women in the postvaccine era in countries with limited healthcare resources.

2 Materials and methods

2.1 Study design and participants

Since 2009, the "Two Cancers Screening" program for rural women has been implemented in China. This project provides free or subsidized screenings within the rural female population to enhance women's health status and reduce the incidence and mortality rates of cervical cancer and breast cancer. The cervical cancer screening used co-testing with cytology and HPV testing. This cohort study was based on the "Two Cancer Screening" program in Wuxiang County, Shangdang District, and Zezhou County, Changzhi City, Shanxi Province. Women diagnosed with ASC-US, aged≥21 years, and with sexual experience were included in the study. Exclusions were: 1) pregnant women or women within 8 weeks after delivery; 2) women with a history of hysterectomy, cervix surgery, or cervical cancer treatment; 3) women with cognitive impairment.

Of the 7,511 women enrolled from 2018 to 2023 for cervical cancer screening, 933 women diagnosed with ASC-US were categorized as the unvaccinated group. Assuming that all women in the unvaccinated group would receive the bivalent vaccine targeting HPV 16/18, and given that the protection rate of this bivalent vaccine is 100% against HPV 16/18, the subgroup of 754 women who excluded 179 HPV 16/18 positive women were considered as the vaccinated group. Additionally, 754 women were included as the bivalent vaccinated group, which excluded 179 HPV 16/18-positive women from the 933 ASC-US women. All included ASC-US women were followed up for the next 3 years with HPV DNA testing and liquid-based cytology (LBC) examinations. Women who tested HPV-positive or had ASC-US or and higher results were referred for colposcopy. Those with abnormal colposcopy findings underwent further histopathological examination. Pathological diagnosis was the gold standard, with cervical intraepithelial neoplasia grade 2 or higher (CIN2+) as endpoints. The screening flowchart is shown in Figure 1.

2.2 Data and specimen collection

Demographic information was collected through questionnaires, including marital status, education level, smoking and alcohol consumption history, menstrual history, and reproductive history. Trained gynecologists conducted gynecological examinations of the vulva, vagina, and cervix for all participants, and speculum examinations were also performed. The specimens of cervical exfoliated cells were collected for liquid-based cytology (LBC) classification and HPV genotyping tests.

2.3 Laboratory testing

2.3.1 HPV testing

A commercial assay was used for HPV DNA testing. The HPV testing method was the Biochip Method, manufactured by Beijing Bohui Innovative Optoelectronic Technology, with approval from the China Food and Drug Administration (CFDA) (registration certificate no: 20163401108). This method can detect 14 types of HPV DNA (16, 18, 31, 33, 35, 39, 45, 51, 52, 56, 58, 59, 66, and 68) from the cervical exfoliated cells, and distinguish all HPV types individually. Quality control probes and detection probes are distributed on the hybrid membrane of HPV nucleic acid detector. The quality control probes include blank, negative, color rendering, and internal reference quality control points. The positive quality control is used to verify the validity of the detection method, while the negative quality control is used to exclude the possibility of false positive results.

2.3.2 Cytology examination

Cytology slides were reviewed by two pathologists, and results were reported according to the Bethesda 2014 classification. The cytological results included: negative for intraepithelial lesion or malignancy (NILM), atypical squamous cells of undetermined significance (ASC-US), low-grade squamous intraepithelial lesion



(LSIL), atypical squamous cells-cannot exclude high-grade squamous intraepithelial lesion (ASC-H), high-grade squamous intraepithelial lesion (HSIL), atypical glandular cells, and cervical cancer cells. Diagnoses were reported if the diagnoses by two cytologists were consistent. Otherwise, a third cytologist was consulted.

2.3.3 Cytology and histology

All women with positive HPV results or abnormal cytology (ASC-US or worse) were referred for colposcopy. If the colposcopy provided full visibility and a lesion was identified, a biopsy was performed on the abnormal area, with the specific location of the specimen clearly marked. If the colposcopy exposure was insufficient, cervical curettage was performed. Two pathologists independently made diagnoses, if the diagnoses were concordant, they were reported as the pathological diagnosis. Otherwise, a third pathologist also reviewed all positive results and 10% of negative slides. The final diagnosis was based on the agreement between the three doctors, and in cases of disagreement, a consensus decision was made by all three. According to the 2014 WHO Classification of Tumors of the Female Genital Tract (14), histological diagnoses of cervical lesions were categorized as normal, LSIL/CIN1 (including the condylomatous variant), HSIL/CIN2, HSIL/CIN3 (including adenocarcinoma in situ) and carcinoma (squamous cell carcinoma or adenocarcinoma).

2.4 Quality control

Investigators, gynecologists, and pathologists were trained according to a standardized manual of operation. All technicians, cytologists, and pathologists involved in HPV testing and cytology slide reading were blinded throughout the study. Experienced physicians conducted gynecological and colposcopy examinations. Pathologists with more than 30 years of experience provided the final decisions for cytological and pathological diagnoses. HPV detection probe and quality control probe be used throughout the whole process of HPV detection, and quality control probe be distributed on each chip. Positive and negative quality controls were implemented to ensure the quality of HPV testing.

2.5 Statistical analysis

SPSS version 20.2 (IBM Corp, New York, USA) was used for data analysis. Quantitative variables were expressed as medians and interquartile ranges, while categorical variables were represented by numbers and percentages. The pathological diagnosis served as the gold standard, with CIN2+ on histology as the endpoint. A receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curve was plotted, and the sensitivity, specificity, positive predictive value, negative predictive value, area under the curve (AUC) of the ROC, and referral rate of HPV genotyping were calculated. The referral rate was calculated as the number of participants with ASC-US and positive HR-HPV dividing by the total number of participants with ASC-US. The chisquare test and Fisher's exact probability test were applied to compare diagnostic effects. Statistical significance was set at a two-sided *P* value of less than 0.05. The Attribute Fraction (AF) was used to calculate the proportion of CIN2+ lesions caused by specific HPV genotypes: AF= (contribution coefficient of target HPV genes × number of infections)/(CIN2+) ×100%. Based on the normal group, the relative risk (RR) of CIN1 and CIN2 was calculated as RR=AF (+)/AF (-).

3 Results

3.1 Characteristics of the study population

Of the 7,511 women were enrolled, 933 (12.42%) were diagnosed with ASC-US and categorized as the unvaccinated group. In this group, the average age was 47.42 ± 8.88 years, with around 70% having a junior middle school degree or below. The median ages of menarche and first pregnancy were 14 (13-16) and 23 (22-26) years, respectively. Almost all women in this group did not smoke or drink alcohol. In the vaccinated group, 754 women were induced, with an average age of 47.39 ± 8.92 years. There were no significant statistical differences between the two groups in terms of age, education level, marital status, alcohol consumption, smoking status, menarche age, and fertility history. Detailed results are shown in Table 1.

3.2 Pathological diagnosis and attributable risk stratification analysis of CIN2+ by different HPV infection types in women with ASC-US

In the unvaccinated group, histopathology confirmed that 90.88% (848/933) of participants had a normal cervix. The proportions of participants with CIN1 and CIN2+ were 6.75% (63/933) and 2.35% (22/933), respectively. Among participants with ASC-US, the prevalence of HR-HPV was 59.27% (553/933). The prevalence of HR-HPV in participants with normal pathology, CIN1, and CIN2+ were 56.25% (477/848), 85.71% (54/63), and 100% (22/22), respectively. In the vaccinated group, histopathology confirmed that 94.16% (710/754) of participants had a normal cervix, while the proportions of participants with CIN1 or CIN2+ were 4.77% (36/754) and 1.06% (8/754), respectively (Table 2).

In the unvaccinated group, the five most common HPV genotypes among normal participants were HPV16, 52, 58, 39 and 51. For those with CIN1, the top five HPV genotypes ranked by AF value were HPV16, 52, 58, 66, and 33, with HPV35 having the same AF as HPV39. Among participants with CIN2+, the five most common HPV types were HPV16, 33, 18, 58, and 31. In the vaccinated group, the incidence of HR-HPV infection increased with the severity of the pathological diagnosis. Among normal participants, the five most common types of HPV infections indicated by AF were HPV58, 52, 51, 31, and 56. The ranking of risks for CIN1, from high to low, was 52, 58, 66, 31, 33, 35, and 39. Among them, HPV types 33, 35, and 39 share the same rank. Among the CIN2+ population, the risk attribution of HPV from

TABLE 1 Characteristics of the study population (n/%).

Characteristics	Group	Unvaccined group	Vaccined group	χ ²	Р	
	21~29	26 (2.78)	21 (2.78)			
Age (yrs)	30~39 157 (16.82) 127 (16.84)		0.000	1.000		
	≥40	750 (80.40)	606 (80.38)			
	Primary school and below	248 (26.58)	202 (26.79)			
	Junior middle school	419 (44.91)	320 (42.44)	1.050	0.515	
Level of education	High school	101 (10.83)	86 (11.40)	1.350	0.717	
	≥University	165 (17.68)	146 (19.37)			
	Yes	918 (98.39)	744 (98.67)			
Marital status	No	15 (1.61)	10 (1.33)	0.140	0.707	
a 11	No	933 (100)	754 (100)			
Smoking	Yes	0 (0)	0 (0)	18.99	<0.01	
	No	893 (95.71)	720 (95.49)		0.024	
Drinking	Yes	40 (4.29)	34 (4.51)	0.05	0.824	
	≤14	486 (52.09)	403 (53.44)			
Age of menarche (yrs)	>14	447 (47.91)	351 (46.56)	0.308	0.578	
	Sterilization Surgery	500 (53.59)	405 (53.71)			
	Intrauterine Contraceptive Device	134 (14.36)	110 (14.58)			
Contraception measures	Oral Contraceptive Pills	1 (0.00)	1 (0.00)	0.067	0.999	
	Condom	75 (0.08)	59 (0.07)			
	No	223 (31.97)	179 (0.23)			
	≤23	565 (60.56)	443 (59.06)			
Age of the first pregnancy*	>23	363 (39.44)	307 (40.94)	0.571	0.450	
	≤3	664 (71.16)	536 (71.08)			
Times of pregnancy	>3	269 (28.84)	218 (28.92)	0.001	0.971	
	≤2	671 (72.15)	554 (73.86)			
Times of reproduction*	>2	259 (27.85)	196 (26.14)	0.619	0.431	

*indicates missing data. χ, Chi-square test.

TABLE 2 The prevalence of infection with different HPV genotypes in women with ASC-US (n,%).

	Unvaccined group				Vaccined group			
HPVgenotypes	Normal	CIN1	CIN2+	Total	Normal	CIN1	CIN2+	Total
HPV16	103 (12.14)	23 (36.50)	10 (45.45)	136 (14.57)	-	-	-	-
HPV18	40 (4.41)	3 (4.76)	4 (18.18)	47 (5.03)	-	-	-	-
HPV31	33 (3.89)	6 (9.52)	2 (9.09)	41 (4.39)	30 (4.23)	2 (5.56)	2 (25.00)	34 (4.51)
HPV33	31 (3.65)	4 (6.34)	5 (22.72)	40 (4.28)	21 (2.96)	2 (5.56)	3 (37.50)	26 (3.45)
HPV52	100 (11.79)	11 (17.46)	3 (13.63)	114 (12.21)	78 (10.99)	6 (16.67)	2 (25.00)	86 (11.41)
HPV58	93 (10.96)	9 (14.28)	4 (18.18)	106 (11.36)	72 (10.15)	6 (16.67)	3 (37.50)	81 (10.75)
HPV51	72 (8.49)	8 (12.69)	2 (9.09)	82 (8.78)	54 (7.61)	2 (5.56)	2 (25.00)	58 (7.7)

(Continued)

		Unvaccir	ed group		Vaccined group			
HPVgenotypes	Normal	CIN1	CIN2+	Total	Normal	CIN1	CIN2+	Total
HPV66	34 (4.00)	9 (14.28)	1 (4.54)	44 (4.71)	22 (3.10)	7 (19.45)	0 (0)	29 (3.85)
HPV68	28 (3.30)	1 (1.58)	1 (4.54)	30 (3.21)	22 (3.10)	1 (2.78)	1 (12.50)	24 (3.19)
HPV35	19 (2.25)	2 (3.17)	0	21 (2.25)	10 (1.41)	2 (5.56)	0 (0)	12 (1.6)
HPV39	36 (4.25)	2 (3.17)	2 (9.09)	40 (4.28)	28 (3.95)	1 (2.78)	0 (0)	29 (3.85)
HPV45	11 (1.30)	1 (1.58)	0	12 (1.28)	9 (1.27)	1 (2.78)	0 (0)	10 (1.33)
HPV59	29 (3.42)	1 (1.58)	0	30 (3.21)	22 (3.10)	0 (0)	0 (0)	22 (2.92)
HPV56	52 (6.13)	4 (6.34)	0	56 (6.00)	36 (5.08)	2 (5.56)	0 (0)	38 (5.04)
HR-HPV	477 (56.25)	54 (85.71)	22 (100.00)	553 (59.27)	339 (47.74)	27 (75.00)	8 (100.00)	374 (49.61)
Total	848 (90.88)	63 (6.75)	22 (2.36)	933 (100.00)	710 (94.16)	36 (4.77)	8 (1.06)	754 (100)

TABLE 2 Continued

HPV, human papillomavirus; CIN 1/2/3, cervical intraepithelial neoplasia grade 1/2/3; "-", negative.

high to low was HPV33, 58, and 31. More details are shown in Table 3.

3.3 The triaging value of different HPV genetypes in women with ASC-US

In the unvaccinated population, with CIN2+ histology of cervical lesions was the endpoint, the sensitivity and colposcopy referral rate of the combination HPV16/18 was the lowest compared to HPV16/18/31, HPV16/18/31/33, and HPV16/18/31/ 33/58 (63.63% vs. 77.27% vs. 86.36% vs. 95.45%; 32.37% vs. 37.97% vs. 42.86% vs. 56.06%). However the missed diagnosis rate of HPV16/18/31/33/58 (4.55%) was the lowest. In the vaccinated population, with CIN2+ histology of cervical lesions as the endpoint, the sensitivity and colposcopy referral rate of different combination models of HR-HPV increased with the inclusion of HPV33/58, HPV31/58, HPV31/33/58, and HPV31/33/52/58. However, the specificity of the combination HPV31/33/52/58 was the lowest compared to HPV33/58, HPV31/58, and HPV31/33/58 (72.92% vs. 85.52% vs. 86.99% or 83.11%). The ROC AUC of HPV33/58, HPV31/58, HPV31/33/58, and HPV31/33/52/58 were similar, while the referral rate of HPV33/58 was the lowest (27.54%), as shown in Figures 2, 3 and Table 4.

4 Discussion

In regions with scarce resources and low hygiene levels, cervical cancer prevention and control are currently at a pivotal stage. This stage involves transforming vaccination strategies and confronting the dual responsibilities of advancing vaccine coverage and ensuring adequate screening for both vaccinated and unvaccinated groups. ASC-US is a common cytological abnormality in cervical cancer screening in the post-vaccine era, with histopathology that varies greatly (15). Due to the relatively limited diagnostic capabilities of cytologists, relying solely on TCT testing methods presents certain

limitations. To optimize screening outcomes, introducing HPV testing can effectively compensate for the shortcomings of cytological screening.

Currently, there is a lack of substantial real-world datasets in China for reference purposes. We hypothesize that the bivalent vaccine was received by the study population to make a cautious estimation of post-immunization outcomes. In this study, the reporting rate of ASC-US among 7,511 rural women was about 12% in the unvaccinated group. The incidence rate of ASC-US in the population after vaccination was about 10%, similar to the range of 3.7-10% observed in Chinese women (16, 17). In the unvaccinated group, the study identified that the prevalence rate (59.27%) of HR-HPV in the ASC-US population was higher than the proportions reported by Zhang J (18) (43.79%) and Wang L (19) (49.76%) in rural Chinese areas, but lower than the figure reported by White C (20) (62.2%) in Ireland. This discrepancy may be due to differences in HPV infection rates among various regions. The CIN2+ is an important outcome endpoint in this study, with routine fertilitysparing treatments for early-stage cervical cancer including Loop Electrosurgical Excision Procedure (LEEP) and laparoscopic-assisted vaginal trachelectomy (21, 22). The CIN2+ detection rate among ASC-US individuals was 2.35% (22/933), which was similar to the rate reported by Ittiamornlert P (2.74%) (23) but lower than the rate reported by Tao X (5.5%) (15). This discrepancy might be attributed to the fact that our investigation carried out screening assessments within the general populace, whereas Tao X's study enlisted participants through opportunistic screening procedures conducted at outpatient clinics. However, the detection rate of CIN2+ was only 1.06% (8/754) in the vaccinated group, significantly lower than in the unvaccinated group. Consistent with Teoh D's (24) study, our findings showed that the probability of cervical precancerous lesions was lower in the vaccinated population compared to their unvaccinated counterparts.

In the unvaccined group, HPV16 had the highest infection rate and pathogenicity. HPV16 was the most prevalent genotype, with 44% of the risk of CIN2+ attributed to it (25). In addition to HPV16, the AF values for HPV33, 18, 58, and 31 were also high in CIN2+

TABLE 3	Attributable ris	analysis of differe	nt HPV types on	CIN2+ (%,95%CI).
---------	------------------	---------------------	-----------------	------------------

		Unvacc	ined group			Vaccined group				
HPV genotype	Normal	CIN1	CIN2+	RR (A)	RR (B)	Normal	CIN1	CIN2+	RR (A)	RR (B)
HPV16	0.11 (0.09,0.13)	0.32 (0.21,0.45)	0.44 (0.32,0.58)	2.90	4.00	_	-	-	-	-
HPV18	0.02 (0.01,0.04)	0.02 (0.00,0.13)	0.13 (0.02,0.39)	1.00	6.50	_	_	_	-	-
HPV33	0.02 (0.01,0.03)	0.04 (0.03,0.06)	0.22 (0.07,0.53)	2.00	11.00	0.01 (0.01,0.03)	0.02 (0.00,0.15)	0.37 (0.07,1.09)	2.00	37.0
HPV52	0.09 (0.07,0.11)	0.11 (0.10,0.12)	0	1.22	0	0.06 (0.05,0.09)	0.13 (0.04,0.32)	0	2.16	0
HPV58	0.08 (0.06,0.10)	0.09 (0.08,0.09)	0.13 (0.09,0.17)	1.12	1.62	0.07 (0.05,0.10)	0.11 (0.03,0.28)	0.33 (0.00,1.85)	1.57	4.7
HPV31	0.03 (0.02,0.04)	0.02 (0.01,0.03)	0.06 (0.00,0.21)	0.66	2.00	0.03 (0.02,0.04)	0.03 (0.00,0.15)	0.16 (0.00,0.92)	1.00	5.3
HPV35	0.00 (0.00,0.01)	0.03 (0.00,0.11)	0	-	0	0.00 (0.00,0.01)	0.02 (0.00,0.15)	0	-	0
HPV39	0.05 (0.04,0.07)	0.03 (0.01,0.09)	0	0.60	0	0.01 (0.00,0.02)	0.02 (0.00,0.15)	0	2.00	0
HPV45	0.00 (0.00,0.01)	-	0	-	0	0.00 (0.00,0.01)	-	0	-	0
HPV51	0.05 (0.03,0.06)	-	0	-	0	0.05 (0.03,0.07)	_	0	-	0
HPV56	0.03 (0.02,0.05)	-	0	-	0	0.03 (0.02,0.05)	-	0	-	0
HPV59	0.01 (0.01,0.02)	-	0	-	0	0.02 (0.01,0.03)	_	0	-	0
HPV66	0.02 (0.01,0.03)	0.08 (0.08,0.09)	0	4.00	0	0.01 (0.00,0.02)	0.08 (0.01,0.24)	0	8.00	0
HPV68	0.01 (0.00,0.02)	0	0	0	0	0.01 (0.01,0.03)	0	0	0	0

AF, Attribution score; RR, Relative risk; RR(A), AF_(CIN1)/AF_(Normal); RR(B), AF_(CIN2+)/AF_(Normal); "-", negative.



FIGURE 2

The ROC curve of different HR-HPV genotype combinations. Notes: The vertical axis represents the sensitivity of CIN2+ detection in different HPV genotype combinations, and the horizontal axis represents 1-specifility of CIN2+ detection in different HPV genotype combinations. The solid line represents the unvaccinated group, and the dotted line represents the vaccinated group.



Referral rate in the unvaccinated and vaccinated groups. The vertical axis represents different HR-HPV genotype combination patterns, and the horizontal axis represents the probability of referral for colposcopy under different genotype combination patterns.

Group	HPV genotype	Sensitivity	Specificity*	PPV	NPV	Missed diagnosis rate	ROC AUC	Colposcopic referral rate*
	HPV16/18	63.63 (40.65,82.80)	81.77* (79.11,84.23)	7.82 (5.67,10.69)	98.93 (98.16,99.38)	36.37 (17.20,59.35)	0.728 (0.698,0.756)	32.37* (27.80,37.47)
	HPV16/18/33	77.27 (54.63,92.17)	79.58* (76.81,82.15)	8.37 (6.58,10.60)	99.31 (98.53,99.68)	22.73 (7.83,45.37)	0.784 (0.756,0.810)	37.97* (33.01,43.47)
Unvaccined group	HPV16/18/31/33	86.36 (65.08,97.09)	76.07* (73.16,78.80)	8.01 (6.64,9.64)	99.56 (98.77,99.84)	13.64 (2.91,34.92)	0.812 (0.786,0.836)	42.86* (37.57,48.67)
	HPV16/18/31/ 33/58	95.45 (77.15,99.88)	68.27* (65.14,71.29)	6.77 (5.98,7.65)	99.83 (98.92,99.97)	4.55 (0.12,22.85)	0.819 (0.792,0.843)	56.06* (49.09,62.66)
	HPV33	37.5 (8.52,75.51)	96.91 [#] (95.41,98.03)	11.53 (4.66,25.80)	99.31 (98.83,99.59)	62.50 (24.49,91.48)	0.672 (0.637,0.706)	6.95 [#] (4.54,10.18)
	HPV58	37.5 (8.52,75.51)	89.54 [#] (87.12,91.64)	3.70 (1.51,8.79)	99.25 (98.73,99.56)	62.50 (24.49,91.48)	0.635 (0.600,0.670)	21.66 [#] (17.2,26.92)
	HPV31	25.00 (3.18,65.08)	95.71 [#] (93.99,97.04)	5.88 (1.76,17.86)	99.16 (98.76,99.44)	75.00 (34.52,96.82)	0.604 (0.568,0.639)	9.09 [#] (6.29.12.70)
Vaccined group	HPV33/58	75.00 (34.91,96.81)	86.99* (84.37,89.32)	5.82 (3.82,8.77)	99.69 (98.98,99.90)	25.00 (3.19,65.09)	0.810 (0.780,0.837)	27.54* (22.48.33.40)
	HPV31/58	50.00 (15.70,84.29)	85.52* (82.79,87.97)	3.57 (1.78,7.03)	99.37 (98.76,99.68)	50.00 (84.30,15.71)	0.687 (0.643,0.711)	29.95* (24.66,36.03)
	HPV31/33/58	87.50 (47.34,99.68)	83.11* (80.22,85.73)	5.26 (3.92,7.01)	99.83 (99.00,99.97)	12.50 (0.32,52.64)	0.853 (0.826,0.878)	35.56* (29.77,42.14)
	HPV31/33/52/58	100.00 (63.05,100.00)	72.92* (69.58,76.08)	3.81 (3.40,4.26)	100.00	0	0.865 (0.838,0.888)	56.15* (48.81,64.28)

TABLE 4 The triaging effect of different HPV genotype on CIN2+ in women with ASC-US.

HPV, human papillomavirus; PPV, positive predictive value; NPV, negative predictive value; ROC AUC, the area under ROC curve; *, it means that there is P < 0.05 between the combinational HPV genotypes; #, it means that there is P < 0.05 between the single HPV genotype.

cases. This contrasted with Li L's study (26), where AF values were relatively higher for HPV16, 58, 52, 18, and 51, likely because our study population consisted of ASC-US individuals, whereas her research was conducted in the general population. Due to the protection provided by vaccination, the proportion of HPV genotypes has changed. In the vaccinated group, the AF values of HPV33, 58, and 31 ranked in the top three among individuals with CIN2+. HPV33, 58, and 31 should also be followed up in a short period. A similar study revealed that different types of HPV play distinct roles in cervical precancerous lesions (27). Previous studies (5, 28, 29) by domestic and foreign scholars analyzed the triage strategy of HPV16/18 and HR-HPV genotypes in ASC-US populations. A previous study found that the sensitivity and specificity of HPV16/18 genotyping in detecting CIN2+ lesions in 329 Chinese women with ASC-US were 82% and 91% (30). Another study in Shanxi province of China demonstrated that the sensitivity and specificity of HPV16/18/33/52/58 were 72.46% and 81.57%, respectively, for detecting CIN2+ lesions in women with ASC-US (31). In the current study, we evaluated the possibility of using a combination of the five most common HPV genotyping (HPV16/ 18/31/33/58). The sensitivity of HPV16/18 for ASC-US population in our study was similar to Li X's findings (58.3%) (32). Our study also suggested that HPV16/18 (81.77%) saw the highest specificity in detecting CIN2+ in ASC-US compared to HPV16/18/33 (79.58%), HPV16/18/31/33 (76.07%), and HPV16/18/31/33/58 (68.27%), with significant difference. Moreover, the referral rate of

HPV16/18 (32.37%) was the lowest, almost half of that of HPV16/18/31/33/58 (33.23%), which might avoid the waste of medical resources.

The incidence of HPV16/18 strains that lead to cervical cancer and its precursor lesions had declined with the onset of the vaccine era (33, 34). Studies conducted in India suggested that the HPV vaccine was more than 90% effective against HPV16/18 (35-37). In countries with high vaccine coverage, such as the United States and Australia, there had been a significant reduction in high-grade cervical lesions after the introduction of the HPV vaccine. In developing nations, the administration of bivalent vaccines had been extensively carried out among age-appropriate females under the auspices of local health policies. This measure contributed to reducing the future burden on both societal and familial levels and fostered improved female health. We assumed that the protection rate of post-bivalent vaccines would reach 100% in the vaccinated group. We evaluated the sensitivity, specificity, positive predictive value, and negative predictive value of other HPV genotype combinations excluding HPV16/18. Among single-genotype infections, HPV33 demonstrated relatively high specificity (96.91%) and the lowest referral rates (6.95%), demonstrating statistical significance against HPV31 and HPV58. It emerged as an excellent marker for assessing ASC-US triage within vaccinated populations. The sensitivity of HPV33/58 reached 75%, and the specificity was close to 90%, with a significant difference (P < 0.05). In particular, the colposcopy referral rate (27.54%) was the lowest, and the difference was statistically different. Despite the unavoidable examination of colposcopy, the HPV vaccine will reduce the number of colposcopy referrals by 10% (38). HPV33/58 may be a new combination for the triage of ASC-US populations in the future. Consequently, this gene-specific genotyping test might help avoid unnecessary examinations and treatments.

This study has several limitations. Firstly, this hypothetical scenario disregards real-world variables affecting HPV vaccination's impact, including coverage, compliance, and non-targeted HPV types. But the assumption grounded in comprehensive data of a large, real-world population that has undergone cervical cancer screening, can still offer valuable insights value for the triage of ASC-US women post-vaccination in the absence of comprehensive real-world research data on HPV vaccines. Secondly, only bivalent vaccines were considered, not quadrivalent and nine-valent vaccines. The bivalent vaccine was an economical option, and this research has carried out a cautious evaluation. The efficacy would be further improved if quadrivalent and nine-valent vaccines were employed.

5 Conclusion

In conclusion, in the unvaccinated group, HPV16, 18, 33, 58, and 31 genotypes require significant attention. The HPV16/18 genotyping strategy is a feasible for triaging participants with ASC-US in resource-limited areas. In the vaccinated group, HPV33, 58, and 31 genotypes require significant attention. The combination of HPV33/58 would be highly sensitive and specific for triaging the ASC-US population in the vaccinated group.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material. Further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Ethics statement

Written informed consent was obtained from the individual(s) for the publication of any potentially identifiable images or data included in this article.

References

1. Chen T, Wei M, Liu Y, Wang H, Zhou W, Bi Y, et al. Rising mortality rate of cervical cancer in younger women in urban China. *J Gen Intern Med.* (2020) 35:593. doi: 10.1007/s11606-019-05174-5

2. Singh D, Vignat J, Lorenzoni V, Eslahi M, Ginsburg O, Lauby-Secretan B, et al. Global estimates of incidence and mortality of cervical cancer in 2020: a baseline analysis of the WHO Global Cervical Cancer Elimination Initiative. *Lancet Glob Health*. (2023) 11:e197–206. doi: 10.1016/S2214-109X(22)00501-0

3. Wang Y, Gao S, Wang Y, Chen F, Deng H, Lu Y. The efficiency of type-specific high-risk human papillomavirus models in the triage of women with atypical squamous

Author contributions

HY: Investigation, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. YH: Software, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. MN: Investigation, Data curation, Writing – original draft. JJ: Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. SZ: Conceptualization, Writing – review & editing. LW: Methodology, Writing – original draft. XJ: Methodology, Writing – original draft. XZ: Methodology, Writing – original draft. XF: Conceptualization, Writing – original draft. YQ: Supervision, Writing – review & editing. ZL: Conceptualization, Methodology, Writing – original draft. YQ: Supervision, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. ZL: Conceptualization, Methodology, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing.

Funding

The author(s) declare that no financial support was received for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

Acknowledgments

We thank all the study participants, as well as local healthcare workers from the Wuxiang Women and Children Health Service Center for their help with the study. We are also grateful for the contribution of our coworkers in conducting the study.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

cells of undetermined significance. Cancer Manag Res. (2020) 12:5265–75. doi: 10.2147/CMAR.S254330

4. Frega A, Pavone M, Sesti F, Leone C, Bianchi P, Cozza G, et al. Sensitivity and specificity values of high-risk HPV DNA, p16/ki-67 and HPV mRNA in young women with atypical squamous cells of undetermined significance (ASCUS) or low-grade squamous intraepithelial lesion (LSIL). *Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci.* (2019) 23:10672–7. doi: 10.26355/eurrev20191219765

5. Meijer C, Snijders P. Human papillomavirus triage of women with atypical squamous cells of undetermined significance-reduction of overtreatment needed. *JAMA Oncol.* (2017) 3:1310–1. doi: 10.1001/jamaoncol.2017.1522

6. Guo Z, Jia MM, Chen Q, Chen HM, Chen PP, Zhao DM, et al. Performance of different combination models of high-risk HPV genotyping in triaging chinese women with atypical squamous cells of undetermined significance. *Front Oncol.* (2019) 9:202. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2019.00202

 Fokom-Defo V, Dille I, Fokom-Domgue J. Single dose HPV vaccine in achieving global cervical cancer elimination. *Lancet Glob Health*. (2024) 12:e360–1. doi: 10.1016/ S2214-109X(24)00009-3

8. Zhao FH, Wu T, Hu YM, Wei LH, Li MQ, Huang WJ, et al. Efficacy, safety, and immunogenicity of an Escherichia coli-produced Human Papillomavirus (16 and 18) L1 virus-like-particle vaccine: end-of-study analysis of a phase 3, double-blind, randomized, controlled trial. *Lancet Infect Dis.* (2022) 22:1756–68. doi: 10.1016/S1473-3099(22)00435-2

9. Lehtinen M, Lagheden C, Luostarinen T, Eriksson T, Apter D, Bly A, et al. Human papillomavirus vaccine efficacy against invasive, HPV-positive cancers: populationbased follow-up of a cluster-randomized trial. *BMJ Open.* (2021) 11:e50669. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2021-050669

10. Ren X, Hao Y, Wu B, Jia X, Niu M, Wang K, et al. Efficacy of prophylactic human papillomavirus vaccines on cervical cancer among the Asian population: A metaanalysis. *Front Microbiol.* (2022) 13:1052324. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2022.1052324

11. Palmer TJ, Kavanagh K, Cuschieri K, Cameron R, Graham C, Wilson A, et al. Invasive cervical cancer incidence following bivalent human papillomavirus vaccination: a population-based observational study of age at immunization, dose, and deprivation. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* (2024) 116:857–65. doi: 10.1093/jnci/djad263

12. Lin Z, Liang X, Su L, Peng W, Chen H, Fang Y, et al. Coverage with the first dose of human papillomavirus vaccination among females aged 9-50 years in shenzhen, China: A surveillance based on administrative health records in 2023. *Vaccines (Basel)*. (2024) 12:75–6. doi: 10.3390/vaccines12010075

13. Zhao XL, Hu SY, Hu JW, Wang HH, Wen TM, Feng YS, et al. Tackling barriers to scale up human papillomavirus vaccination in China: progress and the way forward. *Infect Dis Poverty.* (2023) 12:86. doi: 10.1186/s40249-023-01136-6

14. Reich O, Regauer S, Marth C, Schmidt D, Horn LC, Dannecker C, et al. Precancerous lesions of the cervix, vulva and vagina according to the 2014 WHO classification of tumors of the female genital tract. *Geburtshilfe Frauenheilkd.* (2015) 75:1018–20. doi: 10.1055/s-0035-1558052

15. Tao X, Austin RM, Yu T, Zhong F, Zhou X, Cong Q, et al. Risk stratification for cervical neoplasia using extended high-risk HPV genotyping in women with ASC-US cytology: A large retrospective study from China. *Cancer Cytopathol.* (2022) 130:248–58. doi: 10.1002/cncy.v130.4

16. Li B, Dong L, Wang C, Li J, Zhao X, Dong M, et al. Analysis of the related factors of atypical squamous cells of undetermined significance (ASC-US) in cervical cytology of post-menopausal women. *Front Cell Infect Microbiol.* (2023) 13:1123260. doi: 10.3389/fcimb.2023.1123260

17. Tao X, Zhang H, Wang L, Pan Q, Ji S, Zhou X, et al. Atypical squamous cells of undetermined significance cervical cytology in the Chinese population: Age-stratified reporting rates, high-risk HPV testing, and immediate histologic correlation results. *Cancer Cytopathol.* (2021) 129:24–32. doi: 10.1002/cncy.v129.1

18. Zhang J, Zhao Y, Dai Y, Dang L, Ma L, Yang C, et al. Effectiveness of high-risk human papillomavirus testing for cervical cancer screening in China: A multicenter, open-label, randomized clinical trial. *JAMA Oncol.* (2021) 7:263–70. doi: 10.1001/jamaoncol.2020.6575

19. Wang L, Song Q, Liu Y, Ou Q. ThinPrep cytologic test combined with HPV typing to evaluate the degree of cervical diseases and the relationship between HPV typing and the pathological results of patients with atypical squamous cells of undetermined significance: a diagnostic test. *Transl Cancer Res.* (2022) 11:3277–86. doi: 10.21037/tcr-22-2026

20. White C, Bakhiet S, Bates M, Keegan H, Pilkington L, Ruttle C, et al. Triage of LSIL/ASC-US with p16/Ki-67 dual staining and human papillomavirus testing: a 2-year prospective study. *Cytopathology*. (2016) 27:269–76. doi: 10.1111/cyt.2016.27.issue-4

21. Pavone M, Goglia M, Scambia G, Querleu D, Akladios C, Lecointre L. Laparoscopic-assisted vaginal trachelectomy with prophylactic cerclage: A safe fertility-sparing treatment for early stage cervical cancer. *Ann Surg Oncol.* (2024) 31:1804–5. doi: 10.1245/s10434-023-14737-0

22. Frega A, Santomauro M, Sesti F, Di Giuseppe J, Colombrino C, Marziani R, et al. Preterm birth after loop electrosurgical excision procedure (LEEP): how cone features

and microbiota could influence the pregnancy outcome. *Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci.* (2018) 22:7039–44. doi: 10.26355/eurrev20181016176

23. Ittiamornlert P, Jareemit N, Phianpiset R, Kuljarusnont S, Hanamornroongruang S, Horthongkham N, et al. High-risk human papillomavirus genotyping in women with atypical squamous cells of undetermined significance. *Sci Rep.* (2023) 13:12134. doi: 10.1038/ s41598-023-39206-2

24. Teoh D, Nam G, Aase DA, Russell R, Melton GB, Kulasingam S, et al. Test performance of cervical cytology among adults with vs without human papillomavirus vaccination. *JAMA Netw Open*. (2022) 5:e2214020. doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2022.14020

25. Del MA, Adcock R, Carozzi F, Gillio-Tos A, De Marco L, Girlando S, et al. Human papilloma virus genotyping for the cross-sectional and longitudinal probability of developing cervical intraepithelial neoplasia grade 2 or more. *Int J Cancer*. (2018) 143:333–42. doi: 10.16462/j.cnki.zhjbkz.2017.01.021

26. Li L, Jiang M, Li T, Yin J, Feng R, Dong L, et al. Absolute risk and attributable fraction of type-specific human papillomavirus in cervical cancer and precancerous lesions-A population-based study of 6286 women in rural areas of China. *J Clin Med.* (2022) 11:6483–95. doi: 10.3390/jcm11216483

27. Zhao XL, Hu SY, Zhang Q, Dong L, Feng RM, Han R, et al. High-risk human papillomavirus genotype distribution and attribution to cervical cancer and precancerous lesions in a rural Chinese population. *J Gynecol Oncol.* (2017) 28:e30. doi: 10.3802/jgo.2017.28.e30

28. Wright TJ, Stoler MH, Parvu V, Yanson K, Cooper C, Andrews J. Risk detection for high-grade cervical disease using Onclarity HPV extended genotyping in women, ≥21 years of age, with ASC-US or LSIL cytology. *Gynecol Oncol.* (2019) 154:360–7. doi: 10.1016/j.ygyno.2019.05.012

29. Saccucci M, Franco EL, Ding L, Bernstein DI, Brown D, Kahn JA. Non-vaccinetype human papillomavirus prevalence after vaccine introduction: no evidence for type replacement but evidence for cross-protection. *Sex Transm Dis.* (2018) 45:260–5. doi: 10.1097/OLQ.000000000000731

30. Lin CQ, Cui JF, Zhang X, Pan QJ, Chen W, Qiao YL. Human papillomavirus genotyping to predict the risk of cervical precancerous lesions or cancer in women with minor abnormal cytology in China. *Acta Cytol.* (2015) 59:405–11. doi: 10.1159/000441290

31. Wei S, Tao Z, Tie-jun Z, Gen-ming Z. The epidemiological situation of human papillomavirus infection among women in China. *Chin J Pract Gynecology Obstetrics*. (2017) 21:89–93. doi: 10.16462/j.cnki.zhjbkz.2017.01.021

32. Li X, Kang C, Kong W, Xu C, Song Y, Xing K, et al. Clinical significance of shunt of different subtypes of high-risk human papillomavirus in atypical squamous cell patients with unknown cervical cytology. *Chin J Pract Gynecology Obstetrics*. (2023) 39:749–52. doi: 10.19538/j.fk2023070116

33. Abbas M, de Jonge J, Bettendorf O. Prevalence of high-risk HPV subtypes and efficacy of the HPV vaccine in preventing cervical epithelial lesions: survey and insights from a german study. *Life (Basel).* (2023) 13:1637–46. doi: 10.3390/life13081637

34. Covert C, Ding L, Brown D, Franco EL, Bernstein DJ, Kahn JA. Evidence for cross-protection but not type-replacement over the 11 years after human papillomavirus vaccine introduction. *Hum Vaccin Immunother.* (2019) 15:1962–9. doi: 10.1080/21645515.2018.1564438

35. Basu P, Malvi SG, Joshi S, Bhatla N, Muwonge R, Lucas E, et al. Vaccine efficacy against persistent human papillomavirus (HPV) 16/18 infection at 10 years after one, two, and three doses of quadrivalent HPV vaccine in girls in India: a multicenter, prospective, cohort study. *Lancet Oncol.* (2021) 22:1518–29. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045 (21)00453-8

36. Setiawan D, Nurulita NA, Khoirunnisa SM, Postma MJ. The clinical effectiveness of one-dose vaccination with an HPV vaccine: A meta-analysis of 902,368 vaccinated women. *PloS One*. (2024) 19:e290808. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0290808

37. Zhao F, Jastorff A, Hong Y, Hu S, Chen W, Xu X, et al. Safety of AS04-HPV-16/ 18 vaccine in Chinese women aged 26 years and older and long-term protective effect in women vaccinated at age 18-25 years: A 10-year follow-up study. *Asia Pac J Clin Oncol.* (2023) 19:458–67. doi: 10.1111/ajco.13833

38. Pesola F, Rebolj M, Leeson S, Dunk L, Pickford L, Gjini A, et al. Introducing human papillomavirus (HPV) primary testing in the age of HPV vaccination: projected impact on colposcopy services in Wales. *BJOG.* (2021) 128:1226–35. doi: 10.1111/1471-0528.16610

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Leeya Pinder, University of Cincinnati, United States

REVIEWED BY

Umamaheswaran Gurusamy, Nationwide Children's Hospital, United States Yara Lucia Furtado, Federal University of Rio de Janeiro, Brazil Kwabena Amo-Antwi, Kwame Nkrumah University of Science and Technology, Ghana

*CORRESPONDENCE Solomon Demis Kebede 🔀 solomondemis@gmail.com

RECEIVED 19 February 2024 ACCEPTED 20 August 2024 PUBLISHED 15 October 2024

CITATION

Kebede SD, Zeleke S, Kassaw A, Munye Aytenew T, Kefale D and Asferie WN (2024) Prevalence and distribution of human papillomavirus genotypes in women with abnormal cervical cytology in Ethiopia: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Front. Oncol.* 14:1384994. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2024.1384994

COPYRIGHT

© 2024 Kebede, Zeleke, Kassaw, Munye Aytenew, Kefale and Asferie. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Prevalence and distribution of human papillomavirus genotypes in women with abnormal cervical cytology in Ethiopia: a systematic review and meta-analysis

Solomon Demis Kebede^{1*}, Shegaw Zeleke², Amare Kassaw³, Tigabu Munye Aytenew², Demewoz Kefale³ and Worku Necho Asferie¹

¹Department of Maternity and Neonatal Nursing, College of Health Sciences, Debre Tabor University, Debre Tabor, Ethiopia, ²Department of Nursing, College of Health Sciences, Debre Tabor University, Debre Tabor, Ethiopia, ³Department of Pediatrics and Child Health Nursing, College of Health Sciences, Debre Tabor University, Debre Tabor, Ethiopia

Background: Cervical cancer is the 4th most common cancer in women globally. Determining the prevalence of the high-risk human papillomavirus (HR-HPV) and low-risk (LR-HPV) genotypes and the distribution in abnormal cervical cytology will be essential in a future population-based cervical cancer prevention program.

Method: Primary studies with women with abnormal cervical cytology were systematically searched for in Medline, CINHAL, Google Scholar, African Journal Online, and the University of Antwerp repository from 19-30 May 2023. A weighted inverse-variance random effects model was used. Variations across the studies were checked using a forest plot, I² statistics, and Egger's test. Group analysis was performed for evidence of heterogeneity.

Results: The pooled prevalence of human papillomavirus (HPV) genotypes with abnormal cervical cytology of a precancerous cervical lesion was 38.74% (95% CI: 27.56-49.93). The leading pooled prevalence estimates by subgroup analysis were 18% (95% CI: 13-26), 14% (95% CI: 111-16), and 66% (51-79) for women with retroviral infection (RVI), DNA genotyping with amplification, and central parts of Ethiopia respectively. There were 25 HPV variants identified by genotyping techniques with the five most prevalent HPV genotypes being HPV-16 and HPV-18 coexisting at 54%; HPV-16 alone at 29%; HPV-51 at 16%; HPV-52 at 13%; and HPV-31 and HPV-33 each contributing approximately 12%.

Conclusion: The pooled prevalence of HPV genotypes was higher than in other countries. HPV-51, HPV-52, HPV-31, and HPV-33 are the most prevalent genotypes. Hence, the nonavalent vaccine type would be the one that includes all the most prevalent HPV genotypes, but HPV-51in Ethiopia. Additional data on similar DNA test techniques for comparisons with

precancerous lesions and invasive cancer are needed. Cervical cancer prevention and control programs in Ethiopia should be aligned with the most prevalent genotypes.

Systematic review registration: https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/, identifier CRD42023428955.

KEYWORDS

HPV genotypes, cervical lesion, abnormal cervical cytology, pap smear test, cervical cancer screening

Background

Cervical cancer is the most prevalent type of cancer affecting the reproductive organs of women and the primary cause of cancerrelated deaths in low- and middle-income countries (LMICs), such as Ethiopia. For instance, the ten African countries with the highest rates of cervical cancer were all above the global average, at 13.30 per 100,000 women and 604,127 cases (1–3).

Africa has the highest incidence of cervical cancer worldwide with rates of 31.6 cases per 100,000 people which is above the global incidence of 13.3 cases per 100,000 people (2, 4).

A systematic population-based program with pap tests has been reducing the incidence of invasive cervical cancer in high-income countries by detecting and treating cervical lesions. However, screening is limited in low-income countries as it is being performed in public or private laboratories in urban areas for only approximately 5% of eligible women. In addition, the absence of a well-organized surveillance and review system results in poor screening or lack of follow-up (2, 5–7).

Evidence suggests that less than 5% of all eligible women in developing countries receive cytology-based screening within 5 years. This is because there are few healthcare providers and professionals involved in such analyses or because of the limited availability of medical facilities available to accommodate the demand for screening and treatment. Moreover, in LMICs, cytology services are limited to teaching hospitals or private clinics in larger cities and are not accessible to all eligible women (5, 6).

The Bethesda system is a standardized model for reporting cervicovaginal cytology by which there are low-grade squamous intraepithelial lesions (LSILs), high-grade squamous intraepithelial lesions (HSILs), or atypical squamous cells [of undermined significance (ASCUS) or cannot rule out HSIL (ASC-H)] (8–10). Approximately 15% of human papillomavirus (HPV) infections progress to low LSILs within 3-4 years, and 30-70% of LSILs

advance to HSILs in 10 years (11–13). The most common HPV types identified in previous studies were 16, 18, 31, 33, 35, 39, 45, 51, 52, 56, 58, 68, and 59, which were considered high risk. Several groups, including HPV types 53, 66, 70, 73, and 82, have been classified as potential or high-risk types. Approximately seven types of high-risk human papillomavirus (HR-HPV) are associated with approximately 87% of cervical cancer cases worldwide. Forty types of papillomaviruses, which tend to spread to the genitals, usually infect the cervix, genitals, urethra, and anus in both sexes (1, 7, 14).

According to the WHO global strategy to accelerate the elimination of cervical cancer as a public health problem by 2030, 90% of girls will be fully vaccinated against HPV by the age of 15 (5). There are currently two types of HPV vaccines licensed in many countries, and these vaccines have been proven to prevent more than 95% of HPV infections caused by HPV types 16 and 18, which cause 70% of cancer cases (15). However, there is no consistent information on which type of vaccine is better at preventing HPV-related cervical cancer in Ethiopia. This review aimed to determine the prevalence, most specific type, and distribution of HPV genotypes among women with abnormal cervical cytology.

Materials and methods

Reporting

The results of this review were reported in accordance with the MOOSE checklist for meta-analyses of observational studies (16). Supplementary File 1 shows the MOOSE checklist.

The review has been registered with PROSPERO ID: CRD42023428955.

Search strategy and source of information

Data searching was conducted from 19-30 May 2023. The articles retrieved were published from 2006 to 2023, were written in English, and had cross-sectional and cohort study designs. The MEDLINE, Web of Science, Scopus, Google Scholar, Africa Online Journals, University of

Abbreviations: DNA, Deoxyribonucleic acid; HPV, human papillomavirus; RNA, Ribonucleic acid; RVI, retroviral infection; VIA, visual inspection via acetic acid.

Antwerp repository, and gray literature databases were searched. The key search terms and phrases used were "human papillomavirus", "human papillomavirus DNA tests", "human papillomavirus investigating", "cervical cancer", "precancerous cervical lesion", "cervical tumor", "cervical malignancy", "reproductive women", "adolescent girls", "mothers", and "Ethiopia". The search strategy was developed using various Boolean operators. Hence, to fit the advanced PubMed database, the following search strategies were applied on 29 March 2023: [(human papillomavirus screening [MeSH Terms]) AND (human papillomavirus testing [MeSH Terms] AND (human papilloma investigating [MeSH Terms] AND (cervical neoplasms [MeSH Terms]) OR (cervical cancer [MeSH Terms]) OR (precancerous cervical lesion [MeSH Terms]) OR (cervical tumor [MeSH Terms]) AND (reproductive women [MeSH Terms]) OR (adolescent girls [MeSH Terms]) AND (Ethiopia).

Study selection

The studies were imported into Mendeley Desktop using data management software to eliminate duplicate data. Two independent reviewers reviewed the title and abstract. Differences between reviewers were checked by article-based analysis. Abstract and full-text analyses were performed by two independent authors in three groups. All reviewers screened all studies with discussions on inconsistency amendments among the reviewers.

Eligibility criteria

Inclusion criteria

The primary studies included were those that reported both highrisk HPV (HR-HPV) and low-risk HPV (LR-HPV) genotype prevalence and distribution in women with LSILs or HSILs in Ethiopia.

Exclusion criteria

Articles without full text available and qualitative studies were excluded.

Outcome measurement

The overall HPV prevalence was defined as the number of women with positive HPV tests among all women with LSIL or HSIL cytology reports, expressed as a percentage.

Similarly, the prevalence of HPV type specificity was defined as the number of women with positive HPV type-specific tests among all women with LSIL or HSIL cytology reports, expressed as a percentage.

Quality assessment

The JBI quality appraisal criteria were used (17). The tool has nine main features. The first feature is suitability for the sample frame. The second is using the convenient sampling technique. Third, the sample size should be large enough. Fourth is a description of the research object and environment. Fifth, the data analysis program was sufficient. The sixth is the validity of the situation analysis method. The seventh feature is being reliable for all participants. Eight is the necessity of statistical analysis. The final feature is being reasonable and cost-effective.

Studies were considered low risk when five or more were positive out of the nine criteria. Two independent authors evaluated the quality of the studies. Disputes are resolved with the intervention of a third-party moderator. Supplementary File 2 shows the JBI quality assessment of the included studies.

Data extraction

The adapted PICO format was used to explicitly review the pieces of literature and clear specifications for the inclusion and exclusion criteria. The adapted PICO comprises Population (P), Exposure (E), Outcome (O), and Context (Setting) as described below.

- a. Population: women with abnormal cervical cytology
- b. Exposure: human papillomavirus (HPV)
- c. Outcome: prevalence and distribution
- d. Context (Setting): Ethiopia

Both authors (SD and TM) extracted the data using a standard method. The author, year, study area, study design, setting, sample size, and HPV type on abnormal cervical cytology were extracted. This step was repeated every time a change was found in the extracted data. If inconsistencies between the extracted data persisted, a third reviewer (SZ) was included.

Statistical analysis

Statistical pooling for the prevalence proportion of estimates was performed according to the random effects model using Statistical software for Data Science (STATA V17). The random effects model of analysis was used since the studies identified were observational and had both clinical and methodological variability. The heterogeneity of the studies was evaluated based on Cochrane's Q and I2 tests as well as the Q/df (degree of freedom) ratio. Thus, Cochrane's Q test (p = 0.1), Q/df = 1, and I2 = 50% were considered cutoff points for identifying heterogeneity and selecting an effective model for analysis.

Forest plots were generated to present the pooled prevalence of HPV genotypes in women with precancerous cervical lesions. In line with this, subgroup analyses were carried out to explain HPV DNA variant distributions in subgroups with the potential to account for the differences in the effect sizes of the HPV genotypes. Egger's regression tests were performed to objectively test for the presence of a small study effect.

Results

Selection of studies for review

A total of 1,779 research citations that met the requirements of the National Institute of Health (NIH) quality assessment tool for observational cohort and cross-sectional study guidelines were retrieved. Following the removal of duplicates and the screening of titles and abstracts, 35 studies were retrieved for full-text review. Of these, a further 17 were excluded as they were not full-length articles or did not report outcomes of interest. The remaining 18 full-text articles were assessed for eligibility and two were excluded as they did not report the outcome of interest. This left 16 studies included in the review and meta-analysis. Data were extracted by title before beginning the systematic screening using the PRISMA flow diagram for the final review of the included studies. Figure 1 shows the PRISMA flow diagram of the study selection process.

Characteristics of the included studies

For the systematic review, 16 studies were included from which three studies were from the Oromia region (18–20), three from Addis Ababa in central Ethiopia (21–23), two studies from northwest Ethiopia (15, 24), and one in each of Amhara region, Tigray, Southern nations nationalities, south-central Ethiopia, southwest Ethiopia, eastern Ethiopia, Armauer Hansen Research Institute, and gynecology referral hospitals in Ethiopia, respectively (4, 14, 15, 24–30). The age range of the women studied was 15-85 years (14, 19, 21, 22, 26, 27, 29, 30). The mean age of the women was 32 years in one study (18), and the mean age was $15- \ge 44$ years in another study (16).

A total of 5,276 study participants were included. Of these, 2,621 were infected with one or more HPV genotypes. Table 1 shows the characteristics of the included studies.

Regarding the type of HPV genotyping tests and techniques, two studies used DNA testing with direct genomic detection with hybrid capture (4, 24), eight used DNA testing with amplification for HR genotyping (14, 21, 22, 25–31), and RNA amplification of an E6/E7mRNA HPV assay was used in three studies (18, 19, 23).

Meta-analysis

The pooled prevalence of HPV in abnormal cervical cytology. The absence of publication bias was assessed with Egger's regression test analysis (p = 0.125), which showed no publication bias. Table 2 shows the Egger's regression results.



First author and year	Participants age range or mean	Health facility	Study area/region	Study design	Sample size	Population outcome	Prevalence	Quality status
Ali et al. (2019) (21)	18-64	Addis Ababa	Central Ethiopia	Cross- sectional	50	38	76.00	Low risk
Bartholomeusz and Locarnini (2006) (29)	21-85	Central	Armauer Hansen Research Institute,	Cross- sectional	149	136	91.28	Low risk
Bekele et al. (2010) (27)	32-65	Jimma	Southwest Ethiopia	Cross- sectional	83	68	81.93	Low risk
Bogale et al. (2022) (22)	25-49	Addis Ababa	Central Ethiopia	Cross- sectional	130	24	18.46	Low risk
Derbies et al. (2022) (31)	-	Bahir Dar	Amhara	Cohort	3633	1950	53.67	Low risk
Derbies et al. (2023) (14)	30-67	Gynecology referral clinics	Northwest Ethiopia	Cross- sectional	154	77	50.00	Low risk
Gebremariam (2016) (25)	_	Mekele	Tigray	Cohort	86	21	24.42	Low risk
Haile et al. (2019) (18)	32	Adama	Oromia	Cross- sectional	27	6	22.22	Low risk
Kiros et al. (2021) (24)		Debre Tabor Comprehensive Hospital	Northwest	Cross- sectional	109	14	12.84	Low risk
Lemma et al. (2022) (19)	30-35	Adama	Oromia	Cross- sectional	66	6	9.09	Low risk
Leyh-Bannurah et al. (2014) (4)	15-64	gurage zone	southern nations	Cross- sectional	86	21	24.42	Low risk
Megersa et al. (2023) (20)	15-≥44	hashemite	Oromia	Cross- sectional	143	21	14.69	Low risk
Mekuria et al. (2020) (23)	18-70	Addis Ababa	Central Ethiopia	Cross- sectional	164	28	17.07	Low risk
Seyoum et al. (2023) (28)	30-60	Harara, Dire Dawa and Jigjiga	Eastern Ethiopia	Cross- sectional	152	35	23.03	Low risk
Teka et al. (2021) (26)	30-49	Butajira rural	South- central Ethiopia	Cross- sectional	205	117	57.07	Low risk
Wolday et al. (2018) (30)	40.1-43.2	Gynecology referral clinics	Ethiopia	Cross- sectional	134	59	44.03	Low risk
	Total		5276	2621				

TABLE 1 Characteristics of the included studies.

The overall pooled prevalence of HPV genotypes among women screened and identified with precancerous cervical lesions, either LSIL or HSIL, was 38.75%, with a 95% CI of 25.69-51.8 (4, 14, 18–31). Figure 2 shows a forest plot of the pooled prevalence of HPV variants in Ethiopia.

Subgroup analysis

Subgroup analysis was performed based on the study's geographical region, HPV genotyping testing technique, and characteristics of the women. Based on the pooled effect of two or more studies, the three most common genotyping testing techniques identified were acetowhite changes by visual inspection with acetic acid (VIA) and HPV DNA testing for specimens in women with retrovirus infection (RVI) at 18%, all women screened for HPV at 12%, and women with RVI at 10% (4, 18, 19, 21, 23, 25, 26, 28, 29, 31). The least prevalent HPV type, at 6%, was found in two studies (24, 30). Among the genotyping test techniques used, the DNA test with amplification was the most commonly used test modality (14, 21, 22, 25–31). Central Ethiopia was the highest contributor to the HPV genotyping evidence, accounting for 66%, and the lowest were Oromia and southern Ethiopia, which accounted for 5% of the studies (4, 18–20). Table 3 shows a subgroup analysis of the characteristics of the women, HPV testing technique, and region of Ethiopia.

Among the 16 studies, there were 25 HPV variants identified by genotyping techniques in this review. The most prevalent HPV type

StdEff.	Coef.	Std. Err	t	p>t	95% cor interval	ifidence
Slope	5.022488	9.950689	0.50	0.622	-16.31962	26.36459
Bias	30.05708	18.41711	1.63	0.125	-9.443692	69.55784

was HPV-16 and HPV-18 coexisting (14) at 54%. The second most prevalent type was HPV-16 alone, accounting for 29% of the total number of studies. The third and fourth most common HPV types were HPV-51 and HPV-52, accounting for 16% and 13% (4, 14, 18, 19, 21–23, 25, 28–31) respectively. The fifth most prevalent HPV type were HPV-31 and HPV-33, each contributing approximately 12% of all HPV variant burdens in Ethiopia in previous studies (4, 14, 18, 19, 21, 22, 25–31). Table 4 shows the prevalence of HPV

10.3389/fonc.2024.1384994

DNA test results by subgroup analysis of HPV DNA genotypes in Ethiopia.

Sensitivity analysis

Two studies (27), and (29), had an impact on the overall estimation of the meta-analysis results. Supplementary File 3 shows the sensitivity analysis.

Discussion

According to our review and meta-analysis, the prevalence any HPV genotype being detected among women who had a precancerous cervical lesion in health facilities was 38.75% (25.69-



Variable	Characteristics	Pooled prevalence (95% CI)	I ² (P value)	
Characteristics of the women	With abnormal cervical cytology	6%(3-13)	-	
	Women screened for HPV	12%(10-15)	98.86(0.00)	
	With abnormal cervical cytology and RVI	10%(7-14)	-	
	With abnormal cervical cytology, but no RVI	6%(2-12)	93.74(0.00)	
	With abnormal cervical cytology and acetowhite changes	18%(13-26)	82.44(0.00)	
	With abnormal cytology and other STI complaints	7%(3-12)	95.55(0.00)	
Genotyping testing	Direct genome detection	5%(3-7)	68.90(0.00)	
techniques	DNA with amplification	14%(11-16)	98.97(0.00)	
	RNA amplification of E6/E7	6%(4-8)	35.29(0.02)	
By region	Northwest	6%(2-10)	93.99(0.00)	
of Ethiopia	Armauer Hansen Res Center	12%(4-24)	98.08(0.00)	
	Oromia	5%(3-7)	43.57(0.02)	
	Tigray	9%(5-14)	71.14(0.00)	
	Amhara	7%(3-13)	99.84(0.00)	
	Southern Ethiopia	5%(3-7)	71.87(0.00)	
	Central Ethiopia	66%(51-79)	93.66(0.00)	
	South- central Ethiopia	22%(11-36)	96.64(0.00)	
	Gynecology referral clinics	7%(4-10)	84.93(0.00)	
	Eastern Ethiopia	7%(4-9)	79.93(0.00)	
	Central Ethiopia	16%(12-20)	81.20(0.00)	
	Southwest Ethiopia	8%(1-20)	96.41(0.00)	

TABLE 3 The subgroup analysis of the characteristics of the women, HPV testing technique, and region of Ethiopia.

51.81). A recent meta-analysis showed that the proportion of patients infected with HR-HPV was 42.2% in Eastern Africa (32). Similarly, the prevalence of HPV in women with precancerous cervical lesions and cervical cancer was between 13.7% and 93%. A globally based review showed that the prevalence of HPV genotype was between 11% and 12% (with higher rates, 24%, in sub-Saharan Africa) in women without cervical abnormalities (15, 31, 33).

The detection of HPV increases in women with abnormal cervical cytology in proportion to the severity of the lesions,

TABLE 4	The prevalence of HPV DNA test results by subgroup analysis
of HPV D	NA genotypes in Ethiopia.

Variable	HPV type	Pooled prevalence (95% CI)	I ² (P value)
HPV	16	29% (19-41)	97.69(0.00)
DNA genotype	18	5%(3-7)	78.72(0.00)
	31	12%(7-18)	94.75(0.00)
	33	12%(3-26)	96.12(0.00)
	35	11%(6-18)	95.20(0.00)
	39	11%(4-22)	94.69(0.00)
	45	10%(5-16)	94.16(0.00)
	52	13%(7-19)	94.98(0.00)
	58	10%(4-17)	95.90(0.00)
	66	10%(1-26)	96.67(0.00)
	68	11%(4-19)	95.86(0.00)
	39 and 68	3%(1-7)	-
	56 and 74	1%(0-4)	-
	6	5%(1-11)	86.23(0.00)
	51	16%(6-31)	94.14(0.00)
	56	10%(5-17)	94.44(0.00)
	59	7%(7-14)	94.61(0.00)
	53	2%(0-5)	-
	35 and 39	6%(3-13)	-
	45 and 68	5%(2-11)	-
	16 and 18	54%(52-55)	-
	11	7%(0-24)	-
	42	2%(1-2)	-
	70	2%(0-6)	-
	68 and 73	2%(1-8)	-

which supports our findings (33). Based on a global review, HPV was detected 90% of the time in abnormal cervical cytology, which is relatively higher than that reported in this review and metaanalysis (33). This might be because developed nations use more sophisticated DNA testing techniques than Ethiopia. In addition, a review showed that the prevalence of HPV was 84.8% among Asian patients with atypical squamous cell lesions (34).

The predominant genotypes identified in this review were HPV-16 and HPV-18, accounting for 9.52% and 8.33%, respectively; HPV-31 and HPV-48, each accounting for 7.74%; HPV-52 and HPV-56, each accounting for 7.14%; and HPV-35, HPV-58, and HPV-59 with an average of 6.55% of all HPV variant burdens in Ethiopia. These findings are essential for predicting how HPV vaccination and HPV-based screening will impact cervical cancer prevention in Ethiopia. This infers that further HPV vaccine studies in Ethiopia should mainly target the most predominant

genotypes as the current vaccine type only targets HPV-6, HPV-11, HPV-16, and HPV-18.

Based on similar review reports in different parts of the globe, the genotype distributions of HPVs in different countries from different kinds of cervical lesions were compared with this review. HPV-16 is the most common genotype consistently reported globally as an important cause of cervical abnormalities (35–37). The pooled prevalence of HPV-16 sub genotypes in this review and meta-analysis was found to be 29% which was relatively comparable with the overall incidence in Africa (35). The pooled prevalence of subgroup HPV genotypes 31 and 33 were 12% each, which was comparable to (35), which found 8.2% and 10.3%, respectively. However, HPV types 51 and 52 were not reported as prevalent genotypes, but in this study, they were the most prevalent cases, accounting for 16% (6–31) and 13% (7–19), respectively. HPV genotype 18 was among the lowest at 5% and HPV genotype 35 was among the dominant at 11% in this review.

This variation in HPV genotype distribution across the studies is likely attributable to differences in the population, severity of cervical lesions, age at screening initiation, frequency, coverage, and follow-up rates of women with cervical abnormalities (38). In addition, the difference might also be associated with ethnic differences, geographical location, and the sexual behavior of their male partners (39).

Globally, HPV type-specific prevalence varies. A study in Asia (40) indicated that HPV-16 was most prevalent at 23.9%, which was comparable with the findings of this review. In contrast, the prevalence of HPV type 52 was lower than that in this review. However, studies in North America (37) found the prevalence of HPV types 16, 31, and 51 to be 26%, 11.5%, and 10.6%, respectively. These findings are comparable to those of this review and meta-analysis. Similarly, in a study in Israel (41), the most prevalent HPV type was HPV-16 (46.5%), which is higher than that of this review and meta-analysis. However, the prevalence of HPV type 31 was comparable at 7%. These differences among the studies and this review might be due to variations in population, DNA testing technique, and sampling technique.

According to the results of this review and meta-analysis, the pooled prevalence of HPV 16/18 in the combined subgroup was 54%. Similarly, other reviews showed that 45.1% of HPV16/18 combined were from high-grade cervical lesions, while 67.7% were from abnormal cervical cytology among African women and 605 Israeli women (15, 31, 35, 41). Among HPV-positive patients, the co-existing prevalence of HPV 16/18 was reported differently in different countries, as it was 87.5% in Central and Eastern Europe (42) and 80% in India among those with high-grade cervical lesions (43).

HPV-16 was the most prevalent type in this review at 29% (19%-41%), and HPV-18 was not among the five most prevalent types at 5% (3%-7%). These findings were comparable to those of studies in Italy on HPV-18 (7%). However, HPV-16 (64%) was much more prevalent than this review finding (44). A review by Guan et al. revealed that HPV-16 positivity increased steeply from normal to high-grade cervical lesions (44). Accordingly, vaccine mixes and HPV-based screening tests should always include this genotype, although some low-grade cervical lesions associated with

certain other HPVs may preferentially progress to cervical cancer (3, 15). Our review envisages a future impact of the broadly identified subgroup pooling of the genotypes (HPV-16 and HPV-18 coexisting, HPV-16, HPV-51, HPV-52, HPV-31, and HPV-33) on vaccination and HPV-based screening in Ethiopia.

The Ethiopian Ministry of Health started vaccinating schoolchildren aged 14 years using Gardasil-4TM (HPV-6, HPV-11, HPV-16, HPV-18) in 2018. However, in this review, in addition to the genotypes covered by the current vaccine, there were other genotypes found to be prevalent in Ethiopia, such as HPV-51, HPV-52, HPV-31, and HPV-32. Hence, HPV-based screening based on the detection of HPV16/18 oncoproteins and, most recently, the use of the HPV DNA test has been employed. This finding suggests that vaccinating girls using Gardasil-4TM and screening women for cervical lesions using HPV16/18 oncoproteins significantly reduces the number of girls who might be protected.

The vaccine for girls would be more effective if the most prevalent genotype distribution was included. This is because women might be missed by screening programs for the most dominant HPV genotypes circulating in the country. For this reason, most developed countries are currently using other vaccine types of the monovalent Gardasil[®]9 (6, 11, 16, 18, 31, 33, 45, 52, and 58) vaccine that targets close to 90% of all HR-HPVs (45), which is essentially an ideal type of vaccine for Ethiopians based on our review findings. However, this vaccine type might not cover all the top five highly distributed HPV genotypes, except for HPV-52. Even though there is a financial limitation, the nonavalent vaccine type would be the one that includes all the most prevalent HPV genotypes, including HPV-51, for the Ethiopian setting.

Strengths and limitations

This systematic review and meta-analysis was the first to analyze results from women with abnormal cervical cytology, and important input will be obtained to revise the current vaccination and HPV-based screening program in Ethiopia. The review included studies from different health facilities and geographical areas, with a wide range of study participants and different DNA tests and techniques, which enabled us to obtain a better picture of the HPV genotype burden in Ethiopia. This review and metaanalysis result should be interpreted in light of several limitations. Because of the absence of articles on women's abnormal cervical cytology test results in some parts of the country, our findings could compromise the overall picture of the HPV genotype distribution in Ethiopia.

Conclusion

In this review and meta-analysis, HPV genotypes were predominantly identified from different kinds of cervical samples via abnormal cervical cytology. There are currently two types of HPV vaccines licensed in many countries, and these vaccines have been proven to prevent more than 95% of HPV infections caused by HPV types 16 and 18, which cause 70% of cancer cases, but the HPV genome distribution is not uniform across the country. The pooled prevalence of HPV genotypes in Ethiopia was greater than that in the other countries. HPV-16 and HPV-18 coexist, and HPV-16, HPV-51, HPV-52, HPV-31, and HPV-33 are the most prevalent HPV genotypes which require special attention when designing vaccination and HPV-based cervical cancer screening programs. Additional data on similar DNA test techniques among women with cervical cancer are needed. It is important to place emphasis on the nationwide HPV distribution in the prevention and control strategies.

Data availability statement

The data will be available upon reasonable request to corresponding author. Requests to access these datasets should be directed to SK, solomondemis@gmail.com.

Author contributions

SK: Investigation, Supervision, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. SZ: Methodology, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. AK: Formal analysis, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. TM: Conceptualization, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. DK: Software, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. WA: Formal analysis, Methodology, Writing – original draft, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing.

Funding

The author(s) that no declare financial support was received for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fonc.2024.1384994/ full#supplementary-material

References

1. WHO. Global Cancer Observatory Ethiopia Fact Sheet Vol. 133. Geneva, Switzerland: Int agency Res cancer (2021) p. 2020–1.

2. Ruland R, Prugger C, Schiffer R, Regidor M, Lellé RJ. Prevalence of human papilloma virus infection in women in rural Ethiopia. *Eur J Epidemiol*. (2006) 21:727–9. doi: 10.1007/s10654-006-9055-4

3. Menon S, Wusiman A, Boily MC, Kariisa M, Mabeya H, Luchters S, et al. Epidemiology of HPV genotypes among HIV positive women in Kenya: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *PloS One.* (2016) 11. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0163965

 Leyh-Bannurah SR, Prugger C, De Koning MNC, Goette H, Lellé RJ. Cervical human papillomavirus prevalence and genotype distribution among hybrid capture 2 positive women 15 to 64 years of age in the Gurage zone, rural Ethiopia. *Infect Agent Cancer.* (2014) 9:1–9. doi: 10.1186/1750-9378-9-33

5. World Health Organization. Cervical cancer profile Vol. 2020). Geneva, Switzerland: World Heal Organ (2021). p. 2021.

6. Federal Minstry of Health E. NATIONAL CERVICAL CANCER PREVENTION TRAINING PACKAGE PARTICIPANT MANUAL. Addis Ababa: Federal Ministry of Health (2022).

7. FMOH. *Guideline for Cervical Cancer Prevention and Control in Ethiopia* Vol. 35. Addis Ababa: Federal Ministry of Health (2015).

8. Joste NE, Rushing L, Granados R, Zitz JC, Genest DR, Crum CP, et al. Bethesda classification of cervicovaginal smears: Reproducibility and viral correlates. *Hum Pathol.* (1996) 27:581–5. Available online at: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0046817796901653.

9. Genest DR, Stein L, Cibas E, Sheets E, Zitz JC, Crum CP. A binary (Bethesda) system for classifying cervical cancer precursors: Criteria, reproducibility, and viral correlates. *Hum Pathol.* (1993) 24:730–6. Available online at: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/0046817793900096.

10. Berek JS. Simplification of the new Bethesda 2001 classification system. Am J Obstet Gynecol. (2003) 188:S2–5. Available online at: https://www.sciencedirect.com/ science/article/pii/S0002937802715408.

11. Skinner SR, Wheeler CM, Romanowski B, Castellsagué X, Lazcano-Ponce E, Del Rosario-Raymundo MR, et al. Progression of HPV infection to detectable cervical lesions or clearance in adult women: Analysis of the control arm of the VIVIANE study. *Int J cancer.* (2016) 138:2428–38. doi: 10.1002/ijc.29971

12. Welby S, Rosillon D, Feng Y, Borys D. Progression from human papillomavirus (HPV) infection to cervical lesion or clearance in women (18-25 years): Natural history study in the control arm subjects of AS04-HPV-16/18 vaccine efficacy study in China between 2008 and 2016. *Expert Rev Vaccines*. (2022) 21:407–13. doi: 10.1080/14760584.2022.2021077

13. Jahic M, Kameric L, Hadzimehmedovic A. Progression low squamous intraepithelial lesion and human papillomavirus infections. *Mater Sociomed.* (2020) 32:127–30. doi: 10.5455/msm.

14. Derbie A, Maier M, Amare B, Misgan E, Nibret E, Liebert UG, et al. High – risk human papillomavirus genotype distribution among women with gynecology complaints in northwest Ethiopia. *Infect Agent Cancer.* (2023), 1–10. doi: 10.1186/s13027-023-00481-3

15. Derbie A, Mekonnen D, Yismaw G, Biadglegne F, Van Ostade X, Abebe T. Human papillomavirus in Ethiopia. *VirusDisease.* (2019) 30:171–9. doi: 10.1007/s13337-019-00527-4

16. Stroup DF, Berlin JA, Morton SC, Olkin I, Williamson GD, Rennie D, et al. Meta-analysis of observational studies in epidemiology: a proposal for reporting. Meta-analysis Of Observational Studies in Epidemiology (MOOSE) group. *JAMA*. (2000) 283:2008–12. doi: 10.1001/jama.283.15.2008

17. Munn Z, Stone JC, Aromataris E, Klugar M, Sears K, Leonardi-Bee J, et al. Assessing the risk of bias of quantitative analytical studies: introducing the vision for critical appraisal within JBI systematic reviews. *JBI Evid Synth*. (2023) 21. Available online at: https://journals.lww.com/jbisrir/fulltext/2023/03000/assessing_the_risk_of_bias_of_quantitative.2.aspx.

18. Haile EL, Cindy S, Ina B, Belay G, Jean-Pierre VG, Sharon R, et al. HPV testing on vaginal/cervical nurse-assisted self-samples versus clinician-taken specimens and the HPV prevalence, in Adama Town, Ethiopia. *Med (Baltimore)*. (2019) 98:e16970. doi: 10.1097/MD.000000000016970

19. Lemma E. Evaluation of cervical cancer screening uptake, HPV genotyping and self-sampling collection techniques. Antwerp, Belgium: University of Antwerp (2022). pp. 1–155.

20. Megersa T, Dango S, Kumsa K, Lemma K, Lencha B. Prevalence of high – risk human papillomavirus infections and associated factors among women living with HIV in Shashemene town public health facilities, Southern Ethiopia. *BMC Womens Health.* (2023), 1–10. doi: 10.1186/s12905-023-02279-2

21. Ali KE, Mohammed IA, Difabachew MN, Demeke DS, Haile T, Ten Hove RJ, et al. Burden and genotype distribution of high-risk Human Papillomavirus infection and cervical cytology abnormalities at selected obstetrics and gynecology clinics of Addis Ababa, Ethiopia. *BMC Cancer*. (2019) 19:1–9. doi: 10.1186/s12885-019-5953-1

22. Bogale AL, Teklehaymanot T, Kassie GM, Medhin G, Ali JH, Belay NB. Performance of visual inspection with acetic acid for cervical cancer screening as compared to human papillomavirus deoxyribonucleic acid testing among women with HIV in ethiopia: a comparative cross-sectional study. *Cancer Control.* (2022) 29:1–7. doi: 10.1177/10732748221114980

23. Mekuria SF, Jerkeman M, Forslund O, Fikru S, Borgfeldt C. Detection of HPV mRNA in self-collected vaginal samples among urban Ethiopian women. *Anticancer Res.* (2020) 40:1513–7. doi: 10.21873/anticanres.14096

24. Kiros M, Belay DM, Getu S, Hailemichael W, Esmael A, Andualem H, et al. Prevalence and determinants of pre-cancerous cervical lesion and human papillomavirus among hiv-infected and hiv-uninfected women in north-west Ethiopia: A comparative retrospective cross-sectional study. *HIV/AIDS - Res Palliat Care.* (2021) 13:719–25. doi: 10.2147/HIV.S310905

25. Gebremariam T. Human papillomavirus related cervical cancer and anticipated vaccination challenges in Ethiopia. *Int J Heal Sci.* (2016) 10:137–43. doi: 10.12816/0031220

26. Teka B, Gizaw M, Ruddies F, Addissie A, Chanyalew Z, Skof AS, et al. Population-based human papillomavirus infection and genotype distribution among women in rural areas of South Central Ethiopia. *Int J Cancer.* (2021) 148:723–30. doi: 10.1002/ijc.33278

27. Bekele A, Baay M, Mekonnen Z, Suleman S, Chatterjee S. Human papillomavirus type distribution among women with cervical pathology - A study over 4 years at Jimma Hospital, southwest Ethiopia. *Trop Med Int Heal.* (2010) 15:890–3. doi: 10.1111/tmi.2010.15.issue-8

28. Seyoum A, Seyoum B, Gure T, Alemu A, Belachew A, Abeje D, et al. Genotype heterogeneity of high-risk human papillomavirus infection in Ethiopia. *Front Microbiol.* (2023) 14:1–10. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2023.1074826

29. Bartholomeusz A, Locarnini S. Associated with antiviral therapy. *Antivir Ther.* (2006) 55:52–5.

30. Wolday D, Derese M, Gebressellassie S, Tsegaye B, Ergete W, Gebrehiwot Y, et al. HPV genotype distribution among women with normal and abnormal cervical cytology presenting in a tertiary gynecology referral Clinic in Ethiopia. *Infect Agent Cancer*. (2018) 13:4–11. doi: 10.1186/s13027-018-0201-x

31. Derbie A, Mekonnen D, Nibret E, Maier M, Woldeamanuel Y, Abebe T. Human papillomavirus genotype distribution in Ethiopia: an updated systematic review. *Virol J.* (2022) 19:4–11. doi: 10.1186/s12985-022-01741-1

32. Kiyingi J, Nabunya P, Bahar OS, Mayo- LJ, Id YT, Nabayinda J, et al. Prevalence and predictors of HIV and sexually transmitted infections among vulnerable women

engaged in sex work : Findings from the Kyaterekera Project in Southern Uganda. *PloS One.* (2022), 1–14. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0273238

33. Formana D, de Martel C, Lacey CJ, Soerjomatarama I, Lortet-Tieulent J, Bruni L, et al. Global burden of human papillomavirus and related diseases. *Vaccine*. (2012) 30: F12–23. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2012.07.055

34. Bruni L, Albero G, Serrano B, Mena M, Collado JJ, Gómez D, et al. *Human Papillomavirus and Related Diseases in Ethiopia*. Lyon, France (IARC) and Barcelona, Spain (ICO): Catalan Institute of Oncology (ICO) and the International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC) (2023).

35. Ogembo RK, Gona PN, Seymour AJ, Park HSM, Bain PA, Maranda L, et al. Prevalence of human papillomavirus genotypes among African women with normal cervical cytology and neoplasia: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *PloS One.* (2015) 10:1–22. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0122488

36. Shavit O, Roura E, Barchana M, Diaz M, Bornstein J. Burden of human papillomavirus infection and related diseases in Israel. *Vaccine*. (2013) 31:132–41. Available online at: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0264410X13009213.

37. Clifford GM, Rana RK, Franceschi S, Smith JS, Gough G, Pimenta JM. Human papillomavirus genotype distribution in low-grade cervical lesions: Comparison by geographic region and with cervical cancer. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* (2005) 14:1157–64. doi: 10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-04-0812

38. Derbie A, Amare B, Misgan E, Nibret E, Maier M, Woldeamanuel Y, et al. Histopathological profile of cervical punch biopsies and risk factors associated with high-grade cervical precancerous lesions and cancer in northwest Ethiopia. *PloS One.* (2022) 17:1–15. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0274466

39. Davarmanesh M, Dezfulian M, Gharavi MJ, Younesi S, Saadati P, Amin MMT, et al. Human papilloma virus (HPV) genotypes concordance between Iranian couples referrals. *Infect Agent Cancer*. (2019) 14:1–8. doi: 10.1186/s13027-019-0241-x

40. Peng R-R, Li H-M, Chang H, Li J-H, Wang AL, Chen X-S. Prevalence and genotype distribution of cervical human papillomavirus infection among female sex workers in Asia: a systematic literature review and meta-analysis. *Sex Health.* (2012) 9:113–9. doi: 10.1071/SH11066

41. Shavit O, Roura E, Barchana M, Diaz M, Bornstein J. Burden of human papillomavirus infection and related diseases in Israel. *Vaccine*. (2013) 31:132-41. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2013.05.108

42. Poljak M, Seme K, Maver PJ, Kocjan BJ, Cuschieri KS, Rogovskaya SI, et al. Human papillomavirus prevalence and type-distribution, cervical cancer screening practices and current status of vaccination implementation in central and eastern Europe. *Vaccine.* (2013) 31. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2013.03.029

43. Sankaranarayanan R, Bhatla N, Gravitt PE, Basu P, Esmy PO, Ashrafunnessa KS, et al. Human papillomavirus infection and cervical cancer prevention in India, Bangladesh, Sri Lanka and Nepal. *Vaccine*. (2008) 26. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2008.05.005

44. Di Felice E, Caroli S, Paterlini L, Campari C, Prandi S, Rossi PG. Cervical cancer epidemiology in foreign women in Northern Italy: Role of human papillomavirus prevalence in country of origin. *Eur J Cancer Prev.* (2015) 24:223–30. doi: 10.1097/CEJ.000000000000137

45. Zhai L, Tumban E. Gardasil-9: A global survey of projected efficacy. Antiviral Res. (2016) 130:101–9. doi: 10.1016/j.antiviral.2016.03.016

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Leeya Pinder, University of Cincinnati, United States

REVIEWED BY Komsun Suwannarurk,

Thammasat University, Thailand Yu Ligh Liou, The First Affiliated Hospital of Guangdong Pharmaceutical University, China Aisha Mustapha, Ahmadu Bello University, Nigeria

*CORRESPONDENCE Tewodros Yosef Tewodrosyosef47@mtu.edu.et

RECEIVED 28 April 2024 ACCEPTED 07 October 2024 PUBLISHED 23 October 2024

CITATION

Yosef T, Birhanu B, Shifera N, Bekele BB and Asefa A (2024) Determinants of cervical cancer screening uptake among reproductive-age women in southwest Ethiopia: a case-control study. *Front. Oncol.* 14:1424810. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2024.1424810

COPYRIGHT

© 2024 Yosef, Birhanu, Shifera, Bekele and Asefa. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Determinants of cervical cancer screening uptake among reproductive-age women in southwest Ethiopia: a casecontrol study

Tewodros Yosef ^{1,2*}, Bitewlgn Birhanu¹, Nigusie Shifera¹, Bayu Begashaw Bekele^{1,3} and Adane Asefa¹

¹School of Public Health, College of Medicine and Health Sciences, Mizan-Tepi University, Mizan-Teferi, Ethiopia, ²School of Medicine, Faculty of Health, Deakin University, Waurn Ponds, VIC, Australia, ³Division of Public Health Sciences, Department of Surgery, Washington University School of Medicine, St Louis, MO, United States

Background: Cervical cancer is a major global health issue, with 604,000 diagnoses and 342,000 deaths in 2020. Despite the importance of early detection, only 5% of eligible women in Ethiopia are screened. Therefore, this study aimed to assess the determinants of cervical cancer screening uptake among reproductive-age women at selected public hospitals in southwest Ethiopia.

Methods: A case-control study involving 392 women (98 cases and 294 controls) aged 15-49 was conducted across three hospitals. Cases were women aged 15 to 49 who had cervical cancer screening, while controls were reproductive-age women seeking antenatal care or family planning but not screened. Data were collected via face-to-face interviews with pretested questionnaires and analyzed using SPSS 25. Bivariate analysis identified candidate variables with P-values < 0.25, and a multivariable logistic regression model determined factors with P-values < 0.05 as significant for cervical cancer screening uptake.

Results: Determinants of cervical cancer screening uptake included high knowledge of screening (AOR=6.23; 95%CI: 1.96, 19.79), a positive attitude toward screening (AOR=6.12; 95%CI: 2.40, 15.58), women aged 30-39 (AOR=3.94; 95%CI: 1.79, 8.63) and 40-49 (AOR=3.54; 95%CI: 1.52, 8.22), and those who reached health facilities within 60 minutes (AOR=2.32; 95%CI: 1.21, 4.45).

Conclusion: The study pinpointed age, knowledge, attitude toward cervical cancer screening, and accessibility to health facilities within a 60-minute radius as pivotal factors impacting cervical cancer screening uptake among reproductive-age women. These findings highlight the importance of targeted education, promoting positive attitudes, and enhancing healthcare accessibility to improve screening uptake and reduce the burden of cervical cancer.

KEYWORDS

cervical cancer, screening uptake, reproductive-age women, knowledge, attitude, Ethiopia

10.3389/fonc.2024.1424810

Introduction

Cervical cancer, a major global health issue, involves uncontrolled cell growth in the uterine cervix (1). It's the leading cause of maternal illness and death worldwide, with 604,000 diagnoses and 342,000 deaths in 2020 (2, 3). According to Global Cancer Statistics 2020, it's the fourth most common cause of cancer-related deaths among women, with a death occurring every two minutes, mostly in developing countries (4). In 2020, sub-Saharan Africa saw about 110,300 new cervical cancer cases, with cervical cancer being the second most common cancer among women in the region (5). In Ethiopia, it accounts for 10% of new cases in sub-Saharan Africa, making it the most prevalent cancer there and the second leading cause of death among reproductive-age women. Ethiopia reported approximately 7,445 new cases and 12,492 prevalent cases in 2020 (4).

Most cervical cancers are caused by persistent infection with high-risk HPV strains. While many HPV infections resolve on their own, persistent infections can lead to cervical pre-cancer, which, if untreated, may develop into cervical cancer over 10 to 20 years (6). Cervical cancer is preventable and curable if detected early, requiring more intensive prevention, detection, and treatment efforts than other gynecological cancers. Effective interventions in developed countries have reduced mortality rates (7). In August 2020, the WHO launched a strategy to eliminate cervical cancer, aiming to vaccinate 90% of eligible women against HPV, screen 70% at least twice, and treat 90% of those with positive results (6).

A study found that cervical cancer screening is the most effective prevention strategy, reducing deaths by 70% (8). Screening aims to detect and remove abnormal cells before cancer develops. Globally, methods include HPV testing, cytology (Pap test), and VIA (9). In resourcelimited countries like Ethiopia, VIA is preferred and recommended for women, especially between ages 30-49. Evidence suggests that including younger women in screening and treatment strategies may also be beneficial (2, 6, 10). Studies show that cervical cancer affects patients in many ways, including societal discrimination, body image issues, sexual function impairment, income loss, financial strain, and employment challenges (11, 12). Despite these impacts, cervical cancer screening rates remain low, particularly in sub-Saharan Africa (13).

A 2021 review found cervical cancer screening uptake in sub-Saharan Africa was only 12.87% (3). In Ethiopia, the 2020 HSTP-I report indicated a screening rate of just 5%, with other studies showing a range from 2.5% to 38.7% (14–18), and another meta-analysis found 14.79% (19). In early 2022, screening rates at Mizan Tepi University, Gebretsadik Shewa General, and Bachuma Primary Hospitals were 0.5%, 0.3%, and 2.3%, respectively, all below the national average. Despite the low uptake, there's a gap in understanding the factors affecting cervical cancer screening in Ethiopia. Therefore, this study aimed to assess the determinants of cervical cancer screening uptake among reproductiveage women at selected public hospitals in southwest Ethiopia.

Methods

Study design, setting, and period

A hospital-based unmatched case-control study was conducted at Mizan-Tepi University Teaching Hospital, Gebretsadik Shewa General Hospital, and Bachuma Primary Hospital in the southwest region of Ethiopia. This region, located 449 km from the capital city, consists of six zones. Among the 12 hospitals in the region, these three hospitals collectively serve over one million people.

Mizan Tepi University Teaching Hospital, located in Ethiopia's southwest Bench Sheko Zone, serves communities in Bench Sheko, West Omo, Sheka, and Gambela regions. Established in 1986 as Mizan Teferi Hospital and integrated into Mizan Tepi University in 2016, it is situated 580 kilometers southwest of Addis Ababa. Gebretsadik Shewa General Hospital is situated in Bonga town, Kaffa Zone, and is 449 kilometers from Addis Ababa. Bachuma Primary Hospital, located in the West Omo Zone, was upgraded from a health center in 2017 and is approximately 660 kilometers from Addis Ababa and 180 kilometers from Bonga town. These hospitals provide cervical cancer screening services for reproductive-age women. The study was conducted from June 10 to August 25, 2022.

Populations

The source population included all reproductive-age women seeking antenatal care, family planning services, and cervical cancer screening in the obstetrics and gynecology outpatient departments during the study period. Cases were women aged 15 to 49 who underwent cervical cancer screening, while controls were reproductive-age women visiting the hospitals for antenatal care or family planning services but not screened for cervical cancer. Exclusion criteria included women with known mental illness, those previously screened, those currently diagnosed and on follow-up, and women unable to provide written informed consent.

Sample size determination

The study's sample size was determined using Epi-info version 7.1, assuming a control-to-case ratio of 3, 80% power, and a 95% confidence level. The proportion of advanced age among controls (38.8%), with an odds ratio of 2.15, was based on a similar study in Ethiopia (20). To address non-response bias, an extra 10% was included, yielding a final sample size of around 420 participants (105 cases and 315 controls).

Sampling procedure

Mizan Tepi University Teaching Hospital, Gebretsadik Shewa General Hospital, and Bachuma Primary Hospital were purposively selected for their routine cervical cancer screening services. Sample allocation to these hospitals was based on the proportion of women screened monthly, as reported in the first quarter of 2022 (Figure 1). Cases were sampled consecutively until the required number was reached, with three controls selected for each case on the same day from the obstetrics and gynecology outpatient department using consecutive sampling.



Study variables

The outcome variable was cervical cancer screening uptake, while the independent variables encompassed socio-demographic factors (age, education, marital status, occupation, income, religion, and residence), access to healthcare (travel time, transport means, cost of travel and perceived cost), knowledge of cervical cancer, knowledge and attitude toward screening, and medical and behavioral determinants (number of sexual partners, history of STDs, smoking, and HIV status).

Operational definitions

Knowledge of cervical cancer: Knowledge levels were categorized based on Bloom's cut-off points as follows: High level: Knowledge scores of 7 and 8 (80 – 100%). Moderate level: Knowledge scores of 5 and 6 (60 – 79.9%). Low level: Knowledge scores of 0 – 4 (<60%) (21).

Knowledgeable about cervical cancer screening: Knowledge levels were categorized based on Bloom's cut-off points as follows: High level: Knowledge scores of 4 and 5 (80 - 100%). Moderate level: Knowledge score of 3 (60 - 79.9%). Low level: Knowledge scores of <3 (<60%) (21).

Attitude toward screening: The responses were categorized into three levels according to Bloom's cut-off points: Positive attitude: Attitude scores ranging from 28 to 35 (80 – 100%). Neutral attitude: Attitude scores ranging from 21 to 27 (60 – 79.9%). Negative attitude: Attitude scores below 7 to 20 (<60%) (21).

Accessibility to the health facility: It was categorized as follows: Accessible: Time taken less than 60 minutes (distance <5 km). Not accessible: Time taken greater than 60 minutes (distance ≥ 5 km) (20).

Data collection tools, and quality management

An interviewer-administered questionnaire, adapted from previous studies (20, 22), was utilized in the three selected hospitals. The questionnaire, originally prepared in English, was translated into Amharic by an experienced translator and backtranslated into English by an independent translator to ensure consistency. In this study, attitude was evaluated using questions based on a Likert scale, with responses ranging from strongly disagree to strongly agree. The scoring system assigned: 5 for strongly agree, 4 for agree, 3 for neither agree nor disagree, 2 for disagree, and 1 for strongly disagree. Seven questions were utilized to assess attitude, and the responses were categorized into three levels based on Bloom's cutoff points: 1 for negative, 2 for neutral, and 3 for positive. The minimum score was 7, and the maximum score was 35. Knowledge of cervical cancer was assessed through eight knowledge assessment questions, with each question having multiple responses. The responses were computed and recorded as either correct (1) or incorrect (0). The scores ranged from 0 to 8. Knowledge about cervical cancer screening was assessed using five knowledge

assessment questions, each with multiple responses. The responses were computed and recorded as either correct (1) or incorrect (0), resulting in scores ranging from 0 to 5. Accessibility was measured by the total time taken to reach the health institution to access cervical cancer screening services in minutes when study subjects arrived on foot, or the distance in kilometers. Before actual data collection, the tools underwent pretesting with 21 study participants (5 cases &16 controls), which constituted 5% of the total sample size, to assess response accuracy, language clarity, and tool appropriateness. Six midwives, two from each hospital, underwent one-day training on data collection tools. Following training, these data collectors interviewed women visiting the hospitals for cervical cancer services after their appointments, while controls were interviewed after completing their visits. Each interviewed client received a sign on their card to prevent interview redundancy.

Data processing and analysis

The data were cleaned, coded, and entered into EpiData version 4.6 before being exported to SPSS version 25 for analysis. Descriptive statistics, including frequencies and percentages, were computed and the results were presented in text, graphs, and tables. The model's independent variables had an acceptable variance inflation factor (VIF < 2), indicating low multicollinearity. The model fit the data well, as confirmed by the Hosmer-Lemeshow test (p = 0.656). Candidate variables with a p-value below 0.25 in the bivariate regression were included in the multivariable logistic regression model to control for confounding effects. Predictors for cervical cancer screening uptake were identified based on a p-value < 0.05 and presented as adjusted odds ratios (AOR) with a 95% confidence interval.

Results

Socio-demographic characteristics

The study included 98 cases and 294 controls, achieving a 93.3% response rate. Among cases, 50% were aged 30-39 years, while 28.6% of controls. Education levels showed 13.2% of cases and 12.6% of controls with no formal education. Additionally, 12.3% of cases and 7.1% of controls were single, with 75.5% of cases and 71.8% of controls being married. Residence-wise, 81.6% of cases and 67.7% of controls lived in urban areas (Table 1).

Access to healthcare facilities

Fifty percent of cases reached the health facility within 60 minutes, compared to 34% of controls. Among cases, 81.6% used public transportation, while 18.6% walked on foot (Figure 2).

Medical and behavioral characteristics

Thirteen point three percent of cases and 15.7% of controls reported having multiple sexual partners. Regarding smoking status, 4.1% of cases and 9.5% of controls were smokers. Among cases, 5.1% had a history of sexually transmitted diseases (STDs), compared to 4.4% of controls. Additionally, 8.2% of cases and 4.4% of controls tested positive for HIV (Supplementary Figure S1).

Knowledge of cervical cancer

Among the cases, 87.8% were aware of cervical cancer, compared to 50.7% of controls. Among those aware of cervical cancer, 75.6% of cases and 65.1% of controls recognized viruses as the cause. For symptoms, 59.3% of cases and 27.9% of controls identified vaginal bleeding. Overall, 81.6% of cases had high knowledge, compared to 38.4% of controls (Supplementary Table S1).

Knowledge about cervical cancer screening

Ninety cases (91.8%) and 39.5% of controls were aware of cervical cancer screening. Public media was the primary source of information for 60% of cases and 55.2% of controls. Overall, 83.7% of cases and 32% of controls demonstrated high knowledge about cervical cancer screening (Supplementary Table S2).

Attitude towards cervical cancer screening

Seventy-one cases (72.4%) and 46.2% of controls agreed that cervical cancer is deadlier than other cancers. Eighty-eight cases (85.6%) and 36% of controls were willing to undergo screening. Overall, 71% of cases and 24% of controls had a positive attitude toward cervical cancer screening (Supplementary Table S3).

Factors associated with cervical cancer screening uptake

After adjusting for confounding variables, women aged 30–39 (AOR=3.94; 95% CI: 1.79, 8.63) and those aged 40–49 (AOR=3.54; 95% CI: 1.52, 8.22) were more likely to undergo cervical cancer screening. Additionally, women with a high knowledge of screening (AOR=6.23; 95% CI: 1.96, 19.79), a positive attitude toward screening (AOR=6.12; 95% CI: 2.40, 15.58), and those who reached health facilities within 60 minutes (AOR=2.32; 95% CI: 1.21, 4.45) were also more likely to participate in screening (Table 1).

TABLE 1 Factors associated with cervical cancer screening uptake among the study participants.

Variables	Categories	Cases Controls		COR (95% CI)	AOR (95% CI)	P-value
		n (%)	n (%)			
Age (y)	20 - 29	19 (19)	140 (47.6)	1	1	
	30 - 39	49 (50)	84 (28.6)	4.31 (2.42, 7.83)**	3.94 (1.79, 8.63)	0.001
	40 - 49	30 (31)	70 (23.8)	3.22 (1.61, 6.13)*	3.54 (1.52, 8.22)	0.003
Religion	Orthodox	52 (53.1)	119 (40.5)	1	1	
	Muslim	17 (17.3)	37 (12.6)	1.05 (0.53, 2.24)	0.78 (0.31, 1.96)	0.601
	Protestant	24 (24.5)	111 (37.8)	0.49 (0.36, 0.92)	0.62 (0.29, 1.29)	0.199
	Catholic	5 (5.1)	27 (9.1)	0.42 (0.16, 1.24)	0.32 (0.09, 1.07)	0.065
Education	No formal education	13 (13.2)	37 (12.6)	1	1	
	Primary school	31 (31.6)	55 (18.7)	1.64 (0.72, 3.52)	1.31 (0.44, 3.91)	0.628
	Secondary school	27 (27.6)	71 (24.1)	1.11 (0.53, 2.34)	0.64 (0.21, 1.98)	0.440
	College and above	27 (27.6)	131 (44.6)	0.62 (0.35, 1.25)	0.39 (0.12, 1.25)	0.113
Marital status	Single	12 (12.3)	21 (7.1)	1	1	
	Married	74 (75.5)	211 (71.8)	0.63 (0.34, 1.35)	1.13 (0.43, 2.94)	0.802
	Divorced	7 (7.1)	35 (11.9)	0.44 (0.17, 1.02)	1.32 (0.33, 5.27)	0.696
	Widowed	5 (5.1)	27 (9.2)	0.38 (0.09-1.06)	1.33 (0.27, 6.59)	0.726
Residence	Rural	18 (18.4)	95 (32.3)	1	1	
	Urban	80 (81.6)	199 (67.7)	2.12 (1.26, 3.71)*	0.67 (0.29, 1.55)	0.349
Occupation	Government employee	29 (29.6)	99 (33.7)	1	1	
	Private employee	37 (37.8)	135 (45.9)	0.94 (0.51, 1.62)	0.74 (0.33, 1.69)	0.480
	Housewife	30 (30.6)	48 (16.3)	2.10 (1.23, 3.94)*	1.79 (0.71, 4.56)	0.220
	Others [#]	2 (2)	12 (4.1)	0.57 (0.12, 2.69)	0.75 (0.08, 6.76)	0.798
Travel time to	≥60 minutes	49 (50)	194 (66)	1	1	
nealthcare facilities	<60 minutes	49 (50)	100 (34)	1.94 (1.22, 3.08)*	2.32 (1.21, 4.45)	0.011
Cervical cancer knowledge	Low level	8 (8.2)	149 (50.7)	1	1	
	Moderate level	10 (10.2)	32 (10.9)	13.2 (6.10, 28.4)*	1.66 (0.40, 6.85)	0.483
	High level	80 (81.6)	113 (38.4)	5.82 (2.15, 15.9)*	1.64 (0.45, 6.00)	0.454
Knowledge of screening	Low level	10 (10.2)	182 (61.9)	1	1	
	Moderate level	6 (6.1)	17 (5.8)	15.7 (7.81, 31.7)*	3.88 (0.89, 16.9)	0.071
	High level	82 (83.7)	95 (32.3)	6.43 (2.08, 19.8)**	6.23 (1.96, 19.8)	0.002
Attitude towards screening	Negative	12 (12.3)	169 (57.5)	1	1	
	Neutral	16 (16.3)	55 (18.7)	14.1 (7.22, 27.6)*	1.71 (0.65, 4.49)	0.278
	Positive	70 (71.4)	70 (23.8)	4.18 (1.84, 9.24)**	6.12 (2.40, 15.6)	<0.001

N.B, AOR, Adjusted odds ratio; CI, Confidence interval; COR, Crude odds ratio; n, frequency; *p-value<0.05; **p-value<0.001; Others[#]: Merchant, daily labor and student. The bold values used to show statistical significance.

Discussion

Cervical cancer screening is vital for the early detection and treatment of precancerous lesions (23). This study sought to identify the factors influencing cervical cancer screening uptake among women of reproductive age in southwest Ethiopia. It found that key determinants include women's age, their level of knowledge about cervical cancer screening, their attitude towards screening, and the time required to reach health facilities.

The study revealed that women aged 30 - 39 and 40 - 49 were respectively 3.9 and 3.5 times more likely to undergo cervical cancer screening compared to those aged 20 - 29. This finding aligns with



similar studies conducted in various Ethiopian regions like Ambo, Diredawa, Mekele, and Finoteselam, which also observed higher screening rates among older age groups (16, 20, 24, 25). Older women may be more inclined to undergo cervical cancer screening due to a perceived higher risk associated with their age. Moreover, increased exposure to healthcare facilities as women age could contribute to higher screening rates among older age groups. Indeed, a study conducted in India revealed that younger women were more inclined to undergo cervical cancer screening compared to older age groups (26). This discrepancy could stem from differences in information availability and variations in the study participants' characteristics.

This study found that having a high knowledge of cervical cancer screening was a significant predictor of uptake. Women with a high of knowledge screening were 6 times more likely to undergo cervical cancer screening compared to those with low knowledge of screening. This finding aligns with studies conducted in various regions of Ethiopia, such as Mekele, Ambo, Addis Ababa, Jimma, and Adigrat. These studies also demonstrated that women with a high knowledge of cervical cancer screening were more inclined to utilize screening services compared to those with lower knowledge of screening (20, 22, 25, 27, 28). Studies conducted worldwide have consistently shown that women with a high knowledge of cervical cancer screening are more likely to utilize screening services compared to those with low knowledge (29, 30). This trend suggests that informed women may exhibit higher health-seeking behavior and intentions to undergo screening. Access to various sources of information, such as media, may contribute to their increased awareness and motivation to seek healthcare services, including cervical cancer screening. Consequently, women with a good understanding of cervical cancer are more likely to uptake screening services than those with poor knowledge levels.

A positive attitude toward cervical cancer screening significantly increased the likelihood of uptake, as women with a positive attitude were 6 times more likely to undergo screening compared to those with a negative attitude toward screening. The findings of this study align with previous research conducted in various regions of Ethiopia (20, 31, 32). Similarly, a study conducted in Gondar, Ethiopia, found that women with a favorable attitude were more inclined to utilize cervical cancer screening services compared to those with an unfavorable attitude (33). Women with a positive attitude towards screening may possess a stronger sense of self-care and respect for their well-being, potentially leading to better health-seeking behaviors. Moreover, this positive attitude may drive them towards seeking a healthier lifestyle, thus making them more likely to engage in preventive healthcare practices such as cervical cancer screening.

In this study, the time taken to reach health facilities emerged as a predictor of cervical cancer screening uptake. Women who reached health facilities within 60 minutes had 2 times higher odds of being screened compared to their counterparts. This study aligns with research conducted in Uganda and South Africa, indicating that women who had access to health facilities offering cervical cancer screening services were more likely to undergo screening compared to those who lacked such accessibility (30, 34). The evidence suggests that proximity to health facilities plays a crucial role in facilitating cervical cancer screening uptake. Women residing closer to health facilities have greater opportunities to access various services and information from healthcare professionals, thereby increasing their likelihood of undergoing screening. Additionally, accessibility is influenced by travel costs, with women living nearer to health facilities incurring lower expenses. This affordability may enhance their willingness to seek healthcare, consequently leading to a higher uptake of cervical cancer screening.

Limitations of the study

As a hospital-based study, the results may not apply to the general population. The small sample size limits the ability to generalize the findings to a larger population because it decreases the statistical power and reliability of the results. Recall bias and social desirability bias could affect the findings, particularly for variables like STI history and smoking status. Additionally, establishing a clear temporal relationship between factors such as attitude, knowledge, and cervical cancer screening uptake is challenging.

Conclusion

The research identified age, knowledge, and attitude regarding cervical cancer screening, along with proximity to health facilities within a 60-minute radius, as key factors influencing cervical cancer screening uptake among women of reproductive age. These findings highlight the importance of targeted education, promoting positive attitudes, and enhancing healthcare accessibility to improve screening uptake and reduce the burden of cervical cancer.

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, upon reasonable request.

Ethics statement

The studies involving humans were approved by Mizan-Tepi University Institutional Review Board (PGC/061/2022). The studies were conducted in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements. The participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

Author contributions

TY: Conceptualization, Data curation, Formal analysis, Investigation, Methodology, Software, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. BB: Formal analysis, Funding acquisition, Methodology, Project administration, Resources, Software, Supervision, Validation, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. NS: Formal analysis, Methodology,

References

Project administration, Resources, Software, Supervision, Validation, Visualization, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. BBB: Investigation, Formal analysis, Project administration, Supervision, Resources, Funding acquisition, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. AA: Conceptualization, Data curation, Funding acquisition, Investigation, Project administration, Resources, Supervision, Validation, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing.

Funding

The author(s) declare that no financial support was received for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

Acknowledgments

We extend our gratitude to Mizan-Tepi University, the staff of MTUTH, GSGH and BPH for their assistance during data collection. We also appreciate the cooperation of the study subjects during data collection.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fonc.2024.1424810/ full#supplementary-material

prevention. second edition". Zhonghua Yi Xue Za Zhi. (2021) 101:2653-7. doi: 10.3760/cma.j.cn112137-20210719-01609

3. Yimer NB, Mohammed MA, Solomon K, Tadese M, Grutzmacher S, Meikena HK, et al. Cervical cancer screening uptake in Sub-Saharan Africa: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Public Health.* (2021) 195:105–11. doi: 10.1016/j.puhe.2021.04.014

^{1.} World Health Organization. WHO framework for strengthening and scaling up services for the management of invasive cervical cancer. Geneva, Switzerland: WHO (2020).

^{2.} Hu SY, Zhao XL, Zhang Y, Qiao YL, Zhao FH. Interpretation of "WHO guideline for screening and treatment of cervical pre-cancer lesions for cervical cancer

4. Sung H, Ferlay J, Siegel RL, Laversanne M, Soerjomataram I, Jemal A, et al. Global cancer statistics 2020: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. *CA Cancer J Clin.* (2021) 71:209–49. doi: 10.3322/caac.21660

5. IARC and WHO. Cancer in sub-Saharan Africa: building local capacity for data production, analysis, and interpretation. France: IARC (2022).

6. World Health Organization. Comprehensive Cervical Cancer Control. Geneva, Switzerland: WHO (2014).

7. Fowler JR, Maani EV, Dunton CJ, Gasalberti DP, Jack BW. Cervical cancer. [Updated 2023 Nov 12]. In: StatPearls. StatPearls Publishing, Treasure Island (FL). (2023).

8. Mackie A. Health Matters - Your questions on cervical screening. United Kingdom: UK Health Security Agency. (2017).

9. World Health Organization. WHO Guidelines for Screening and Treatment of Precancerous Lesions for Cervical Cancer Prevention. Geneva, Switzerland: WHO (2013).

10. Ethiopian Ministry of Health. Guideline for Cervical Cancer Prevention and Control in Ethiopia. Ethiopia: FDRE-MOH (2015).

11. Khalil J, Bellefqih S, Sahli N, Afif M, Elkacemi H, Elmajjaoui S, et al. Impact of cervical cancer on quality of life: beyond the short term (Results from a single institution): Quality of life in long-term cervical cancer survivors: results from a single institution. *Gynecol Oncol Res Pract.* (2015) 2:7. doi: 10.1186/s40661-015-0011-4

12. Endale H MT, Habte T. The socioeconomic impact of cervical cancer on patients in Ethiopia: evidence from tikur anbessa specialized hospital. *Cancer Manag Res.* (2022) 14:1615–25. doi: 10.2147/CMAR.S352389

13. Van Minh H, My NTT, Jit M. Cervical cancer treatment costs and costeffectiveness analysis of human papillomavirus vaccination in Vietnam: a PRIME modeling study. *BMC Health Serv Res.* (2017) 17:353. doi: 10.1186/s12913-017-2297-x

14. Bayu H, Berhe Y, Mulat A, Alemu A. Cervical cancer screening service uptake and associated factors among age eligible women in mekelle zone, Northern Ethiopia, 2015: A community based study using health belief model. *PloS One.* (2016) 11: e0149908. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0149908

15. Ruddies F, Gizaw M, Teka B, Thies S, Wienke A, Kaufmann AM, et al. Cervical cancer screening in rural Ethiopia: a cross- sectional knowledge, attitude and practice study. *BMC Cancer*. (2020) 20:563. doi: 10.1186/s12885-020-07060-4

16. Belay Y, Dheresa M, Sema A, Desalew A, Assefa N. Cervical cancer screening utilization and associated factors among women aged 30 to 49 years in dire dawa, Eastern Ethiopia. *Cancer Control.* (2020) 27:1073274820958701. doi: 10.1177/1073274820958701

17. Bante SA, Getie SA, Getu AA, Mulatu K, Fenta SL. Uptake of pre-cervical cancer screening and associated factors among reproductive age women in Debre Markos town, Northwest Ethiopia. *BMC Public Health.* (2017) 19:1102. doi: 10.1186/s12889-019-7398-5

18. Gizaw AT, El-Khatib Z, Wolancho W, Amdissa D, Bamboro S, Boltena MT, et al. Uptake of cervical cancer screening and its predictors among women of reproductive age in Gomma district, South West Ethiopia: a community-based cross-sectional study. *Infect Agent Cancer.* (2022) 17:43. doi: 10.1186/s13027-022-00455-x

19. Desta M, Getaneh T, Yeserah B, Worku Y, Eshete T, Birhanu MY, et al. Cervical cancer screening utilization and predictors among eligible women in Ethiopia: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *PloS One.* (2021) 16:e0259339. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0259339

20. Teame H, Gebremariam L, Kahsay T, Berhe K, Gebreheat G, Gebremariam G. Factors affecting utilization of cervical cancer screening services among women attending public hospitals in Tigray region, Ethiopia, 2018; Case control study. *PloS One.* (2019) 14:e0213546. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0213546

21. Varadheswari T, Dandekar RH, Sharanya T. A study on the prevalence and KAP regarding cervical cancer among women attending a tertiary care hospital in Perambalur. *Int J Prev Med Res.* (2015) 1:71–8.

22. Getachew S, Getachew E, Gizaw M, Ayele W, Addissie A, Kantelhardt EJ. Cervical cancer screening knowledge and barriers among women in Addis Ababa, Ethiopia. *PloS One.* (2019) 14:e0216522. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0216522

23. Basoya S, Anjankar A. Cervical cancer: early detection and prevention in reproductive age group. *Cureus.* (2022) 14:e31312. doi: 10.7759/cureus.31312

24. Geremew AB, Gelagay AA, Azale T. Comprehensive knowledge on cervical cancer, attitude towards its screening and associated factors among women aged 30-49 years in Finote Selam town, northwest Ethiopia. *Reprod Health.* (2018) 15:29. doi: 10.1186/s12978-018-0471-1

25. Lemma D, Aboma M, Girma T, Dechesa A. Determinants of utilization of cervical cancer screening among women in the age group of 30-49 years in Ambo Town, Central Ethiopia: A case-control study. *PloS One.* (2022) 17:e0270821. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0270821

26. Nene B, Jayant K, Arrossi S, Shastri S, Budukh A, Hingmire S, et al. Determinants of womens participation in cervical cancer screening trial, Maharashtra, India. *Bull World Health Organ.* (2007) 85:264–72. doi: 10.2471/BLT.06.031195

27. Tsegay A, Araya T, Amare K, G/Tsadik F. Knowledge, attitude, and practice on cervical cancer screening and associated factors among women aged 15-49 years in Adigrat Town, Northern Ethiopia, 2019: A community-based cross-sectional study. *Int J Womens Health.* (2021) 12:1283–98. doi: 10.2147/IJWH.S261204

28. Nigussie T, Admassu B, Nigussie A. Cervical cancer screening service utilization and associated factors among age-eligible women in Jimma town using health belief model, South West Ethiopia. *BMC Womens Health*. (2019) 19:127. doi: 10.1186/s12905-019-0826-y

29. Abiodun OA, Olu-Abiodun OO, Sotunsa JO, Oluwole FA. Impact of health education intervention on knowledge and perception of cervical cancer and cervical screening uptake among adult women in rural communities in Nigeria. *BMC Public Health*. (2014) 14:814. doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-14-814

30. Ndejjo R, Mukama T, Musabyimana A, Musoke D. Uptake of cervical cancer screening and associated factors among women in Rural Uganda: A cross sectional study. *PloS One.* (2016) 11:e0149696. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0149696

31. Kassie AM, Abate BB, Kassaw MW, Aragie TG, Geleta BA, Shiferaw WS. Impact of knowledge and attitude on the utilization rate of cervical cancer screening tests among Ethiopian women: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *PloS One.* (2020) 15: e0239927. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0239927

32. Gebisa T, Bala ET, Deriba BS. Knowledge, attitude, and practice toward cervical cancer screening among women attending health facilities in Central Ethiopia. *Cancer Control.* (2022) 29:10732748221076680. doi: 10.1177/10732748221076680

33. Getaneh A, Tegene B, Belachew T. Knowledge, attitude and practices on cervical cancer screening among undergraduate female students in University of Gondar, Northwest Ethiopia: an institution based cross sectional study. *BMC Public Health.* (2021) 21:775. doi: 10.1186/s12889-021-10853-2

34. Vhuromu EN, Goon DT, Maputle MS, Lebese RT, Okafor BU. Utilization of cervical cancer screening services among women in Vhembe District, South Africa: A cross-sectional study. *Open Public Health J.* (2018) 11:451–63. doi: 10.2174/1874944501811010451

Frontiers in Oncology

Advances knowledge of carcinogenesis and tumor progression for better treatment and management

The third most-cited oncology journal, which highlights research in carcinogenesis and tumor progression, bridging the gap between basic research and applications to imrpove diagnosis, therapeutics and management strategies.

Discover the latest **Research Topics**



Frontiers

Avenue du Tribunal-Fédéral 34 1005 Lausanne, Switzerland frontiersin.org

Contact us

+41 (0)21 510 17 00 frontiersin.org/about/contact



